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THE SPEAKER (Mr Bamnett) took the Chair
at 10.45 a.m., and read prayers.

TRAFFIC LIGHTS

Spencer- Yale Roads: Petition

MRS HENDERSON (Gosnells) (10.49
a.m.]: I have a petition which is couched in the
following terms-

To the Honourable the
Members of the Legislative
the Parliament of Western
Parliament assembled.

Speaker and
Assembly of
Australia in

This petition requests the installation of
a Walk Phase in the traffie lights on the
corner of Yale and Spencer Roads
Thornlie. The walk phase will enable chil-
dren to cross the road safely, which is not
possible at the moment due to motorists
not abiding by the road traffic rules. The
walk phase will be able to be used at all
times by children (and adults) as they go to
and from school, shopping centre, swim-
ming pool, library etc at any time on any
day.

The petition bears 856 signatures. I certify that
it conforms to the Standing Orders of the Legis-
lative Assembly.

The SPEAKER: I direct that the petition be
brought to the Table of the House.

(See petition No. 24.)

MINERAL: QUARRY

Bickiey: Petition

MRS HENDERSON (Gosnells) [10.50
a.m.]: I have a further petition which is
couched in the following terms-

To the Honourable Speaker and
Honourable Members of the Legislative
Assembly of the Parliament of Western
Australia in Parliament Assembled: We,
the undersigned, wish to register our pro-
test against a hard rock quarry which may
be built in the Bickiey valley; such a busi-
ness will no doubt have a severe detiimen-
tal effect on the environment. Accordingly,

we respectfully urge Parliament to prevent
Merman company or any other like
company from mining in this area.

The petition bears 20 signatures. I certify that
it conforms to the Standing Orders of the Legis-
lative Assembly.

The SPEAKER: I direct that the petition be
brought to the Table of the House.

(See petition No. 25.)

SHOPPING: TRADING HOURS

Meat: Petition

MR EVANS (Warren) [10.51 a.m.]: I have a
petition which is couched in the following
terms-

The Honourable the Speaker and Mem-
bers of the Legislative Assembly of the
Parliament of Western Australia in Parlia-
ment assembled.

We, the undersigned oppose any change
to, or extension of the existing trading
hours for the retail sale of meat; in the
genuine belief that it would result in:-

I . Higher operating costs for re-
tailers.

2. Higher meat prices to consumers.
3. Reduced service to customers.

4. A marked decline in the sales of
meat.

5. Provide national supermarket
chains with unfair trading advan-
tage.

6. Reduce employment in the Indus-
try.

7. Reduce the number of appren-
tices that can be trained.

8. Disrupt the family and social life
of employer and employees.

9. Disadvantage the majority of con-
sumers that prefer to complete
their shopping within existing
hours, by forcing them to pay
higher prices for fresh meat.

The petition bears 90 signatures. I certify that
it conforms to the Standing Orders of the Legis-
lative Assembly.

The SPEAKER: I direct that the petition be
brought to the Table of the House.

(See petition No. 26.)
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EDUCATION: STUDENTS

Censorship: Petition

MR CASH (Mt Lawley) 110.52 a.m]: I have a
petition couched in the following terms-

To the Honourable the
Members of the Legislative
the Parliament of Western
Parliament assembled.

Speaker and
Assembly of
Australia in

We, the undersigned, request that the
Legislative Assembly in Parliament
assembled, should examine the English
and Health Education programs used in
Western Australian schools with a view to:

I . Prohibiting the use of any part of films
or videos classified "R" or "AO" in
any Western Australian school.

2. Prohibiting in Western Australian
schools the use of books, films or
videos which promote illegal activities
such as violence, incest , homosexu-
ality, euthanasia, drugs, suicide,
abortion, blasphemy and obscenity.

3. Restricting the use in Western
Australian schools of material which
usurps parental responsibility in the
area of sex education. i.e. contracep-
tion and pre-marital sex.

Your petitioners therefore humbly pray
that you will give this matter earnest con-
sideration and your petitioners, as in duty
bound, will ever pray.

The petition bears 28 signatures. I certify that
it conforms to the Standing Orders of the Legis-
lative Assembly.

The SPEAKER: I direct that the petition be
brought to the Table of the House.

(See petition No. 2 7.)

PUBLIC ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE

Report

On motion by Mr D. L. Smith (Mitchell)
resolved-

That Lhe annual report of the Public Ac-
counts Committee for 1984-85 be
received.

On motion by Mr D. L. Smith (Mitchell)
resolved-

That the report be printed.

MEMBER FOR GASCOYNE: APOLOGY
Notice of Motion

MR PEARCE (Arrnadale-Leader of the
House) [10.55 a.m.]: I seek leave of the House
to present this motion to the House in a slightly
amended form. The Opposition has asked me
whether the Government would be prepared to
deal with this motion as two separate motions
rather than as a motion in two pants. For that
reason I seek leave of the House to amend the
motion in this way. I will seek to move as a
single motion, all of that section from the word
"That" through to the end of paragraph (1),
deleting the word "and" at the end of para-
graph (1), and make paragraph (2) read as a
separate motion with the insertion of the words
"the House" at the beginning of paragraph (2).

Leave ranted.

Motion
MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the

House) [10.56 am.]: I move-
That in accordance with the report of

the Select Committee on Privileges which
inquired into allegations made by the
member for Gascoyne, this House finds
that the member for Gascoyne has com-
mitted a serious breach of its privileges
and now requires the Member for
Gascoyne to withdraw those allegations
and apologise unreservedly.

Just on five weeks ago the House referred to a
Select Committee of the House allegations
made in the Parliament by the member for
Gascoyne with a request to the committee that
those allegations be investigated to decide,
firstly, whether they were true, and, secondly, if
they were not true whether the member for
Gascoyne had committed a breach of privilege
in this House by making false allegations in the
House in a way which was defamatory of pub-
lic servants in such a way that the House might
construe his doing so to be a misuse of parlia-
mentary privilege.

Last Tuesday I tabled the report of that
Select Committee. The Select Committee re-
port found quite unequivocally a number of
things. The Final conclusion of the report was
that the member for Gascoyne had indeed been
in breach of parliamentary privilege in the alle-
gations he made. The report makes some very
serious comments with regard to the role of
parliamentary privilege in the Parliament.
Basically, the four members of the committee
who put their names to the final report felt that
parliamentary privilege is a hard won privilege.
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Hundreds of years of the development of par-
liamentary democracy has established the right
of members of Parliament to raise matters in
Parliament free from the fear of legal attack. A
member can rise in this House and say any-
thing of anybody in the land without that per-
son having any recourse against the things that
were said. If members were to raise matters
which might be defamatory of somebody
involved in large-scale fraud or in some other
activity which was detrimental to society, they
could use parliamentary privilege in doing so,
as should be the case. However, because the
privilege has been such a hard-won privilege, it
should be used honourably; that is to say, it
rests on the honour of members when they use
parliamentary privilege to make certain that
there is some substance to the matters which
they raise and that they do not capriciously use
parliamentary privilege as a way of slandering
all sorts of people for whatever motive they
may have.

The committee felt very strongly that the
onus falls heavily on members when they seek
to use parliamentary privilege to say things
which would subject them to legal action if said
outside the House; they need to decide on their
honour that the sorts of things they say are fair
and reasonable or that there is at least some
evidence to suggest there is the kind of wrong-
doing alleged.

In this case, the member for Gascoyne al-
leged that the Government had prostituted two
public servants by directing them not to pro-
ceed with an investigation of a complaint that
he laid with regard to what he saw as a breach
of the Electoral Act. The committee inquired
into those allegations. It interviewed, as
witnesses, the two Ministers for Parliamentary
and Electoral Reform who had held that office
over the period between the time the complaint
was made and the time it was decided. The
committee also interviewed both the public ser-
vants concerned; namely, Mr Ray Shaw,' the
Chief Electoral Officer and Miss Vivienne
Edwards, the Assistant Crown Solicitor
(Prosecutions) who compiled the legal opinion.

The committee also went through the file
with respect to the way the complaint was dealt
with. The committee found quite
unequivocally that the matter had been
processed in the normal way and that there had
been no direction to either of those public ser-
vants. In fact, the committee was convinced
that the former Minister for Parliamentary and
Electoral Reform, now the member for Morley-
Swan, did not even know that the complaint

was being processed. It was never raised with
him by the Chief Electoral Officer. The Chief
Electoral Officer in his letter to the Crown Law
Department solicitor specifically mentioned
that he had not raised that matter with the
Minister.

So the member for Morley-Swan did not
even know about the complaints being
investigated. The committee was able to estab-
lish that the only reason that the Deputy
Premier, the current Minister for Parliamen-
tary and Electoral Reform, knew that the mat-
ter was being processed was as a result of a
chance meeting in the street between the mem-
ber for Gascoyne and the Chief Electoral
Officer. The member for Gascoyne informed
the Chief Electoral Officer he was not satisfied
with the letter that the Chief Electoral Officer
had sent to him in regard to that complaint,
and that he intended to raise the matter in the
Parliament.

As a consequence of that conversation, after
the matter had been finalised, the Chief Elec-
toral Officer advised the Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform of the matter in
order that the Minister might be in a position
to answer questions which may be raised in the
Parliament.

The committee was able to find that no di-
rection had been given to the Chief Electoral
Officer or to the person who drafted the reply
on which the Chief Electoral Officer had based
his final decision. The matter was handled with
complete propriety by all public servants.

The evidence of the public servants, of the
Ministers, and of the file was quite compelling
in leading the committee to come to that con-
clusion. The member for Gascoyne offered no
evidence in support of his allegations. In fact
he appeared before the committee and
complained about the way in which the terms
of reference were framed in relation to the alle-
gations he made in Hansard. On that basis, he
fundamentally declined to answer questions.

In the opinion of the committee that is not
good enough. Even if there was some
substance-and the committee believes there
was not-given the seriousness of the proceed-
ings and the claim made by the member for
Gascoyne, it was incumbent upon him to
present what evidence he had in support of the
allegations reported in Hansard. This was a
very serious matter which the Select Com-
mittee was investigating. The Select Committee
gave the member a great deal of latitude to
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establish any case he might have. He had no
evidence and presented none.

On page four of the committee's repont ap-
pears this comment-

The committee found it difficult to
avoid the conclusion that Mr Laurance
sought to argue semantics before the com-
mittee because he had no evidence at all to
support his allegations.

That is the fairest finding which could be made
in those circumstances. So the committee
found that there had been no impropriety. The
public servants had carried out their job with
complete propriety. No direction had been
given; therefore, when the member for
Gascoyne made those comments in the House,
he was effectively misusing parliamentary
privilege. That is a very serious thing for the
House to find-that a member is misusing in a
frivolous and scandalous manner a privilege
which has been hard-won for centuries by our
predecessors.

The second-last paragraph of the report
really sums up the situation, at least from my
point of view. It reads-

The member for Gascoyne made serious
allegations under Parliamentary privilege
which reflected on the propriety of actions
of two public servants. These allegations
were false, and the Member knew when he
made them that he did not have a shred of
evidence to back them up.

That is the finding of the committee, and it is a
very serious finding. However, the committee
was mindful of two things; firstly, this kind of
procedure against a member has been relatively
rare in the period of this Parliament. Secondly,
the committee was mindful of the fact that
making baseless allegations under parliamen-
tary privilege has become something of a blood
sport in this House recently. So even while the
committee regarded this breach seriously, it
also took the view that any penalty should be
more of a warning to the member for Gascoyne
and to other members of the House who may
be inclined to indulge in the same type of be-
haviour, that this will not be tolerated by the
House.

So, rather than inflict a penalty of any
severity, the committee makes the
recommendation, which I have now moved in
the motion, that the member be required to
withdraw those false allegations and to apolo-
gise to the House for the breach of privilege
which he committed. That is a fair and reason-

able finding for the committee to make in the
circumstances.

I understand from the Press that the member
for Gascoyne may be intending to do those
things. I hope the motion passed by the House
means that he will. However, it ought to be a
sincere apology and withdrawal. In the Daily
News the impression given was that the mem-
ber was seeking to put up a Clayton's apology.
This means that in order to avoid a real penalty
he is prepared to stand up like a marionette
with a ventriloquist behind him saying, "I do
apologise, I do withdraw" and then run outside
and say, "I did not really mean all these
things".

If the member did that, it would be a most
disgraceful contempt of the Parliament. If the
member is heard to withdraw those allegations
and apologise before the House, I hope that
you, Mr Speaker, will take it as a serious con-
tempt if the member were to step outside the
House and say, "I did not really mean that, but
I was forced to do it".

Speakers before you have taken the view that
where members have made an apology in the
House, and then gone outside to make different
statements to the Press, they are then in con-
tempt of the House and in contempt of the
Speaker. Action has been taken in those cir-
cumstances. I sincerely hope that you, Mr
Speaker, or the House, would seek to take
further action with regard to the member for
Gascoyne were he to make a formal admission
to the House, but with no sincerity or
repentenee at all.

This whole proceeding has been a very sad
business.

Mr Hassell: Disgraceful, in fact.
Mr PEARCE: I agree. The fact that any

member should misuse parliamentary privilege
is disgraceful. People in this State, and indeed
throughout the country, are looking to a higher
standard of conduct from their members of
Parliament. This Parliament, perhaps unique
among Parliaments in this land, is taking a
stand on that issue today. This is an important
warning to members that the House will not
tolerate the misuse of its privileges. If other
Parliaments were to follow a similar example,
the reputation and standing of Parliaments in
Australia might improve considerably.

The committee has suggested a very mild
penalty with regard to this breach of parliamen-
tary privilege of the member for Gascoyne. I
hope the warning will be heeded.

Mr CARR: I formally second the motion.
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MR LAURANCE (Gascoyne) [11.08 a.m.]:
Two things are quite obvious as a result of this.
One is that the Government has blundered.
Secondly, I am not guilty.

I want to take up first the point of view
which has been expressed in the newspapers in
recent days. I take very strong exception to
some of the headlines. I want to say quite
clearly to the Press that I think it has blundered
also by using headlines like "Laurance guilty".
I refer to the Daily News article of 23 July,
which carried that headline.

On 22 July there was a headline -MLA guilty
says report". Also in The West Australian of 2 3
July under the heading "Laurance: I will apolo-
gise", are these words-

Mr Laurance, MLA for Gascoyne, was
found guilty yesterday by a Select Com-
mittee of a serious breach of Parliamentary
privilege.

That is simply incorrect. The Select Committee
found no such thing. The word "guilty" does
not appear anywhere in the Select Committee's
report. I ask the Press to withdraw those com-
ments of "guilty" and apologise. I do not be-
lieve it should be necessary for me to have to
take legal action against those newspapers to
get fairness.

Mr Pearce: Put on your best suit and plead
guilty.

Mr LAURANCE: But the Press made a mis-
take and assumed something that is simply not
accurate. it said I was guilty. If any member of
the Press can show me where the word "guilty"
is used in the Select Committee report I will
apologise to him; but I have checked that re-
port very carefully and the Word "guilty" does
not appear. In fact, it is libellous.

Mr Peter Dowding: Take action, then.
Mr Laurance: I may.
Mr Peter Dowding: Don't threaten-just do

it.

Mr Rushtoo: Keep quiet and let the member
make his speech.

Mr LAURANCE: The use of the word
".guilty" assumes a court. I appeared before no
court. It assumes natural justice, but I had no
natural justice offered to me. If one is found
guilty, it assumes that one had the right to be
defended, and I did not have the right to be
defended. I had the right to have a legal adviser
present but he was not able to defend me.

Mr Hassell: You did not have the right-you
were granted the privilege. That had to be
agreed to.

Mr LAURANCE: I was granted the privilege
and I appreciate that, but the legal adviser was
not there to defend me as I would have liked
and as a court demands. A person can be found
guilty only if he has been defended, I believe. If
one is found guilty it assumes one has had the
opportunity to cross-examine witnesses, and I
had no such opportunity. None of those things
was afforded me, and no person can be found
guilty until such time as they are. Clearly I am
not guilty and it is wrong for any newspaper to
print a headline saying that I am guilty.

Let me tell the House what did happen. in
the opinion of a Select Committee comprising
a majority of Government members, I
breached parliamentary privilege. What the re-
port highlights is not the opinion of my guilt
but the inadequacy of a privilege committee
being set up in this way. The minority report
emphasises this point and the Government ac-
cepts it and highlights it also, because the Select
Committee has recommended that this aspect
be further studied. That is the second motion
that will be debated today.

However, I think it is a very strong point that
the Leader of the Opposition, a man trained in
the law-and he was the only person on that
committee trained in the law, by the way, so I
put much higher stress on his finding than I do
on the majority report because none of those
people is trained in the law-made a very
substantial point in this whole inquiry; one
which the Government has adopted. I am very
pleased it has and I intend to support the sec-
ond motion before the House today for that
reason. The minority report is supported by
other learned people.

I believe this whole question has embar-
rassed the Government. It would have liked to
drop the matter but found after commencing it
that it had to go on, so has come up with a mild
slap on the wrist. The Leader of the House has
indicated what a mild penalty it is. He could
have requested me to withdraw and apologise
at the time. If my remarks are to be withdrawn
and apologised for, I remind the House of
Standing Order No. 145, which reads-

When any Member objects to words
used in debate by another Member, the
Speaker, or Chairmnan of Committees
shall, if either considers the words to be
objectionable, or unparliamentary, order
them to be withdrawn; and, if necessary,
an apology made.
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Rather than go through the charade of the last
few weeks it would have been quite appropriate
for the Government or any Government mem-
ber to have asked me to apologise and with-
draw at the time and then, Mr Speaker, you
could have ruled on that point.

The terms of reference of the Select Com-
mittee were erroneous. Quite simply, the
Leader of the House made a mistake. The
terms of reference were erroneous such as to
make the work of the committee a farce. I will
read to the House the exact words from the
motion and the words I spoke which were
recorded in Mansard. I will relate particularly
to the allegation against me. The motion reads
in part-

... The Chief Electoral Officer acted on a
direction from the then Minister for Par-liamentary and Electoral Reform that he
should not proceed with a complaint made
by the Member for Gascoyne, ...-

Never at any time in this Parliament have I
used those words. Never at any time did I say
that the Chief Electoral Officer had acted on a
direction from the now member for Morley-
Swan-never. How can a person be accused of
something that the Mansard record shows quite
clearly is not accurate? To emphasise that point
I will read from the Hansard what I actually
did say. All of this appears on the first page of
the Select Committee Report, so members do
not have to read any further than to the bottom
of page I to see that the whole matter is a
nonsense.

I have been charged with a series of events
that could be very serious for me-and I took
them seriously and sincerely. However, one
does not have to read further than page I to see
that the terms of reference were erroneous; that
the Leader of the House, in his haste, or in his
inexperience, Or for whatever reason, made a
mistake, and attributed to me things that the
Mansard record shows simply are not true. I
will read what I did say, which was, first of
all-

I have the highest regard for the Chief
Electoral Officer and for those Crown Law
officers ..

How can a person be charged with having
denigrated people when quite clearly he has
indicated he has the highest regard for them?
Yet at the end of the report it talks about the
dishonourable use of parliamentary privilege to
denigrate persons outside the Parliament. I
would hardly have thought that saying I have
the highest regard for those people could in any

way be said to indicate that I am denigrating
them. It is simply not the fact.

Mr Bryce: Hansard has great difficulty
revealing when members have their tongues
in their cheeks.

Mr LAURANCE: Yes, the Premier found
that out once when there were some pensioners
in the House, many years ago.

Mr Clarko: What did he say?
The SPEAKER: Perhaps it would be better

to ignore that interjection.
Mr LAURANCE: After those interjections I

want to continue my reading from Mansard. I
said further-

I have the highest regard for those
officers but their work on this occasion has
been prostituted by this Government.

I used the word "Government" in its widest
possible sense. I said-

.. this Government which has obviously
directed them. This Government directed
those officers not to take any further ac-
tion.

I did not elaborate on which officers I meant. I
d id not at any stage refe r to any particular M in-
ister. 1 referred to the Government in a global
sense, in a way in which people like the present
Deputy Premier, and the present member for
Morley-Swan, did on countless occasions; even
to the point where members on this side of the
House, when we were in Government, got so
sick of asking for withdrawals that we did not,
in the end, ask them to withdraw. They used
the term "corrupt government" on countless
occasions.

Mr Brian Burke: Which officers were you
saying were directed?

Mr LAURANCE: Let me finish my speech.
Mr Pearce: Maybe you will produce evidence

you did not produce before the committee,
then.

Mr LAURANCE: The Leader of the House
will have to wait to hear the whole story, then I
will answer his question.

Mr Pearce: You did not have much to say to
the committee.

Mr Brian Burke: I am simply asking which
officers were directed.

Mr Rushton: Let him make his own speech.
Your own Minister bad the right to do so.

Mr LAURANCE: This has been investigated
now.
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Mr Pearce: You could not say. The report
specifically mentions that.

Mr LAURANCE: The Leader of the House is
quite wrong.

Mr Pearce: I think you have been reading
that report upside down.

Mr LAURANCE: I acted before the com-
mittee on my legal advice.

Mr Brian Burke: So your legal advice said
that someone had been directed.

Mr LAURANCE: I was answering the
Leader of the House.

Mr Brian Burke: I thought the minority re-
port was damning in its faint praise.

Mr LAURANCE: We will come to that in a
moment. My legal adviser, Mr Peter Momber,
was present throughout the proceedings of the
Select Committee and he has advised me
throughout this case. In fact, he is the same
person who gave me very clear legal advice that
the whole matter which started this-that is, an
action on the part of the then Minister for
Transport (Mr Grill}-was in breach of the
Electoral Act.

Mr Brian Burke: And you have said that ad-
vice was in writing, haven't you?

Mr LAURANCE: No, I have not.
Mr Brian Burke: Yes, you have.
Mr LAURANCE: Well, the Premier should

show me where I said that.
Mr Brian Burke: I will show you. It is one

thing to defame someone; it is another thing to
mislead the House. You said that you had a
written opinion.

Mr Pearce: You did.
Mr LAURANCE: The Premier should show

me where I said that. I have unlimited time. I
shall wait until the Leader of the House
produces it.

Mr Pearce: I can see that this Privilege Com-
mittee will finish up being a Standing Com-
mittee.

Mr LAURANCE: My legal advice, based on
reading what I have read to th House
already-that is, the terms of reference of the
committee-and what I actually said in
Hansard, was that there was no case to answer.

Mr Stephens: You cannot take the word of a
lawyer in that respect as being correct, because
lawyers say that their clients are innocent when
in fact they are found guilty in a court of law.
414)

Mr LAURANCE: Well, the member for
Stirling is saying that a court is a more appro-
priate place to deal with this matter than is a
Select Committee, and I thank him for his sup-

port. Had these charges been laid against me in
a court, I suggest that they would have been
laughed out of court. I did not call further
witnesses. I had asked the committee if I could
have further witnesses. I shall quote from the
report of the committee in that respect. Does
the Leader of the House want me to wait a bit
longer?

Mr Brian Burke: No, you carry on.
Mr LAURANCE: The report says-

Initially he requested that further
witnesses be summoned, but withdrew this
request when he appeared before the com-
mittee.

I withdrew the request to have further
witnesses before the committee once again on
the advice of my solicitor.

Mr Pearce: But most of those witnesses still
came, because they had been summoned by the
comm ittee.

Mr LAURANCE: Not all of them.
Mr Pearce: Most of them. The only ones who

did not turn up were the two ladies from
Gascoyne and your legal adviser.

Mr LAURANCE: No, more than a couple of
them did not turn up. The Crown Solicitor was
one. I had witnesses ready. Some people from
Camnarvon were most anxious to come to Perth
to appear before that committee. There were
some other professional witnesses who should
have been called; however, when my solicitor
saw the charges and was aware of the fact that I
had not said anything like I had been accused
of saying, he told me quite clearly, "Don't get
charged with 'A' and start defending 'B3'. You
are charged with 'A' and there is no charge to
answer. Therefore, you don't need witnesses
against 'A'. You must answer the charge". Any
solicitor would give his client the same advice.
He said, "There is no point in your asking
witnesses to come along who will give evidence
relating to something quite different from what
you have been charged with. In fact, how can
you be charged with this if you did not say it?"

That was the clear advice of my solicitor and
I acted on it, and that is why I did not call any
further witnesses.

I shall look at the sequence of events, because
it is laid out very clearly in the report of the
Select Committee. It is the part of the report

2507



2508 (ASSEMBLY]

with which 1 agree. I refer to page 3 where it is
said-

On March 26, 1986, the Chief Electoral
Officer wrote to Mr Laurance informing
him that no further action would be taken
on the complaint.

That letter arrived in my office on Wednesday,
2 April, exactly two months after I had written
and facsimiled my complaint to the Chief Ele-
toral Officer asking him to take immediate ac-
tion, because here was a breach of the Electoral
Act which had been committed by a Minister
of the Crown. It was very carefully calculated
to hit the letterboxes. in my electorate on the
Wednesday night before the election. The Min-
ister knew very well that at midnight that night
a media blackout would come into effect and I
could not even buy time on the local radio
station to respond on the Thursday or Friday
prior to the election. The Minister had timed
that very carefully and I wanted some reaction
before the Saturday. I was able to get legal ad-
vice and to get my complaint in writing from
Carnarvon to the Chief Electoral Officer within
24 hours, and I gave him a further 48 hours
within which to reply. However, he did not. It
took the Chief Electoral Officer eight weeks to
reply and then he sent me a five-page letter to
which I will refer later. Even then the letter
took so long to reach me that, two days before
it arrived in my office, I had left for overseas
and I did not see the letter until I returned,
about two months after the election.

I refer now to page 5 of the report where the
second paragraph says-

He was unable to answer the point that
under the Electoral Act, the only person
with power to direct the Chief Electoral
Officer was the Minister for Parliamentary
and Electoral Reform.

In my remarks in Hansard I never referred to
who had the power to direct. 1 made a general
comment about this Government.

Mr Tonkin: Well, no other Minister had the
power to direct; that is the point, isn't it?

Mr LAURANCE: I have a photocopy of an
interdepartmental memo which bears on this
matter. It is dated 13 May and is over the
signature of a Mr Ken Cadee, Under Secretary
of the Public Works Department. It was sent to
the principal architect.

Mr Peter Dowding: What does this have to
do with it?

Mr Brian Burke: The memo is dated 13 May
of which year?

Mr LAURANCE: Of 1983. It reads, in pant,
as follows-

The Hon. Minister for Works has
instructed Me to arrange for the employ-
ment of Mr S. Fagin as a Builders
Labourer.

A Government member. You forgot the date.
Mr LAURANCE: No, I did not. The member

did not hear it. I have mentioned it twice. To
continue-

I am advised that the Hon. Premier has
ordered that a job be found for this man.

The SPEAKER: Order! I consider that the
Parliament at this time is debating an extra-
ordinarily serious matter and it is not my inten-
tion to stop people debating that in as free a
manner as possible; but I am not prepared to
allow that sort of extraneous material to be
introduced now. There is not the remotest way
that the member can draw some parallel be-
tween that and what he is talking about. I am
not about to stop him saying whatever he wants
to say in this place, as long as it relates directly
to the matter we are debating. If he wants to
make an accusation against someone else in
this place in relation to an entirely different
matter, he has a right to do that and there is a
way to do it, but he should not do so in this
debate.

Mr LAURANCE: Thank you, Sir. I have
concluded that part of my remarks. I made no
allegations. I simply read from what is an
official document.

The SPEAKER: I ask the member to resume
his seat for a minute. I do not care whether he
was making allegations or reading. The point I
was making to him was that he should not do
it. If I use a word that in the member's opinion
is incorrect, he should not presume to pick me
up on it. The member knows what [ mean. It
was quite clear. Do not reflect on this Chair in
this very important matter.

Mr LAURANCE: Certainly it is not my in-
tention to reflect on the Chair. I was giving an
explanation to the Parliament and I tried to
highlight something contained in the Select
Committee report by way of an example. I just
gave a very clear example which has been given
to this Parliament previously. I will go back to
the report, at your direction, Mr Speaker. I did
answer a lot of interjections, Mr Speaker, but I
wanted to make the point that plenty of
examples have been given of where a member
of a Government has given a direction outside
his immediate area of responsibility.
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Mr Tonkin: Stipulate which Minister
directed it.

Mr LAURANCE: 1 think I have referred to
the Minister.

Mr Peter Dowding: That is not correct.
Mr LAURANCE: Would the Minister look

at Mansard.?
Mr Peter Dowding: You have referred to a

Minister. You said he has committed the of-
fence of directing a senior officer-

Mr LAURANCE: The then Minister for
Transport.

Mr Peter Dowding: You didn't say that at all.
Have a look at page 450 of Mansard.

Mr LAURANCE: If the Minister wants to
combine the two matters I would be very happy
to talk about the then Minister for Transport
and his alleged breach of the Electoral Act,
something that I very strongly aver.

Mr Peter Dowding: You said that the
Government-

Mr LAURANCE: Yes, the Government.
Mr Peter Dowding You said that those

officers of the Public Service have been
prostituted by the Government, the obvious
implication of which is that this Minister
should have been removed ftom Parliament.

Mr Rushton: The Minister for Agriculture.
Mr Peter Dowding: This one sentence-
Mr Rushton: The Minister for Agriculture.

Just shut up for a while and let him continue
with his speech-

Mr LAURANCE: Let me take up that point.
The SPEAKER: Order! The- member for

Gascoyne-
Mr LAURANCE: Let me take up the point

made in that interjection. If we are talking
about the then Minister for Transport why does
the motion mention the then Minister for Par-
liamentary and Electoral Reform? Mr Grill has
never been the Minister for Parliamentary and
Electoral Reform, That is what the Minister
said.

Mr Peter Dowding: Have a look at Mansard.
Mr LAURANCE: I am talking about the cur-

rent Minister. The Minister*- knows that the
word "Minister" mentioned in this regard re-
fers to the Minister for Transport.

Mr Peter Dowding: That is not correct.
Mansard shows differently.

Mr LAURANCE: So the Leader of the House
has said the then Minister for Parliamentary
and Electoral Reform, but he clearly meant the

current member for Morley-Swan. The Minis-
ter for Employment and Training is way off-
beam. Why does he not get his act together?

Mr Peter Dowding: Don't you remember
what you said? You just run away at the mouth.
You have forgotten what you said.

Mr LAURANCE: Some members of the
Government have legal experience. Do they
want to go back and start again and say that I
said the then Minister for Transport? Is that
what they want?

Mr Peter Dowding: Those are your words.
Your talked about a direction from the
Government and said this Minister should
have been removed, and the Minister-

Mr LAURANCE: "The Minister" relates to
the Minister for Transport.

PointI of Order
Mr RUSH-TON: Thank you, Mr Speaker.

Members opposite are attempting to break the
train of thought of the member who was
answering a very serious allegation. The Minis-
ter was heard in silence and I would ask that
the member for Gascoyne, who is so very elo-
quently answering the case, should be given
that same right.

The SPEAKER: The member for Dale well
knows the Standing Orders in this place. If amember is making a speech and is deliberately
trying to avoid interjections he will receive
every protection from this Chair. If he shows a
propensity to answer any of those interjections
I am not about to stop them, provided they are
made in a somewhat orderly way.

Debate Resumed
Mr LAURANCE: On page 5 the report

says-

Parliamentary privilege is a cherished
and hard-won right of all Westminster
style parliaments.

I totally agree with that. It continues-
It is an essential right to permit Mem-

bers of Parliament to carry on their duties
without fear or favour, -

That is something this Government is very re-
l uctant to extend to me. To continue-

-and a most necessary safe-guard for free-
dom of speech jn the Parliament.

I have illustrated this matter thoroughly. I want
to quote to the Parliament a passage from the
book Parliamentary Privilege in Australia by
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Dr Enid Campbell. On page 25 of the book she
says-

Freedom of speech and debate in Parlia-
ment is one of the most cherished of all
parliamentary privileges, without which
Parliaments would probably degenerate
into polite but ineffectual debating
societies.

That is a very strong point. No-one would want
this place to degenerate into a polite but inef-
fectual debating society. I cherish those privi-
leges that have been hard-won over the
centuries. I like to debate in this place. It is
very interesting that the allegations that I make
in Parliament and other matters I raise are in
many ways similar to those raised by the
Premier when he was in Opposition, and I am
sure if every time he raised allegations as he
did, if he had to appear before a Select Com-
mittee he would agree with me and Dr Enid
Campbell that to try to silence a member in
this way would make the Parliament degener-
ate into a polite but ineffectual debating
society. I have no intention of ever allowing
that to happen and I am surprised at the Prem-
ier who was so good at dishing it out when in
Opposition, is desperate to prevent any mem-
ber of this Opposition from taking the same
measures. That is how much he has changed.
The trappings of office have changed this man
enormously. He is desperate to prevent anyone
else from using the Parliament in the way he
has used it.

Mr Clarko: He has even taken to writing let-
ters of hypocrisy.

Mr LAURANCE: So much hypocritical
humbug. I want to see the Premier write to me
in the same vein once again when he is in Op-
position, then I might even deign to read it and
take some notice of it.

Mr Hodge: We will send it to your nursing
home.

Mr LAURANCE: If the Minister is
suggesting the Premier will be living in a nurs-
ins home in 1989 he should think again. On
page six the report says-

the dishonourable use of Parliamentary
privilege to denigrate persons outside the
Parliament ...

I did seek to denigrate. I sought to denigrate
this Government and that is quite clear in my
submission. Members should read page I of the
report. I sought to denigrate this Government.

Mr Tonkin: And the Chief Electoral Officer
who took a direction from the Government.

Mr LAURANCE: I anm on record as saying
that I have the highest regard for those officers.

Mr Peter Dowding: You said you had the
highest regard for them but their work on this
occasion had been prostituted.

Mr LAURANCE: I move on to the minority
report. It is a learned document written, I re-
mind the Parliament, by the only legally quali-
fied person on that committee. The report
should be given greater weight because of his
legal standing. On page 3, the report states-

.. essentially that there is no established
bi-partisan procedure to deal with the con-
duct of Members of this Legislative As-
sembly.

He points out the weakness of the Govern-
ment's method of handling this matter. I agree
with him, and the Government also agrees with
him, that it is a most inappropriate way to
pursue this matter. The report continues-

-... it is clear that the referral of the con-
duct of the Member for Gascoyne, Mr. Ian
Laurance, to a Select Committee of Privi-
lege is a misplaced action.

It was a wrong thing to do; the Government
made a mistake. Further, he says-

..it is. and is seen to be, a case of
attempted oppression of the minority by
the majority in Parliament.

I think that is the nub of the matter.
Mr Brian Burke: You denied that you had

that legal opinion in writing. You will say any-
thing that suits you because, on page 578 of
Hansard Mr D. L. Smith asked you-

You don't have a legal opinion in
writing from anyone, do you?

You said, "Yes." You said today that you had
never said that in answer to an inteijection.

Mr LAURANCE: I am asking the Govern-
ment to find where I said that I have an
opinion in writing.

Mr Brian Burke: Just there.
Mr LAURANCE: Not at all. I was answering

the interjection.

Mr Brian Burke: That is not true. I thought I
heard him say, "I said 'Yes"'. He said, "He was
asking me whether I had a legal opinion and I
said, "Yes"

Withdrawal ofRemark
Mr LAURANCE: I ask the Premier to with-

draw.
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Mr RUSHTON: I have listened to eight
members opposite interjecting while this mem-
ber was trying to get his story over. Mr Speaker,
will you keep the members in order?

Mr Brian Burke: I will apologist and with-
draw. All I quoted was the question, "You
don't have a legal opinion in writing from any-
one, do you?" and the member for Gascoyne's
reply, "Yes". All right, if that is not right, I am
sorry. But 1 do not understand the member for
Gascoyne.

The SPEAKER: Order! I say again to the
member for Dale that if the member for
Gascoyne chooses to ignore inteujections; and
indicates to me that that is the course of action
that he proposes to take, I will ask that those
inteijections cease. If the member for
Gascoyne chooses to field the interjections,
then that is a matter of his choosing and I am
not about to stop them. If those interiections
reach a stage where eight members at a time are
interjecting, I will stop them. I think, however,
that the member for Dale is mistaken. I
thought I heard one or maybe two inteiectors
and some raucous laughter which accompanied
them. They did not help the member for
Gascoyne to be heard, but nevertheless it is
difficult for me to stop people laughing.

Debate Resumed
Mr LAURANCE: I thank the Premier for his

apology.
Mr Brian Burke: Did you have the legal

opinion in writing?
Mr LAURANCE: What I have in writing will

become very clear before I finish my speech
today. Again I thank the Premier for his apol-
ogy.

Mr Brian Burke: The only thing that is true is
that you would not recognise the truth if it hit
you in the face like an apple pie.

Withdrawal of Remark
Mr LAURANCE: Mr Speaker, I request that

that be withdrawn.
Mr Brian Burke: I apologise. The member

would recognise the truth if it hit him in the
face like an apple pie.

Debate Resumed
Mr LAURANCE: I thank the Premier for his

second apology in as many minutes. Just be-
cause he is laughing does not mean that he is
not sincere. I take it as a sincere apology and I
intend to give a sincere apology later in the
same manner as the Premier is laughing.

Government members: Oh!
Mr LAURANCE: If it is good enough for the

Premier, it is good enough for me. I am happy
to emulate the Premier in this matter.

Several members interjected.

Points of Order
Mr HASSELL: The Minister introduced this

matter to the House and described it as serious.
lHe was heard in complete silence although I
was tempted to interject on his remarks. The
Government is reducing these proceedings to a
complete farce. The matter is serious. The Op-
position has treated it seriously. The Select
Committee also treated it seriously. The House
is entitled to have some decorum from the
Government.

The SPEAKER: What is the member's point
of order?

Mr HASSELL: If I need to say it in more
clear words, perhaps it is a request of' you, Mr
Speaker, to place some control on Government
members.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: The Leader of the Op-
position cannot seriously expect his member
not to engender the mirth and the incredulous
reaction that he has engendered as a result-

Mr Hassell interjected.
The SPEAKER: Order!
Mr BRIAN BURKE: -of the sorts or things

that he has had to say.
Mr Hassell interjected.
The SPEAKER: Order! I want members of

the House to listen very carefully to this be-
cause if any member is on his feet speaking to
me, I do not expect to hear an interjection of
any sort from anywhere. When the Leader of
the Opposition was on his feet and a member
of the Government interjected, I called him to
order and there were no more interjections.
When I called the Leader of the Opposition to
order he tended to ignore it. I can only pre-
sume-and I feel sure it is so-that he did not
bear me. I hope that is the case.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: The vast difference be-
tween the comportment of the Leader of the
House and the member for Gascoyne explains
the difference in the attitudes of members in
this place as this debate continues. In no way
could the Leader of the House be accused of
having engendered the same sort of reaction
simply because he did not carry on in the way
in which the member for Gascoyne is carrying
on.
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Mr Rushton: Because we respected the way it
was presented.

The SPEAKER: Order! There was no ques-
tion that the member for Dale had an oppor-
tunity to hear what I just said. I hope that when
I sit down and before the Premier continues his
remarks, the member for Dale will be honour-
able enough to apologise to me.

Mr RUSHTON: I respect your position and I
apologise.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I am saying that the
member for Gascoyne is causing the disruption
to his own speech by the way he is carryi ng on.
The Leader of the House did not comport him-
self in the same manner at all. If the member
for Gascoyne treats the matter seriously I am
sure he would be heard in comparative silence.

The SPEAKER: I do not really want to be
placed in this position again because I have
ruled on this matter twice in the same speech. I
believe I am being asked exactly the same thing
in exactly the same set of circumstances. I re-
peat: If the member for Gascoyne encourages
interjections by answering them, I will not stop
them. If the interjections are multiple and
preclude him from making his speech, I will
take action.

Debate Resumed
Mr LAURANCE: On page 4 of the minority

report, I think a most important statement is
made. It states-

It has been clearly demonstrated to the
Committee that in the speech referred to
in the term of reference given to the Select
Committee the Member for Gascoyne did
not say that the Chief Electoral Officer
acted on a direction from the then Minis-
ter for Parliamentary and Electoral
Reform that he should not proceed with a
complaint made by the member for
Gascoyne.

My solicitor, a respected person in the legal
profession in Perth, gave me that advice. The
Leader of the Opposition, a man trained in the
law, wrote that advice in his minority report. It
is quite clear from both those sources that I had
no case to answer. The report indicates that the
Standing Orders Committee should be asked to
look at this matter. The Government has taken
up that point. I think it is an extremely good
idea.

I took this action most seriously. Obviously.
the Government wanted to take action against
me for its own purposes, to protect its back.
However, if it had decided to fine or gaol me or

declare my seat vacant, the consequences
would have been very serious indeed. For that
reason, I believe that it was reasonable that I
should have legal advice. Because of the
seriousness of the possible outcome, I believe I
was entitled to legal advice and that it was
reasonable for me to have that advice.

Decorum of the Chamber

The SPEAKER: Order! I ask the member to
resume his seat. I am sorry that I have to raise
this matter during this debate. However, mem-
bers from both sides know that I have always
taken a dim view of anybody going between me
and the person on his feet. I take that dim view
whether a member walks upright or crawls on
his hands and knees. In whichever manner a
member does it, he contravenes Standing Or-
ders. Two people have just walked between me
.and the member speaking. They are the seven-
teenth and eighteenth members to do so in this
House this session. If it happens again, I will
not issue a warning; I will expect that the mem-
ber will accept the consequences of his action. I
warn members of this House that I will take
serious action. I consider it a very senious
breach of the rules of this place and I tell mem-
bers not to do it again.

Debate R esumed

Mr LAURANCE: I was making the point
that it was reasonable for me to have legal ad-
vice available to me. Under Standing Order
No. 382, Select Committees have the power to
award reasonable payment. Standing Order
No. 382 in part reads-

Every Select Committee shall have
power to award reasonable payment to any
professional or other witness they may
deem it necessary to employ or call in fur-
therance of the inquiry with which the
Committee is charged; ...

I first sought the approval of the Committee for
my legal adviser to attend. The committee was
gracious enough to allow that course to be fol-
lowed. Under Standing Order No. 382, 1 then
raised the matter of reimbursement of my
reasonable costs. I thank members of the com-
mittee also for giving that matter consider-
ation. In the minutes of the Select Committee
there is in fact a recommendation which the
chairman of the Select Committee has put in
the report indicating that the Standing Orders
Committee will look further at this question.
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Deconum of the Chamber
The SPEAKER: Order! I ask the member to

resume his seat. The member for Karrinyup
will also resume his seat. I believe that in the
matter of people passing between the person on
his feet addressing me and myself, I have been
extremely tolerant. Members will know that I
have been tolerant. They also well know that it
causes me considerable concern. I have
mentioned the matter to many members in this
session, all of whom have taken my remarks
reasonably well and none of whom I have taken
action against. I take strong exception, there-
fore to the action which was taken just now by
the member for Karrinyup, thus saying he does
not agree with me and does not care about my
attitude. I expect the member for Karrinyup
now to stand in his place and unreservedly
withdraw and apologise for the action that he
took.

Mr CLARKO: In deference to the position
you hold and to yourself for the way that you
have performed your function-

The SPEAKER: Sit down! Never mind about
being "in deference". Just apologise.

Mr CLARKO: I apologise, Mr Speaker.

Debate Resumed
Mr LAURANCE: I had just indicated'my

thanks to the Committee for giving consider-
ation of the matter of my legal expenses. This
matter will proceed further ina that the Standing*
Orders Committee, under the second motion
that will become before the Chair today, will be
asked to report on the matters raised in the.
Select Committee report. I raise this in some
detail because although it is not contained in
the Select Committee report, it is contained in
the minutes of the Select Committee that the
question of legal costs of persons appearing be-
fore a Select Committee should be investigated.

Further, the minutes state that if it is decided
that legal costs are reasonable and should be
met by the Select Committee, that will apply
retrospectively to my position. I do not gener-
ally approve of retrospective action, but on this
occasion I think it is only fair that rather than
ask the committee to give a decision on that
matter now, it should give the matter further
consideration- It has not yet given its decision.
Such decision may have gone in my favour, for
which I would have been very grateful. On the
other hand, it may have gone against me and I
would have found that very difficult. However,
the committee has decided to have the matter
looked at more fully and its decision could Ap-

ply to me within the next two or three months.
For that I am most grateful. It is an important
point not only for me, but also for others.

I think it is most important that the Parlia-
ment give consideration to Standing Order No.
382. If this type of action is to be taken against
members who make the kinds of remarks that I
did in debate-] have noticed probably 50 such
remarks in the Parliament since I made my
statements, all of which could have been re-
ferred to a Select Committee but which were
not-members will be subjected to the possi-
bility of extremely high and onerous penalties.
Therefore, they should have the right to have
some legal representation at the cost of the Par-
liament.

I trust that when the Standing Orders Com-
mittee considers the matter it will approve the
payment of legal expenses for such members.
Perhaps if a bipartisan committee is appointed
as a result of this Select Committee report, it
may not be necessary for a member to have
legal advice. If a member appears before a com-
mittee which is bipartisan-which has'an equal
number of members of his political persuasion
and the other political persuasion-he may feel
that he does not require legal advice. However,
because of the very nature of Select Com-
mittees established by this Parliament, that
have a majority of Government members and
the power to take very serious action against a
inember, a member should be entitled to have
legal representation when appearing before
such a committee.

Until such time as that position obtains and*
we have a bipartisan committee, I believe it
reasonable for these costs to be met. My alle-
gations in the first place related to what I be-
lieved to be a clear breach of the Electoral Act
by a Minister of the Crown and by the Govern-
ment's handling of this complaint. I made an
averment that the matter had not been dealt
with properly or adequately and I asked mem-
bers to consider the facts.

Solicitors looked at the material and advised
me that a breach had occurred under section
183(5) of the Act. A period of eight weeks
elapsed-these facts are outlined in the Select
Committee report-before I received a reply,
even though I had requested immediate action.
On 2 April 1 received the following letter from
the Chief Electoral Officer, dated 27 March-

Dear Sir,
In response to your letter of 6 February

concerning your complaint against Mr.
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Grill the matter has been examined by
Crown Law officers.

Advice to me is that there are no
prounds for funther investigation or action
and I shall therefore not be proceeding
with the matter.

No grounds and no explanation were given as
to why my legal advice was wrong and the
Crown Law decision was right. That situation
was quite unsatisfactory. I believe that I was
entitled to aver that either interference had
taken place or that the matter had been
handled incompetently; obviously something
was wrong. I did not want to accuse the
Government of being incompetent and I chose
to allege interference. It was obviously one
thing or the other.

The Government reacted by forming a Select
Committee without proper judicial proceed-
ings; that is, the ability to cross-examine
witnesses. We shall never know the truth of the
matter. Now that I have available to me a lot
more information, such as the Crown Law
opinion which was tabled only while the Select
Committee was being set up, and I have heard
the evidence of the witnesses before the Select
Committee-although several more witnesses
could have been called-I believe the opinion
was prepared largely by an articled clerk. I was
astonished that the complaint was directed to
the Crown Solicitor and then passed-

Mr Pearce: That is an astonis 'hing thing to
say-thai you believe the opinion was largely
written by an articled clerk. Miss Edwards de-
nied that completely in the evidence given to
the Select Committee.

Mr. LAURANCE: I was astonished that
the-

Mr Pearce interjected.

The SPEAKER: Order! Order!

Point of Order
Mr RUSHTON: Mr Speaker, I am taking up,

Your invitation to see that we have decorum in
the House. In fact, the member speaking is not
answering these interiections.

The SPEAKER: Order! I ask the member to
please resume his seat- My tolerance is being
sorely stretched. I seriously considered without
further ado naming the member for Karrinyup
because my tolerance had been stretched. How-
ever, I tried very hard not to do so and I
succeeded. The member for Dale is stretching
my tolerance further. I shall be very surprised if

he did not hear me call the Leader of the House
to order. The member for Dale should not take
another point of order in this manner.

Mr PEARCE: I apologise for not coming to
order quickly enough.

Debate Resumned
Mr LAURANCE: I was astonished that the

complaint directed to the Crown Solicitor was
passed to a more junior officer and the reply
sent from this junior officer directly to the
Chief Electoral Officer without further refer-
ence to the Crown Solicitor.

For various reasons I now believe the com-
plaint was handled incompetently. To back up
my claim 1 refer to the Crown Law opinion
attached to the last page of the Select Com-
mittee report. It relies for its defence on the
matter of qualified privilege and I quote briefly
from that section-

At common law, a defamatory action
arising out of statements made during an
election campaign could be subject to what
is known as qualified privilege based on
the common interest of the public.

The whole matter of qualified privilege is im-
portant in the Crown Law report. I have
indicated previously that I have received
outside legal advice and I have sought a
Queen's Counsel opinion on the Crown Law
advice to the Chief Electoral Officer. It is very
brief and quite unequivocal and I seek the in-
dulgence of the House to read that advice. The
opinion is contained in a document dated 21
July 1986 and signed by R J M Anderson, Bar
Chambers. It states the following-

IAN LAWRENCE
ELECTORAL ACT SECTION 183 (5)

OPINION
Section 183(5) of the Electoral Act states

* that any person who--
At any time between the issue of

the writ and the close of the poll
publishes or exposes or causes to be
published or exposed, to public view
any document or writing or printed
matter containing any untrue
statement defamatory of any candi-
date and calculated to influence the
vote of any elector;
shall be guilty of undue influence

I have been asked to advise whether a
defence of "qualified privilege" would be
available to a person charged with a breach
of this section of the Electoral Act.
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In my opinion such a defence clearly
would not be available. Qualified privilege
is a common law defence which has as its
foundation the broad general principle
that for the purposes of the common law of
defamation certain communications
should be protected by a qualified privi-
lege in the general interests of society, i.e.
that there are some occasions upon which
i: is permissible in the eyes of the common
law for one person to be defamatory of
another. But the fact that a defamatory
statement has been published on a privi-
leged occasion does not mean that the
statement is not defamatory. Any words
will be deemed defamatory which
appreciably injure the reputation of
another in the minds of ordinary citizens.
What S. 183(5) of the Electoral Act does is
to make it a statutory offence to publish
defamatory material of any candidate in
the circumstances set out if that material is
calculated to influence the vote of any elec-
tor. There is simply no room for the oper-
ation of the common law defence of quali-
fied privilege. It is irrelevant.

It is worth noting that the section re-
quires the defamatory material to be un-
true. In other words the section expressly
preserves the defence of truth, recognising
(as is the fact) that even true statements
may be defamatory.

The express preservation of the defence
of truth but the absence of any reference to
any other defence (such as qualified privi-
lege) is a clear indication that none of the
common law defences apart from truth are
available under S. 183(5).

If the Government wants to take this matter
seriously-and I believe it does, otherwise it
would not have gone to the lengths it has-it
should to compare my QC's opinion with its
own Crown Law advice-I call on the Govern-
ment, through the Attorney General, to exam-
ine the opinion I have obtained and re-examine
my complaint to the Chief Electoral Officer. I
will make the opinion available to the Attorney
General and expect that this whole matter will
be reopened.

I want to conclude by saying that I am a great
believer in the tradition of Parliament.
Although it has been shown that the committee
did not afford me natural justice, that the
charge was incorrect, that I had no case to
answer and it was an inappropriate method of
dealing with the matter, nevertheless, I appreci-
ate the committee was set up under the Stand-

ins Orders of the Parliament. I have no desire
to be held in contempt although I believe the
Government has acted dishonourably in the
whole matter. I could confound the matter by
acting dishonourably myself and not complying
with the committee's directions. I have
investigated what the outcome would be if I did
that. In fact, the whole question of the Parlia-
mentary Privileges Act could be brought into
question,

I refer to the case of a Mr John Drayton, the
Editor of The Sun newspaper in Kalgoorlie in
1904. He iiaially refused to attend before a
Select Committee of this Parliament. When the
possible penalties were outlined to him he
changed his mind and decided to appear. He
came all the way from Kalgoorlie in order to
appear before the Select Committee. Having
appeared, he refused to give evidence and was
fined. lHe refused to pay the fine and was
sentenced to gaol. He was placed in Fremantle
Prison and remained there for a month. Shortly
after he had been placed in gaol, members in
the Parliament became worried as to whether
they had the power to do what they did, so they
proposed a motion to rescind the motion that
he go to gaol. After taking legal advice, it was
found that he may have been able to sue the
members of Parliament or the Parliament it-
self-the point is not made clear in the docu-
ments I have studied. There was some doubt as
to whether he could sue for wrongful committal
so the Parliament changed its mind. It did not
rescind. It decided to let him out immediately.
By this time he had served one month in prison
and was given an unconditional pardon on the
condition that he would not take any further
action.

The Government has been good enough to
divide this matter into two motions. The first
motion deals with the Select Committee report
and the charges against me. I naturally will op-
pose that. I believe my colleagues will also.

There is another motion which deals with
what should happen from here. I indicate my
support for that. It would have made it difficult
for the Parliament to deal with these matters
adequately if they were combined. I thank the
Government for seeing fit to differentiate and
divide those two motions and have them dealt
with separately.

Before I conclude I say this: I am a Liberal
member of Parliament and there are 18 other
Liberal members of Parliament. If the Govern-
ment were serious in setting up this committee
and did not purely want to make it an exercise
to bar or gag me in some way, it should have
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placed two of my colleagues an that Select
Committee. The fact that it saw fit to place a
member from another party on that committee
is something for which the Government needs
to answer. I believe it was quite wrong in the
circumstances.

Mr Brian Burke: What an insult to that other
party.

Mr LAURANCE: These were very serious
allegations and could have been extremely
serious indeed. The Government had a ma-
jority on the committee. I think it would have
been appropriate for the Government, if it
wanted to be fair in this matter, to place two
Liberal members on that committee. The
Government decided not to. Despite the fact
that the minority report was signed by only one
member, I would expect that all members of
the Opposition, from both parties given the
evidcnce that I have been able to place before
the House today, would oppose this motion.

Mr Tray: You are presuming the decision
made by the member of the National Party on
that committee would be made on party lines
and not on the facts presented. Surely he is
entitiled to make a decision based on the facts.

Mr LAURANCE: I do not want to answer
interjections, following your direction, Mr
Speaker. I point out to the House that it had
nothing to do with the parties at all. In fact,
apart from the Chairman of the commi ttee-
the mover of the motion, the Leader of the
House, arn experienced Minister in this place-
the other two members of the committee were
new to this place. They were new Labor mem-
bers of Parliament. I would have been happy
for any of the new members of the National
Party to be placed on that committee.

If the Government has seen fit not to appoint
two Liberal members, as I think in fairness it
should have, there may have been plenty of
members of the National Party who may have
been more to my-

Mr Brian Burke: Is that not an attack on the
National Party?

Mr LAURANCE: Not at all.
Mr Brian Burke: It is just an attack on the

member for Stirling.
Mr LAURANCE: No. Mr Speaker, I am

talking about the Select Committee report, as
you would want me to.

I would anticipate, therefore, that because
this has been, what I consider to be a dis-
honourable attack upon a member in order to
try to silence him by using the Standing Orders

of the Parliament,!I would expect that all mem-
bers of the Opposition would oppose this mo-
tion.

Mr Peter Dowding interjected.
The SPEAKER: Order!
Mr LAURANCE: It is an important matter

because teamwork in this Parliament is very
important. I say to the new members of the
National Party in particular that teamwork and
cooperation is extremely important. I have the
highest regard for them all. I believe they will
make a wonderful contribution to this State
and to the Parliament.

This is important from another point of
view: In 1989 there will be a change of Govern-
ment and many of these new members will find
themselves members of the next Government.
They will then have a responsibility to act as a
team and to cooperate. Thus there is a lot more
at stake than merely the passing or otherwise of
this motion before the House today.

I wanted to make that point, because if mem-
bers have listened to the evidence, particularly
that given to me by two qualified legal prac-
titioners, they will know there is absolutely no
case to answer. Certainly Government mem-
bers should oppose their own motion but, of
course, party rules will dictate that they do not.
However, I expect all other members of the
Parliament will oppose this motion.

Given all that I have said-and I have tried
to lay the case very clearly before the Parlia-
ment-I intend to act honourably. If this mo-
tion is passed, despite my opposition to it, I
intend to comply with the directions of that
properly constituted committee.

Mr Hassell: Mr Speaker-
The SPEAKER: The member for Stirling.
MR STEPHENS (Stirling) [ 12.22 p.m.]: Mr

Speaker-

Point of Order
Mr THOMPSON: There was a clear call

from the Leader of the Opposition prior to the
call from the Deputy Leader of the National
Party. There is another matter which is far
more serious; I assert that the Government
Whip conveyed a message to you, Mr Speaker,
from the Premier that you give the call to the
member for Stirling ahead of the Leader of the
Opposition, who, it was agreed, would be the
next speaker. I ask that you take into account
the two matters I have raised.

Mr Stephens: There is no point of order, Mr
Speaker.
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The SPEAKER: I do not need any assistance,
thank you. I will take the second point into
consideration first, and demand that the mem-
ber for Kalamunda immediately rise to his feet
and apologise for the serious doubts which he
has cast upon my impartiality by suggesting in
any way that someone could stand here and say
something to me which I would take notice of.
As a former Speaker of this House, the member
for Kalamunda, above all other members,
should know far better than to cast such
doubts. Some of the things which have been
said in this place this morning have been quite
intolerable.

Mr THOMPSON: I will not apologise.
The SPEAKER: Order! Resume your seat. I

name the member for Kalamunda.

Suspension of Member
Mr PEARCE: I move-

That the member for Kalamunda be sus-
pended from the service of the House.

Question put and a division called for.
Bells mung and the House divided.

Remarks during Division
Mr Burkett: What a stunt! What behaviour!
Mr Evans: And from a former Speaker, too.
Mr Hassell: This is disgraceful conduct-ab-

solutely, disgraceful! It is total hypocrisy and
dishonesty, and you know it.

Mr Laurance interjected.
The SPEAKER: Order! I inform the member

for Gascoyne that had any other member of
this House said what he just said, I would have
no hesitation in naming that member
immediately. However, in view of the situation
in which I find myself-that is, that the mem-
ber for Gascayne is the subject of this debate-
I would ask him to apologise only, bearing in
mind that there would be no question that in
other circumstances I would name him
immediately for the words he used.

Mr LAURANCE: I apologise very sincerely
and I want to explain that my-

The SPEAKER: Order! As the member well
knows, apologies in this place are given
unreservedly. The member will give an
unreserved apology or irrespective of what ac-
tion this House is taking against him, I will
name him.

Mr LAURANCE: I intend to apologise, but I
seek leave to give an explanation.

The SPEAKER: I will ask the member for
Gascoyne for the last time: He will apologise
and withdraw, or I will name him.

Mr LAURANCE: I apologise and I withraw,
but I seek to make an explanation.

The SPEAKER: Order!

Result of Division
The division resulted as follows-

Mrs Beggs
Mr Bertram
Mr Bryce
Mr Bnian Burke
Mr Burkett
Mr Care
Mr Cowan
Mr Evans
Dr Gallop
Mr Grill
Mrs Henderson
Mr Gordon Hill
Me Hodge
Mr House
Mr Tomn Jones
Dr Lawrence

Mr Bradshaw
Mr Cash
Mr Clarke
Mr Court
Mr Crane
Mr Grayden
Mr Hassell

Ayes
Mr Marlborough
Mr Terry Burke
Mr Bridge
Mr Peter Dowding

Ayes 32
Mr Nalder
Mr Parker
Mr Pearce
Mr Read
Mr Schell
Mr D. L. Smith
Mr P. J. Smith
Mr Stephens
Mr Taylor
Mr Tonkin
Mr Trenorden
MrTroy
Mrs Watkins
Dr Watson
Mr Wilson
Mrs Buchanan

Noes 14
Mr Laurance
Mr Lewis
Mr Lightfoot
Mr Rushton
Mr Thompson
Mr Tubby
Mr Spriggs

Pairs
Noes

Mr Mensaros
Mr Williams
Mr Watt
Mr MacKinnon

(Teller)

(T1 01r)

Question thus passed.
[The member for Kalaniunda left the

Chamber.]
Mr Hassell: The members of the Opposition,

other than the Whip and the member for
Gascoyne, will now leave the Chamber for a
short while in protest at the granting of the call
to the member for Stirling.

The SPEAKER: Order! I will leave the Chair
until the ringing of the bells.

Sitting suspended from 122810o 1233 p. m.

MEMBER FOR CASCOYNE
Withdrawal of Remark

THE SPEAKER (Mr Barnett): During the
time I was away from the Chamber I con-
sidered the course of action I should take
against the member for Gascoyne. I have de-
cided on that course of action, but have de-
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cided that, in view of the debate tnat has taken
place, the member should have the right to stay
in this place until the conclusion of the debate.
As a consequence the action that I have de-
cided to take-whatever that action might
be-will be taken at the end of the debate.

Debate Resumed
MR STEPHENS (Stirling) [12.34 p.m.]: I

want to make it perfectly clear that I am very
supportive of the comments that have been
made about the serious nature of this debate.
This is an issue about which I have spoken on
three or four occasions in my parliamentary
life; namely, the necessity to lift the accuracy of
comments made by and the integrity of mem-
bers of Parliament. I am very pleased that at
long last action has been taken, and the
Premier has indicated the need to raise the
standards of members of Parliament so that we
can recover some respect in the wider com-
munity.

When I was appointed to the Select Com-
mittee I took my position very seriously and
did some research before the first meeting was
held. The references mentioned by the Leader
of the Opposition in the beginning of his min-
ority report were noted in my research; I saw
them and read them; I was quite aware of them
prior to taking my position at the first meeting
of the Select Committee. I endorse those com-
ments wholeheartedly.

We must preserve our absolute privilege in
this place. Nevertheless, that privilege is a right
we have on behalf of electors so that we can
search out, inquire into, and correct any prob-
lems or faults there may be in the community
without fear of any action being taken against
us. But the privilege demands that we act re-
sponsibly.

It is absolutely essential that if we are to
make statements which defame someone
outside this Chamber, we should have the
proof to back those statements. It may
subsequently be shown that the proof on which
a member acted genuinely was in fact wrong.
That does not detract from what I am saying. If
a member in all sincerity believes he has proof
which allows him to make an allegation, I will
defend his right to make that allegation. But
when allegations are made without any proof
we have quite a different question altogether.

I also draw a distinction between allegations
and comments made about members in this
place and allegations and comments made
about citizens in the community, who do not

have the right to defend themselves in this
Chamber. We must make that distinction.

The member for Gascoyne quoted from an
authority-I do not recall whom it was-and
used the words "try to silence a member". I do
not believe we should try to silence a member
who is acting responsibly and is making alle-
gations that defame someone outside the
House provided he has some substantial proof
to back those allegations.

Today it is not my intention to go over the
evidence but merely to point out what I saw the
problem to be, a problem in two parts: An alle-
gation that the Government had unreasonably
directed a civil servant and an allegation that a
civil servant had prostituted his position by
accepting those unreasonable demands. I am
more concerned about the second part, the alle-
gation that a public servant allowed himself to
be prostituted.

I do not think there is any basis for the mem-
ber for Gascoyne to have said, "I have the
highest regard for the Chief Electoral Officer
and for those Crown Law officers of this
Government" and then further on to say, "I
have the highest regard for those officers, but
their work on this occasion has been
prostituted by this Government which has ob-
viously directed them". It is not much good
saying that those officers are held in high re-
gard and then to turn around and say that is
how much the Government has prostituted
those officers. That is a very serious allegation
to lay against anyone, let alone a senior officer
of a department.

The opportunity had been given for
substantiation of the claims that the officers
had been prostituted, or had allowed them-
selves to be prostituted. The opportunity was
not taken to present the proof, and again today
an opportunity was available to give that proof,
and it was not forthcoming. I listened very
closely to the speech made by the member for
Gascoyne, but not once did he advance any
proof to substantiate the claim that the officer
had allowed himself to be prostituted.

When Mr Shaw was before the committee he
conducted himself extremely sincerely, and I
believe implicitly in the comments he made
and the replies he gave. I feel he did so without
evasion or equivocation of any son, and his
evidence can be relied on absolutely.
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Turning to some of the comments made by
the Leader of the Opposition in the minority
report, he said-

The fact is that there is no tradition of
this Parliament exercising a bi-partisan
restraint on the activities of individual
Members. The fact is that although such
restraint and control of conduct is needed
it has not emerged as a practice within this
Parliament.

He is quite correct; there is no tradition, but a
precedent exists, although the roles were
reversed. I do not intend to go into that, but the
roles were reversed and we saw party politics
taking over. The fact that a precedent has been
created adds weight to the need to set up a
committee to investigate the whole problem,
and I fully support that proposal. I will not say
more now because there is a subsequent motion
still to be dealt with.

Reference was made to a breach of the Elec-
toral Act and the advice of the Crown Law
Department. It so happens that because the
Town Clerk of Albany recently thought he
might take a defamation action against me I
had occasion to talk to a very senior QC in
Perth. I consulted him about my defence, and
the advice he gave and the letter he wrote to the
lawyers representing the Town Clerk of Albany
are very similar to the advice given by Crown
Law. Because of that recent experience and the
advice given by my QC I can accept that the
Crown Law Advice was genuine.

The other point I wanted to make about that
advice is that I am amazed, particularly in view
of the QC's opinion which the member for
Gascoyne read, that he does not take action
himself. That is an important point. The
Government, or Mr Shaw, on the advice of
Crown Law, decided not to take action. From
my experience I believe that advice to be valid.
There was nothing to preclude the member for
Gascoyne from initiating a private action.

Mr Rushton: At great expense.

Mr STEPHENS: If he feels so strongly about
it and his own credibility is on the line I believe
the expense would be justified. The Town
Clerk of Albany tried to intimidate me in the
execution of my duty, and I was prepared to
commit myself to expense to defend myself. If
the member for Gascoyne feels so strongly
about this matter I cannot understand why he
was not prepared to commit himself to take
that action. The avenue was there had he
chosen to take it. That is one of the reasons be

was rather unwise to reflect on the integrity of
the Chief Electoral Officer.

Finally, he also reflected on my judgment
and my integrity. All members here heard him
say that he would have preferred an
inexperienced member of the National Party to
be on the committee. He would have preferred
all the committee members to be Liberals, but
failing that he thought it would have been bet-
ter if they were inexperienced members of the
National Party.

Mr Rushton: You have misconstrued it
again.

Mr STEPHENS: If the interjection came
from someone with any reliability I might
bother to respond to it.

On 17 June 1986, Mr Laurance said this on
page 580 of Mansard-

The member for Stirling, with his vast
experience in this place, will also be
welcomed by me, and will make this com-
mittee something of which the Parliament
can be proud.

Then he went on to talk about the other
members of the committee. How can I mis-
represent that? I will pause for a moment while
the member for Dale indicates how that mis-
represents anything, let alone the fact that the
member for Gascoyne was quite happy to have
me on the committee. I am deafened by the
silence! For once he has shown some intelli-
gence.

Mr Rushton: I question yourjudgment.
Mr STEPHENS: I am sure the member for

Dale can read my speech in Hansard. I have
indicated my position on this and I have made
my judgment seriously and on the facts. I went
to the bother of doing some research on the
question of parliamentary privilege before the
committee met. I am proud of the fact that in
my political life here I have made my
judgments on the issues, rather than on party
political persuasions. It may have been to my
personal disadvantage; I could have been a
Minister for a lot longer than I was, but I made
certain judgments. I take strong exception to
anybody reflecting on my integrity in the way it
was done today.

That will not deter me from continuing to
make my judgments on the facts. I was quite
happy to put my name to the report that has
been presented to this Parliament because I
believe it was a reasonable and balanced ap-
proach. I have indicated that I feel very
strongly that it was a reflection on the Chief
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Electoral Officer rather than a reflection on the
Government. I do not think it matters whether
the wording of the Select Committee's terms of
reference referred to the Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform.

The Government is the Government, and
that may be either the Minister or members of
Cabinet. One can quite legitimately apply a
broad interpretation. However, there is only
one interpretation to put on the words that the
Chief Electoral Officer was prostituted and al-
lowed himself to be prostituted. I rely strongly
on that particular point. We support the inn-
lion before the Chair.

MR HIASSELL (Cottesloe-Leader of the
Opposition) (12.50 pm.]: I wanted to say
something at the outset which I would rather it
were not necessary to say; that is, that I did not
see at any time on the Select Committee in the
conduct of the member for Stirling any activity
that warranted condemnation.

Mr Stephens: Thank you for that.

Siting suspended from 125) to2.15S p.m.
Mr HASSELL: This is a motion arising from

the report of the Select Committee of Privilege
which found that the member for Gascoyne
had committed a serious breach of the privi-
leges of this House, and requires that member
to withdraw those allegations and apologise
unreservedly.

This motion should be tested on the basis of
a simple proposition; that is, that if members
want fairness they must be prepared to give it.
On the basis of that test this motion is seen to
be grossly unfair because everyone in this
House who knows anything about Parliament
knows that such a motion will never be moved
against a Government member. Such a motion
wilt never be seen in this -place under this
Government in respect of a member of the
governing party. I do not think that any mem-
ber on the Government side of this House
w.ould suggest for one minute that such a mo-
lion would ever be moved against a Govern-
ment member.

It is a very serious matter because it is cre-
ating, for the first time in this Parliament, a
precedent. Although it might be thought that
the whole issue is unimportant or minor be-
cause the proposed penalty is relatively insig-
nificant in terms of its effect on the member
concerned, it is about what this determination
stands for, and in the precedent that it creates
on which members should reflect.

The reality is that one day-and it does not
matter when-the sides in this House will
change; the majorities will change. If this is to
become the standard and the measure of the
fairness of this House, it is a low standard. It is
a standard which will one day come back like a
snake to bite the members who now sit op-
posite.

We must be aware of what this motion is
doing. The member has not said something
about this House or this Parliament which
causes offence to the Parliament as such. He
has said something which Government mem-
bers believe is not true, which Government
members say is unfair to their Minister or Min-
isters, or unfair to some officers of the Crown.
But there is no offence against the Parliament
as such; that will be created simply by the
adoption of the motion by the majority. Are we
in some way to start the practice of testing the
validity of what members say in this House? I
have already heard in this House this morning
a number of things to which I take exception
and offence and which I believe are wrong, not
only in content, but also, by the standards of
normal good manners in a community, in the
fact of their having been said. However, I make
no suggestion to you, Mr Speaker, or to the
House that any member from any side of the
House should be put on trial for making those
remarks; and nor should I have any such pro-
posal. In like manner, the Government should
not have put forward this proposal.

One has only to attend a Select Committee of
Privilege, as I did in these circumstances, to
realise the total inadequacy and incapacity of
that method of dealing with a genuine matter
of privilege, if there were such a thing. We can
go back in history to the 1950s and contem-
plate what happened in the Federal Parliament
when Mr Menzies was Prime Minister and
when a couple of characters, generally regarded
as disreputable, offended the sensibilities of the
Commonwealth Parliament. Their names were
Fitzpatrick and Brown. I have not researched
the case. I am going on my memory and the
intensity of my interest at the time. Fitzpatrick
and Brown were called before the Bar of the
House. Imagine it, Mr Speaker! If they had
offended this House they would be standing at
the Bar of this House charged with offending
the House. They were cornmitted to prison for
a period because of their conduct, if my mem-
ory serves me correctly.

One of the issues was the proposition that
they might be represented by counsel. Again
relying on memory, i;t is my understanding that
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Mr Menzies led the House in refusing to allow
them to be represented by counsel, although
they were on trial and were outsiders. They
were tried by the very people whom they were
alleged to have offended, the members of the
Parliament.

In this case we did not drag our member
before the Bar of the House and put him on
trial there; we established a committee. We es-
tablished that committee on the same basis as
if we were to have that committee consider the
price of bread. We put on it three Government
members, one Opposition member, and one
National Party of Australia member. We did
not even pretend that that committee was to
operate completely independently of the party
system.

Mr Bryce: Has this Parliament treated the
situation any differently over time? I am not
saying there is not a good case to think about it
for the future, but so far as the long past is
concerned, has this Parliament ever treated this
situation any differently?

Mr HASSELL: Not that I know of. I think
the only precedent, in fact, was in a case in
which the Deputy Premier was involved. It is
my understanding that on that occasion the
Deputy Premier appeared before the Select
Committee once and declined to offer any evi-
dence.

Mr Brian Burke: I was on that Select Com-
mittee. There were two Labor members and a
majority of Government members at that time,
including the member for Gascoyne. I did not
hear him jump up and down then.

Mr HASSELL: The fact is that the com-
mittee was set up without pretence that it
would or could operate independently and
totally objectively. When that committee met
across the road in the Select Committee room
it was clear just from the form of the meeting
that it was in no way qualified to determine
somebody's future in Parliament because it
could not act with objectivity or with separ-
ation from the surrounding politics. Thus a
member of this House was in effect put on trial
for something he had said which offended
some of the members of the House. That trial
may have resulted in a serious penalty being
imposed on the member.

Let there be no mistake, the proposed pen-
alty is serious enough. The member had to
think long and hard about whether he was pre-
pared to accept the penalty because he cannot
feel that he has been found guilty of any of-
fence against the Parliament or against the law

of the land. Indeed, he has not been found
guilty; and he referred to the use of that word
when he spoke in his address.

I come back to the fundamental point that
we do not have a procedure available that en-
ables us in a fair and objective way to test the
veracity of what members say. Every proposal
that could be put forward to test the truth of
what members say would run into
insurmountable difficulties because in so many
of these cases there is a matter of judgrnen t and
evaluation.

The fact is that members of Parliament have
privilege because it is the one place to which
certain injustices in the community can be
brought without those matters being open to
challenge or action in any court. Clearly, if a
member of this House refuses to obey the rules
of the House relating to conduct-to sit in his
seat; to abide by the rulings of the Speaker; to
comply with the time allowed for speeches; to
comply with the required standard of dress; to
comply with the standards of language; or gen-
erally to comply with Standing Orders-that
member must be open to discipline by the
House, and indeed he is. We have seen that
discipline exercised this morning by you, Mr
Speaker, and that would ultimately always be a
requirement for the House to operate. But by
this motion the House is moving onto new
ground. It is moving onto new ground because
it is seeking to try a member for the truth or
otherwise of what he says.

When a member does not tell the truth, rem-
edies are open. What are those remedies?
Firstly, there is the remedy for the offended
person to reply and to put straight the record.
Secondly, on every member of this House is a
heavy test of credibility. If members use their
privilege repeatedly to make outlandish, un-
reasonable, untrue, unfair, or just plain inac-
curate statements, those members soon lose
their credibility; they are soon judged by the
House, by the media, and by the wider public
as having failed to use their privilege in a man-
ner that is in any way beneficial. Those are the
remedies. Under Standing Orders there is also
available the possibility of a personal expla-
nation if some individual has been spoken of
wrongly-

Here we see something quite different; we see
a member being put on trial-and it is not
coincidental that he is a member of the Oppo-
sition. Everyone knows that no member of the
Government in our present system will ever be
put into such circumstances. When the Leader
of the House reported to the House on the
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Select Committee, he tabled the minutes in
which will be found the record of certain things
said during the course of the committee-cer-
lain words that were spoken.

Mr Pearce: I did not table the transcript of
evidence.

Mr HASSELL: I thought some reference ap-
peared in the minutes. I do not want to make
this contentious so I will not mention the name
of the member or the words he spoke. Let me
say that it was a member of the governing party
who was a witness before the Committee, and
he used words before the Committee which
you, Mr Speaker, will not allow to be used in
this House. When I took objection to those
words being used at the Committee, the
objection was overruled and the motion of dis-
sent was defeated on party lines. That Meated
only to the use of some words in the course of
the conduct of the Select Committee; but it
dramatically illustrates the point I am mak-
ing-that is, that the issue which has been put
to the Select Committee has in no way been
removed from the battle and the conflict of the
Parliament. Yet a member of this House is in
effect on trial for what he said. Even when
dealing with some offensive words, there was
no crossing of the barrier of party in that area.
It illustrates in a dramatic way the complete
inadequacy of the proceedings in question.

I believe that there needs to be engendered in
the Parliament a discipline in relation to con-
duct, and I believe that we need to search, in-
deed rather urgently, for a means of dealing
with matters of privilege. However, there is no
possibility that we shall ever succeed simply by
making rules or by allowing the majority to
control the minority without the rules applying
equally to the majority.

As I said in the dissenting report which, as
the member for Gascoyne has pointed out, was
largely accepted by the majority, these proceed-
ings have to be seen as a case of attempted
oppression of the minority by the majority in
Parliament. It should not be so, but it is in the
circumstances which exist under the present
procedures.

It ought to be possible for the conduct of any
member, Government or Opposition, to be
called properly into question and to be dealt
with exclusively on the basis of its merits, but
that has not happened. There is no tradition of
it happening, and there is no procedural con-
sensus as to how it might happen in the future.

The fact is that the operations of this Parlia-
ment are pursued according to a rigid adher-
ence to party. The rigidity of that adherence
varies from the Labor Party, which is most
rigid, to the Liberal and National Parties,
which are less inflexible on those issues but
nevertheless are parties with a discipline and
with a requirement that there be an acceptance
of that discipline.

In my view the proceedings against the mem-
ber for Gascoyne were mnisconceived from the
outset. They have wasted a great deal of time,
and perhaps the only benefit that has been de-
rived from the whole exercise has been the fact
that the House seems likely to agree to having
you, Mr Speaker, with the Standing Orders
Committee, consider how these matters might
better be dealt with in the future.

For anyone who examines the matter in an
even marginally technical way, there is a
necessity to reach the conclusion that the mem-
ber for Gascoyne has not committed a serious
breach of the privilege of this House. The fact
is, and again it highlights the political nature of
the proceedings, that the terms of reference
drafted by the Leader of the House and put in
his motion to establish the committee referred
to actions that manifestly, on the face of the
record, were not done by the member for
Gascoyne. It is worth recording that, because
there have been some technical discussions
here today about the rules and procedures, and
it ought to be recorded that when we are
putting a man on trial for his seat, we have an
especial obligation to consider what it is he is
charged with.

Term of reference (3) reads-

That the allegation made by the Member
for Gascoyne in his speech on the Address
in-reply on Wednesday, I8 June 1986, that
the Chief Electoral Officer acted on a di-
rection from the then Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform that he
should not proceed with a complaint made
by the Member for Gascoyne, be referred
to the Privileges Committee.

It has been demonstrated, and anyone who
reads the Hansard must see, that in the speech
referred to by the member for Gascoyne he did
not say at any point that the Chief Electoral
Officer acted on a direction from the then Min-
ister for Parliamentary and Electoral Reform.
He simply did not say it, yet that is the foun-
dation upon which the House will shortly vote
to find that he has committed a serious breach
of its privilege. In the context of privilege and
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practice as known to this Parliament, there is
not the slightest basis upon which it can fairly
be said that the member for Gascoyne has com-
mitted a serious breach of the privilege of this
House. If what the member for Gascoyne said
was wrong, it was not different in quality from
the inaccuracy, unfairness, or wrongness of
hundreds of statements made in this House
every day..

In conclusion I come back to my starting
point, which is to say to the Government mem-
bers that if they want fairness, if they want to
establish a standard of fairness, they must be
prepared to give it. They cannot claim that this
motion is fair when every one of them knows
that this procedure will never be applied to any
one of them white they are members of the
Government. Not one of them will ever be sub-
ject to this procedure, yet in a few minutes they
will vote to apply it to the member for
Gascoyne.

Mr Pearce: One of our members has been
subjected to that procedure-that is the truth
of it.

Mr HASSELL: Government members will all
vote in a few minutes to apply this procedure to
the member for Gascoyne, knowing as each of
them does that for as long as they are the ma-
jority and the Government this procedure will
never apply to any of them.

Mr Bryce: Do you remember that the mem-
ber for Gascoyne was himself the key player in
that other Select Committee?

The SPEAKER: Order!
MR TONKIN (Morley-Swan) [2.45 p.m.]: I

would like to deal with the allegations that
have been made, and to refer to Mansard and
the speech made by the member for Gascoyne.

On page 566 of Hansard, on 19 June 1986,
the member for Gascoyne said of officers-

..their work has been prostituted by
this Government, which obviously has
directed them.

On page 450 of Hansard, on 18 June 1986, he
said-

This Government directed those
officers ...

This morning I heard the member for
Gascoyne say that he did not say a Minister
had directed them; he said the Government
had done so. If it was not a Minister who has
directed the Chief Electoral Officer, what does
the member for Gascoyne mean by the term
"Government"? Was it a junior clerk, perhaps,
who directed the Chief Electoral Officer? I

suggest that when one says the Government
directed the head of a Government depart-
ment, it must mean a Minister. The only Min-
ister who could have directed the Chief Elec-
toral Officer was myself, then having the re-
sponsibility as Minister for Parliamentary and
Electoral Reform. I was the only Minister
charged with the responsibility for
administering the Electoral Act.

So in a legal sense, even if the Statute did
give me the power to direct on this matter-
and I am not sure that it did-certainly the
only Minister who could have directed the
Chief Electoral Officer would have been my-
self. If any other Minister-and I think this is
what the member for Gascoyne is hinting at-
attempted to direct the Chief Electoral Officer,
I believe that officer would have reported
immediately to me that a Minister had ap-
proached him improperly with respect to such
a direction.

Mr Speaker, I can tell you two things: Firstly,
the Chief Electoral Officer did not report that
any other Minister had attempted to direct him
on a matter; and secondly, if be had I would
not have tolerated it from any Minister-and
that goes for any Minister, from the Premier
down. Certainly, no attempt was made by a
Minister because the Chief Electoral Officer
did not report to me at the time; and since, in
giving evidence, he has indicated that no direc-
tion was made.

Therefore I think it is quite wrong for the
member for Gascoyne now to slip away from
his allegations and suggest that he said the
Government directed the Chief Electoral
Officer, and that he was not necessarily refer-
ring to a Minister, or the Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform. There is no
doubt whatsoever in my mind that if the Chief
Electoral Officer had been approached by any
other Minister, I would have known about it.

I did not know of this issue until I heard the
member for Gascoyne make his speech well
after the election. If I had been aware of the
matter, I would not have tried to direct the
Chief Electoral Officer. If I had quite wrongly
tried to direct the Chief Electoral Officer, then,
knowing Mr Shaw as I do, I can say he would
have refused to be directed on the matter, be-
cause he would have realised that I was
exceeding my authority and, in that circum-
stance, I would expect a breakdown in the re-
lationship between me and the head of my de-
partment, which is something I would not have
wanted. So I do not believe that, even had I
known of the issue and had I improperly
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attempted to direct the Chief Electoral Officer,
he would have accepted that direction.

At page 450 of Hansard the member for
Gascoyne said, "their work on this occasion
had been prostituted". In other words, he is
saying not only that a direction was given to
the Chief Electoral Officer, but also that the
Chief Electoral Officer acted upon that direc-
tion. It is no good the member for Gascoyne
saying that he has the highest regard for Mr
Shaw or anyone else, because he is saying that
those people have prostituted themselves; in
other words, they have taken the direction and
there had been a dereliction of duty on the part
of Mr Shaw, the Chief Electoral Officer. It is no
good the member for Gascoyne saying, "I am
not attacking them"; he is attacking them be-
cause he is saying that they took a direction
from the Government. Clearly that is not so.

I thought I would speak very briefly to indi-
cate that if, as the member for Gascoyne said,
the Government directed the Chief Electoral
Officer, firstly, it could only have been the
Minister responsible for administering the
Electoral Act at the time, who was 1, who gave
the direction;, and I did not do so. I did not
even know of the issue. Secondly, if quite im-
properly an attempt had been made to direct
the Chief Electoral Officer, Mr Shaw, he would
have quite rightly refused to take that direc-
tion- Had any other Minister attempted quite
improperly and without statutory authority to
direct the Chief Electoral Officer, then the
Chief Electoral Officer would have apprised me
of the situation and I would have had some-
thing to say about that. None of those matters
happened.

The fact is that the member for Gascoyne
believed that action should have been taken
against the then Minister for Transport and,
because no action was taken, he then assumed
that the Government had in fact directed the
Chief Electoral Officer. No evidence has been
brought to this place to show that such direc-
tion took'place. That is all I want to say on the
facts of the matter.

MR CASH (Mt Lawley) [2.53 p.m.]: In
speaking to the motion before the House, I
make it clear that there is no doubt in the
minds of Opposition members that the mem-
ber for Gascoyne is a very effective debater in
this House and he has the ability to forcefully
and concisely represent the principles and phil-
osophy that we on this side of the House are
proud to stand for. His debating skills are so
effective that this Government has developed a
paranoia which is clearly evident by the way

Government members react each time the
member for Gascoyne rises to his feet.

There is no doubt that the member for
Gascoyne's devastating debating skills and his
clever use of legitimate parliamentary tactics
have had a dramatic effect on identifying and
exposing the deceit and deception of this
Government which has become a hallmark of
its dealing with many issues which the public
have quite properly identified as being matters
of increasing public concern.

One has only to read Hansard to see the
many examples of the Government's paranoia
in relation to the debating ability of the mem-
ber for Gascoyne. On many occasions we have
seen evidence of the Government's attitude to
this member. Whenever the member for
Gascoyne speaks, we clearly see discomfort
among Government members. When Govern-
ment members interject on the member for
Gascoyne, their amateurish attempts to dis-
credit him always fail, and so they should.
Government members even use the time allot-
ted to them to speak to attempt to attack and
vilify the member for Gascoyne in respect of
the points he has made-the very points which
are of great public concern.

The attempt by the Government to denigrate
the member for Gascoyne will only strengthen
his resolve to exercise his undoubted right as a
member of this House to question the deceitful
manner in which this Government has handled

-the affairs of this State. The Government's
paranoia reached a climax late last year when
Government members were obviously very dis-
tressed and concerned at the member's effec-
tiveness in seizing opportunities to show some
of the faults of the Government the tactics of
the member for Gascoyne were raised in the
Labor Party momn and it was agreed generally
that members on the Government side should
seek any opportunity to take some action
against the member for Gascoyne. In other
words, clearly Government members were very
upset at the member's effectiveness and they
intended, by whatever means necessary, to
silence him.

Members of this House will recall that in late
1985 the member for Gascoyne raised some
matters of public concern involving tourism
and the Western Australian Tourism Com-
mission. The member raised some important
matters of public concern and the Government
seized upon that opportunity to launch its at-
tack on the member for Gascoyne. You, Sir,
will remember at that time in fact the Govern-
ment moved successfully for a Select Coin-
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-mittee to be formed to inquire into the com-
ments made at the time by the member. As I
understand it, the matter was again discussed
generally in Government ranks, and the wise
counsel of some of the longer serving members
of the Government prevailed inasmuch as the
hot heads were advised that perhaps it would
be unwise to move at that stage.

You, Sir, will recall that in fact the Govern-
ment referred no matters to that Select Com-
mittee. I guess it was a case of the Government
seeing the election coming up and losing its
nerve.

If you, Sir, wonder just how this relates to the
motion before the House, I indicate that I am
trying to give some of the history as to why this
second Select Committee was established and
why today its report is the subject of the mo-
tion before the House.

I have nearly finished giving the background
in respect of this matter. The Government de-
cided to back off. It lost its nerve. It realised an
election was around the corner and it did not
proceed inasmuch as it did not refer any mat-
ters to that Select Committee. However, sure
enough in the minds of Government members,
the member for Gascoyne was still causing
them considerable irritation.

It was clear the Government would make
another move to try to silence him. At 3.32
p.m. on Wednesday, 18 June the member for
Gascoyne rose and spoke in respect of the Ad-
dress-in-Reply. He raised a number of import-
ant matters, including allegations that the
Government was involved in blackmailing
commercial organisations to support it
financially; that the Government had been less
than honest when it quoted union statistics in
relation to strikes; claims that a Minister of the
Crown had breached section 18 3(5) of the Elec-
toral Act; and various other matters of public
importance.

We saw the incidents that followed his
speech. The next day the Leader of the House
rushed into this place and announced as one of
the first matters of business for the day that he
intended to move for a Select Committee to be
set up to investigate a matter raised by the
member for Gascoyne the previous day. In its
desperation to haul the member for Gascoyne
over the coals and silence him, the Govern-
ment decided to set up a Select Committee.

Given the comments that the member had
made the previous day in the Address-in-Reply
debate, I guess it would have been fair for
members to expect that the Government

intended to explore some of the allegations that
were made; for instance, those relating to
blackmail by the Government, or that some
person had acted as a bagman during the recent
State election, or even the allegation that a
Minister of the Crown had breached a section
of the Electoral Act. 'That allegation was that a
Minister had breached the Act in the run-up to
the 1986 election.

But no, the Leader of the House in his des-
peration to silence the member for Gascoyne
seized on another point and framed his motion
in the following terms-

That the allegation made by the Member
for Gascoyne in his speech on the Address-
in-Reply on Wednesday, 18 June 1986,
that the Chief Electoral Officer acted on a
direction from the then Minister for Par-
liamentary and Electoral Reform that he
should not proceed with a complaint made
by the Member for Gascoyne, be referred
to the Privileges Committee.

As has been clearly pointed out today by the
member for Gascoyne and the Leader of the
Opposition, the member for Gascoyne never
mentioned the words, "the Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform-. The member
for Gascoyne had stressed throughout his
speech on 18 June, the day before the Select
Committee was set up, that he held the Chief
Electoral Officer and other public servants in
the highest esteem, and had a personal regard
for those he knew.

It Seems to me it was clear from that moment
on that the Leader of the House had blundered
in his wording of the motion. There is no doubt
that on Thursday, 19 June we saw a debate
which caused the Leader of the House and
other Government members to try to crawl out
from under that which they had set in train.
There is no question that Government mem-
bers were becoming increasingly uncomfortable
when a number of Opposition speakers spoke
against the setting up of the Select Committee
on the grounds that the motion moved by the
Leader of the House did not accurately reflect
the words that had been used by the member
for Gascoyne.

We then had the spectacle of the Leader of
the House desperately trying to retrieve the
situation. There is no question that if members
watched his actions on that day, they would
have seen that he obviously had second
thoughts about the tactics he used in his at-
tempts to silence the member for Gascoyne.
There is no doubt also that the Premier was
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becoming increasingly alarmed at the situation
as the day wore on.

Mr Brian Burke: Oh rubbish!
Mr CASH: Well, at one stage of the game the

Premier threw caution to the winds and de-
cided he would try to do some sont of deal. I
quote from page 595 of Hansard where the
Premier said-

I will withdraw this motion immediately
if anyone can offer evidence in support of
the allegation. The member for Gascoyne
now has the opportunity to avoid this com-
mittee. The Leader of the Opposition can
avoid the Star Chamber if someone on that
side can support the allegation with evi-
dence.

He then paused and said-
Again I say that 1 will withdraw the mo-

lion if I am given one skerrick of evidence.
That is a quotation from Hansard, and I would
hardly expect the Premier or the Leader of the
House to deny that those wards were spoken.

Mr Pearce: We do not deny it.
Mr CASH: Again on page 596, the Premier

said this-
Let me say that I understand that from

time to time members in this place during
debate will say things that they later regret.
I can honestly say that on occasions I have
said things I have later regretted saying.
But accepting that there is no evidence and
no member on that side can produce any
evidence as to this matter, I will withdraw
this motion if the member for Gascoyne
chooses to apologise to the Chief Electoral
Officer.

Mr Pearce: And he would not do it.
Mr CASH: The point is the Premier was be-coming desperate because he knew the motion

that had been moved by the Leader of the
House did not properly reflect the words
uttered by the member for Gascoyne. That
member quite correctly in my view, refused to
be sucked in by the Premier.

Itris clear chat the Premier had no authority
whatsoever to present that proposition to the
House. The Premier did not own the motion;
technically it belonged to the House, and there
was no way that he could do, or be seen to be
doing, a deal in respect of the folly of the
Leader of the House. As is now history, the
motion was carried and the committee was set
up. It was directed to inquire into the words
which were never uttered by the member for

Gascoyne in the form that was suggested by the
Leader of the House.

I took the opportunity of observing the Select
Committee when it examined the member for
Gascoyne, because [ wanted to see-and I want
to stress that I was the only member of the
Legislative Assembly to exercise his or her right
under the Standing Orders to be present at that
inquiry-how the Leader of the House would
crawl out from under the words that he had
moved in the motion in this House.

It soon became clear to me that the Leader of
the House, who moved the original motion and
then ended up as the chairman of the Select
Committee, realised within minutes that he
had blundered. There was no question about
that.

Mr Pearce: The majority report does not re-
flect that opinion.

Mr CASH: Obviously, the Leader of the
House was not listening when the Leader of the
Opposition spoke a few minutes ago because
the Leader of the Opposition showed why that
report could be brought down only in the man-
ner that it was. He showed clearly that until
such time as the Standing Orders are amended
and a bipartisan approach is taken in respect of
inquiries into a breach of privilege by mem-
bers, we will never move away from the present
situation. The Leader of the House knows that
as well as I do. Given the second motion that
he intends to move today, I would have
thought that he accepted that because, even in
the majority report, he made clear reference to.
the statements made by the Leader of the Op-.
position and, if I read them correctly, he ap-
peared to support them wholeheartedly- I
thought that was the object of the second mo-
tion which he intends to move today. He
should not back away from the fact that he
blundered when he moved the original motion.
He made a mistake and he now has to carry the
can.

We spoke for more than six hours on the day
that he moved the original motion and today
we have been debating this matter for about
four hours. That is a fairly clear indication that
something went wrong and that "something"
falls very squarely in his court. Let us try to
clean the situation up and improve it for the
future.

1 now wish to touch on some of the technical
aspects of the matter because we know that the
committee was constituted under the pro-
visions of the Standing Orders of this House.
By virtue of those Standing Orders, the com-

2526



[Thursday, 24 July 1986] 22

mittee enjoyed certain powers conferred on it.
Irrespective of the words of the motion and
irrespective of whether the member for
Gascoyne had uttered the words in the motion,
the committee was directed to consider the
situation and to report to this House. It has
now done that. The committee was vested with
certain powers and part of those powers was to
make recommendations in respect of penalties
that it believed might be considered by this
House in respect of its findings. The committee
could have recommended that the member be
fined or reprimanded or it could have required
the member to apologise. Those are some of the
options that were open to the committee-
there are plenty mare-irrespective of whether
the member for Gascoyne had uttered the
words that were attributed to him.

The committee was under an obligation to
report to this House and it hat. The other point
is, of course, that having reported to the House
and this House having considered the
recommendations, the House will be in a
position, under the Standing Orders and by vir-
tue of the privileges conferred on it as a House
of Parliament, to direct the member for
Gascoyne to take certain action and, whether
the member for Gascoyne likes it or not, he will
be obliged to carry out the directions of this
House. If he is asked to apologise, it will be
incumbent on him to do so. However, if the
House were to direct the member for Gascoyne
to do 10 cartwheels down St Georges Terrace,
again it would be incumbent upon him to do
that because if he wants to remain a member Of
this place, he cannot afford to be in contempt
of the House and to not carry out the directions
of the House would put him in contempt of it.

Mr Pearce: The House cannot direct a mem-
ber to do cartwheels down St Georges Terrace.
Don't be stupid..

Mr CASH: I do not intend to take any notice
of the interjections by the Leader of the House.
However, this House is entitled to make up its
mind as it sees fit. If it wishes to impose a
bizarre penalty on a member, that is its pre-
rogative and that has again been emphasised in
some of the comments made by the Leader of
the Opposition which obviously have been
sadly missed by the Leader of the House.

If the member for Gascoyne were disquali-
fled from this place as a result of his disobeying
the direction of the House, he would not be
disqualified from standing at a subsequent by-
election. The member for Gascoyne would win
the seat of Gascoyne even more handsomely
than he did at the last election earlier this year.

There is no doubt that the electors in that seat
have a very high regard for their member of
Parliament. That was clearly demonstrated in
the petition that he presented to this House
yesterday. It was signed by many of his electors
asking him to continue to do the good work
-that he is well-known for in the area and not be
silenced by the House.

I again suggest that the Leader of the House
blundered when he drafted the original motion.
From that point we have had a series of disas-
ters, about which nobody in this House is very
proud. If one reads the reports, one will see
comments made under the signature of the
Leader of the House that refer to the Parlia-
mentary Privileges Act conferring upon its
members unquestionable privilege to the free-
dom of speech. I suggest that the freedom of
speech privilege casts a very great responsi-
bility on each member. However, equally the
House, having privileges of its own, has
responsibilities in respect of dealing with mat-
ters of privilege and with its members. I suggest
that it would be quite wrong for any Govern-
ment or for any group in this House to use its
numbers to silence a member of this House just
because that member was effective in putting
his views, even if those views did not accord
with the views of the Government of the day.

A Government with superior numbers on the
floor of this House should never use those
numbers irresponsibly because to do so would
deny other members of this House their right to
speak and to do that would destroy the demno-
cratic principles for which we should all stand.

I raise just one other matter that was covered
very adequately by the Leader of the Oppo-
sition. I refer to the need to change the system
in respect of inquiring into breaches of privi-
lege by members of this House. Where is the
justice in a system which allows one person, an
accuser, to set upon another member of this
House and confers upon the accuser the right to
sit in judgment upon the very person whom he
has accused?

Mr MacKin non: Kangaroo court.

Mr CASH: That would not be acceptable in a
normal court of law as I am sure you, Mr
Speaker, would agree. I hope that the Govern-
ment will take note of the debacle that has
occurred as a result of the intention of this
Government to try to silence, in this case the
member for Gascoyne, but perhaps in other
cases any member of the House. The Leader of
the Opposition highlighted that point. It is in-
cumbent on all of us to have a good look at the
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situation to see whether we can improve it,
because this Parliament should never be used
to institute what was just referred to as a
potential kangaroo court. I op pose the motion.

MR THOMAS (Welshpool) 13.21 p.m.]: I
speak in favour of the motion. In so doing, I
take up a point that was made by the Leader of
the Opposition. Towards the end of his speech
he essentially said that the comments that were
made by the member for Gascoyne and which
were the subject of this reference to the
Selection Committee were no different in qual-
ity from many statements made in this House
in that they reflected on people or may have
been untrue,

Mr Hassell: Get it clear! That statement was
subject to an additional qualification. Don't
quote half of it and misrepresent the statement.

Mr THOMAS: I am not seeking to mis-
represent the statement.

Mr Hassell: The statement was conditional
in that it was prefaced by the words, "if what
the member for Gascoyne said was wrong".

Mr THOMAS: I concede the point that every
day in this House a great many statements are
made that on face value are wrong. I was trying
to think of a good example to illustrate the
distinction between the sorts of statements that
are quite often made and the statements that
were made by the member for Gascoyne on 18
June 1986. 1 recall the debate that took place
the other day when we were debating the
McCamey's Monster agreement. The member
for Nedlands said to the Minister for Minerals
and Energy, "You don't know anything about
it", or words to that effect. I am sure the mem-
ber for Nedlands would agree that taken liter-
ally that statement is not correct because the
Minister does know about the agreement. It
was a debating technique used in this House
and elsewhere. That technique uses hyperbole.
People overstate their case to demonstrate their
commitment to the argument they are trying to
advance. They are not expecting to be taken
literally and they rarely are. The very context in
which such statements are made indicates their
nature.

I have been reading Hansard for a number of
years. I am not aware of any statements made
in recent years that are as incorrect or as dam-
aging as the statement made by the member for
Gascoyne on 18 June 1986. We have covered
many aspects of this argument today and some
people may well have lost track of the
statements actually made. I invite members to
look at the statement on page I of the report. It

was extracted from page 450 of Mansard and
reports the member for Gascoyne as saying-

I have the highest regard for the Chief
Electoral Officer and for those Crown Law
officers, but this Government-

There was then an interruption and the mem-
ber for Gascoyne resumed his remarks as fol-
lows-

I have the highest regard for those
officers, but their work on this occasion
has been prostituted by this Government,
which obviously has directed them.

He repeated that point later in his remarks. I
submit that on any ordinary construction of
that statement, three very serious and separate
allegations were made. First, the member al-
leged that a Minister directed the Crown Law
officers and the Chief Electoral Officer in the
conduct of their duties regarding the complaint
that had been made by the member for
Gascoyne. I know that that construction of the
statement is disputed by members on the other
side, but I will argue subsequently that that is a
fair and reasonable construction to be put on
the statement.

The second and quite separate allegation is
that a Crown Law officer-admittedly, that
officer is unspecified-accepted direction in
tendering advice to the Chief Electoral Officer
investigating the complaint which had been
made by the member for Gascoyne. The third
allegation was that the Chief Electoral Officer
himself-specifically mentioned by the mem-
ber for Gascoyne-accepted such direction.
They are three very serious and quite separate
allegations.

The member for Gascoyne today and in the
proceedings of the committee said that the
terms of reference of the committee did not
empower the committee to investigate the
statement he made on 18 June because he did
not actually mention the Minister for Parlia-
mentary and Electoral Reform who was cited
in the terms of reference in the resolution set-
ting up the committee. On any ordinary con-
struction of the statement made on 18 June,
that is not a serious objection. That point was
dealt with very adequately by the member for
Morley-Swan when he spoke earlier. He
pointed out that any reasonable interpretation
of the comments made on 18 June would be
that the person allegedly directing the officers
would have to be the Minister for Parliamen-
tary and Electoral Reform. The only alternative
would be that somebody with no authority over
the Chief Electoral Officer gave some sort of
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direction to him. Such person could be another
Minister, which would be an even more absurd
situation.

The member for Gascoyne said today that he
had not even stated that the person who gave
the direction was a Minister. The head of a
Government department answers directly to
the Minister. Is the member for Gascoyne
suggesting that any normal interpretation of
the statement he made last month would be
that somebody other than a Minister gave a
direction? It is absurd enough to suggest that
somebody other than the Minister to whom
that person answers would give any sort of di-
rection, but to go even further and suggest that
it might be somebody other than a Minister-
presumably a more junior civil servant-is to
make an even more serious reflection on the
integrity of the Chief Electoral Officer. It would
be bad enough if he were supposed to have
accepted such a direction from his Minister; it
would be even worse if he were supposed to
have accepted it from another Minister. It
would be absolutely beyond the pale if he were
supposed to have accepted such a direction
from a More junior civil servant, presumably
the only other person it could be if the direc-
tion were to be classified as a Government di-
rection. Quite clearly, a reference to the Minis-
ter for Parliamentary and Electoral Reform was
meant. That is how everyone interpreted the
statement. Until the committee met nobody
had ever put any other construction on it.

Given that those three very serious alle-
gations had been made by a member of this
House-a person duly elected to represent his
electorate, small though it may be in its num-
ber of electors-it was entirely appropriate for
the House to refer that matter to the Select
Committee of Privileges for investigation. The
committee sought to investigate those alle-
gations. It gave the member for Gascoyne every
opportunity to call any witnesses he chose to
justify the allegations which he had made to the
House. He chose not to lead any evidence or to
call any evidence to substantiate his alle-
gations. The committtee called witnesses whom
it considered to be appropriate to give evidence
as to the truth or otherwise of the allegations
that had been made. The report which has been
tabled and spoken to by the Leader of the
House indicates those who were called.

It was a very comprehensive set of witnesses.
There was the current Minister for Parliamen-
tary and Electoral Reform, the former Minister
for Parliamentary and Electoral Reform, the
Chief Electoral Officer and the Assistant

Crown Solicitor (Prosecutions). Those
witnesses, in the opinion of the committee,
were the only conceivable relevant officers,
Ministers and member who could shed light on
the subject. If the member for Gascoyne felt
that anybody else should be called to give evi-
dence before the committee, he could have
asked for them to be called, but he chose not to
do so.

That raises a point that came up today. In-
itially, the member for Gascoyne asked that his
legal adviser, Mr Momber, be called. Mr
Momber attended the hearings of the com-
mittee as a legal adviser to the member for
Gascoyne. He did not attend as a witness,
although previously he had been called as a
witness. However, the member for Gascoyne
withdrew his request that Mr Momber be
called as a witness and he was not called.

Today the member for Gascoyne has come
along with a legal opinion, has waved it to the
House,' and said it is from an eminent legal
person and that it comes to a different con-
clusion from the opinion tendered to the Chief
Electoral Officer by the Assistant Crown Solici-
tor (Prosecutions). I presume the opinion is
different although I have not had the oppor-
tunity to look at it. It is some months since the
member for Gascoyne first fled his complaint
to the Chief Electoral Officer and it is quite
some time since the matter was first raised in
the House. If the member for Gascoyne had
access to contrary legal opinion that suggests
that an alternative course was open to the Chief
Electoral Officer, one would have expected him
to place that opinion before the committee. It
would have been quite proper for him to do so
and one would have anticipated that to be the
thrust of the evidence given by Mr Member if
called as a witness. Of course, he was not called
as a witness.

I go back to the substance of the allegations
made and I submit that in respect of the alle-
gations of impropriety on the part of the Minis-
ter, the Crown Law officer, and the Chief Elec-
toral Officer, there are, in fact, two different
aspects in each case which are cause for con-
cern and constitute reasons that it is appropri-
ate for this matter to be regarded as a breach of
privilege. They put the allegations into a differ-
ent category from the type of statements made
as part of debating technique, which I referred
to as hyperbole.

In each case the allegations reflect on the
individuals concerned and could quite conceiv-
ably be damaging to their reputation, integrity,
and career; that is, they wrong the person to
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whom the allegations refer. They also reflect on
the process of government generally and tend
to erode public confidence in the integrity of
the Government and the process of govern-
ment.

The least serious of the three allegations is
the reflection on the Minister. We understand
that when the statement was made it referred to
the then Minister for Parliamentary and Elec-
toral Reform. The reason it is the least serious
is that that person is a member of the House
and, like the member for Gascoyne, he is able
to defend himself against any allegations that
the member for Gascoyne may make.
Nonetheless it is a serious situation when an
allegation is made that a Minister of the
Crown, who is also by the very nature of the
position a politician, is directing a public ser-
vant who answers to him in a partisan way in a
matter as serious as the conduct of elections
and that the Minister would directly interfere
in the way that that official conducted the af-
fairs of his department.

The allegation was a slight on the integrity of
the then Minister but in the normal course of
events he is able to defend himself in this
House and has done so today quite adequately.
It is clear that there is absolutely no substance
to the allegation.

I turn now to the second of the people ad-
versely reflected upon by the statement made
by the member for Gascoyne on 18 June; that
is, the unspecified Crown Law officer. As the
report of the Select Committee indicates the
investigation showed that in fact only one
officer from that department, apart from an
assisting articled clerk who did some research,
was concerned with the preparation of the in-
formation. The appendix to the report indi-
cates that it was conveyed directly by that
officer to the Chief Electoral Officer without
going through the head of department. I submit
that we have in this case a very serious abuse of
parliamentary privilege. We have a member
who has the privileges of this House who has
used this House, which is often referred to by
those outside as cowards' castle, to make
serious allegations about a person's Pro-
fessional integrity. Officers of the Crown Law
Department-that is, lawyers employed by the
department-are somewhat different from
most people employed in the Public Service.
Most public servants are responsible to their
head of department and through him to the
Minister. They can be directed as to how they
conduct themselves in their duties as public
servants. However, in the case of a lawyer

employed by the Crown Law Department, not
only does the employee-employer relationship
exist as with other public servants, but also as
lawyers they are subject to the normal pro-
fessional ethics that bind lawyers in terms of
the relationship between legal practitioner and
client.

As part of the ethics binding that relationship
between banisters and solicitors and their cli-
ents they must give people what they believe to
be correct advice as to the state of' the law. A
person may go to a lawyer with the intention of
hiring him and ask him to write an opinion on
a certain subject, specifying the conclusions he
should come to. However, under his pro-
fessional ethics a lawyer is duty-bound not to
comply with (hat type of request. He can only
supply opinions indicating what he genuinely
believes to be the state of the law.

In his statement the member for Gascoyne
said that in this case a member of the legal
profession breached his ethics by giving the ad-
vice which he felt the Minister would have
wanted him to give. We have evidence not only
from the current Minister and the former Min-
ister but also from the legal officer concerned
that on no occasion was any direction given. Of
course, that is absolutely and conclusively
proved by the fact stated in the report that the
first time any Minister became aware of the
complaint was after the advice had been given
to the member for Gascoyne that the Electoral
Department would not be proceeding with the
matter. As far as the department was concerned
the subject was closed.

It was a statement made by a member in this
House which did wrong to an individual by
reflecting on the professional integrity of an
officer of the Government. It goes further. In
the general system of Government we must
have public confidence that the Government is
being given correct legal advice, and that the
normal relationship between lawyer and client
applies between the Crown Law Department
and the Government. Quite fundamental mat-
ters of important policy are impacted upon by
the legal advice given by Crown Law officers to
the Government. If the public feels that the
advice given to the Government is the advice it
wants to receive, irrespective of the state of
law, confidence in government generally and in
that aspect of government particularly will be
severely diminished.

The third and probably the most serious alle-
gation made by the member for Gascoyne in
his statement of 18 June was his reflection on
the Chief Electoral Officer. Again we have a
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person whose career is dependent upon his in-
tegrity. The same applies to an officer of the
Crown Law Department: Her chance of pro-
motion within the Public Service or success in
private practice would substantially depend
upon her professional standing. On the oc-
casion to which I referred a member of this
House used parliamentary privilege to reflect
upon and slight that person's professional in-
tegrity. In the case of the Chief Electoral
Officer I suggest to the House that we have a
position in which public trust and respect for
that person's integrity is even more important
than that of a barrister or solicitor; that is, we
must have the confidence of all sections of the
community in our electoral system. When
voting, electors must feel that the system is fair
and that a ballot is being conducted in accord-
ance with the rules. All political pantics and
candidates must also have that degree of confi-
dence.

Only yesterday in this House we were debat-
ing amendments to the Electoral Adt. As was
stated yesterday, we do not believe that the
electoral system is fair, but I am not aware of
anyone having suggested that the electoral
officers responsible for the conduct of elections
within those rules do so in any way other than
according to the book.

The member for Gascoyne suggested that the
Chief Electoral Officer was subject to direc-
tions by a Minister or somebody else-he did
not tell us who. I suggest what he was really
saying on 18 June was that that Minister was
the Minister for Parliamentary and Electoral
Reform, and it was only later that the member
for Gascoyne referred to someone else, as yet
unspecified, having made that direction.

How can any of us, as candidates for election
to Parliament every three years, have any con-
fidence in the electoral system if we believe
that to be the case? If anyone has any doubt
about the seriousness of that type of allegation,
he should think back a few months. We had an
election on 8 February that, to the best of my
knowledge, with the exception of the letter to
which the member for Gascoyne referred and
its aftermath which will probably be concluded
today, went according to the rules. Everyone
who was a winner, loser, or voter accepted that
the election was conducted fairly and within
the rules, and accepted the results. However,
we are seeking to change those rules.

On 6 or 7 February an election was held in
the Philippines which has a different electoral
system from that which operates here. People
in the Philippines do not have widespread con-

fidence that those responsible for the conduct
of an election will operate according to the
rules and that the result which is declared will
be an accurate reflection of the way in which
people vote. As a result, after the election in the
Philippines, a war took place over the issue of
who had won. There was no widespread confi-
dence in the electoral system.

I suggest to the Kouse that, for our system to
work and to be consistent, many things are
important, but it is absolutely essential that the
people involved in politics-the electors, can-
didates, and everybody else-have confidence
in the integrity of the system. That is essential
for the system to work properly and in a civi-
lised manner with people accepting the ballot
box rather than the bullet as the appropriate
way in which to conduct affairs.

The member for Gascoyne has made the
most severe reflection on the integrity of the
Chief Electoral Officer and the way in which he
conducts his affairs. The member for Gascoyne
cannot get out of that, because he named that
officer. That is not only an adverse reflection
on the Chief Electoral Officer and possibly
damaging to the system generally, but it is also
a r eflection on the integrity of an individual. A
wrong has been done to an individual. That
person is a public servant: he is not a member
of this House and cannot defend himself here.
Moreover, by virtue of the fact that he is a
public servant, he is not able to exercise the
normal rights of citizens and defend himself in
the media. He is in a most disadvantaged
position and he has been subject to a cowardly
attack.

It is conceivable that, apart from the damage
done to the Chief Electoral Officer in terms of
his self-esteem and the esteem in which he is
held in the community, he personally could suf-
fer damage- Obviously the Chief Electoral
Officer is in a very senior position as head of a
Government department. Were he to aspire to
move to another department, into private in-
dustry, or to further his career in other ways, he
may well be disadvantaged were it to be held
generally that he had not conducted himself in
his current position with complete integrity.
His career could be damaged and, as a result,
he could suffer financial and other disadvan-
tages.

If the statement that was made by the mem-
ber for Gascoyne had been made outside the
House, I suspect it could be the subject of a
successful legal action. That would be very
costly for the member for Gascoyne. The repu-
tation of the Chief Electoral Officer is a very
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valuable asset, if one is able to put a price on it,
and the same applies in respect of the Crown
Law officer about whom I spoke earlier. In
each case, because of the damage to the indi-
viduals concerned and the potential damage to
the system generally, I commend the motion to
the House and suggest that what we have here
is a very serious abuse of privilege which is
likely to lead to the House being brought into
low regard generally by people seeing it as the
type of place which can be used as a cowards'
castle from which to slander people outside the
House, knowing full well that what is said will
not be the subject of legal action,

Had those dire consequences which I
foreshadowed come about, it probably would
be appropriate for the House to take more
serious action than simply to require the mem-
ber for Gascoyne to apologise. However, I do
not believe that is necessary. I do not believe it
is appropriate for us to do anything other than
to ask the member to apologise or withdraw the
allegations unreservedly, because I do not be-
lieve the substantive effect of' those alle-
gations-although the statements could tend to
have that effect-will be as bad as it could be.
The member for Gascoyne has no credibility
and, as a result, people who might read in
Hansard or in the newspaper those statements
about the Chief Electoral Officer or the Crown
Law officer probably would not think that
much less of those people, but rather would
regard the member for Gascoyne as being the
sort of person who makes loose allegations
without a scintilla of evidence to support them.

MRS HENDERSON (Gosnells) [3.47 p.m]:
I wish to contribute to this debate as I served
on the Select Committee which investigated the
offence that has been alleged to have occurred.
It is my very strong view that it is a privilege to
speak freely in this Parliament. That is a privi-
lege which has been hard won and must be
guarded jealously. Indeed, people gave their
lives to enable us to have the right and freedom
to speak in Parliament.

In this case the member for Gascoyne made
allegations that the Government had
prostituted itself by directing the Chief Elec-
toral Officer not to proceed with a complaint
that had been lodged by the member for
Gascoyne. By alleging that the Government
had directed those public servants to act in that
way, the member for Gascoyne reflected very
seriously on the integrity of those public ser-
vants, by even suggesting that they would ac-
cept such direction.

Before the committee the member for
Gascoyne was extended every courtesy poss-
ible. He was given every opportunity to
produce evidence and details to support his
allegations. It is indicative that he had no evi-
dence, that all he could do was rely on a minor
semantic difference between the motion that
was before the House and the words that he
spoke on that particular evening. As has been
mentioned already this afternoon, not a single
shred of evidence was produced that any direc-
tion was given by any Government Minister to
any public servant. In fact, on the contrary,
evidence was produced that no persons were
directed in such a way and people came before
the committee and gave sworn evidence that no
such direction had been given.

We need to make it quite clear here this
afternoon that this exercise cannot be
represented in any way as an attempt to muzzle
a member of Parliament. There has been no
attempt to limit the freedom of speech of the
member for Gascoyne, but rather we as a body
have embarked on action to preserve our own
freedom of speech for the future by jealously
guarding that it should be used carefully and
that it should not be treated in a way that
would cause problems and result in us losing it.

It is one thing to be able to speak in Parlia-
ment without fear or favour; it is quite another
thing to malign a public servant who is unable
to defend himself, and, with a very broad
brush, use colourful and Strong language, such
as was used by the member for Gascoyne, to
suggest that the Government had prostituted
itself.

What this matter is really all about is the fact
that the member for Gascoyne believes he had
a complaint and his complaint was that certain
material with which he was not happy had been
circulated in his electorate prior to an election.
He asked for that complaint to be investigated.
It was investigated, but he was not happy with
the outcome, because it was not the outcome he
would have liked. So, with a scatter gun ap-
proach, the member for Gascoyne gave vent to
his spleen in this place by making broad and
serious allegations about the Government and
its role in the investigation of his complaint.
That was really just a reflection of his frus-
tration that neither the Crown Law Depart-
ment nor the Chief Electoral Officer agreed
with his opinion that he had a valid
complaint.

This department investigated his complaint
and found it could not support his position.
The member for Gascoyne came to the Parlia-
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ment and alleged-because neither the Chief
Electoral Officer nor the Crown Law Depart-
ment found what he hoped they would find-
that the Government had directed those
people. Having made the allegation that the
Government had directed those public ser-
vants, that matter was in turn investigated by
the Select Committee and found to be without
any basis whatsoever.

I found it interesting that even after the
Select Committee had fully investigated the
matter and had come to a decision, the mem-
ber for Gascoyne then turned around and, one
by one, criticised the members of the com-
mittee. Having not been able to achieve the
result he wanted to achieve in the committee,
he now says, for example, that the opinion
given by Crown Law was mainly prepared by
an articled clerk. That is a very serious
malignment of one of the witnesses who came
before the committee, because as the member
for Gascoyne is aware, she gave sworn evidence
that she had prepared the opinion on her own
authority; it was her own work and she had not
been briefed by anyone. Despite those facts, the
member for Gascoyne came to the House today
and said her opinion was mainly prepared by
an articled clerk, although he knows that is
untrue.

The statements the member for Gascoyne
has made today, such as that the committee did
not offer him natural justice and that the
Government had acted dishonourably, are hol-
low indeed. He has not accepted the com-
mittee's report.

It is interesting that the member for
Gascoyne is not the first member who has had
material circulated in his electorate that he has
found to be unpalatable. I have no doubt he
will not be the last member to whom that will
happen. But that is all part of the political pro-
cess, and there are avenues one can take to
pursue those matters if one thinks they go be-
yond the bounds of what is reasonable. The
member decided to take those avenues to pur-
sue an investigation and to allege that what had
been circulated in his electorate was not
reasonable, but he lost. He had the matter
investigated but the investigation did not come
down with the decision he wanted, so he did
not accept the decision. To use a good old
Australian term, this means he was not a good
sport; he was just not prepared to accept the
umpire's verdict. That is the problem the mem-
ber has: He can dish it out but he cannot take

I repeat: The Select Committee acted in a
very fair, impartial and proper manner. It gave
the member for Gascoyne every possible op-
portunity to present evidence to support his
position. What happened is that he took his
complaint to the Chief Electoral Officer, who
forwarded the complaint to Crown Law, which
dismissed it. The member for Gascoyne then
came here and made allegations that those
people who investigated his claim must have
been directed by the Government. His alle-
gations then went to the Select Committee,
which looked at all the evidence and found
none to show that his allegations were anything
but baseless.

The member for Gascoyne then came back
here and claimed that some members of the
committee were too new and inexperienced
while others were too experienced. He alleged
that the committee acted on party lines and
was partisan. One has only to look at the min-
utes of the meeting to notice that the final re-
port of the committee was agreed to 4:1
whereas the procedural question raised by the
Leader of the Opposition was resolved along
different lines. So no-one could complain that
the members of the Select Committee acted in
a partisan and political way, The voting was
very much not along those lines. Different
groups of people who joined together on differ-
ent questions were different combinations of
people.

I must say that the Leader of the Opposition,
when on that Select Committee, was faced with
a total lack of any kind of evidence forth-
coming from the member for Gascoyne. This
put the Leader of the Opposition in a difficult
position, and he made a valiant effort to save
the face of and protect his colleague. He did
that by properly arguing the broader question
of privilege itself. He suggested there was a
need to look at the whole question of privilege
in a way which would resolve matters of breach
of privilege. He argued his case very cogently
and the committee accepted his argument and
indeed incorporated some of his views in the
committee report, and that is the subject of the
motion that is to follow this one. That is to the
credit of the Leader of the Opposition. He was
caught on a Select Committee where,
unfortunately, one of his own colleagues was
involved who was not able to present a single
shred of evidence to support his position. The
Leader of the Opposition did the only thing
available to him and that was to take up the
broad issue of privilege and argue that.
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But it is clear to everyone in the House that
the member for Gascoyne is someone who will
shoot off his mouth, lo use the blunt Australian
term. When he finds he has no evidence to
back up his allegation, he is unable to back
down gracefully but he maligns the people who
made the decision on his allegations. I support
the motion.

MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the
House) [3.56 p.m.]: When I gave notice of these
motions yesterday morning the Govern-
ment could have had no idea of the kinds of
stresses and strains that would be brought to
the surface in the Opposition by the discussion
of this motion today. Indeed, I have to say that
the Government has perhaps found itself in
a position of that little boy in the supermarket
who took the can from the bottom of the pile,
because we have seen the Opposition collapsing
around our ears. It was not our intention when
we brought on for debate the motion to set up a
Select Committee to bring about this result. We
expected to issue a timely and salutary warning
to the member for Gascoyne that the kind of
behaviour which has become the hallmark of
his performance in this Parliament was not ac-
ceptable to the Government and ought not to
be acceptable to the Parliament. We wanted it
to be a warning to him and to other members
that they need to stay within the bounds of
decency during parliamentary debates.

Mr Court: Do you think we should adopt all
your standards?

Mr PEARCE: Our standards are different,
especially if we look at the way in which the
Select Committee of Privilege which I chaired
operated, in contrast with the committee be-
fore which the present Deputy Premier ap-
peared when he was an Opposition member.
On this occasion we sat and discussed the mat-
ter. We heard evidence from a number of
people. At the end we put together a report
which at least had the merit of attracting the
support of every member of the committee bar
the Leader of the Opposition, who did not ad-
dress the specific issue but the more general
one described by the member for Gosnells.
That varies dramatically from the operation of
the Select Committee before which the member
for Ascot appeared when in Opposition. At the
first meeting of that Select Committee the
member for Gascoyne appeared with a typed-
out version of the committee's findings. He
turned up with a motion that the committee
was to be asked to agree even before anyone
had appeared before it. That is the member for
Gascoyne's way of carrying on.

In quite considerable contrast, we gave the
member for Gascoyne every opportunity to
present evidence on his behalf. We allowed him
to have his legal adviser there throughout the
hearing. No legal adviser was allowed for the
Deputy Premier years ago. We gave the mem-
ber for Gascoyne the opportunity to ask ques-
tions of witnesses through the Leader of the
Opposition or any other member of the com-
mittee.

I gave him the opportunity to make a
statement, in effect, by asking him whether he
had anything to say when I told him in advance
that he could raise any matter without having
to rely on a member of the committee asking
him the necessary question. He was given every
opportunity before the Select Committee,
which is in very considerable contrast to the
way in which the member for Ascot was treated
when he appeared before his Select Committee
all those years ago.

I agree with the Leader of the Opposition
that the privilege process needs to be reviewed
and that is why I have a subsequent motion on
the Notice Paper. But that does not disguise the
fact that the member for Gascoyne is as guilty
as hell when it comes to the matter which was
before the Select Committee. He had no evi-
dence to present whatsoever.

At one point 1, as chairman of the com-
mittee, put it to him, "Okay, ignoring the sem-
antic point you raise about what you believe to
be the difference in the form of the wording of
the motion-a criticism of the House perhaps
in providing a mistaken reference to the com-
mittee-and what you say you said in the
House, what do you have to say about the alle-
gation you say you did make; what evidence do
you have to produce?" Of course, he had none
to produce; he made no effort at all to Produce
that evidence. The committee made a decision
that, irrespective of the semantics, it was in-
cumbent on the member for Gascoyne to
present any evidence he might have had in sup-
port of the allegation that he had made, which
was clearly the subject of the setting up of the
Select Committee.

It comes back to the question of acting
honourably. The member for Gascoyne has
never acted honourably in this whole matter in
terms of his initial allegation in the Parliament
or of the way in which he avoided answering
effectively the charges brought against him
through the Select Committee process.
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That is the matter for which the committee
now is asking the House to bring the member
for Gascoyne to book. I thought the way in
which each member of the committee ap-
proached that task showed a great level of fair-
ness and wilingness to help, particularly, the
member for Gascoyne. That is certainly true of
my two colleagues, the member for Welshpool
and the member for Gosnells; and it certainly is
the case that the member for Stirling, the
Deputy Leader of the National Party, did not
act in a partisan way in the manner in which he
supported the majority report.

At the same time on the question of the dis-
sent motion moved by the Leader of the Oppo-
sition, the member for Stirling voted with the
Leader of the Opposition. As the member for
Katanning-Roc suggested by inteijection
earlier, he did what his party and the House
would have expected him to do; that is, he
weighed up the issues as he saw them and made
his judgment on the facts as he saw them.

The Leader of the Opposition also ap-
proached the whole question of the Select
Committee with fairness and a lack of bias.
The member for Gosnells said one would not
really have expected him to do anything but
seek to support his colleague, and he did it
fairly and approached the question of the way
in which the Select Committee operated in a
fair way. Given all the circumstances, the gen-
eral points he raised about the operation of the
Select Committee did have validity in the
Government's view and that is why the
Government sought to move a motion.

It was not a kangaroo court in that sense. If it
was the case that the member for Gascoyne had
produced the information sought from him and
that we had moved a motion on party lines,
despite the fact that the evidence did not stand
up; if we overlooked the facts; if we had turned
up with a motion already drafted before the
committee even began, as the member for
Gascoyne attempted to do, the situation may
have been different.

That is not the case in the present circum-
stance, and that charge cannot be challenged on
the basis of the facts, but that is a different
matter from saying that in our view the process
could be improved. The committee did a good
job under difficult circumstances and its con-
clusions are undoubtedly correct. However,
that is not to say that the process cannot be
made better so that the kind of allowance
which we made for the member for Gascoyne
would have had to be given to the member for
Ascot if these hearings were repeated in those

kinds of circumstances. The difficulty is if a
committee is set up like the member for
Gascoyne's committee as a kangaroo court, the
process is difficult, and that is why we seek to
have that situation changed. However, that is
not to say that we believe that because of the
inherent difficulty in the process, the right con-
clusions were not reached.

I had hoped that the member for Gascoyne
would have taken the report on the chin.

Yesterday, shortly after I announced the No-
tice of Motion I offered not to bring on this
debate at all. I said to him that the committee
had found that he should withdraw and apolo-
gist, and if he was prepared to come to the
House, and apologise in terms of the com-
mittee's recommendation, I would not proceed
with the motion, or seek to say any of the
things which I have said during the course of
today's debate. That is to say, I gave the mem-
ber for Gascoyne the opportunity of accepting
the committee's findings like a man,
withdrawing his allegation and apologising,
and not having to go through the rigour and the
trauma of today's debate. He declined to accept
that offer, so the debate ensued.

The member for Gascoyne has misused the
most important privilege of this House. He has
operated in a dishonourable way throughout
this whole business and he has refused to be
repentant or contrite. The time has regrettably
come for the House to insist that the member
honour the obligations that go with the privi-
lege of being a member of this House.

Government members: Hear, hear!

Question put and a division taken with the
following result-

Mrs flews
Mr Bertram
Mr Bridge
Mr Bryce
Mr Bnian Burke
Mr Burkett
MrCarr
Mr Cowan
Mr Evans
Dr Gallop
Mr Grill
Mrs Henderson
Mr Gordon Hill
Mr Hodge
Mr House
Dr Lawrence
Mr Marlborough

Ayes 33
Mr Nalder
Mr Pearce
M r Read
Mr Schell
Mr D. L. Smith
Mr P. J. Smith
Mr Stephens
Mr Taylor
Mr Thomas
Mr Tonkin
Mr Trenorden
Mr Troy
Mrs Watkins
Dr Watson
Mr Wilson
Mrs Buchanan

rrelleo
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Mr Bradshaw
Mr Cash
Mr Clarko
Mr Court
Mr Crane
Mr Grayden
Mr Hassell

Ayes
Mr Parker
Mr Tom Jones
Mr Terry Burke
Mr Peter Dowding

Noes 14
Mr Laurance
Mr Lewis
Mr Lightfoot
Mr MacKinnon
Mr Rushlon
Mr Tubby
Mr Spriggs

Pairs
Noes

Mr Mensaros
Mr Blaikie
Mr Williams
Mr Watt

Mr Bradshaw
Mr Cash
Mr Clarko
Mr Court
Mr Crane
Mr Grayden
Mr Hassell

(Tle) Mr Laurance
Mr Lewis

Ayes
Mr Parker
Mr Tom Jones
Mr Terry Burke
Mr Peter Dowding

Noes 17
Mr Lightfoot
Mr MacKinnon
Mr Nalder
Mr Rushton
Mr Schell
Mr Trenorden
Mr Tubby
Mr Spriggs

Pairs
Noes

Mr Mensaros
Mr Blaikie
Mr Williams
Mr Watt

Motion thus passed.

MR LAURANCE (Gascoyne) [4.08 p.m.]: In
compliance with the direction of the House, I
withdraw my remarks and apologise
unreservedly.

THE SPEAKER: I advise members that
earlier today my impartiality was drawn into
question by a member. During the action
which followed, the member for Gascoyne used
extremely unparliamentary language which I
believe reflected in a very serious way on the
Chair. As a consequence I gave the member an
opportunity to withdraw and apologise, which
he did not accept. I then gave him another two
opportunities which he again declined. As a
result of his declining to accept the offer of
apologising or withdrawing, I name the mem-
ber for Gascoyne.

Suspension of Member

Mr PEARCE: I move-

That the member for Gascoyne be sus-
pended from the service of the House.

Question put and
following result-

Mrs Bes
Mr Bertram
Mr Bridge
Mr Bryce
Mr Bnian Burke
Mr Burkett
Mr Carr
Mr Cowan
Mr Evans
Dr Gallop
MrGnill
Mrs Henderson
Mr Gordon Hill
Mr Hodge
Mr House

a division taken with the

Ayes 30
Dr Lawrence
Mr Marlborough
Mr Pearce
Mr Read
Mr D. L. Smith
Mr P. J. Smith
Mr Stephens
Mr Taylor
Mr Thomas
Mr Tonkin
Mr Troy
Mrs Watkins
Dr Watson
Mr Wilson
Mrs Buchanan

Question thus passed.
[The member for Gascoyne left

Chamber.]
the

MEMBER FOR GASCOYNE: SELECT
COMMI1TEE OF PRIVILEGE REPORT

Action: Motion
MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the

House) [4.12 p.m.J: I move-
That this House refers the report of the

Select Committee to the Standing Orders
Committee with the request that the
Standing Orders Committee examine and
report upon the matters raised in the min-
ority report on or before 30 October 1986.

The substance of the reason for this motion has
been canvassed in the previous debate and I
have nothing more to add to that.

MR HASSELL (Cottesloe-Leader of the
Opposition) [4.13 p.m.]: I formally second the
motion. The Opposition agrees with this mo-
tion. The report of the Select Committee and
the minority report tabled in the House ad-
equately explain the reasons for this motion.

Separately from the general issue, the com-
mittee considered the question of the member's
cost of legal advice, and the committee seeks to
have the Standing Orders Committee consider
that issue within a time frame and report to the
House on the basis of the recommendation that
any general rule enunciated by the Standing
Orders Committee should apply retrospectively
to the request of the member for Gascoyne.
That approach enabled the committee to deal
with the matter without creating a precedent
and without refusing what appeared to be a
request which had some merit.

The purpose of my moving an amendment is
to have it drawn to the attention of the Stand-
ing Orders committee that it needs to be dealt
with as a matter of priority in view of the ap-
proach that has been taken.

(Teller)
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Amendment to Motion
Mr HASSELL: I move an amendment-

To insert. after the words "minority
report" the following-

and on the matters raised in the
minutes of the Committee relating
to the question of the Member for
Gascoyne's costs of legal advice.

MR PEARCE (Annadale-Leader of the
House) [4.15 p.m.]: In a spirit of cooperation, I
second the amendment.

Amendment put and passed.

Motion, as Amended
Motion, as amended, put and passed.

MIDLAND ABATFOIR
Select Committee: Extension of Time

MR D. L. SMITH (Mitchell) [4.17 p.m.]: I
move-

That the time for bringing up the report
of the Select Committee into the Sale of
Midland Abattoir Land be extended to 30
October 1986.

1 briefly remind members that the date by
which the committee was to report was 28 July.
That is obviously going to be impossible with
the large number of witnesses, and I seek the
indulgence of the House for the time to be
extended to 30 October.

Question put and passed.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION BILL
Second Reading

MR HODGE (Melville-Minister for En-
vironment) [4.20 p.m.]: I move-

That the Bill be now read a second time.
This Bill represents a significant advance in
strengthening and modernising Western
Australia's environmental legislation.

Since the current Environmental Protection
Act came into operation 15 years ago, only
minor amendments have been made. These
changes have done little to maintain the Act as
effective legislation in a period of rapidly
changing technology and economic develop-
ment.

The Government believes Western
Australia's environmental laws need to be as
good as any equivalent Statutes in Australia,
and equal to the best laws operating in the
western world. We believe therefore, that our
legislation needs to be strengthened and
modernised. This will ensure that we continue

to receive sound, professional, and dispassion-
ate advice on the environment and that we
have clear and effective powers to prevent and
reduce pollution.

Pollution control powers 'in Western
Australia currently are dispersed awkwardly
through a number of Statutes. This limits their
effectiveness.

I do not wish to single out any particular
segme nt of our com m unity activity for specif ic
criticism, but it is worth noting that the
Government and the Environmental Protec-
tion Authority continue to receive public com-
plaints over incidents of pollution, particularly
from the Kwinana industrial area and
Cockhurn Sound.

The community recognises that Western
Australia needs industry, particularly large ex-
port-orientated and wealth-generating
enterprises, for their economic benefits and
employment prospects; but the community
does not like and will not accept dirty industry.
Pollution control laws therefore need to be
clear, precise and effective. They must be
framed to encourage the wise use of modern
technology which is designed to reduce
emissions, discharges, and the possibility of
pollution. That is the Government's aim
through this Bill, as well as ensuring the legis-
lation is innovative and educative.

This Bill embodies and updates most of the
good policy directions in the 1 971I Act.
Deficiencies have been tackled. For example,
over the years a number of parts of the current
Act have not been implemented. This particu-
larly relates to provisions allowing for the dec-
laration of environmental protection policies
on the one hand, and the control of waste on
the other. Legal technicalities have prevented
their implementation.

Therefore, the major principles underlying
this Bill are-

(1) To increase the membership of the
Environmental Protection Authority
to five members to widen its level of
expertise. The EPA will remain the
principal source of environmental ad-
vice to the Government, but its role in
this function is clarified. The auth-
ority will be serviced by a Public Ser-
vice department incorporating the
staff of the Department of Conser-
vation and Environment.

(2) To establish community-based advis-
ory committees to assist with the prep-
aration of advice to the Government
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on management and health of the en-
vironment.

(3) To provide a clear mechanism for the
preparation and approval of environ-
mental protection policies , with av-
enues for community involvement in
their development.

(4) To formalise the need for an environ-
mental impact assessment process.

(5) To Provide machinery for the Govern-
ment and decision-making authorities,
where a development proposal is ap-
proved subject to environmental con-
ditions, to agree on those conditions
and to have them complied with.

(6) To consolidate pollution control
responsibilities into the one Act. En-
vironmental management and pol-
lution-regulating tasks will be
delegated to appropriate management
agencies subject to approved environ-
mental protection policies and stan-
dards.

(7) To provide a clear and easy appeals
system. This will ensure no section of
the community is disadvantaged by
environmental conditions on new de-
velopments or through the setting of
unreasonable emission or discharge
requirements.

This Bill will result in the consolidation of nu-
merous pollution control provisions into the
one parcel of legislation.

With the accompanying Acts Amendment
and Repeal (Environomental Protection) Bill,
three Acts will be repealed. They are the En-
vironmental Protection Act, the Clean Air Act,
and certain sections of the Noise Abatement
Act. In addition, pant 111(a) of the Rights in
Water and Irrigation Act dealing with waste
and effluent will be repealed.

Over the past 20 years, there has been signifi-
cant progress worldwide to understand and
manage the earth's resources and to reduce pod-
lution. In Western Australia, the early environ-
mental laws were essentially penal in nature
and scattered through more than 60 Acts. This
Bill will resolve many of the ambiguities which
have arisen over the years about where en-
vironmental responsibility should rest and how
our environmental laws should be
administered.

The current Environmental Protection Act
drew heavily on Victorian legislation of the late
1960s. Although Western Australian legislation

focused similarly on pollution control, re-
sponsibility for pollution management was left
with departments already carrying out that
function, but some were not equipped to do it
efficiently. Some agencies of Government have
been, and are, adequately carrying out regulat-
ory functions. We intend to continue to use
those bodies.

Moreover, it is the Government's aim,
through this legislation, to continue with and to
further encourage all tiers of Government to
accept environmental management
responsibilites. That role will not be lessened.

The EPA will delegate its powers for pol-
lution control and licensing where appropri-
ate-for example, water management to the
Western Australian Water Authority and the
Waterways Commission; and waste control and
neighbourhood noise control to local councils.
Those management agencies will have to com-
ply with the relevant policies and licensing
standards set by the Government on the advice
of the EPA.

Under the 1971 Act, the Environmental Pro-
tection Authority was provided with a limited
overview role. Its powers to set guidelines and
standards or to sanction acts of pollution from
whatever source were restricted.

Pollution management by default tended to
reside with agencies without the necessary
powers to demand amelioration or to prosecute
persistent breaches, but the EPA used the Act
in another positive direction.

It has developed, with strong community and
industry support, a significant role in reviewing
and assessing the environmental impact of
development proposals, as well as advising the
Government on the acceptability of such pro-
posals. Regrettably, this duty has been under-
taken within a limited legislative framework.
work.

As indicated earlier, this legislation will cor-
rect anomalies, principally by strengthening the
roles of the Government and the EPA in pro-
tecting the environment and combating pol-
lution.

The consolidation into one Act of pollution
control powers for air, noise, water-fresh, in-
land, coastal and underground waters-and
waste generally will enhance public under-
standing of the standards and procedures
needed to protect the environment.

As pant of this new direction, this Bill pro-
vides powers to stop gross acts of pollution and
for restoration to be made at a cost to the pol-
luter. Of course, there is provision for emerg-
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ency situations. This will ensure that no indus-
try Or individual is unduly disadvantaged, but
strict penalties will apply for deliberate or neg-
ligent acts which result in pollution.

In addition, incidents of discharge of wastes
must be reported to the EPA. Current laws do
not require the reporting of spillages or
emissions which affect the environment. This
is a major deficiency and is being corrected.

As well, this Bill establishes clear mechan-
isms to deal quickly and efficiently with any
potential problems and difficulties which may
arise as the result of an accident during the
handling or production of hazardous
substances.

I now deal with specific aspects of the Bill.
The independence of the Environmental Pro-

tection Authority is assured. This is absolutely
essential to ensure the objective advice needed
by Government is developed in a climate
outside political control.

The chairman of the new five-member auth-
ority will have an additional function. He will
also be the Chief Executive Officer responsible
to the Minister for the administration of the
Act and for the staff of the authority. As well,
the Chief Executive Officer will be subject to
the Minister for action to enforce pollution
control. The power to prosecute by the Chief
Executive Officer, however, is always subject to
the Minister.

The definition section of the Bill is compre-
hensive. The definitions are written in language
that is in common usage, with terms that are
widely used throughout developed nations.

The definition of "environment" is written
to make it clear that we are dealing with the
total interrelationship between living things,
and man.

The word "social" is introduced also in this
definition to cater for an understanding that
man's needs are not entirely restricted to
physical and biological requirements. There are
social interactions which from time to time
must be assessed. It does not mean, however,
that the EPA will be expected to consider wel-
fare issues and matters of that nature.

Under Pant 11 of the Bill, thie EPA retains its
current wide-ranging functions to oversee and
coordinate investigations into the protection
and conservation of the environment.

Incorporating the staff of the Department of
Conservation and Environment into the EPA
will allow more efficient and effective servicing
of the authority's needs. This amalgamation

(151

has been discussed with the staff, and they en-
dorse the action.

Part III of the Bill sets out the mechanism for
the formulation and declaration of environ-
mental protection policies. These policies will
set guidelines and standards for emission and
discharges into the environment, and for vai-
ous undertakings which may significantly im-
pact the environment. As an example, I foresee
there will be a policy developed in conjunction
with all interested parties to regulate the dredg-
ing and the disposal of spoil from the Swan
River estuary. Already a widely-based group,
coordinated by the EPA has prepared the tech-
nical basis of a dredging policy.

Part IV of the Bill provides for the
formalisation of the need for environmental as-
sessment of proposals where there is potential
for environmental impact. The EPA has gained
considerable public and industry support for
the way it has drawn up procedures for
evaluating the environmental impact of devel-
opment proposals, but the 1971 Act gives no
guidance as to how these matters should be
treated.

Pant IV also Provides for the EPA to under-
take environmental impact assessment and to
report and make recommendations. As well, it
provides for the Minister to use the report and
recommendations as the basis for setting en-
vironmental conditions. The Minister is re-
sponsible for ensuring these conditions are
enforced, although normally this will be done
through relevant statutory provisions in other
Acts. Nevertheless the Minister may take ac-
tion on enforcement where appropriate.

Decision-making authorities like Govern-
ment departments, for example, cannot make
final decisions which would have the effect of
allowing referred proposals to be implemented
until environmental conditions, where appro-
priate, have been set and the Minister so ad-
vises. However, decision-making authorities
are not prevented under these measures from
beginning negotiations with relevant parties at
all levels as if the proposal were to proceed,
other than to make that final decision. The
ultimate decision to proceed with a project can
only follow receipt of the report of the EPA and
the agreed conditions. The conditions have to
be complied with.

Should there be a disagreement on the setting
of conditions, an avenue of appeal to an ap-
peals committee is provided so that appropri-
ate conditions can be set. Conditions can be
modified if monitoring of the development
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shows circumstances have changed. The basic
aim is to ensure that developers comply fully
with the intention of the conditions.

The Bill also provides for administrative pro-
cedures to be prepared. They will set detailed
guidelines on the preferred methods of carrying
out the environmental assessment of proposals.

Part V of the Bill deals with pollution con-
trol. The intention of this part is to combat
pollution so that it does not adversely affect
human life or environmental quality. Causing
pollution is deemed to be an offence and any
individual or body corporate is required not to
cause pollution. Persons responsible for certain
kinds of discharge of wastes will be required to
report them and correct them. Generally the
powers in the Bill enable any source of pol-
lution to be stopped.

Approvals to develop or modify certain
prescribed activities have to be obtained, but
only after assessment as outlined in part IV. In
these cases, licences which may impose con-
ditions are mandatory. Clear avenues of appeal
are built into the legislation.

A feature of the Bill is that all discharges or
emissions of pollutants to the air, land, or
water, and emissions of noise, odour, and elec-
tromagnetic radiation, are considered together.
This continues the first steps taken over a year
ago when the Government shifted the
administration of the Clean Air Act and the
Noise Abatement Act to the Minister for En-
vironment.

The licensing of shore-derived discharges of
wastes into estuarine, coastal, and marine
waters is included in part V. This initiative
results from the definition of "waters" includ-
ing the sea and any waters whatsoever. Such
discharges previously have gone unregulated
except in designated harbours. Port authorities
are well equipped and trained to deal with pol-
lution from ships, but they are not structured to
deal with or control industrial effluents or
sewage discharges. The, progressive deterio-
ration of Cockbumn Sound through the 1960s
and 1 970s was due largely to inadequately
treated effluents being discharged into this
poorly flushed system. Active participation by
most industries has resulted in a real improve-
ment in the quality of the sound's water
column over the past five years. But regret-
tably, accidents still occur. The area and the

performance of industry are now being con-
stantly monitored.

While dealing with the Kwinana area, you
will note, Mr Deputy Speaker, that we have
included within the Bill measures to prevent
the emission of nuisance odours. Odours are a
difficult problem for industrial estates, but
modemn equipment can reduce the effect. To
ensure a continued high-quality environment,
the Government intends through this Bill to
encourage the fabrication and use of pollution
control devices.

Another aspect of this matter is the coverage
given in the Bill to the control of unreasonable
noise. Community noise problems will con-
tinue to be dealt with by local authorities. The
first point of contact on such problems will be
through qualified health surveyors who will be
appointed inspectors under the Act.

Penalties for offences committed under this
Act are outlined in schedule I of the Act. Both
individuals and corporate bodies are subject to
a scale of penalties for breaches. Daily on-going
penalties may apply in cases of a continuing
offence under part V. The maximum penalty is
consistent with current standards elsewhere. It
will be used as a strong deterrent to prevent
pollution. Premeditated acts of pollution or
negligence leading to pollution should receive
high penalties to reflect the community's con-
cern about environmental damage.

When this Bill is proclaimed, Western
Australia will have landmark environmental
legislation, the best in the Commonwealth. Mr
Deputy Speaker, as you can appreciate the
drafting of this environmental protection Bill
has been a complex and lengthy procedure.
There has been consultation with a number of
organisations and individuals and their contri-
bution has been invaluable. I am certain this
Bill would not have reached this stage without
the assistance and cooperation of all those con-
cerned.

Mr Deputy Speaker, it is my intention for
this Bill to lie on the Table of the House until
the next sitting of Parliament. Submissions
which may enhance the Bill are invited.

I commend the Bill to the House.

Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Hassell
(Leader of the Opposition).
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ACTS AMENDMENT AND REPEAL
(ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECI'ION) BILL

Second Reading
MR HODGE (Melville-Minister for En-

vironment) [4.36 p.m.]: I move-
That the Bill be now read a second time.

This Bill is consequent on the Environmental
Protection Bill 1986, which amongst other
things consolidates principles established
within the Environmental Protection Act,
Clean Air Act, certain sections of the Noise
Abatement Act, and part IIlA of the Rights in
Water and Irrigation Act.

This Bill seeks to repeal those Acts and sec-
tions which are made redundant by the En-
vironmental Protection Bill 1986, as well as
allowing for appropriate amendments to be
made to other Statutes which themselves refer
to the Environmental Protection Act 1971-80.
In particular, it ensures consistency between
other legislation and the Environmental Pro-
tection Bill when it becomes law.

One of the main thrusts of this Acts Amend-
ment and Repeal Bill is to allow for sections of
the Noise Abatement Act 1972 to remin in
place or to be amended so as to assist the De-
partment of Occupational Health, Safety and
Welfare in carrying out its duties with respect
to hearing conservation in the workplace. This
Bill has been prepared in consultation with that
department. Members would recall in this re-
gard that the Occupational Health, Safety and
Welfare Act 2984 enables the use of relevant
legislation to achieve the objective of protect-
ing the workforce in industry. In this context,
the Noise Abatement Act is used to facilitate
regulation of factory noise problems.

Other aspects of the Bill are framed to allow
for the Chief Executive Officer, established
under the new Environmental Protection Bill,
to contribute himself as a member, or to
nominate appropriate specialist persons to rep-
resent him, on relevant committees and advis-
ory bodies set up under other Acts. These
amendments, therefore, are aimed at ensuring
consistency of environmental advice by provid-
ing for continued representation; in particular,
on the Mines Ventilation Board, the Metropoli-
tan Planning Council, and the Western
Australian Water Resources Council.

Furthermore, where under section 26A of the
Fisheries Act an aggrieved person, prevented
under that Act from depositing substances
which might have a serious effect on the
aquatic environment, formerly could appeal to
the Director of Environmental Protection, he

will now be able to appeal to the Chief Execu-
tive Officer. The basis of this amendment is to
ensure continuing consistency, as I have
already indicated.

Section 6 of the Mining Act 1978 requires
that it be read and construed subject to the
Environmental Protection Act. In the event of
an inconsistency, the latter, to the extent of the
inconsistency, must prevail. Clause 8 of this
Bill provides for that approach to continue.

Clause 9 makes it clear that with the passage
of the Environmental Protection Bill 1986, the
Minister responsible for the Mining Act will
continue to consult with the Minister through
whom the new Environmental Protection Act
is administered in matters to do with mining
on foreshores, the seabed of the State, land
under navigable waters, and any land reserved
as a site for a town.

In addition, members would be aware that
the Waterways Conservation Act 1976 requires
the Waterways Commission to take account of
directions from the Environmental Protection
Authority, and as necessary to consult with the
authority. This Bill seeks to continue all such
arrangements set out in the Waterways Conser-
vation Act.

As indicated earlier, through this Bill the cur-
rent Environmental Protection Act will be
repealed, along with the Clean Air Act, certain
sections of the Noise Abatement Act and part
lIlA of the Rights in Water and Irrigation Act.
With respect to these matters there has been
consultation with all relevant authorities and
their contribution is greatly appreciated.

I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Court.

MISCELLANEOUS REPEALS BILL
Second Reading

MR BRIAN BURKE (Balga-Premier) [4.40
p.m.] I move-

That the Bill be now read a second time.
This Bill is the second in a series of Bills to be
introduced to repeal obsolete legislation and
regulations as they are progressively identified
by agencies as pant of an ongoing review pro-
cess coordinated by the Office of Regulatory
Review. Members will recall that last year legis-
lation was passed which abolished eight statu-
tory agencies and repealed six Acts.

In addition to proposals contained in the cur-
rent legislation, a further 18 Acts have been
targeted for possible abolition, along with five
regulations and eight Government agencies.
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This Bill addresses the need to ensure that
the Statute books are cleared of legislation
which Car a variety of reasons no longer serves
any useful purpose. Some of the Acts and regu-
lations have been on the books since Western
Australia was a colony, and the provisions have
no application in our community today.

The Exportation of Horses Act, for example,
was introduced to stop a black market in horses
going to India to take part in events such as the
Charge of the Light Brigade. After exhaustive
inquiries we have established that this trade
has been overtaken by events and there is no
need for the Act or the fine of 20 pounds it
imposed. Much the same can be said for the
Shipwrecked Colonial Seamen's Act of 1880,
the Engine Sparks Fire Prevention Act of 1895,
and the Foreign Seamen's Offences Act of
1878.

However, this Bill is only pant of the Govern-
ment's comprehensive regulatory review pro-
gramme. For example, amendments to the Bills
of Sale Act passed earlier this session obviate
the need for the lodgment of notices of inten-
tion to register Bills of Sale. The significance of
that action is illustrated by the fact that 88 000
lodgments were made during the past 29
months.

As well, Bills to abolish the Western
Australian Arts Council, the Western
Australian Wheat Board, and the General In-
surance Brokens and Agents Acts have been
introduced this session.

Work is also under way to review the need
for the Factories and Shops Act which is often
pointed to as a source of red tape for business.
One of the underlying principles in developing
the second stage of occupational health, safety,
and welfare legislation has been to rationalise
the existing Factories and Shops Act.

Another facet of the regulatory review pro-
gramme is to subject selected Statutes, regu-
lations, and procedures to economic assess-
ment and review with the aim of reducing un-
necessary red tape on the community. To this
end the Government has sought the views of
the Confederation of Western Australian In-
dustry, the Western Australian Chamber of
Commerce and Industry, and the Small Busi-
ness Association of Western Australia (Inc) to
identify the areas of most immediate concern
to business.

While it might seem bizarre that laws which
talk of people paying one shilling to be allowed
to export horses, or being fined five pounds for
not having a spark arrester fitted, are still on

the Statute books, they are in fact the more
harmless examples.

The work being carried out by the Office of
Regulatory Review in these areas is some of the
most important work being undertaken for the
Government.

I turn now to the detail of the Hill. The Hill
seeks to repeal the written laws listed in its
schedule. Pant I of the schedule lists I I obsol-
etc Acts, and pant I I of the schedule lists 26
obsolete Regulations.

I commend the Bill to the House.
Debate adjourned, on motion by Mr Count.

BILLS
Standing Orders Suspension

MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the
House) [4.45 p.m.]: I move without notice-

That so much of the Standing Orders be
suspended as is necessary to enable the re-
maining stages of the Fremantle Port
Authority Amendment Bill and any Bills
which may be returned from the Legislat-
ive Council with amendments made by
that House, to be completed during this
Day's sitting.

MR MacKINNON (Murdoch-Deputy
Leader of the Opposition) [4.46 p.m.]: The
Leader of the House and I have discussed this
motion, and the Opposition has no objection
thereto, on the understanding that messages
that come from the Legislative Council that
require some debate in this Parliament be
postponed to a later stage of this day's sitting to
give us the chance to look at those matters. So
long as that agreement stands, the Opposition
is quite happy to support the motion.

Mr Pearce: That agreement stands.

[Quonum fonned.I
The SPEAKER: I advise members that an

absolute majority of the House is required to
pass this motion. If when I put the motion
there is a dissentient voice, I will have to divide
the House.

Question put.
The SPEAKER: I have counted the House

and determined that an absolute majority is
present, and therefore the motion is carried.

Question thus passed.

BILLS (9): RETURNED
1. Western Australian Ants Council Re-

peal Bill.
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2. Port Hedland Port Authority Amend-
ment Bill.

3. Jetties Amendment Bill.
4. Construction Safety Amendment Bill.
5. Workers' Compensation and Assistance

Amendment Hill.
6. Salaries and Allowances Amendment

Bill.
7. Pernh Mint Amendment Bill.

Bills returned from the Council without
amendment.

8. Liquor Amendment Bill.
9. Acts Amendment (Actions for Dam-

ages) Bill.
Bills returned from the Council with

amendments.

FREMANTLE PORT AUTHORITY
AMIENDMENT BILL

Second Reading
Debate resumed from 17 July.
MR COURT (Nedlands) (4.52 p.m.]: The

Government is keen to have this legislation
passed through the House because it deals with
activities associated with the America's Cup.
The amendments here will be needed to cope
with the action that will be thick and fast
around the Port of Fremantle at that time and
the Government is keen to have this and
another piece of legislation passed very
quickly. I have not had a great deal of time to
go through the Bill in detail. Unfortunately the
Minister handling it has been detained else-
where but nonetheless I do have reasonable
knowledge of what is taking place.

In general the Opposition supports the legis-
lation although we are concerned about the
quite wide powers which are to be granted to
the Fremantle Port Authority. Because of the
powers to be granted we would like to see a
sunset clause inserted. The America's Cup Bill
has a sunset clause whereby that legislation will
finish after a year. This should also occur with
this legislation. This would mean that after the
America's Cup has been completed the
Fremantle Port Authority would have the op-
portunity to review what took place and ar-
range to be granted certain powers that it
required to improve its operation.

The legislation is here because the State is
expecting a large number of vessels in our
waters around Fremantle during the time of the
America's Cup; we will have mainly spectator
vessels, some of which will be large ships-
liners, charter vessels and the like. There is

concern about security, particularly with re-
spect to the passenger liners. We all recall what
happened recently when terrorists took over
the Arc/flle Lauro in the Mediterranean. I
hope such a situation never arises here. The
Government believes that the port authority
needs some extended powers to enable it to
handle the types of situations we certainly hope
will not arise.

Clause 70 is a simple clause but it gives the
port authority considerable power. It provides
for the harbour master to be able to control the
entry and departure of vessels into and from
the port.

About two years ago the Opposition, which
has an America's Cup committee, met with a
number of people who were involved with the
organisation for the America's Cup. One of the
points we made to those Government officials
very early in the piece was that we fully under-
stand there will be a lot of boating traffic in and
out of the port daily. Unfortunately, the port is
not as active as we would like it to be. We
would like to see it once again become a
vibrant and active port, and it will certainly be
that at least during the time of the America's
Cup.

I hope that all the people involved with
controlling the traffic around the port area co-
operate to the fullest to ensure that the many
traffic movements are handled properly. It was
explained to us by people experienced in the
business that with all the ships and boats
expected to be moving backwards and for-
wards, at times the port would need to be
closed.

The plea I made at the time and repeat now
concerns the point that many small pleasure
boat owners from WA have to go through the
harbour on their way out to sea. On a normal
day there is a continual movement of traffic
moving from the river to the open sea. Most of
the traffic involves small boats. The people in
them are usully going fishing, but many of
them will soon be going to watch the America's
Cup races around December, January and
February.

My plea is that a system be worked out that
will enable these local people in their small
boats to get in and out of the port. I would not
like to see the port closed for lengthy periods
simply to allow the commercial boats to get
their business done. I know certain controls
must be in place and the port will need to be
closed at times; nevertheless I urge the Minister
to take up my concern with the people who
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operate the port. They really must try to work
out a system which enables people with small
boats who want to go fishing or to watch the
yacht races to be able to do so without being
severely inconvenienced.

The Minister would be aware that even now
on a weekend the harbour is a busy place with a
lot of small pleasure craft moving about; there
is not much movement of commercial vessels.
During the America's Cup period a number of
passenger liners and other charter vessels will
be moving in and out of the harbour. I know it
will be difficult to control the movement of all
these craft but we must ensure that the little
person is given a chance to enjoy what is
happening.

Another point I make about the extension of
these powers involves the move to cut the liab-
ility of the Fremantle Port Authority should
certain things happen. It is all very well to give
powers to Government departments and
authorities, but at all times those bodies must
remember that they must use those powers re-
sponsibly.

The Fremantle Port Authority has a very
reponsible job to do in the normal running of
the port and surrounding areas, and when these
powers are widened further it is important that
they be administered properly.

My involvement with the Port Authority has
not been great over the years, but one incident
that concerns me in relation to the authority-
and it is very opportune that it be referred to
tonight-is the question of the sinking of the
Leschenauht in 1984. We are now in the middle
of 1986, but that case which involved the
Fremantle Port Authority has still to be
resolved. It is a matter of the Government
having tremendous powers and a little person
with a pleasure yacht coming back from a
lengthy trip around the world and running into
a navigation mark that had been damaged in
some way. I believe that person has been given
a hard trot by the Government.

I will briefly run through the details so that
members can see what can happen when a per-
son comes up against a body like the Fremantle
Port Authority and why, when its powers are
widened, as they will be in this legislation, they
must be administered in a correct and respon-
sible manner.

The yacht was heading in a southerly direc-
tion to the windmills which mark the south
passage when it had the misfortune to hit a
submerged windmill. Members who have trav-
elled to Rottniest by ferry will know that one

goes past those two windmills. I had not
realised until today how they were constructed.
The Minister no doubt is aware that they are a
tripod construction which sits on the sea bot-
tom with a heavy steel pole rising from them. A
Japanese trawler leaving port apparently ran
into a windmill and knocked it over so that it
was lying on the seabed. This poor couple in
their yacht had the misfortune to hit a sub-
merged leg of the tripod.

I had not realised what a heavy structure it
is-it is a huge structure which sits on the bot-
tom, and it is no wonder that the yacht sank
after it hit. Most vessels would use the wind-
mills as a navigation mark and if one had come
back from sailing around the world they would
be a friendly sight, but not under water. The
owners of the vessel have been involved in a
running battle because they believe the
Fremantle Port Authority was negligent and
did not properly mark this navigation hazard.
Members might recall the former member for
Narrogin asked many questions in this Parlia-
ment because after the vessel sank the Minister
for Transport and the Government did not
want to give too much assistance to these
people, and the Crown Law Department appar-
ently gave an opinion that the Port Authority
had not been negligent.

What is the man in the street-in this case a
man and his wife-to do against the Govern-
ment and the Crown Law Department? It is a
pretty formidable experience. I have been in
that situation myself, one's first reaction is to
say, "They win". It should not be that way;
these people should have been better handled.

The Fremantle Port Authority apparently
did not request a notice to mariners of a haz-
ard. That request has to go to the Navy. The
authority claims it did do that, but apparently
it did not. It involves having a change made
and recorded by the hydrography section which
produces the charts.

On 27 December 1984 it was requested that
the south passage be closed. The vessel sank on
19 December, yet the authority was requested
to close the passage on 27 December. The
owners of the vessel say the Fremantle Port
Authority failed to send out radio warnings
after 16 December. One was put out on that
date, and then no other warning was put out
until after the Leschenault had sunk. The
Australian Coastal Surveillance Centre said
that any warnings in the Fremantle Harbour
area must come from the Fremantle Port Auth-
ority whose responsibility it was. The Port
Authority failed to request radio warnings via

2544



(Thursday, 24 July 19861 54

the Australian Coastal Surveillance Centre in
Canberra. The authority also (ailed to request
that warnings be transmitted on Perth radio
through OTC.

The authority advised the Federal sea safety
body that it placed a green buoy with a white
light flashing every eight seconds on the site.
Apparently when an inquiry was held before
the Ombudsman, the authority said it should
have used another coloured buoy and it
apologised for using the wrong one. As it
turned out, the authority used the correct buoy
and it did not need to apologise.

There are many other points of concern. To
mark this particular hazard the authority
dropped a buoy and anchored it. Under the
rules of the International Association of
Lighthouse Authorities a marker must be
erected on, moored on, or moored above an
isolated danger of a limited extent. The owners
of the yacht said the buoy was 50 metres away
from the hazard, but the authority said it was
about 14 metres away, so there was some con-
flict on that point. I believe the owners of the
vessel have been to see the head of the Depart-
ment of Marine and Harbours in the last week
to see whether an inquiry cannot take place
into this incident.

I will not go on and describe some of the
other concerns; there are a number of other
technical matters, but there was a hazard and
the vessel hit it. The appropriate warning did
not go out on radio, and the proper markers
were not put in place. The Government is say-
ing it is not responsible and that the matter has
been checked with Crown Law, and everything
is okay. The case has been referred to the Fed-
eral and State Ombudsmen and they are still
investigating.

The Minister might agree that the America's
Cup may well come around two or three
times-and I hope it does-but this poor man
and his wife would like this matter to come to
finality. I know the people at the Fremantle
Port Authority are reasonable, and the head of
the Department of Marine and 'Harbours is also
very reasonable. I hope they consider this case
quickly. A lot of action will occur and the Port
Authority will be busy in the next year, and
something like this should be sorted out. I am
not going to judge this case here, but it is only
fair that these people should be properly
compensated if it is shown that the
navigational hazard was not marked correctly.

It might not seem much to the Government,
and it may be a thorn in the side of the Port
Authority which no doubt has bigger things on
its mind, but I ask that this not be delayed any
longer and left in the hands of the Federal and
State Ombudsmen. Let us see if something can
be done to assist these people.

That is an example of the Fremantle Port
Authority's responsibilities. Those respons-
ibilities will be greatly increased during the
America's Cup races. I wish the Fremantle Port
Authority the best of luck and every success. I
assure it that it will receive the full cooperation
of the Opposition over that difficult period. I
know it comes up for a lot of criticism. Hope-
fully, in the years ahead both political parties
will be able to improve the shipping industry
through the Port of Fremantle.

We wish the authority well in its plans to
reorganise the port. I believe that temporary
staff will have to be employed to do the work,
but it will be a period of challenge. I think it
will be exciting to move the vessels in and out
of the harbour. I certainly hope the authority
does not have to use any of the new powers
given to it in the legislation before us today. I
hope that there are no terrorist activities
associated with those events while the many
visitors are here. Touch wood, we have not had
any of those sorts of experiences to date and I
hope the situation remains the same in the fu-
ture.

In conclusion, I request the authority not to
neglect the little people who use the port be-
cause they will continue to want to be able to
get in and out of the harbour and they will not
want to be inconvenienced by the closing of the
port for long periods while the commercial
vessels get in and out.

MR CRANE (Moore) [5.14 p.m.J: I wish to
express my concern about the granting of too
many new powers to an authority which has
shown, over the last couple of years, that it is
neglectful in its responsibilities and which
neglect resulted in an accident in 1984, as was
explained by the member for Nedlands.

We have not had much time to thoroughly
investigate this legislation. In fact, I have not
had time to examine it at all. We have been
asked to pass this legislation because, to do so
in October when the House resumes will be too
late. I am not too sure that it will be. I accept,
though, that there is probably a reason for us to
pass it immediately.

Mr Pearce: You are unfair. The Bill has been
on the Notice Paper for a week.
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Mr CRANE: Yes, but we have also con-
sidered a number of other things in that week.
If we have to pass this legislation now we want
to be sure that the added powers we give to the
port authority are treated in a responsible way.
I want an assurance from the Minister that the
legislation will not prejudice any claims which
have been previously made and not concluded
against the port authority by the people
involved in the sinking of the yacht
Lesehenault. There was a tremendous derel-
iction of duty in that case. I do not know what
the depth of water is at the windmills, but I
suppose it would be eight fathoms. I suggest
that the navigational beacon would have been
able to stand 25 or 30 feet above the water at
that spot. A photo that we have of it reveals the
tremendous length of it. It is obvious that,
when it was in an upright position, it could
easily be marked by a marker buoy. When it
was laid down the length of it would have
needed to have been encircled by marker buoys
indicating that the area was dangerous.

The beacon sank on 16 December, and the
accident happened on 19 December. There was
sufficient time for the beacon to be removed,
but it was claimed that the weather was not
suitable for its removal. Weather reports at that
time verified that the weather was better prior
to the accident than it was on the day the bea-
con was actually removed. That is another dis-
crepancy in the reported facts.

I am concerned that the port authority which
is the responsible authority did not mark the
beacon correctly, and it did not even use a
correct flashing light which would have marked
it adequately.

We should all try to imagine the size of that
beacon lying on the ocean floor. It would have
been extremely dangerous even outside the
area marked by the marker buoy. I assure the
House that if necessary, we will take steps in
this Parliament to set up a proper inquiry so
that the matter is satisfactorily resolved. Like a
dog who gets his teeth into a bone, I do not
intend to let this one go. The authority has
erred and we are now being asked to pass legis-
lation giving it more power when it has shown
that it did not act responsibly in that instance.

I am not a knocker of the Fremantle Port
Authority. In fact I am a great supporter of it.
However, people make mistakes. There is
nothing wrong with that except it is important
for one to recognise that one has made a mis-
take and to admit it. I request the Government
to ensure that the Fremantle Port Authority
recognises it made a mistake.

Many of us happen to be seafaring people
who have some knowledge of the international
lighthouse standards. However, the authority
has shown us, through its denial of its responsi-
bility, that it is not prepared to accept that it
made a mistake and correct it. I want to be
assured that the legislation will not jeopardise
any continuation of the claims being made
against the authority and that it will be respon-
sible in the administration of its added powers
under this legislation.

The member for Nedlands said that the
America's Cup will be of tremendous signifi-
cance to this State. I agree with him, though,
that the rights of the so-called ordinary people
have to be protected. The people who ran into
the beacon were ordinary people and they now
need protection against Government
authorities who sometimes attempt to come
down on them with a heavy hand. Abraham
Lincoln said that God must have loved ordi-
nary people because he made so many of them.
That is quite true. Many ordinary people will
be using the harbour mouth during the cup
celebrations and the regatta. They do not want
to be inconvenienced any more than is absol-
utely necessary by a heavy-handed authority.

It is disappointing for me to have to say these
things because my words will be brought to the
attention of the authority. However, I will be
100 per cent on its side when it acts in the
responsible manner I know it can. It has made
a mistake. Somebody is covering up for some-
one else and we will get to the bottom of it even
if it takes us 12 months. We will attempt to
help the people on the yacht who were treated
so badly after that accident which occurred
through no fault of their own. That beacon was
knocked over by a Japanese tuna boat and
caused approximately $ 100 000 worth of dam-
age in replacement costs to the yacht.

Therefore, I ask the Minister once more to
give me an assurance that in this legislation
there is not some hidden, sinister clause which
will exonerate the authority from any responsi-
bility for what may have already happened,
Will the Minister also instruct the authority to
deal with the complaint which is made against
it, so that there can be a quick and satisfactory
solution and -the persons who have lost
probably $ 100 000 in the value of their yacht
will be fully recompensed?

I support the member for Nedlands com-
pletely. I certainly wish the Fremantle Port
Authority every bit of British luck in the
responsibilities it has before it for the
America's Cup. It will have a tremendous job
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to do. We must all stand very firmly behind it,
while at the same time recognising that it must
also carry out its responsibilities.

MR TROY (Mundaring-Minister for
Transport) (5.20 p.m.]: I appreciate the
position of the member for Nedlands in that
the Bill was thrust into his hands about 10
minutes ago. However, I want to clarify one
particular point. The member seemed to be
confusing this Bill with the America's Cup
Yacht Race (Special Arrangements) Hill which
has provisions for the short term; that is, it has
a sunset clause. All the amendments within this
Bill have permanent intent. I would like the
member to appreciate that point.

It is necessary for the Bill to make prvisio
for hijacking and claims that could arise from
hijacking, leaving the port authority liable; in
other words provision is made in the Bill to
regulate and limit the liability of the Authority,
and exempt it from liability to some extent.

In addition, the Hill covers the infringement
notice provisions and allows for a prescribed
modified penalty. I am sure that people would
welcome that provision.

The member for Nedlands expressed concern
about the wide powers of the Authority. It must
be realised that the sunset clause provision that
he sought is clearly tied up in the America's
Cup Yacht Race (Special Arrangements) Bill
and is not appropriate in this Bill. The amend-
ment to section 70A extends the powers of the
Port Authority in covering a small legal doubt
about moving some vessels in and about the
port rather than directly in or out of the port.

The member for Nedlands expressed concern
for pleasure boat operators. I think I can safely
put it on record that if we were guaranteed that
the only boat operators in those waters during
the America's Cup period were local pleasure
boat operators, we would not need this legis-
lation. However, that will not be the case. We
must move to a footing that allows us to have
the controls necessary in case some of those
people operate in a manner which is not appro-
piate. Controls in some ports, for example, in
the Mediterranean, are somewhat less than de-
sirable and less than adequate.

I do not wish to dwell on the Leschenault
case which was raised by the member for
Nedlands and the member for Moore. I think
the member for Nedlands covered the circum-
stances fairly clearly. I will say that action is
now in the hands of the Parliamentary Com-
missioner for Administrative Investigations. It
is not in the charter of the port authority or the

Marine and Harbours Department to expedite
the matter. The owners of the Leschenault
would be within their rights to take civil action
if they wished to pursue the matter. I certainly
do not wish to throw water on the request for
some consideration for these people, but I
think there are appropriate avenues that they
could follow. At present the matter is in the
hands of the Parliamentary Commissioner. He
has not yet delivered his decision on the mat-
ter.

I welcome the cooperation indicated by the
member for Nedlands with respect to the oper-
ations of the Fremantle Port Authority and the
Marine and H-arbours Department in the exact-
ing months ahead. I am sure they will welcome
that expression of cooperation.

On first glance, the penalties provided in the
Bill may seem somewhat escalated, but we
must bear in mind the nature of the visitors
who will come here. We are no longer consider-
ing fishing punts or open row boats; the penal-
ties will be applied to craft somewhat more
significant than those. It is appropriate to have
that level of penalty to ensure that the controls
are effective.

I was disappointed in the contribution of the
member for Moore. He took the opportunity to
reflect adversely on the Fremantle Port Auth-
ority. He referred to a dereliction of duty on its
part. Those were very strong words. We are
quite accustomed to those strong words at this
time of night from the member for Moore. I do
not think they have any more substance than
that.

Mr Court: It can work both ways, can't it?
Mr TROY: I do not think that this is the

place to reflect on judgments such as that. The
judgments will come out in due course, and we
may then reflect on them. It is unfair to be
derogatory about the role of the port authority
and the Marine and Harbours Department. I
totally reject the member's comment in that
regard.

I believe that members recognise the link be-
tween this Bill and the associated Bill, the
America's Cup Yacht Race (Special Provisions)
Bill. It is appropriate that they proceed
concurrently through both Chambers.

Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

In Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)

in the Chair; Mr Troy (Minister for Transport)
in charge of the Bill.
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Clauses I to 3 put and passed.
Clause 4: Section 65 amended-
Mr COURT: The member for Moore asked

the Minister for an assurance that in changing
the liability of the Fremantle Port Authority in
certain instances, the activities which were pro-
ceeding in connection with the Leschenault in-
cident would not be affected. Perhaps the Min-
ister will give the assurance that the proceed-
ings will not be affected; that is, that we will not
find that the port authority is no longer liable
for that accident.

I seek your guidance, Mr Chairman, with re-
spect to the last clause, numbered clause 6, on
page 6 of the Bill. Should that clause be num-
bered clause 7? There appear to be two clauses
with the same number.

The CHAIRMAN: That is a typographical
error.

Mr COURT: So the new clause proposed
would become clause 8?

The CHAIRMAN: That is correct.
Mr COURT: Returning to clause 4, which

deals with liability, I ask the Minister to give us
the assurance requested.

Mr TROY: The members opposite are con-
cerned about retrospectivity. It is not the
Government's intention that the Bill shall re-
fledt on any actions currently in process.

Clause put and passed.
Clauses 5 and 6 put and passed.

[Questions taken.]
Sitting suspended from 6.00 to 7.15 p. m.

Clause 7: Section 70A amiended-
Mr COURT: That was the first time I have

actually picked up a printing error in this place!
I mentioned during the second reading stage
that the Opposition fully understands the
traffic problems involved in getting a large
number of vessels in and out of the port during
this busy America's Cup period. I also
expressed the desire that the interests of the
small recreational vessels be properly looked
after; in other words, I do not want them to be
inconvenienced to the point where boats are
queued up for an hour waiting to get out of the
harbour. Perhaps the Minister could explain
what the Government anticipates movements
to be and the time it would need to close the
port.

Really, my main concern is that the interests
of charter boat operators, particularly Western
Australian operators, in relation to the cup, are

protected. I hope that within the activities of
the port they are given a good run because they
are the people we should be looking after and
protecting first. We must protect local business
interests. I hope the charter boat operators
working through Fremantle will be fairly
treated. No doubt the regular run of Rottnest
ferries and the like will require some coordi-
nation. Perhaps the Minister could give us
some idea as to how those types of movements
will be handled by the port authority.

Mr TROY: While it may be necessary to
close the port at various times as suggested by
the member for Nedlands, we believe that we
have to cater not only for local small boat and
charter operators, but also for visiting traffic.
However, as I think the member will appreci-
ate, there is a need to make provision in case
congestion does occur and those powers, of
course, that are really more inherent in the
America's Cup Yacht Race (Special Arrange-
ments) Bill which will be discussed later tonight
would more properly cover those situations.

There is every chance that local boat owners
will be given a good run within the capacity of
the arrangements that are being set up. I clearly
underline the point that throughout the con-
siderations for the forthcoming America's Cup
a very strong commitment has been given to
ensuring that the normal operations of the port
do not come unhinged. The proper planning
has been done in order for this to occur.

Members opposite would recall that the con-
duct of the recent 12-metre race was most suc-
cessful and it provided an opportunity to test-
run our plans. Certainly, it did not involve the
same level of intensity that one could expect at
final race time during the America's Cup, but it
was a very timely opportunity to put to a prac-
tical test certain provisions which have been
made.

I believe the concerns expressed by the mem-
ber for Nedlands have been addressed in the
planning that has been done.

Clause put and passed.
New clause 8:
Mr TROY: I move-

Page 6, line 12-To add the following
clause-

Various penalties increased
8. The principal Act is amended
by deleting in the provisions re-
ferred to in column I of the
Schedule to this section the penal-
ties respectively set out in column
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2 of the Schedule and substituting
in each case the corresponding
penalty set out in column 3 of the
Schedule.

SCHEDULE
Column I Column 2 Column 3

Section 66(I) two hundred dollars
Section 71 one hundred dollars
Section 73 one hundred dollars
Section 75
Section 77
Section 78
Section 79
Section 80
Section 81
Section 82

forty dollars
two hundred dollars
one hundred dollars
two hundred dollars
fonty dollars
foray dollars
two hundred dollars

2000
10000
10 000
2 000
5 000

10 000
5 000
5000
2000

Under this new clause each of the penalty areas
that exist in the present Act will be updated
because they are quite old-going back to 1964
or 1965. They were drawn up at a time, as I
mentioned earlier, when the number of craft
around the port area was not of the nature we
are expecting with the America's Cup. Cur-
rently, some eight foreign passenger vessels of a
significant size have made bookings for port
berths during the period of the America's Cup.

These new penalties move the rather out-
dated figures to a more realistic level, taking
into account the nature of many of these
vessels and the type of passenger linens and
commercial craft which used the port some
years ago. The owners of some of the vessels
which are normally used for pleasure in the
Mediterranean may think it is worth running
the gauntlet with their craft. They may decide
to do that here, and we want some control over
them. At first glance the penalties seem severe,
but when one analyses them clause by clause
one sees a strong argument for them to be at
that level.

New clause put and passed.

Tide put and passed.

Report

Bill reported, with an amendment, and the
report adopted.

Third Reading
Dill read a third time, on motion by Mr Troy

(Minister for Transport), and transmitted to
the Council.

STANDING ORDERS COMITTEE
Report

MR BURKETI' (Scarborough) [7.26 p.m.]: I
move-

That the report be adopted.
These matters have been before the Parliament
in the past year, but were never acted upon.

MR CRANE (Moore) [7.27 p.m.]: It was
intended that the member for Albany would
speak, but as he is paired I have been asked to
make some comments. As the Public Accounts
Committee is associated with this committee, I
will make a report on his behalf.

This report contains two main amendments.
The first deals with the tabling of documents,
and the second rewrites the Standing Orders
relating to the Public Accounts Committee. In
regard to the tabling of documents, the amend-
ment ratifies a ruling of recent Speakers by
formalising the requirement for Ministers to
table on request official documents from which
they are quoting. It is not expressed in the
Standing Orders, but it is strongly implied and
certainly intended I am sure, that other mem-
bers are not required to table documents in the
usual way.

Some concern has been expressed by pre-
vious committees regarding the powers of the
Public Accounts Committee in relation to some
Government organisations which are other
than Government departments. An example of
this is statutory authorities, a very good
example of which is WAIT-AID. Members of
the Public Accounts Committee were keen to
ratify and consider a number of options, which
included the desirability of amending and
upgrading Standing Orders. An alternative
would be to establish an Act of Parliament to
control the Public Accounts Committee. Some
Parliaments in Australia have updated their
Standing Orders, and others have resorted to
Acts of Parliament. This Committee opted for
amending the Standing Orders, and there were
a couple of reasons for that.

The Public Accounts Committee is a com-
mittee of the Legislative Assembly and, there-
fore, it should be under the authority of the
Standing Orders of this House. It is our House
and we believe it should be controlled by this
House.

If the Public Accounts Committee were to be
controlled by an Act of Parliament the Upper
House would have a say in the provision of that
Act and, therefore, would in some way be able
to control the destiny of the committee. I be-
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lieve this has nothing to do with the Upper
House and that it would be far better to update
the Standing Orders, and this is what the com-
mittee has recommended.

If the committee were controlled by an Act it
would be possible for its actions to be subject to
challenge in the courts in the same way as all
Acts of Parliament are subject to challenge.
This would be undesirable. I am sure we are
correct in assuming that Parliament is the
highest court in the land and that it should
have control of its own committees.

The committee obtained copies of Acts and
Standing Orders from all the other Parliaments
and committees and after studying them care-
fully selected the best of them. As an example I
would like to read, for the edification of the
House, how the Public Accounts Committee is
arranged in the House of Commons which is
the mother Parliament. It is a simple clause
and reads as follows-

Committee of Public Accounts. (1) There
shall be a select committee to be called the
Committee of Public Accounts for the
examination of the accounts showing the
appropriation of the sums granted by Par-
liament to meet the public expenditure,
and of such other accounts laid before Par-
liament as the committee may think fit, to
consist of not more than fifteen Members,
of whom four shall be a quorum. The com-
mittee shall have power to send for per-
sons, papers and records, to report from
time to time, and to adjourn from place to
place.

(2) Unless the House otherwise orders,
each Member nominated to the committee
shall continue to be a member of it for the
remainder of the Parliament.

Even though we have upgraded our Standing
Order it still covers seven pages. The House of
Commons has been able to contain its Standing
Orders in that short passage and I understand
that it works satisfactorily.

The committee has made its
recommendations and I hope that the House
will agree to it.

The essential points are contained in Stand-
ing Order No. 410 (2), which states that the
membership of the committee shall be five
members, three of whom are to be Government
members. The committee deliberately omitted
defining the balance because it can vary
depending upon the strength of the Opposition
pantics. At present the Opposition panties on
that committee are represented by one member

of the National Party and one member of the
Liberal Party. At different times there have
been two Liberal party representatives on the
committee, thus the reason for this provision.

The Standing Orders state that members of
the Public Accounts Committee will remain in
office for the term of the Parliament. The com-
mittee can sit during recesses and even when
Parliament is prorogued.

An important point is that the committee has
access to research staff. Provision has also been
made for sectional committees of two or more
members to be appointed.

The functions and powers of the committee
have been redefined. One of the clauses gives
the committee power to investigate all Govern-
ment agencies and another clause defines
"Government agencies"; this definition can be
found on page 9 of the report. For the infor-
mation of members I will read that defi-
nition-

(3) "Government Agencies" for the pur-
pose of this Standing Order includes any
statutory board, commission, authority,
committee, or trust established or
appointed pursuant to any rule, regulation,
by-law, order, Order in Council, procla-
mation, ministerial direction or any other
like means.

The Public Accounts Committee can now have
matters referred to it by a Minister and the
Auditor General. Previously, Parliament could
refer matters to it or it could act on its own
initiative.

The Public Accounts Committee will also be
able to inquire into and report on expenditure
by a Minister without parliamentary sanction.
Members can see from the report that the
powers of the committee are now very wide
and that they are very far-reaching powers in-
deed.

The Public Accounts Committee will be
empowered to appoint officers such as research
officers and it will be able to commission other
organisations such as consultants to undertake
work on its behalf. This will be useful when
inquiring into specialised areas.

Provision has also been made for reports to
Parliament by the chairman and deputy chair-
man and if the Parliament is in recess they can
be presented to the Speaker. After presentation
of the report to the Speaker it will, if published,
attract the privileges and protection of Parlia-
ment.
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Another new clause provides that where a
report recommends action by the Government
the appropriate Minister has three months to
report to the I-ouse-or as soon as possible
after the House sits if it is in recess-on his
proposed action.

Members will appreciate that the provisions
which have been provided will assist the Public
Accounts Committee to carry out its role prop-
erly. 1 am happy to support the report of the
Standing Orders Committee.

MR D. L. SMITH (Mitchell) 1 7.38 p.m.]: As
Chairman of the Public Accounts Committee I
support the motion and would like to speak
primarily on the matters affecting the Public
Accounts Committee.

After three years as a member of the Public
Accounts Committee it is of concern to me that
the activities of the committee are not as well-
known to all members of the House as they
should be and I would like to spend some time
talking about the history and activities of the
committee.

The amendments currently before the House
are part of the Government's policy-as well as
being the recommendations of the Public Ac-
counts Committee-to strengthen the parlia-
mientary system to enable Parliament to ad-
equately review the activities of Government
administration especially as they relate to the
budgetry aspect of government.

The primary aim is to enable the committee
to review a range of statutory authorities and
other Government bodies currently not clearly
subject to the committee's examination in the
sense that they have been examinable only in
so far as they have been reported in the Auditor
General's reports. The proposed powers to be
given to the committee will enable it of its own
initiative to investigate the financial affairs of
any stautory authority or Government agency.

it has been said that the major function of
the lower or representative Houses of Parlia-
ment is to monitor the expenditure of the
Executive. This parliamentary system derived
originally from the need to curb the excesses of
the monarch and to give ordinary people a say
over taxation and the expenditure of public
funds.

When a similar amendment to these was con-
sidered in the Federal Parliament in 1979 the
then member for Corio, Mr Scholes said-

We lack in this parliament a degree of
support for the means by which we carry
out that role, and in the 30 years during
which the economic powers of the Corn-

monwealth have been gradually centralised
within this Parliament and the Executive
there has been an erosion of the influence
of Parliament and a transfer Of
responsibilities to the Executive govern-
ments of the day. We have some instru-
ments. We have attempted on occasions to
seek other instruments by which we can
more effectively carry out the functions of
the scrutiny of government by a represen-
tative parliamentary body.

In the same debate a fairly long statement was
made by the then member for Lalor, Mr Barry
Jones, part of which said-

if the Westminster system is to sur-
vive-that is by no means certain at this
stage of our political development-it
must depend on two elements. Those two
elements are 'disclosure', and
'accountability'. A parliament cannot work
unless it has access to the facts and unless
it knows the truth. Ministers, even the
Minister at the table, the Minister for
Transport (Mr Nixon) who is a man of
extraordinary candouir at times, particu-
larly when he is talking about the Liberal
Party in Victoria, have to recognise that
the Parliament cannot work unless there is
a full and candid disclosure. When mis-
takes are made they have to be freely
acknowledged. There also has to be ac-
countability. President Truman had a
plaque on his desk which read 'The buck
stops here'. That means that ultimately if
anything goes wrong the blame, broadly
speaking, will not be taken by public ser-
vants who are guaranteed protection
through the Public Service Act and other
social welfare benefits. The blame has to
be taken by the Minister. If something goes
disgracefully wrong it is the Minister who
ought to get out; it is the Minister who
ought to be censured.

He went on to talk in terms of the fact that we
live in a period of extraordinary complexity in
which the number of Government agencies and
QUANGOS has grown enormously. He
commented on the fact that that growth has led
to the need for much greater power of the Par-
liament to scrutinise the activities of those or-
ganisations. M r Jones' speech continued-

I must say that I am heartened by this
legislation. It is the most encouraging piece
of legislation put before the Parliament
this month. Perhaps it is the most encour-
aging piece of legislation to be put before
the Parliament this year. The reason is that
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it is a small but encouraging increase in the
'fight back' capacity of the Parliament in
its never-ending struggle against the Execu-
tive and the bureaucracy. I do not want to
traverse some of the past legislative horror.
You, Mr Deputy Speaker, would ruthlessly
pull me up if I attempted to do so. We
have seen some bad examples in the recent
past when the Parliament had divested it-
self of power and said: 'We are prepared toD
give power to other people-them'. The
Parliament will have less and less power in
particular areas'. Here is one example of
where the Parliament is exercising 'fight-
back' capacity. It is saying: 'We want to
strengthen the power of the Public Ac-
counts Committee to report back to the
Parliament'. Whilst no doubt there will be
joy and singing in heaven when the legis-
lation is finally carried, I do not know
whether there was really a great deal of joy
in the Cabinet room or the Public Service
Board. But it is very important that this
Parliament show that it does have an effec-
tive fight-back' capacity so that we can re-
port to the Parliament and Parliament is
not seen simply as a kind of a rubber
stamp organisation which is here for the
purpose of docilely agreeing to every piece
of legislation that is brought down by the
Government.

Although I am a member of the Government I
think those remarks are as true of this Parlia-
ment as they were of the Federal Parliament in
1979. 1 do not say that as a criticism of the
present Government; it is just a factor of mod-
emn Parliaments that there is an increasing
tendency for the Executive to take over the true
role of Parliament. As Mr Jones said, there is a
need for the Parliament to fight back.

In Western Australia the -fight-back" in re-
lation to the Public Accounts Committee began
in 1970 when on 24 November the current
Standing Orders dealing with the Public Ac-
counts Committee were approved by the
Governor. In the debates of this Parliament at
that time it is apparent that the then Premier,
Hon. David Brand, who moved the motion for
the adoption of those Standing Orders, was not
too confident about whether the Public Ac-
counts Committee was required. Indeed he said
that he had been wondering whether such a
committee was necessary particularly in view
of the changing scene between the State and
Commonwealth Governments in respect of
existing financial matters and financial agree-

ments between the Commonwealth and the
State.

If one reads the whole of the debate on that
occasion it is clear that the primary movers for
the establishment of the Public Accounts Com-
mittee in this State were the then Labor mem-
ber for Pilbara, Mr Arthur Bickerton, and the
then member for Narrogin, Mr Manning, who
was a member of the Country Party. In the
course of the debate Mr Bickerton had the fol-
lowing to say-

I have looked through the motion and,
to my way of thinking, at least it is a start
and I have no doubt that as this committee
operates it will find that the Standing Or-
ders and the conditions raid down for its
operation may need a lot of brushing up. If
we get the committee into operation then I
feel sure there will be plenty of time for us
to do something about amending the con-
stitution under which it works, and even
the Standing Orders, if such action appears
necessary,

It is rather strange that the committee as it was
then constituted by the Standing Orders has
continued in operation without amendment to
those Standing Orders for some 16 years, even
though it is clear from reading the amendments
to the Commonwealth Act in 1979 that the
State Public Accounts Committee did not have
a number of the powers required in a modem
State, especially in so far as those powers con-
cern Government agencies.

It is also my view that at the same time the
Public Accounts Committee has been under-
resourced. In truth, until last year the parlia-
mentary committee had no staff whatsoever
but borrowed the services of a secretary from
the parliamentary legislative staff and had its
typing done by the surplus capacity in the
typing pool of the Parliament. In my view that
was a major restriction on its activities.
Nonetheless in the years since it was formed it
has been able to present 25 reports to the Par-
liament. It is one of the busiest committees of
the Parliament: In 1985 it met on 15 separate
occasions in the House precincts and made a
number of additional visits to the St John Am-
bulance Association facilities and other insti-
tutions away from Parliament. In total it car-
ried on its business of one type or another
almost once a week for four hours. This year
while the Parliament has been sitting the com-
mittee has met for two or three hours each
Wednesday and it is performing some very
valuable work in relation to the current studies
being undertaken.
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Mr MacKinnon: Does it have any spare time
to look into Exim?

Mr D. L. SMITH: I will come to the prob-
lems associated with Exim at a later stage be-
cause that is partly what these amendments to
the Standing Orders should be about.

The Public Accounts Committee is carrying
out a study into year-end spending. Also, it is
carrying out a study on the cost of workers'
compensation to the Government. Finally, it is
conducting a study into the way in which
money is distributed to voluntary agencies and
the accountability of those organisations for
the money they receive.

Members will have noted that in the
Premier's recent economic statement he
indicated that the Public Accounts Committee
is one sector of the Public Service that will be
exempted from the staff freeze because he
wants it to undertake the expenditure-watch
role to which he referred in his speech. I hope
that we shall shortly advertise for submissions
from the public and the Public Service on ways
in which the expenditure which is seen to be
extravagant can be pruned and brought to ac-
count in a proper way.

That increased workload has firstly had the
result that last year for the first time a research
officer was appointed to the committee on a
secondment from the Treasury basis. We were
also able to acquire some software and hard-
ware which enables us to conduct the research
needed in a much more efficient manner. The
Premier has also recently agreed to the addition
to the staff of a research assistant who will
provide secretarial services to the committee
and secretarial assistance to the chairman and
the research officer.

In my view that will start to give us the re-
sources that we have long needed. I might say
in passing that the fact that those resources are
needed has long been recognised. Indeed, when
Mr W. A. Manning was speaking in the debate
on 19 November 1970 he pointed out the facili-
ties and staffing of the Commonwealth Parlia-
ment at that time, and at that stage Sir David
Brand said, "I do not deny the need for a sec-
retary." In truth, we have gone some 16 years
without that secretary. As I have said, a re-
search officer was appointed last year and a
secretar-research assistant will be appointed
in the near future.

The primary area in which the existing
Standing Orders have been deficient is that,
strictly speaking, the activities of the Public
Accounts Committee were restricted to matters

contained within the Auditor General's report.
That is, we were more concerned about the
methodology of accounting and the account-
ability of public departments than about the
broader role of the efficiency of expenditure
and the whole area of public administration in
so far as we can gauge both the effectiveness of
Public Service work and the cost of that work.

The other area which was sadly deficient was
that the Standing Orders clearly did not give us
the power to look beyond the departments at
agencies which were not covered by the Audi-
tor General's report. We did not have the ca-
pacity to investigate such organ isations as the
Western Australian Development Corporation
or perhaps even the State Government In-
surance Office and the like, which were really
organised in a quite separate way and were not
included in the Auditor General's report.

Mr Court: But they get a vote of money from
this Parliament.

Mr D. L. SMITH: That is precisely what the
amendments to the Standing Orders are trying
to cover. It was by no means clear from the
previous Standing Orders that the committee
had the opportunity to investigate any expendi-
ture of Government money, wherever it went,
if it was not covered in the Auditor General's
reports. indeed, it is a sad fact that because of
that deficiency the upper House over the years
has taken upon itself that broader role through
the establishment of the Standing Committee
on Government Agencies. Initially that was
mainly to look at the question of QANGOS
and which of them should continue to exist.

The upper House has transceived the
deficiencies in our Staading Orders and has
therefore sought to take upon itself the broader
role of looking at the whole financial admin-
istration, structure, and efficiency of operation
of the statutory agencies.

If one compares the amendments we are now
making to the Standing Orders with what was
there in the past, one can perceive that we will
have a much greater opportunity-on our own
initiative, the initiative of the Parliament, or
the initiative of a Minister-to investigate and
report on a whole range of new areas in relation
to those matters. However, there are still a few
situations where there may be some doubt on
the question of our authority and role. In the
Federal Parliament there is a very clear statu-
tory provision which deals with the question of
the power of the committee to investigate the
operations of companies in which the Govern-
ment has a share or interest, which are incor-
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porated in the ordinary ways under the
Companies Act rather than by a peculiar or
special Act of their own.

It is still by no means clear, for instance, in
the case of organ isations such as Exim or the
so-called subsidiaries that Exim might have,
that these amendments go far enough to enable
us to investigate their affairs,

Mr Court: I do not think you would want to
go too far, anyway.

Mr D. L. SMITH: I personally regard that as
a deficiency in the sense that it detracts from
the fight-back capacity that Mr Barry Jones, the
member for Lalor, was talking about in the
Federal Parliament. However, in politics I sup-
pose we take advances as far as we can at any
one time. I am very happy that at ieast the
Government has seen fit to ensure that these
amendments have been brought forward in the
way that they have, through the operations of
the committees of the Parliament, to ensure
that the powers of each committee are being
extended in the way that they are.

I will briefly run through some of the more
important amendments which are proposed to
the Standing Orders. Firstly, there is an oppor-
tunity under new Standing Order No. 411 for
the establishment of sectional committees of
the committee itself. In fact, that will enable us
to delegate to two members the primary role of
a particular investigation, so that the com-
mittee may be able to undertake three or four
investigations at once through sectional com-
mittees, with a single person on the committee
perhaps taking the primary task of overseeing
one of these investigations.

However, members will note that subclause
(4) of that Standing Order provides-

A Sectional Committee shall report in
writing to the Committee as soon as practi-
cable on each matter referred to that Sec-
tional Committee by the Committee.

By that means, we will be able to ensure that
the full committee is properly supervising and
involving itself in any decisions made in re-
lation to the sectional committees' activities.

New Standing Order No. 412 is the most
important of the amendments and deals with
the wider range of activities in which we will be
able to involve ourselves in terms of the whole
range of Government agencies and activities.
Subclause (3) of that Standing Order reads-

"Government Agencies" for the purpose
of this Standing Order includes any statu-
tory board, commission, authority, com-

mittee, or trust established or appointed
pursuant to any rule, regulation, by-law,
order, Order in Council, proclamation,
ministerial direction or any other like
means.

It is my view that may not be wide enaugh to
cover some of the organ isations that are
formed through the ordinary incorporation
process under the Companies Act in which the
Government might have an interest. However,
under paragraph (f) of clause (2) of that Order,
there is a power given to the committee-

(0) to inquire into expenditure by a Min-
ister of the Crown made without Par-
liamentary sanction or appropriation
and report to the Assembly from time
to time, upon any matter connected
with that expenditure which the Com-
mittee considers ought to be brought
to the notice of the Assembly;

So if in fact money is being allocated from the
Government purse for the acquisition of shares
in a company or to help capitalise a new organ-
isation to be used for Government purposes
which may not be included in the definition of
a Government agency, in terms of how the
money has been allocated or spent, it is a mnat-
ter which the committee can investigate.

I will run quickly through some of the other
powers contained in clause 2 of Standing Order
No. 412.

Subclause (a) merely confirms in a different
form the existing power to examine the Public
Accounts to be transmitted to the Assembly by
the Auditor General.

Subclause (b) reads-
to examine the financial affairs and ac-

counts of Government Agencies of the
State whether or not such accounts have
been audited by the Auditor-General;

That is clearly an extension beyond the reports
of the Auditor General to the Parliament.

Subclause (c) provides-
to examine all reports of the Auditor-

General, copies of which have been laid
before the Assembly;

Previously the only reports of the Auditor Gen-
eral with which we were concerned were those
relating to the annual audit and financial ac-
counts.

Members will be aware that in the Federal
Parliament the Auditor General reports to the
Parliament on a variety of other activities of
Government such as efficiency audits and the
like, and if the Auditor General here begins to
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initiate those kinds of processes himself-
which I think will be the case, particularly
under the new powers given to him by way of
the new Financial Administration and Audit
Act-it will be possible for the Public Accounts
Committee to examine those reports and make
recommendations to the Parliament.

Subclause (d) of Standing Order No. 412
gives a wider power to the committee to in-
itiate investigations on the basis that it can
examine and report on any question which-

(i) it deems necessary to investigate;
(ii) is referred to it by a resolution of the

Assembly;
(iii) is referred to it by a Minister of the

Crown, or
(iv) is referred to it by the Auditor-Gen-

eral;
Subclause (e) gives the right to the committee
to recommend to the Assembly changes in the
method of keeping accounts which will, I am
sure, assist the Auditor General in terms of any
recommendations he might think are worth-
while, by having those recommendations
examined by the committee so the committee
itself can make recommendations to the Parlia-
ment.

I have already read paragraph (f). Paragraph
(g) reads as follows-

to consider any papers on public expendi-
ture presented to the Assembly and such of
the expenditure as it sees fit to examine.

Finally, paragraph (h) says-
to consider whether the objectives of pub-
lic expenditure are being achieved or may
be achieved more economically.

That is really the efficiency audit aspect which
should enable us not only to review the
financial affairs of departments and agencies,
but also to do some of the work that is being
done currently by the services review com-
mittee operating through Treasury and the
Public Service Board.

Standing Order No. 413 really only confirms,
in a different form, the existing quorum and
voting entitlements of the committee.

Standing Order No. 414(l) authorises the
Speaker, on the recommendation of the com-
mittee, to approve appointments of officers to
serve on the committee. The importance of
that is that, as it is the Speaker who does the
appointing, the officers who are appointed will
be officers of the Parliament and not necess-
arily of the committee. Part (2) will enable us to

commission outside advisers or consultants to
provide consultancy advice on any aspect of
any matter being examined or considered by
the committee.

Parts (3) and (4) deal with what will become
of the reports of the committee.

Part (5) of that Standing Order is a very im-
portant addition in the sense that it directs
what a Minister is to do in relation to reports
that are tabled in the House. It says-

(5) Where a report of the Committee
recommends that a particular action be
taken by the Government with respect to a
matter, the appropriate responsible Minis-
ter of the Crown, shall, as soon as practi-
cable, but within not more than three
months, or at the earliest opportunity after
that time if Parliament is in adjournment
or recess, report to the House as to the
action (if any) proposed to be taken by the
Government with respect to the
recommendation of the Committee.

Of course, it does not require the Minister to
implement the recommendations, but at least it
requires him, within three months of the report
being lodged with the Parliament, to report
back to the Parliament as to which
recommendations he intends to implement and
in respect of those which he does not im-
plement, to indicate the reasons for not
implementing them.

Standing Order No. 415 clarifies the position
of the committee in relation to its powers or
position when the Parliament is prorogued.
Previously when the Parliament was
prorogued, the activities of the committee had
to cease. Under Standing Order No. 41t5, in
effect, the committee may sit and continue
business, notwithstanding any prorogation of
the Parliament. If it completes a study and
finalises a report, it can then report to the
Speaker in the absence of being able to report
to the Parliament. When the Parliament re-
sumes, the Speaker will then have the ability to
report the matter back to the House.

As I have said in the course of this address, I
am not entirely happy with two aspects of' these
amendments. The first is that they did not fol-
low the Commonwealth and Victorian example
of making the position of the Public Accounts
Committee a matter for legislation rather than
for Standing Orders. However, of the five
members of the Public Accounts Committee I
was in a 4:1 minority position as to that and it
was really on the recommendation of the
officers of the Parliament that we stuck with
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Standing Orders rather than proceeded to legis-
lation.

The second aspect is that, in some respects,
the extent to wbich we are investigating
companies and the like, such as Exim and its
subsidiaries, is not quite as wide as I would like
it to be, but I am pleased to see the progress
that is being achieved and I would hope that, at
some stage in the future, we would see fit to
extend the powers of the committee to include
all of those that are contained within the Feder-
al legislation. I commend the amendments to
the House.

Question put and passed.

STANDING ORDERS
Amendment

On motions by Mr Burkett (Scarborough)
resolved-

Standing Order No. 23 1A-

Tablingofdocument
cited in dc-
bate.

To insert the following Standing Or-
der:

231IA. A Minister who has quoted
from an official document shall lay
that document upon the Table of the
House if so requested by any other
Member either during, or immediately
after the conclusion of, the remarks
which include the quotation.
Standing Orders Nos. 410 to 415-.
To delete those Standing Orders and
substitute the following new Standing
Orders:

Appont
met mn 410. (1) At the commencement of
bei nd eveny Parliament, a Public Accounts

or~bli~c-ndExpenditure Review Committee,
= nrshall be appointed. The Committee's

Cotee. power to act shall continue until the
Comte.Assembly is next dissolved or expires

by eftluxion of time, notwithstanding
any prorogation which may occur
prior to dissolution or expiry of the
Assembly.

(2) The Committee shall consist of
five Members of whom three shall be
nominated by the Leader of the
Government.

(3) No Minister of the Crown shall
be eligible to be a Member of the
Committee.

(4) Each Member, while otherwise
qualified, shall continue in office until
the Assembly expires by the effluxion
of time or is dissolved, or until he is

discharged from his office by motion
in the Assembly.

(5) The Assembly may appoint one
of its Members to fill a vacancy in the
office of a Member of the Committee.

(6) When the 1-ouse is not in session
and a vacancy occurs on the Corn-
mittee, the Speaker or, in his absence,
the Deputy Speaker, may, in consul-
tation with the Leader of the Govern-
ment or Leader of the Opposition as
the case may require, appoint a Mem-
ber to fill the vacancy until an ap-
pointment can be made or confirmed
by the House.

Conil.411. (1) The Committee may ap-
point a Sectional Committee or Sec-
tional Committees of two or more of
its Members to inquire into and report
to the Committee upon such matters
with which the Committee is con-
cerned as the Committee directs.

(2) At a meeting of a Sectional Corn-
mittce, two Members constitute a
quorum.

(3) The provisions of these Standing
Orders apply to a Sectional Com-
mittee in like manner as they apply to
the Committee.

(4) A Sectional Committee shall re-
port in writing to the Committee as
soon as practicable on each matter re-
ferred to that Sectional Committee by
the Committee.

(5) Where the Committee as
constituted at any time, or a Sectional
Committee of the Committee as
constituted at any time, has taken evi-
dence in relation to a matter, but the
Committee as so constituted has
ceased to exist before reporting on the
matter, the Committee as next
constituted may consider that evi-
dence as if it had been given before it.

Functions
and 412. (1) The functions of the Corn-
of the Corn- mitnce shall be to inquire into, con-

flte sider and report to the Parliament on
any proposal, matter or thing connec-
ted with the receipt and expenditure
of public moneys, including moneys
allocated under the annual Appropri-
at ion Bills and the Loan Fund.

2556



[Thursday, 24 July 1 986J 55

(2) The Committee shall be
empowered-

(a) to examine the public ac-
counts transmitted to the As-
sembly by the Auditor-Gen-
eral;

(b) to examine the financial af-
fairs and accounts of Govern-
ment Agencies of the State
whether or not such accounts
have been audited by the
Auditor-General;

(c) to examine all reports of the
Auditor-General, copies of
which have been Laid before
the Assembly;

(d) to inquire into, and report to
the Assembly on any ques-
tion which-

(i) it deems necessary to in-
vestigate;

(ii) is referred to it by a
resolution of the As-
sembly;

(iii) is referred to it by a Min-
ister of the Crown, or

(iv) is referred to it by the
Auditor-General;

(e) to report to the Assembly
from time to time, any alter-
ation which the Committee
thinks desirable on any mat-
ter relating to the form of
those accounts or in the
method of keeping them or in
the mode or receipt, control,
issue or payment of public
moneys;

(f) t o inquire into expenditure
by a Minister of the Crown
made without Parliamentary
sanction or appropriation
and report to the Assembly
from time to time, upon any
matter connected with that
expenditure which the Com-
mittee considers ought to be
brought to the notice of the
Assembly;

(g) to consider any papers on
public expenditure presented
to the Assembly and such of
the expenditure as it sees fit
to examine; and

(h) to consider whether the
objectives of public expendi-
ture are being achieved or
may be achieved more econ-
omically.

(3) "Govemnment Agencies" for the
purpose of this Standing Order in-
cludes any statutory board, com-
mission, authority, committee, or
tmust established or appointed pursu-
ant to any rule, regulation, by-law, or-
der, Order in Council, proclamation,
ministerial direction or any other like
means.

qtwniiitand 413. (1) There shall be a Chairman
vofingi and a Deputy Chairman of the Com-

mittee, who shall be elected by the
Members from time to time and shall
hold office as Chairman and Deputy
Chairman during the pleasure of the
Committee.

(2) The Clerk of the Assembly shall
call the first meeting of the Committee
as soon as practicable, following the
opening of the first session of each
Parliament.

(3) At a meeting of the Committee
three Members constitute a quorum,
of whom one shall be either the Chair-
man or Deputy Chairman.

(4) All questions to be decided by
the Committee shall be decided by a
majority of the votes of the Members
present.

(5) The person far the time being
chairing a meeting of the Committee
shall have a deliberative vote only.

(6) Where the Members present do
not vote unanimously, the manner in
which each Member votes, shall, if
any Member requires, be recorded in
the minutes.

Ment o 414. (1) The Speaker may, on the
officers, recommendation of the Committee,

approve the appointment of other
officers of the Committee as are
required for the performance of its
functions.

Coisfl (2) With the approval of the
enquiries Speaker, the Committee may com-

mission any person or organtisation to
investigate and report to the Com-
mittee on any aspect of a proposal,
matter or thing being inquired into or
being considered by the Committee.
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Reports. (3) The reports of the Committee
shall be presented to the Assembly by
the Chairman or the Deputy Chair-
man but, if for any reason, the As-
sembly is not sitting for a period in
excess of two weeks, the reports of the
Committee may be forwarded to the
Speaker.

(4) Should the Speaker cause any re-
port to be published in any way the
report is deemed to be Laid upon the
Table of the House in accordance with
the Standing Orders and shall attract
all of the privileges and protection ac-
corded to papers which have to be
Laid on the Table of the House.

(5) Where a report of the Com-
mittee recommends that a particular
action be taken by the Government
with respect to a matter, the appropri-
ate responsible Minister of the Crown,
shall, as soon as practicable, but
within not more than three months, or
at the earliest opportunity after that
time if Parliament is in adjournment
or recess, report to the House as to the
action (if any) proposed to be taken by
the Government with respect to the
recommendation of the Committee.

Sittinpsdur- 415. ([)The Committee may sit and
pa2no-ad- transact business notwithstanding any
jounment. prorogation or adjournment of the As-

sembly, but the Committee shall not
sit or transact business on a sitting day
of the Assembly during the time of the
sitting, except by leave of the House.

Power to
send for per- (2) The Cornmittee shall have power
sons, etc. to send for persons, papers and

records and to move from place to
place.

scecsl Corn. (3) Without limiting the effect of
rnitngr- anything contained in Standing Or-
ders to ap- ders, 410 to 415 the provisions of

P1 ~ Standing Orders Nos. 354, 357, 365,
367, 368 and 370 to 392 inclusive
shall apply minazis muwandis to the
Public Accounts and Expenditure Re-
view Committee as if set out in

extensa in this Chapter and as if each
of such Standing Orders referred to
the Public Accounts and Expenditure
Review Committee instead of a Select
Committee or Select Committees.
Provided nothing in Standing Order
380 shall be construed to prevent the
Committee from presenting any of its
reports in printed form.

Witnesse- ()TePbi consadEpn
Chapter 29 ()TePbi consadEpn
toa0pply. diture Review Committee shall be

deemed a Committee of the House
within the meaning of Chapter 29 and
the provisions thereof shall be appli-
cable to witnesses desired by or ap-
pearing before the Committee.

That in the event that the assent of
His Excellency the Governor to the
foregoing amendments is notified to
the Speaker during an adjournment of
the House which is longer than one
week, the Speaker is empowered by
this resolution to appoint to the Public
Accounts and Expenditure Review
Committee those members who had
been members of the Public Accounts
Committee immediately prior to the
coming into effect of the amendments
to the Standing Orders.

AMERICA'S CUP YACHT RACE (SPECIL
ARRANGEMENTS) BILL

Second Reading
Debate resumed from 23 July.
MR COURT (Nedlands) [8.07 pm.]: This is

another piece of legislation in respect of which
the Government has asked for our assistance to
have it passed during this part of the session,
because it involves provisions covering the run-
ning of the America's Cup activities. As 1
mentioned in respect of the port authority
legislation, it is necessary that the legislation be
passed, because when the House resumes sit-
ting in October, the America's Cup activities
will be in full swing.

This legislation has a sunset clause. I under-
stand it will operate for approximately a year
until 30 June 1987. That is an important con-
sideration, because this Bill seeks to give some
very wide powers to many people. Later I shall
mention some of those people who will be

Where Min-
ister is
required to
reporl.

2558



(Thursday, 24 July 1986] 25

granted these wide powers. In his second read-
ing speech the Minister said-

Predominantly this Bill is introduced to
provide special legislation for the control
and supervision of spectator craft during
the America's Cup challenge and
associated events in the seas off Fremantle.

There is no denying that it will be necessary to
control the movement of boats before and dur-
ing the America's Cup period. No-one denies
that. I must admit that I watched a few of the
races during the recent world 12-metre chain-
pionships.

Mr Pearce: Did you get seasick?

Mr COURT: 1 shall tell the Leader of the
House a story, because I am sure he will ap-
preciate its humour. I was listening to Ted
Bull's Programme early one morning and he
played the tune "Hi Calypso". When one
listens to that tune one can imagine a boat
rolling around. At the end of it the only words
Ted Bull said were, "Jacques Cousteau suffers
from seasickness." I am sure the Leader of the
House appreciates the subtlety of that com-
ment, because very few sailors like to admit
that they get seasick when in fact at some stage
of their lives most do.

No, 1 did not get seasick. I was on one of the
larger boats from which a direct television
coverage of the race was being made.

It was quite an eyeopener to watch, for
example, two commentators doing a direct tele-
cast of arn event that this day took four hours.
By the end of the event they were certainly
worn out. When it came to serving lunch only
10 of the 30 people on board indulged!

Mr Pearce: And all of them wished they had
not.

Mr COURT: I think the chap selling tents on
the shore did a roaring business. On the more
serious side, when the America's Cup series
begins a tremendous number of boats will be
on the harbour and the most important thing in
controlling those vessels will not be legislation
such as the Bill before us tonight;, it will be
simple commonsense. Most people respect the
water. When there is a 20 knot sea breeze
blowing off Fremantle most people do not
realise that the waters are very shallow-I
think they average about 50 feet-and that it is
recommended that boats have an anchor line
three times the depth of the water. It tends to
get pretty choppy out there and people in small

or even larger boats need to know what they are
doing. People must have good sea sense and
should certainly be responsible to make sure
everything goes according to plan. Cornmman-
sense is the main factor.

There will be many vessels in close proximity
to each other following the race. I do not know*
whether the Minister watched one of the trial
events. An interesting system was adopted
whereby the boats travelled up and down each
side of the course, starting with a lead vessel.
There was a pecking order spreading out in a
triangular shape. The lead boat went out and
the other boats formed a fan behind it. When
they got to the top of the course they formed an
arch and came back again. It was done in a very
orderly fashion. It required boats to keep
position and if it was done properly everybody
got a good view of the event.

I do not know how the cruise liners will fit
into it. They would probably be better off re-
maining tied up to the wharf. There will be a
need, particularly if boats break down, if the
weather is bad, or if there is a lot of' movement
of the vessels, for stewards to be appointed to
handle the events and they will require certain
standards to enable them to carry out those
activities. It concerns me somewhat that we
need legislation to authorise people to be given
those powers because my own experience is
that most people in the boating community are
very responsible. They have to abide by the
rules of the water which have been established
over thousands of years, anyway. This is a first

p riority in the boating game: One must learn
the rules of the water in order to operate in the

right way.

Another part of the legislation on which I
will concentrate later relates to control of the
media centre which has been established at
Fremantle.

Clause 3 of the Bill defines "authorized per-
son" as follows, "Any officer of the Fremantle
Port Authority; any officer of the Department
of Marine and Harbours of the State; any mem-
ber of the police force; and any person
designated as an authorized person under sec-
tion 5". This has the effect that a navigation
authority may designate any person as an auth-
orised person for the purposes of this clause. In
other words, all sorts of people can be
designated as authorised persons. The Bill
outlines the various powers they will have to
carry out certain duties. These are professional
people who are well-trained and are used to the
whole problem of handling and controlling
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people and crowds, and I am sure they will
carry out their duties in a professional way.

A number of pant-time people will be used
during the cup events. I believe the Govern-
ment has an arrangement whereby a number of
commercial fishing vessels will come down
from different parts of the State and those
people will be used in different roles, one of
which I am told will be to assist in boat control
around the cup course. If these people become
authorised persons-and perhaps the Minister
will tell me whether these are the types of
people who will become authorised officers-it
is important that once they are given the sher-
iff's badge they are also given a bit of a briefing
as to how to handle the job.

Mr H-assell: Will they be in uniform? When
police exercise these powers the officers are in
uniform and people can distinguish them. One
of the problems in giving those sorts of powers
to these people is that nobody will be able to
tell who they are.

Mr Pearce: Plainclothes police are not in uni-
form.

Mr Hassell: But they produce a badge or
identification.

Mr COURT: The Leader of the Opposition
has made a good point. I hope the Government
considers making individual vessels and other
people identifiable.

Mr Pearce: These people won't be in uniform
but they will be given a certificate, as are
plainclothes police, which they will have to
produce before they can act.

Mr COURT: The main point I want to make
is that they be given Proper training in how to
use that power. Most fishermen who operate in
this State have very suitable vessels for the type
of work envisaged, and most of them are very
skilled skippers and, I am sure, do a good job.
The main point is that commonsense must pre-
vail. Boating people tend to do the right thing.
We cannot speak on behalf of many of the
visitors, but one of the beauties of boating is
that international laws apply and, by and large,
everyone operates under the same laws; so,
when international people come to Fremantle,
language will not be a problem because the
rules of the sea will be the same. I mention
again the question of the authorised persons.

My other point relates to clause 6(4) of the
legislation which provides-

The Fremantle Port Authority
constituted under the Fremnantle PortAth-
ority Act 1902 may, with the approval of

the Minister, by notice published in a
newspaper circulating in the State impose
charges with respect to the mooring or
berthing of vessels or classes of vessels in
or about the control area or any portion
thereof.

The control area listed on the back of the map
extends basically from Rockingham up to
Quinns Rock and out vast Rottnest. The Min-
ister said my next point is probably more rel-
evant to this Bill than the previous one and I
agree. I just want to give a bit of a plug for the
local commercial chartered boat operators in
this State. I would like to think that those
people who for many years have struggled in
the charter boat industry will be treated well
during the cup period. I hope they are given
good facilities to work from, because this will
be an opportunity for them to participate in
;vhat will be a particularly busy time for the
charter boat industry.

Many people are arriving from overseas and
other States with their boats and they will be
providing many of the services required. The
local people feel a little left out in this exercise
and I hope the Minister responsible for these
public facilities gives them a good run.

I hope those people are successful.

For the Minister's peace of mind, I do not
have any vested interest in charter boat oper-
ations. I know, though, that many people have
struggled for many years in that industry. They
have had the problem of not having a consist-
ent demand for their charter boat operations in
this State. The people who have had great suc-
cess are those who work in off-shore servicing
work and other work of that type. That has
been extremely successful. However, the people
involved in the pleasure boat industry have
had either a feast or a famine and the tourist
side of that operation has not taken off in this
State. I think one reason for that is that the
regulations and requirements associated with
the charter boat industry are very severe and
strict for safety reasons and they cause tremnen-
dous expense. Entry into the industry requires
a large capital outlay with little return. They
now have the opportunity to obtain a large
amount of business and I hope the local
authorities look after them properly.

Clause 7 reminds me of high seas stuff, Pi-
rates and that sort of thing. The people aut bar-
ised to operate under this clause will be given
considerable power. I believe it is essential that
they understand their responsibilities because,
from a public relations point of view, we want
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to make this event a pleasant and fun event.
We do not want to receive any bad PR from it.

Clause 8 includes a penalty of $500 for
refusal to supply a name and address. I can
understand the penalty in this clause applying
to wealthy boat owners who may be acting the
fool on the water. That amount of penalty
would not mean much to them. However, I am
concerned about the family man or small boat
owner who may be in the wrong area but who
could be in trouble and may be being tossed
about because of bad weather. It is a fairly
simple thing for a policeman to pull a motor
car over and obtain the driver's name and ad-
dress. However, it is not so simple in the cir-
cumstance that I have just related. That person
may be too concerned about his family and his
boat to pay any attention to a demand for his
name and address. His kids could be being sick
or something of that nature. I know I might be
drawing a long bow with that example, but I
related it as an example of what can happen. I
request the Minister to remind those officers
that if, for some reason, that person cannot
supply his name and address, they should take
it easy and be cautious in applying the penalty.

The same problem could occur with big
power boats. Some of those engines make
plenty of noise and it may be hard for the
authorised person to get his or her message
across.

Clause 9 refers to a direction given by a navi-
gation authority or authorised person. The pen-
alty under this clause is $ 10 000. 1 understand
that that is a maximum penalty.

Mr Pearce: Yes.
Mr COURT: So a penalty of an amount up

to $10000 could be applied if the circum-
stances warranted it?

Mr Pearce: Yes. I will have to seek advice on
that. I will supply the member with that infor-
mation during the Committee stage.

Mr COURT: The first part of the legislation
relates to control of vessels. It places the re-
sponsibility on people to be pant of a policing
force. The most important thing to be
emphasised is that commonsense should pre-
vail. I hope it does not get to the stage where
there is a wholesale use of those powers. I am
sure that boating people, while they are at sea,
will be responsible and even in difficult
crowded circumstances will do the right thing.

The second part of the Bill relates to the
media setup. The Minister, in his second read-
ing speech, said that the Government wants to
assume full control of that facility by placing it

(81)

under the control of the Minister until after the
cup defence when, at such time, the reserve will
be reinstated and revested in the Fremantle
Port Authority.

A Government media centre has been estab-
lished at Fremantle and, under this legislation,
will be put under the control of the Minister
while the Cup is being defended. I ask the Min-
ister to explain why that is necessary. I do not
want to get involved in a public debate such as
has been going on between the Government
and the Royal Perth Yacht Club. However, I
take this opportunity to say a couple of things
about the Royal Perth Yacht Club. I hope the
Government goes out of its way not to interfere
or upset the Royal Perth Yacht Club in the
carrying out of its very important function of
organising the defence. I know the Royal Perth
Yacht Club well. It has always risen to any
challenge it faces. It has a very good reputation
in organising major yachting events. It does not
have a large bureaucracy. It simply performs,
and on this occasion, members can imagine the
pressures being placed on the club. I believe it
is handling those pressures remarkably well
and, at the end of it all, it will be admired for
its work in organising the defence of the cup.

This will be the first commercial America's
Cup operation to be held in this country. A
record number of countries are involved with a
huge amount of commercial sponsorship and
private money being put into it. Like all sport-
ing events, I think the Government should take
a back seat in the organisation of this oper-
at ion.

There seems to be much concern about the
way the Royal Perth Yacht Club has handled
the rights of the media. It has never hidden the
fact that it is using a professional marketing
organisation to assist it in selling the event. At
this time it seems to be a popular thing to
knock that type of organisation- The organis-
ation assisting the Royal Perth Yacht Club is
an extremely successful one. A classic example
of its success has been the selling of
Wimbledon.

I am sure the Deputy Speaker would agree
that these days Wimbledon is a very commer-
cial operation, but a very good one. The en-
vironment is excellent; it even provides a touch
of royalty and everything is well presented. The
sponsors get good value for money. Wimbledon
provides a good example of the success poss-
ible, because it began as just an ordinary sum-
mer tennis tournament. We have seen the suc-
cess of many of the open golf events, this yacht-
ing event is a first. It is a first in that the
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commercial side of yachting is now coming to
the fore. Australia has not been backward in
promoting the commercial side of yachting. In
Sydney, for example, the 18-foot skiff races
have been a big attraction. They have attracted
major sponsorship and become a tourist at-
traction. It is interesting that many of the top
skiff people are the backbone of our America's
Cup defence people, from Ben Lexcen to Ian
Murray and the crew of Australia IL. Many
involved, with the America's Cup defence are
also involved with 18-foot skiffs. That type of
commercialism is a part of the America's Cup.

The Government has perhaps found it a little
hard to accept the fact that the Royal Perth
Yacht Club controls this sporting event. I ask
that the Government give the club a hand, but
not interfere too much. If there are some com-
mercial hagglings with respect to media rights
and the like, let the club sort it out. It has a
track record of sorting out such things. The
Government media centre is a huge and pro-
fessional operation, one which will be needed.
Similarly, there will be a need for a helicopter
refuelling service. I believe that some chap has
set one up at North Fremantle. With respect to
the media centre, I would like to know why
clause 13 is necesssary.

Mr Parker: How is your McDonald's build-
ing going?

Mr COURT: It would be a good place for a
media centre.

The media centre will play an impo>rtant part
in the exercise, but the Government must allow
the club to go about its business of running the
race. It will do a good job of it.

Clause 15 deals with the immunity of the
Minister and officials. It states-

No liability shall attach to the Minister,
a Navigation Authority, an authorised per-
son, member of the police force or any
other official under this Act or any person
acting with the authority or under the di-
rection of the Minister ...

I am concerned about the words "no liability
shall". For example, what would happen if one
of the fishing vessels and its skipper who is
brought in to help administer crowd control
smashes into another boat? In such a case
would any liability be attached to any of the
abovementioned persons? If no such liability
existed, I could not support this clause. If dam-
age is done by persons acting on behalf of the
authority, liability must be accepted.

The Opposition is pleased that the legislation
contains a sunset clause because we would not
want such wide powers to exist all the time. We
hope that commonsense will prevail in the way
that the crowds are controlled. The boating
people are brought up under a uniformn set of
international laws, so it is not as though they
are starting from scratch. They will have their
own set of rules for moving around the course.
I believe that there will be crowds as early as
October. The most enjoyable months for tour-
ists would be October, November and
December when all the boats are out trialling,
and racing. I would not be surprised if some
sort of control over the crowds were necessary
during those months, particularly on weekends,
if races are scheduled. There will be more fun
for tourists in the months preceding the
America's Cup race than in the last few weeks.
We understand the problems with crowd con-
trol. As the powers are so wide and so embrac-
ing, we hope the people who are given the
powers will be properly briefed on how they
carry out their duties.

I again implore the Government to have
faith in the Royal Perth Yacht Club. It is a
good performer. It knows how to handle the
sporting event. I repeat that I would like the
Minister to explain why it is necessary for the
Minister with special responsibility for the
America's Cup to take over control of the land
for the media centre.

MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the
House) (8.36 p.m.]: I thank members of the
Opposition for their general sup port of this
legislation, albeit they offered it with certain
reservations. The member for Ned lands
expressed some reservations about the nature
of the legislation. Some of those reservations
are shared by the Government because it is all-
embracing legislation in terms of the powers
that it confers on certain people. The Govern-
ment considered very seriously whether we
could afford to go into the Cup without legis-
lation of this kind. We were buoyed up by the
fact that we did not find it necessary to have
this legislation when the World 12-Metre
Championships were held last summer. How-
ever, on balance, we decided that the Cup and
the races leading up to it are a much bigger deal
than the World 12-Metre Championships and
we could not take the risk. Although, as the
member for Nedlands indicated, only sea-going
people basically will be in control of boats on
the course-and they are reasonably sensible
and know the rules of the sea and would
probably be all right-the eyes of the world will
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be on that stretch of water from October
through to January. We simply cannot afford to
have individuals, for whatever reason,
disrupting the process. There will be many
boats in a very confined space and it requires
only one, two or three individuals to do the
wrong thing and thus mess up the whole race.

The other thing we had to consider was the
possibility of disruption for some kind of dem-
onstration purpose. One tends to get that sort
of thing these days at Commonwealth Games
and the like. Powers would be necessary to deal
very forcibly and on the spot with people who
may seek to disrupt the race, for example, to
make a political point. Western Australia has
been very free of that kind of political activity
in the past, but we would not like a large yacht
owned by any group to charge down the course
in order to demonstrate a political point.

Mr Court: You mean the Pinocchio girls, or
something, do you?

Mr PEARCE: Some group like that, bare fig-
ureheads or whatever.

On balance, we found it was necessary to
have this style of legislation. It sits a little
uncomfortably with us and that is one of the
reasons a sunset clause is attached to the legis-
lation. We see it as special event legislation
that deals with this event. After the event
finishes, the legislation will finish.

The member raised a number of queries on
the way through. I will try to answer the two or
three points he specifically made. If I miss
some, perhaps he will raise the matters in the
Committee stage. The first matter he raised
related to the penalties designated in clause 9.
The member sought to know whether those
penalties of $ 10 000 and 11000 and the like
were maximum penalties or mandatory penal-
ties. Although the Bill specifies a $10 000 pen-
alty, I am advised that under the Interpret-
ations Act that means a maximum. I think that
is the point the Leader of the Opposition, an
estimable lawyer, was making. Thus, they are
maximums. A person infringing the provisions
could be fined any amount up to that amount.
Although the penalties are very high, it can be
seen that they need to be high given the nature
of the event. For example, we would need to
have a fairly comprehensive disincentive to
disruptive activity;, a small fine would not have
that salutary effect. That is something which
must be borne in mind.

With regard to someone not giving his name
and address, although I understand the point
made by the member, if someone did not give

his name and address because he could not
hear over the crashing of waves or because he
was too seasick to pay attention, that factor
might be taken into account by a court in
designating a penalty. In the same way, if one
was the victim of a car crash and was not in
complete control of one's faculties-wandering
around the road-one is not likely to be picked
.up for jaywalking. Any court would take
account of that fact.

Authorised people will be given identifi-
cation to produce before exercising their
power. Regarding the immunity of authorised
people, clause 1 5 is similar to the Police Act,
where policemen are covered; where they act in
the normal exercise of their powers they are
immune. For example, if a person were to ef-
fect an arrest and cause someone to be carried
to the shore, that person may bring an action,
but there would be an immunity under that Act
if it could be demonstrated the person was act-
ing in the proper exercise of his function in a
fair and reasonable manner. If not, an action
would lie.

The same applies to a police car. If a police
car, in the normal course of police duties, were
to be driven into another car, an immunity
would apply. If some lunatic policeman drives
down Stirling Highway at 160 kilometres an
hour bi ind drunk, he is j ust as l iab le as anybody
else, because the court's decision rests on ques-
tions of the proper exercise of one's normal
duty. So every safeguard is provided.

The final point relates to the media centre.
The Government understands the position of
the Royal Perth Yacht Club in this regard. It is
a small club which has taken on a very big task.
It has had a very good record in the past. 1 do
not doubt its capacity to do a good job on this
occasion.

With regard to the America's Cup, it is ironic
that the Royal Perth Yacht Club refused Alan
Bond the first time he applied to join it.

Mr Court: It takes everyone a few times.
Mr PEARCE: I think it is ironic the club

would not take him on, but now he has brought
a large amount of fame to the club.

Mr Court: So have ion Sanders and many
other people.

Mr PEARCE: I am not arguing that point.
We are living in ver commercial times. The
member is right to point to examples such as
the 18-foot skiff racing in Sydney Harbour and
the way in which commercialism and public
interest is building up in the sport. I might say
that 1 8-foot skiff racing in Sydney Harbour is a
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case where the racing can be interrupted by oil
tankers and even submarines paying no atten-
tion to what is going on and knocking boats
over and the like.

Mr Court: That would not apply in this case
because commercial vessels always have right
of way.

Mr PEARCE: They would not under this
Act. It will be possible to make commercial
vessels take a course around the America's Cup
course. The America's Cup course is in a com-
mercial shipping channel. In these circum-
stances the Powers conferred by this Act will be
sufficient to make commercial vessels detour
around the race course. That is exactly what
one would expect in these circumstances, be-
cause the last thing one wants is to have five
seconds separating the boats in the seventh race
and a Liberian freighter come charging in, in-
tent on anchoring in Gage Roads.

A member: What about an Algerian
freighter?

Mr PEARCE: Exactly the same, or a United
States freighter, or even one sailed by Anglo-
Saxon or even by non-Angie-Saxon personnel.

Mr Court: They are all coming.

Mr PEARCE: I guess everyone is coming to
the cup.

With regard to the media centre, we under-
stand the necessity for the Royal Perth Yacht
Club to be involved in seeking commercial
sponsorship. However, we have to understand
that the interests of the State in this case are
wider than the commercial interests of the
Royal Perth Yacht Club. The media case is a
classic example. The State is laying out money
in terms of infrastructure and support for the
America's Cup.

Mr Court: if the Government wants to do
that, that is its own decision. If the Govern-
ment wants to become involved, which it is,
that is its responsibility.

Mr PEARCE: The Government has an im-
portant role to play, and we have to ensure
wide media coverage of the event in order to
justify our expenditure on behalf of Western
Australia.

Mr Court: No-one says you are not going to
get wide media coverage.

Mr PEARCE: There have been arguments
about the use of the media centre and the way
in which the Royal Perth Yacht Club has gone
about gaining commercial sponsorship through
making exclusive contracts. My understanding

is that through negotiation most of these dis-
putes have been or are about to be resolved.

Clause 2 of the Act provides for the separate
proclaiming of clauses. We are not expecting
they will all be proclaimed. It may well be we
will go through the whole period of the cup
without those clauses being proclaimed. In the
event of negotiations over the media centre
breaking down, some action must be taken by
the State. It will be possible for the Govern-
ment to proclaim these clauses and take what
action it feels is necessary.

My understanding is, on the basis of the dis-
cussions going on, these clauses are not l ikely to
be proclaimed. However, the purpose of the
Bill is to provide these powers to the State
which, in the normal course of events, we
would not seek to do. We must recognise that
the America's Cup is a big thing for Western
Australia, and these events require special pro-
tections which seem to run across the ordinary
liberties of our citizens.

Question put and passed.

Bill read a second time.

In Committee

The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)
in the Chair; Mr Pearce (Leader of the House)
in charge of the Bill.

Clause 1 put and passed.
Clause 2: Commencement and duration-
Mr COURT: I thank the Minister for his

explanation of how the different clauses in the
Bill can be proclaimed at different times, and
the undertaking that the clauses regarding the
media centre will hopefully not become a prob-
lem so that those clauses will have to be
introduced.

I am glad to hear his comments that parts or
this legislation are a little uncomfortable for the
Government in that they bring in wide powers.
This clause is a sunset clause in that it rescinds
itself on 30 June 1987.

Clause put and passed.
Clause 3: Interpretation-
Mr COURT: During the second reading

stage of this Bill 1 asked the Minister to explain
what would be the powers of authorised per-
sons, whether any training procedures were
planned for them, and how the Government
would ensure that they would be suitable per-
sons. I mentioned fishermen and skippers
coming to Perth from different parts of the
State. Will these people be made authorised
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persons, and what training will they be given to
ensure they carry out their activities in a re-
sponsible way?

Because of the wide powers bestowed on
authorised persons, it is important they are
properly trained before they go about handling
their responsibilities.

Mr PEARCE: I am sorry I was not able to
answer that question when the member raised
it during the second reading stage, but I have
since taken advice.

The position is that the Marine and Har-
bours Department will be responsible for
recruiting additional persons to act in this ca-
pacity on a part or full-time basis. The depart-
ment will advertise for these people and select
them on the basis of their experience and
ability to do that job, in the same way we ad-
vertise for policemen, Or for inspectors for the
Marine and H-arbours Department.

The department will undertake a training
course with those selected before they are let
loose on the unsuspecting citizenry. The de-
partment has a good reputation in this area,
and with the safeguards provided in the Bill
and the authorisation certificates they will have
to carry, they should have no greater difficult-
ies than inspectors appointed under a whole
range of other legislation.

Clause put and passed.
Clauses 4 to 16 put and passed.
Schedule put and passed.
Preamble put and passed.
Title put and passed.

Report
Bill reported, without amendment, and the

report adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Mr

Pearce (Leader of the House), and passed..

SUPPLY BILL
Second Reading

Debate resumed from 9 July.
MR HASSELL (Cottesloe-Leader of the

Opposition) [8.54 p.m.]: There are two matters
I want to deal with in some detail tonight.
Those matters both relate to the subject of in-
dustrial relations.

The first is the Port of Fremantle. It is clear,
from the answers given in the House the other
day by the Minister in response to a question I

asked that there continues to be a simply disas-
trous industrial relations situation at the Port
of Fremantle. After I have used the material
that (he Minister supplied to illustrate the
present situation, I will refer to what happened
last year to illustrate that what is going on now
is an unabated continuation of an industrial
relations record that is simply appalling.

The most simple way to illustrate the indus-
trial anarchy that characterises the Port of
Fremantle is to point out that if one had visited
the port on any weekday in the first six months
of 1986, the likelihood is that a stoppage of
some description would have been occurring.

The figures show that on average there were
three stoppages per fortnight over a very long
period of last year-more than six months.
Now we have a situation where, in this year,
after all sorts of supposedly improving
measures, we have had stoppages just about
every day. The Waterside Workers Federation,
ably assisted by the Maritime Workers Union,
appears ready to down tools for any reason at
all without a care for the millions of dollars it
costs both Western Australia and the shippers
still prepared to deal with us-a diminishing
number.

I will refer in more detail later to some of the
reasons for stoppages, but let me point out that
they have stopped because of excessive heat
and because a ship was cleaned in Fremantle.
Then they stopped over a claim for cleaning
work. They stopped in support of each other,
and for quarterly stop-work meetings. Then, of
course, they stopped over wage disputes many
times, and over apartheid in South Africa and
French nuclear tests many times.

This record is simply unbelievable and the
Government stands utterly condemned for it,
because it has known about it. We drew atten-
tion to it over and over again in 1985 and
1986, yet nothing has been done.

Mr Tray: That is rubbish.

Mr HASSELL: The Minister will tell us what
the former Minister told us-that the Govern-
ment has solved the problem of strikes by
having authorised stoppages. That is the
Government's solution. When is it going to do
something about these militants who are
destroying our economy? Today Australia's
dollar is worth less than ever before in our
history, yet the Government still goes on
defending these industrial relations practices,
which are simply indefensible. The Govern-
ment does nothing; it responds in no way at all.
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Mr Terry Burke: What about the bottom of
the harbour?

Mr HASSELL: The member for Perth Is
making a rare visit to the Chamber and, for the
sake of recording his presence, has chosen to
make an irrelevant interjection.

Mr Terry Burke: It is not irrelevant at all.

Mr HASSELL: Madam Acting Speaker, I am
sure that you would not want me to stray from
the subject at hand to respond to such an extra-
ordinary interjection.

In the period to which I am referring-I
January 1986 to 30 June 1986-there were 89
stoppages at the port averaging over 21 hours
each. Although the stoppages overlapped oc-
casionally there was, coincidentally, a stoppage
of some description on 8 1 days in that six-
month period.

The Port of Fremantle is a disgrace to this
Government and it is an economic disaster. It
is a disgrace to those who lt this situation go
on occurring. The ultimate responsibility rests
with the Government because the port Is
owned by the Government. The Government is
not prepared to deal with those people who are
strangling the Western Australian economy,
those people who are undermining and
destroying our capacity to compete in the
world. Every time these issues are raised, the
Minister for Industrial Relations simply
brushes them aside; he does not want to hear
about them.

Mr Bryce: Are they the only ones at fault?

Mr H-ASSELL: The two unions to which I
have referred-the Maritime Workers Union
and the Waterside Workers Federation-were
involved in over 80 per cent of all those dis-
putes. Why does not the Deputy Premier inter-
ject, if he must, and say just some small word
of condemnation of that conduct? Why is it
that the Deputy Premier and the Minister for
Transport and the member for Perth continu-
ally make comments that indicate their defence
of the situation instead of condemnation of it?
Would one not think that the Deputy Premier,
who is also the Minister for Industry and Tech-
nology, should be concerned about our capacity
to use our port in an economic way to achieve
the level of exports at competitive prices that
we desperately need when our international
reputation continues to be badly damaged?

Mr Bryce: Is it just the unions that are the
cause of it?

Mr HASSELL: I have already said that I re-
gard the responsibility for all this as resting
very heavily on the shoulders of the Cove rn-
meat. Not only has this Government had 3'/2
years in which to do something about it-
remembering that the present level did not oc-
cur until well into the Government's term-but
also last year we raised this issue with the Min-
ister for Industrial Relations over and over
again.

I refer now to some of the questions we
asked. Madam Deputy Speaker (Mrs
Henderson), you see that I am holding a bundle
of questions that were asked, in the main last
year, about the Port of Fremantle. These give
an indication of the attempts we have made to
have the Minister take action on this matter.

What is happening is that these few people
are damaging this State, and this Government
will do nothing about it. Just as in the case of
the Building Workers Industrial Union and the
Builders Labourers Federation, this Govern-
ment will not uphold the law to defend the
rights of people.

I will refer now to question 743 which I
asked of the Minister for Transport. I honestly
thought it would be answered in a few tines. I
asked-

(1) How many stoppages have there been
at the Port of Fre mantle since January
of this year?

(2) What was the date of each?
(3) What was the duration of each?
(4) What was the subject of each dispute

or issue?
The Minister answered as folltows-

(1) to (4) In answer to the Leader of the
Opposition's questions I would like to
table three schedules as follows-

Madam Deputy Speaker, the schedules I am
holding are my own copies which I had retyped
by my officers because the Minister's copies
were almost illegible. The first schedule is four
pages long, the second is two pages long, and
the third is four pages long. These are the lists
of the disputes. The Minister in his answer said
that schedule A covered "stoppages and bans
resulting from local issues". Here are four
pages of them making up schedule A. The Min-
ister then said that schedule B represented
" stoppages and bans which were the result of
national issues such as Waterside Workers Fed-
eration agreement and superannuation nego-
tiations". He indicated then that schedule C
covered "stoppages and bans which were the
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result of national directives relating to apart-
heid and nuclear protest issues".

"National directives"! That sounds as
though we are talking about the authority of a
Government. What the "national directives"
turn out to be are directives from the union
bosses in the Eastern States!

Mr Troy: Are you saying that the only cause
of disputes are unions?

Mr HASSELL: I am speaking in terms of the
Minister's own answer to a question of this
House relating to his responsibilities for the
Port of Fremantle. The Minister in his answer
did not mention the employers, so why does he
mention them now?

The Minister then went on as follows-
As can be seen from these schedules the

local issues are relatively few in num-
ber, .. .

He supplied me with four solid pages of
them-in six months! To continue with his
answer-

.. generally relate to operational matters
such as manning and safety disputes, and
are of typically short duration.

You will note that there have been
virtually no stoppages due to disputes over
local issues by the combined unions during
the period which is a reflection on the suc-
cess and effectiveness of the system of a
paid full-time convener.

My God, can you believe it, Madam Acting
Speaker? Let us consider the local issues
mentioned in schedule A which the Minister
says are relatively few in number and generally
relate to operational matters-and of short
duration. I quote as follows-

January
8-70 -minutes-WWF-Excessive

heat.
1 3-21/ hrs-WWF-Pre-work

meeting to discuss working arrange-
menits at Fremantle,

15-39 hrs-

Relatively short duration-39 hours; nearly
two days! Does the Minister have any concep-
tion of the cost per day of keeping a ship idle in
port? Thirty-nine hours were lost in relation to
the vessel Tavara as a result of a WWF
manning scale dispute. On 16 January five
hours were lost on the vessel Linngsbon be-
cause the WWF objected to the bilges being
sealed by the crew. We lost five hours because
the crew sealed the bilges of the ship they run.

That is what the Minister is defending. We still
have not heard from this Government, either
last year or this year, one solitary word of con-
demnation. The Minister was busy interjecting
a moment ago about employers being at fault; I
ask him to tell me where is the fault of the
employers in this case where the crew of a ship
sealed the bilges?

Mr MacKin non: He is strangely silent.
Mr Troy: I was not listening, so carry on.
Mr HASSELL: The bilges were sealed on the

ship by the crew of the ship. I have a suspicion
that that is exactly what the crew was ordered
to do by the shipowner or the charterers, under
the control of the captain. It i s part of thei r j ob
in the normal working day, and yet the Port of
Fremantle lost five hours over that.

But that was not all that happened on that
day in the Port of Fremnantle, because in re-
lation to the same vessel, there was not only the
Maritime Workers' Union worried about the
bilges being sealed by the crew, but the Water-
side Workers' Federation supported the MWU

I n a demarcation dispute. God spare us! Can
the Minister tell me how the employers were at
fault in that dispute?

On 16 and 17 January in relation to this
poor, unfortunate ship, the Linngsbon. there
was a 17-hour stoppage over a manning dis-
pute. From 21 January to 24 January there was
a three-day stoppage over the Mukajrish
Alsades by the Waterside Workers' Federation
because the Department of Transport failed to
pass a feed system. On 21 and 22 January there
was a three-and-a-quarter-hour dispute over
the same unfortunate ship by the WWF be-
cause of excessive heat. On 22 January a two-
hour dispute involving the WWF related to a
shipping clerks' work meeting to discuss means
of picking up manifest clerks. From 22 January
to 24 January the Maritime Services Guild
operated an overtime ban in relation to award
negotiations.

The Minister's answer is manifestly dis-
honest and misleading. To suggest all these dis-
putes were of relatively short duration and over
safety issues as he sought to do is absolute non-
sense. Thai is the first list; I have read out one
of the four pages, and it goes on and on. I ask
members to look at the times, duties, unions,
and the reasons involved in the disputes. It is
unbelievable that such things can go on at this
time of national economic crisis. It is as bad as
the member for Welshpool's mates in the BLF.
It is hard to believe, but it is. The only thing the
waterfront workers do not do is practise quite
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the same activities as that other mob, the
reason being of course that they have got it
sewn up;, they have got their way, and they do
not need to do those other things.

Let us look at schedule B which lists the stop-
pages and bans which are the result of national
issues such as the WWF agreement and nuclear
protest issues. For seven days from 4 February
to I I February there was a dispute involving
the Pacific Bold. The unions were the Maritime
Workers' Union and the SUA. It was pant of a
national ban in relation to a Cocos Island con-
tract. The schedule goes on as follows-

April
17 10 hrs PLATA MSG-

National Black Ban-ITF Dispute
May

20 24 hrs-WWF-Breakdown in
Discussions over 1986 contract

There were other disputes in response to delays
in the national wage case; another involving the
same WWF shipping clerks; a strike by the
NUA in response to delays in the national wage
case; a pre-work meeting to discuss delays in
finalising the 1986 contract; another in re-
sponse to delays in finalising the 1986 contract;
a shipping clerks' stoppage in support of the
1986 contract; and another shipping clerks'
stoppage in protest at the breakdown in nego-
tiations over the 1986 contract.

Has it ever occurred to this Minister or this
Government-this employer-that it is time
some of these people Were sacked? Is it un-
thinkable to the Minister that people whose
record is so appalling in respect of their obli-
gations should be sacked? The Minister is not
interested-

Mr Troy: Yes, I am very interested.
Mr HASSELL: What is the Minister

interested in?
Mr Troy: In realising you have no idea of the

industrial relations scene.
Mr HASSELL: I ask the Minister whether

there are any circumstances in which he would
be prepared to sack these people, and if so what
are they? How much more does this State and
its shippers, exporters, farmers, and workers
have to put up with before he will sack these
people-before he will go to the Industrial Re-
lations Commission and tell it he has had a
gut ful like the rest of Western Australia? How
much more is this nation going to put up with?
The people who work on the wharves are
seeking to dictate our foreign policy. I am sure

the Minister is glad to have an excuse to leave
the House.

Mr Troy: I am not leaving the House.

Mr HASSELL: No, but the Minister is leav-
ing the Chamber.

I wonder how much more these people will
demand. Talk about reds under the bed! We
have a Labor Government in Canberra and Bill
Hayden as the Minister for Foreign Affairs;
how could we have a Minister more in line with
trendy lefty policies than that Minister? He is
in love with Vietnam and wants to give aid to
that Communist country.

This is schedule C of the Minister's list of
stoppages and bans which are the result of
national directives relating to apartheid and
nuclear protest issues. I ask members to have a
look at it-four pages of it, or to be absolutely
precise three and a quarter pages because it
does not fill the fourth page. 1 ask members to
look at the reasons. On 6, 8, 9 and 10 January
there were bans against apartheid and on 27
and 28 January there were bans against the
French nuclear tests in the Pacific. In February
there were no fewer than five stoppages on
bans against apartheid. In March there was also
a ban against apartheid and bans against selling
monazite. It is an export which we need in
order to keep the dollar strong and competi-
tive.

On page 2 which covers March, April and
May it shows that many strikes occurred be-
cause of the ban against apartheid. The strikes
were held for 24 hours a day, day after day, and
hundreds of thousands of dollars, in fact,
millions of dollars, were lost.

The next page shows the same thing-in
May, June and July there were bans against
apartheid, bans against the French nuclear tests
in- the Pacific and a ban on the delivery of
containers of South African newsprint that had
been discharged.

Where are we going and what is this Govern-
ment doing about the situation? Why does not
the Minister for Transport come back to his
seat and interject to tell us what he is doing
about the situation?

Let us look at what happened last year when
the Opposition asked several questions both in
the House and in the other place. On 20
February Hon. Gordon Masters asked the Min-
ister for Industrial Relations three questions
about this matter. He asked similar questions
again in March, April and May.
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I will refer now to what the Government is
doing about the situation. On page 2071 of
Hansard on 16 April the then member for
Katanning-Roe asked the Minister representing
the Minister for Industrial Relations in this
House the following question-

(1) Is the Minister intending to establish a
committee to assist in resolving dis-
putes and industrial disruption within
the Port of Frenmantle?

(2) If so, what will be the terms of refer-
ence of the committee?

(3) What membership is being considered
for the committee?

Mr Parker replied as follows-

(1) In conjunction with the Hon. Minister
for Transport I am currently consider-
ing a suggestion by the Office of In-
dustrial Relations to establish a dis-
putes avoidance procedure in the port.
A number of options, including the es-
tablishment of a committee, will be
assessed to determine the best means
of obviating industrial disputes and
where they cannot be prevented, re-
ducing the time taken to resolve them.

I advise the House that even though the ques-
tion was asked in April last year the committee
was not established in October. If it was estab-
lished the result has been a dismal failure and
that is illustrated in the figures for this year.

On 4 July last year the then member for
Katanning-Roe asked the Minister for
Transport whether a dispute settling procedure
had been established within the Port of
Fremantle. The Minister replied as follows-

(1) No. However, discussions on the pro-
posal to establish a dispute settling
procedure are continuing between the
Maritime Workers Union, Merchant
Services Guild, Fremantle Port Auth-
ority, Association of Employers of
Waterfront Labour and the Office of
industrial Relations.

in the midst of this daily industrial conflict a
statement was made in Parliament that the
Government was working on the establishment
of a committee, but in July it has still not been
established.

Let us go a little further. On 12 March a
question was asked in this House about a par-
ticular dispute and the duration of it. I am
referring to the six-day dispute involving the
vessel Negara.

On 25 September last year the member for
Murray-Wellington asked a question of the
Minister for Transport about a fruit growers
association and the problems it was experienc-
ing in exporting its goods out of the State.

On 17 October Hon. Gordon Masters asked
the following question of the Minister for Em-
ployment and Training representing the Minis-
ter for Transport in the Legislative Council-

(1) Is the Minister aware that two Con-
tainer ships bypassed Fremantle port
late last week because of a port dis-
pute?

The Minister's reply was "No". However, he
said that he was aware that the ships were due
to discharge European general cargo. On 24
October Hon. Gordon Masters asked the same
Minister if he had been aware of the impending
strike of the maritime unions at Fremantle.
The Minister gave a smart-alec answer and that
was that.

On 29 October 1 asked the Minister for
Transport how many stoppages had occurred at
the Port of Fremantle between I January 1985
and 30 June 1985 and what duration they were.
It is interesting to note his answer because we
have in this House a Minister who is claiming
that the situation has improved in the first six
months of this year. Let me point out that in
that period there were 89 stoppages, but in the
same period for the previous year there were 35
stoppages. Where is the improvement? In fact,
the situation is getting worse and this Minister
does not want to listen and he certainly is not
doing anything about it. The evidence goes on
and on.

On 31 October I asked the Minister whether
the number of stoppages were of concern to the
Government. if 39 stoppages were of concern
to the Government last year, how concerned is
it about the 89 stoppages in the same period
this year? Why does not the Government tell
us? The situation is getting worse.

I ask the Minister for Transport what he is
prepared to do about it? Will he sack the men
to whom I have referred? Why does he not
respond to my question and tell the House
what he will do about it? He is the Minister
responsible for the port through which the bulk
of our general exports go. What will he do
about a situation which is worse than last year
and which the previous Minister for Transport
said that the Government was very concerned
about? What attention has the Minister given
to this matter?

Mr Troy: A considerable amount.
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Mr H-ASSELL: To what end?
Mr Troy: I find that the shippers are gener-

ally favoured by the situation in Western
Australia. They certainly are by comparison
with other States and that reflects on this
Govern ment's efforts.

Mr MacKinnon: How do we compare with
ports in Singapore and Japan which are ef-
ficient? You would have to be a joke.

Mr Troy: Are you saying that is an unfair
comparison-Western Australian versus the
other States?

Mr HASSELL: I am relying on my memory,
but the overall turnaround time in the port of
Singapore is eight hours and at the port of
Fremantle it is 48 hours. We are meant to be
the modem industrialised nation-not the
poor backward people of Asia. It is no wonder
the Australian dollar is where it is when one
looks at the situation at the Port of Fremantle.
What drastic action is the Minister going to
take?

Mr Troy: What range of vessels come into
the Singapore system that you are talking
about? That is a rather bland approach.

Mr HASSELL: They have an enormous con-
tainer operation.

Mr Troy: Of course they have and they have
a bundle of small shipping operations which
you are not prepared to admit to.

Mr HASSELL: They have an enormous
repackaging, redirection operation.

Mr Troy: It is a transit port.
Mr HASSELL: Yes, it is in many respects; it

is a more complicated operation than ours.
Mr Tray: But it has a large volume of ex-

tremely small vessels and when you quote that
figure you are distorting the whole base. Be
fair.

Mr HASSELL: Let us tr to be fair and forget
that point if the Minister thinks it is unfair. Let
me ask what the Minister is going to do about
this situation? How much worse does it have to
get? If those fellows go on strike again
tomorrow about apartheid in South Africa or
about the Zulus in Timbuktu, what will the
Minister do about it?

Mr Tray: Did he mention anything about the
port conciliator and the shippers' attitude to
his performance? Do you give any acknowledg-
ment at all to that?

Mr H-ASSELL: The facts speak for them-
selves.

Mr Troy: Have you ever heard of a renewal
of working conditions on a two-yearly basis?
Do you not think it has some impact on those
figures? That is your system of collective
bargaining which you seem to rush towards.
You have evidence of what it can cause and
you do not recognise it.

Mr HASSELL: I asked the previous Minister
for Transport how many stoppages had oc-
curred at the Port of Fremantle between I
January and 30 June 1985 and he said there
were 35. 1 asked him another question and he
said that figures he had given the Leader of the
Opposition were correct and they told a story
but they did not tell the whole story. He said
that the high number of stoppages was of con-
cern to the Government.

Mr Troy: Any stoppage is of concern.

Mr HASSELL: We now have a situation in
which the number of stoppages in the first six
months of this year is not 35 but 89. This is
after a whole series of questions last year in
which we drew out like teeth from the respect-
ive Ministers the fact that they were putting in
place a dispute resolutions procedure. I ask the
Minister to consider those schedules; it is his
answer and not something I invented.

Mr Troy- Where can our port conciliator
operate? In what range of awards can he
operate? Be honest for a brief moment instead
of distorting the facts.

Mr HASSELL: Let mue say very simply that I
think this is very serious and that the Minis-
ter's starting point should be to write to every
one of those people employed on the wharf
tell ing themi that if the re is on e more stoppage
they will be sacked. if they subsequently stop
work, the Minister should sack them. Is that
unthinkable?

Mr Peter Dowding: You did not do it when
you were in Government.

Mr HASSELL: We never had a record like
this. The Minister for Industrial Relations has
never uttered one word of condemnation for
this kind of activity. Why does he not tell the
House that he condemns the activity and that
he believes it is serious?

Mr Peter Dowding: Your words are empty; it
is pathetic.

Mr HASSELL: The Minister for Industrial
Relations sniggers away every time these issues
are raised.

Mr Brian Burke: He does not snigger.
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Mr HASSELL: Yes, he does; he grins and
sniggers and is doing so now. He has not
answered the question. At least the Minister for
Transport answers questions but the Minister
for Industrial Relations never attempts to do
so. He is totally condemned. I ask the Minister
for Transport again, how much has to go on at
the Port of Fremantle before he sacks those
people?

Mr Parker- Which people?
Mr HASSELL: The people involved in the

stoppages.
Mr Parker: Did you sack them when in

Government?
Mr HASSELL: I am asking the Minister how

much more has to happen?

Point of Order
Mr MacKINNON: We have had some direc-

tions from the Speaker today about the pro-
cedures of the House. The Minister for Min-erals and Energy is interjecting when he is not
in his seat and I thought that you, Madam Act-
ing Speaker, would have drawn his attention to
that matter.

The ACTING SPEAKER (Mrs Henderson): I
thank the Deputy Leader of the Opposition for
bringing my attention to that. In fact, I was
about to call for order because I have allowed
the Leader of the Opposition a fairly broad
latitude to range widely in his debate. How-
ever, he is transgressing the Standing Orders by
continuously and deliberately seeking interjec-
tions when he is aware that interjections are by
definition disorderly. It would be a good idea
for the Leader of the Opposition to get on with
making his speech. I have allowed him a fairly
wide latitude for some considerable time and
he should not continue in this vein of
deliberately seeking interjections in response to
his questions.

Debate Resumed
Mr HASSELL: I will respect your request,

Madam Acting Speaker, but I point out that I
am entitled to a wide latitude in this debate
because this type of Bill allows that. Of course,
I am not entitled to invite interjections.

I will conclude tbis section of my speech by
referring to those matters involving the Port of
Fremantle and by putting on the record some
of those matters. The stoppages are divided
into three schedules relating to different types
of stoppage. Most relate to single vessels
although all general stoppages are confined to
the first two categories.

Category I relates to local industries,
manning disputes and disputes over working
conditions, In this category in six months there
have been 42 stoppages, averaging 13.95 hours,
of which 31 involved the Waterside Workers
Federation and six involved the Maritime
Workers Union. Category 2 relates to national
issues, generally over the national wage case. In
this category there were t2 stoppages,
averaging 32.96 hours, of which seven involved
the Waterside Workers Federation and one
involved the Maritime Workers Union.
Category 3 relates to political stoppages over
apartheid and the nuclear issue. In this
category there were 35 stoppages, averaging
26.74 hours, of which 17 involved the Water-
side Workers Federation and I11 involved the
Maritime Workers Union. Overall there were
89 stoppages in six months, averaging 21.54
hours, of which 55, that is 61.8 per cent,
involved the Waterside Workers Federation
and 18, that is 20.2 per cent, involved the
Maritime Workers Union.

In the first six months of 1986, 181 days
were lost of which 122 were working days, 51
weekends and eight public holidays. Stoppage
on 70 of the 122 working days, expressed as a
percentage, is 57.4 per cent of working days;
stoppages on 17 of the 51 weekend days rep-
resent 33.3 per cent; and stoppages on two of
the eight public holidays represent 25 per cent.

Overall, stoppages occurred on 89 days out
of 181 or on 49.17 per cent of working days.
The worst months were January, May and
June. Each had stoppages on over 53 per cent
of days. If weekends and public holidays are
excluded there were stoppages on 76 per cent of
working days in January and on 59 per cent
and 65 per cent respectively of working days in
May and June.

The total loss of time, which the Minister
described as relatively small, in category I was
586 hours of stoppage. The man hours lost in
each category were much greater. These are just
the hours of stoppage: In category 2 there were
396 hours of stoppage. In category 3 there were
936 hours of stoppage. Of that time, 314 hours
in category I or 53.6 per cent related to general
stoppages and 2 18 hours in category 2, or 5 5
per cent, related to general stoppages. All stop-
pages in category 3 related to specific vessels.

Although many stoppages overlapped, a total
oft 1918 hours was devoted to stoppages in the
first six months of 1986. In that six months
there was a total of 4 344 hours, 24 hours a day,
seven days a week. This does not take into
account times when the port is effectively
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closed, such as nights and holidays. It would
appear that even with the overlaps there is
more often a current dispute at the port, than
there is not. In other words, if one visits the
port there is more likely to be a dispute or a
stoppage than work being done. That is the
simple situation. I asked the question, I got the
answer.

It is clear that this Government has absol-
utely and totally failed in its handling of the
Port of Fremantle. People in that port are not
getting a fair go. it is certainly not giving the
people involved in shipping and exporting a
fair go.

I turn from the industrial situation at the
port of Fremantle to the dispute involving At-
las Tiles and other companies which have been
the subject of recent comment and publicity.
The fact is that what is going on overall is a
conspiracy to put Mr Len Buckeridge and his
associated companies out of business. The
Trades and Labor Council has decided 10
black ban a number of companies which It
alleges are associated with Mr Buckeridge.
Those companies are Atlas Tiles, Precision
Aluminium Windows, Atlas Transport, Perth
Builders' Supplies, and Atlas Concrete.
Metform Gutters and Pressings and Midland
Brick Co Pty Ltd have also been included.
From the evidence gathered, the people
involved are as follows: Clive Brown of the
TLC, J. J. O'Connor of the Transport Workers
Union, Bill Ethel of the Building Workers In-
dustrial Union, Mark Bin stead of the Builders
Labourers Federation and Frank O'Grady
about whose union involvement we have some
doubt.

Mr Brian Burke: What is this group of people
doing?

Mr HASSELL: Mark Rinstead and Frank
O'Grady are the coordinators under the TIC
disputes committee of a conspiracy to put the
companies I have referred to out of business.

Mr Brian Burke: Are you sure of that?

Mr HASSELL: Yes I am.

Mr Brian Burke: I do not think Clive Brown
would be part of that conspiracy. He is a pretty
reasonable sont of president.

Mr HASSELL: Clive Brown is the President
of the TLC. I have know him for some years.
He was the Secretary of the Prison Officers
Union when I was the Minister.

Mr Brian Burke: He is hardly a raving left-
winger.

Mr HASSELIL: I do not know whether he is a
left-winger or a right-winger. I know what the
TLC is trying to do. I know what Rob
Meecham said yesterday. He was given the op-
port unity on the Howard Sattler programme to
deny the things I said. He made not the
slightest endeavour to deny anything. He con-
firmed that the TLC was coordinating this
campaign. The campaign of the unions-the
so-called black ban-is having its greatest ef-
fect on Atlas Tiles and Atlas Concrete. Both
those companies are dependent on the delivery
of goods and services. The unions have
embarked on a series of actions to prevent the
supply of materials to these companies and to a
cement producing plant which is under con-
struction, all of which I have visited and
inspected.

Let me give the House some information
about what is actually happening. The Minister
for Police and Emergency Services may well
take note. I want to tell the Minister something
too.

Mr Gordon Hill: I am listening.
Mr HASSELL: Good. I want to tell him in

the House-because it was misreported in the
media-that I did not criticise the police over
this matter.

Mr Brian Burke: It did not come out that
way.

Mr HASSELL: That is precisely what I am
saying.

Mr Brian Burke: Don't get angry with me, I
did not report you wrongly.

Mr HASSELL:. I said, at the Press Confer-
ence, that I believed the police could do more. I
wrote a long, 2/2 page, closely-typed letter to
the Commissioner for Police, setting out why I
believed the police could do more. It is not
correct for the Press to have reported that I
criticised the police or Chief Superintendent
Ayling who "responded to my criticism". They
did not get criticism. They have a very difficult
job to do, particularly in industrial situations.
They do not want to become involved in indus-
trial situations. They seek to avoid them. When
industrial disputation crosses the line from be-
ing purely industrial into the area of crimi-
nality and people cannot get protection, the
police have to be asked to intervene-and
should be. is the Minister for Police and
Emergency Services suggesting that people
should not be given protection?

Mr Gordon Hill: There is absolutely no
doubt that the police are doing an outstanding
job. If allegations are made with respect to a]-
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leged criminal activities and they are found to
be true, these people are arrested.

Mr Lewis: The police know that it is no good
taking any action. If they put a charge to the
court it is withdrawn by the Crown anyway.
That is a fact.

Several members interjected.
Mr HASSELL: I do not think members op-

posite begin to understand what these
standover merchants are doing to ordinary
working people, the people the Government is
meant to represent.

I went out to that factory in the pouring rain
at 7.00 a.m. the other day. As we drove down
the street we were confronted on the right hand
side of the road by a caravan with an awning
attached to it, a fire burning next to it and a
portable toilet erected on the verge outside the
gates of the factory. Also on the verge outside
the gates of the factory on the other side of the
road was an established lawn. As we drove
down the street we could see the water pouring
out of the sprinkler all over the lawn, when the
rain was pelting down so hard that one could
not see more than 50 yards in front. Why was
that? Because, for the third time in a week
those sprinklers have been vandalised.

Mr Brian Burke: The police said that that
had happened. Did they not investigate it?

Mr HASSELL: They did, and I hope they will
continue to do so. Do members opposite con-
done that sort of activity? Do members con-
done trade union people breaking into prem-
ises and slashing with knives large bags-like
wool sacks-filled with powdered cement, cut-
ting hydraulic tines, stealing cars and smashing
them up? Mr Len Buckeridge had his car stolen
and smashed up.

.What must happen before Government
members condemn it, much less do something
about it? Government members condone this
sort of activity every day of the week. it is like
what is happening at the Part of Fremantle.
Government members do not utter one word of
condemnation; they will not face up to the situ-
ation. We have in Parliament people who have
been associated with these things.

Mr Thomas: Associated with what?
Mr HASSELL: Associated with these activi-

ties.
Mr Thomas: Vandalism?
Mr HASSELL: The activities of these unions.

Does the member for Welshpool suggest he has
not been associated with the activities of these
unions?

Mr Thomas: Are you talking about vandal-
ism and stealing cars?

Mr HASSELL: Does the member for
Welsh pool suggest he has not been associated
with the activities of these unions?

Mr Thomas: I have not been associated with
vandalism and stealing cars.

Mr HASSELL: I hope that is true.
Mr Brian Burke: Don't be nasty and say, "I

hope that is true." He hasn't.
Mr HASSELL: What does the member do to

stop it?
Mr Brian Burke: I don't know, but he does

not tell you that you have been overcharging
your legal clients, taking their trust funds, and
things like that.

Mr Lewis: That is an entirely different thing.
Mr HASSELL: Why does not the member

who knows a great deal about this tell us about
it? Why does he not tell us the reason this is
going on? He should tell us why ordinary work-
ing people are being subjected to this kind of
treatment. A man gets out of his car to open the
gates to get into his place of work. He finds that
the locks are all stuffed up so that he must use
bolt cutters to get in. While he is trying to get
into his own premises, someone rushes out
from the tent across the road, turns off his car,
steals the keys, and runs away. Do members
opposite approve of that?

M r Thomnas: Of course I don't.
Mr HASSELL: Why does not the member

condemn it? Why has no-one on the Govern-
ment side issued a statement of condemnation?

Mr Brian Burke: I had not heard about it
until you told me that.

Mr HASSELL: It has been in the media for
three days. The Premier has the most sophisti-
cated media monitoring agency in the world.
His Ministers have heard about it, even if he
has not. Is the Premier telling me his Minister
does not have a transcript of every word that
was uttered on the Satt Icr programme yester-
day?

Mr Brian Burke: I am telling you honestly
that I have not heard about people running
around in the rain, pinching car keys.

Mr Gordon Hill: Has it not been reported to
the police?

Mr HASSELL: Yes, it has been reported to
the police and it is being investigated. How-
ever, it would help if Government members,
who represent the trade union movement in
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this House, were to say something publicly
about how bad it is.

I went there and stood around with these
working people. They are little blokes-just or-
dinary fellows. They told me that, when they
went home the previous night, they were terri-
fled. Why should they be subjected to that sort
of treatment?

Mr Gordon Hill: Have there been complaints
from the workers there?

Mr HASSELL- No, there have been no com-
plaints from the workers at that factory. I
opened that factory last year. I have been there
before.

Mr Gordon Kill: Were there any complaints
last year?

Mr HASSELL: The factory was operating
and under way when I opened it. There were no
complaints then and there have been no com-
plaints since that I know of. The working
people who met me at a meeting on Monday
had no complaints about anything that their
employer was doing. They were complaining
about being prevented from doing their work
and, more particularly, they were complaining
about the reign of tenror applied to them. The
Minister sits there and smiles.

Mr Gordon Hill: I am not smiling.

Mr HASSELL: I thought the Minister was
smiling.

I know about the car and truck; [ know about
the hydraulic lines being slashed. I am aware of
another person who complained to the police.
Let me tell members about that. lHe
complained to the police, the police took some
action, and after the action was taken he had to
inspect his car every time he used it, because
on many occasions the brakes were interfered
with. That is what is going on in this State this
year.

Not only will this Government not enforce
the industrial relations laws which protect
people and their right to join or not join
unions, but also the Government has
attempted to repeal that law. The Government
must face up to the fact that these people have
rights and it has an obligation to uphold the
law; but it will not even condemn what is going
on.

Let me get this into the record, because I do
not want to speak all night, in deference to my
colleagues and even to those on the other side
of the House.

Mr Crane: We don't mind if you do. You are
telling the truth and it is about time that it was
told.

Mr Brian Burke: Do you think that Mr
Buckeridge might be-I am not criticising.
him-provocative or playing a political role? I
will tell you why I ask that. I remember you
held a Press conference before the last election
and at that time you were complaining about
subcontractors being treated badly, and Mr
Buckeridge brought in the subcontractor-I do
not remember the exact details-a3nd was there
publicly, visibly supporting him.

Mr HASSELL: Let me make no apology for
it: Mr Buckeridge is a supporter of ours and I
am very pleased that he is. Ric New is a sup-
porter of ours and I am pleased about that. I
thank them both for the support that they give.

Does that make their complaints illegit-
imate? Does that mean that their working
people should be harassed?

Mr Brian Burke: I am not saying that it does.
However, sometimes you discount our views
when you say that they are politically
motivated because cohorts of ours are
involved.

Mr HASSELL: Is the Premier saying that
about these people?

Mr Brian Burke: No. I was asking you
whether YOU thought there was any element of
that.

Mr HASSELL: No. I shall tell the Premier
what is involved: Mr Buckeridge wants to run
his operations on the basis of giving his
workers the right to join or not to join a union
according to their choice, which happens to be
the law of the State of Western Australia. He
wants to run his business on the basis of build-
ing home units using subcontractors and not
using direct employed labour. That is perfectly
lawful in the State of Western Australia. These
unions want to stop him from doing that, and
that is what they are about. They are about
stopping him carrying out his lawful objectives.

I did not only go to Canning Vale yesterday
morning, but also a few months ago I went to
Kingsley when another dispute was on. I re-
mind the Premier that the State Energy Com-
mission, controlled by the Government of this
State, declined to attach power to a group of
home units because the units had been black
banned by these union people. For weeks this
man, Buckeridge, through his company's
having lawfully constructed a block of home
units, could not sell them. He could not get
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power, because the SEC would not connect it,
because the unions told it not to. I asked Mr
Kingsmill, "How do we protect people from
this?" He said, "If we tell our workers to con-
nect the power, they might all go on strike".

What are we to do with the individual rights
of Australians while that goes on? At the end of
the day there is no choice but for a Govern-
ment with strength and authority to confront
lawbreakers. The Premier can stand there in his
place, as he has done so often in the last three
years, and say that confrontation is wrong and
it does not work;, but I am telling him that this
country is being taken over by these people.

We have seen the record at the Port of
Fremantle under this Government's concili-
atory methods. We have seen what has been
going on on building site after building site.
The Premier knows what is going on at
Scarborough and at the Austmark tower site in
Bunbury. He knows what is going on at the
Augusta Hospital. They are all projects in re-
lation to which the Government has an interest
or a particular reason to have a knowledge. The
Government did nothing about it. I do not say
all the employers are lily white by any means,
but no employer can stand out on his own and
fight this when he knows, as every employer
knows, that the Government will not uphold
the law, that the Government will give him no
help whatsoever in order to do so, that the
Government supports the militants. The
Government reeks of it and it shows not one
word of condemnation of the union's activities
which have been so widely reported.

Let me run through some of them. Pioneer
Concrete has been black-banned because of fill-
ing Atlas Concrete trucks. The black-ban has
been lifted because Pioneer has refused to
supply the companies I have mentioned. Soils
Aint Soils has been advised that it will be
declared black if sand is supplied to either At-
las Tiles or Atlas Concrete. Atlas Transport has
been threatened by i. J. O'Connor that the
supply of bricks, sand, metal Or cement to Atlas
Tiles or Atlas Concrete will result in the
company being black-banned.

Mr Crane: Was that the same J. i. O'Connor
that was let off that other charge?

Mr HASSELL: Yes, this is the same J. J.
O'Connor, the man who was let off last time.
Atlas Transport through Atlas Bricks has had
many dealings with Cockburn Cement. Atlas
Tiles on Friday, 18 July took two trucks to the
Cockburn works to pick up cement. A Person
named Algrove directed that the trucks be not

loaded because the drivers were non-TWU
men. Later in the afternoon another Atlas truck
with a TWU driver was refused cement by
Cockburn employees because they believed it
was to be delivered to Atlas Tiles. The
Cockburn Cement manager advised that his
company would continue to supply either Atlas
Tiles or Atlas Transport but his drivers would
not drive through a picket line, nor obviously
would persons at the Cockburn Cement works
load cement if it was required for Atlas Tiles.

Swan Cement was advised by an unnamed
employee that the Atlas Tile site was black and
that its trucks would not cross the picket line.
Swan Cement delivered a truck load of bagged
cement to Perth Builders Supplies and I under-
stand that the truck driver who delivered the
cement has been declared black.

A company called Comiesse Ply Ltd has
been advised by Bill Ethel that a backhoe being
used on the Atlas Cement plant site would
cause him to be black-banned on a city sheet
piling works that he had partly completed.

The Master Builders Association was advised
by J. J. O'Connor that if he delivered to Atlas
Concrete and Atlas Tiles they would be his only
customer. His subcontract deliverer has ad-
vised that he will not deliver. Both plants are
dependent on the product.

Mr Crane: Again the same J. J. O'Connor.
Mr HASSELL: Perth Builders Supplies has

been informed that the company is blacked to
his major clients, Tapper & Wilcock, plumbers;
McMurray Thomas, plumbers; and Goldfern
Colin Pradeaux, builder. As previously advised
the Swan Cement canter delivering to Perth
Builders Supplies, we understand, has been
black-banned.

Precision Aluminiumn Windows has been ad-
vised by its major supplier, Comalco, that de-
liveries of aluminium to Precision will result in
Comalco being black-banned. Contractors on
the cement plant include Randford Concrete
and Colin Burnett. Mr Burnett is in the BLF.
He has been threatened that if he continues to
work on the site, he will be black-banned on all
work that he is doing including work part-
completed. Mr Burnett has had to withdraw
from the concrete plant contract. He has also
had a number of threats made towards his per-
son. F. O'Grady has continued to harrass Colin
Burnett since he withdrew from the contract.
Because of it, Mr Burnett has for the time be-
ing, withdrawn from all work. His livelihood is
jeopardised. Frank Gallo and Peter Baron who
are currently working on the cement plant site
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have had a number of threats to their persons
and those threats continue.

I understand that Coldale Constructions has
been threatened that if it works on the cement
plant site it will be blacked on all others.

As Atlas Transport is no longer able to secure
crushed stone from Pioneer Concrete, an
alternative source of crushed stone has been
found. The farmers delivering this stone have
had a number of threats made towards them.
Independent contractors carting sand have also
had threats made against their persons.

Atlas Tiles and Atlas Concrete have been put
to enormous expenditure. This has involved
the employment of watching patrols with guard
dogs. Mr Ethel warned one contractor that if he
did not take his dogs off, all his other sites
would be black. Because these people are un-
able to get adequate dog patrols, because of
Ethel, the pickets on site in the middle of the
night rattle the gates in one pant of the plant to
distract the guard dogs, and on two successive
nights have entered the plant, and have
interfered with trucks, attempted forced entry
to the tile plant, and severed air hoses to Atlas
Concrete batching plant. The companies are
unable to get bulk cement supplies and have
been forced to get limited supplies of cement in
bulker bags which has resulted in substantial
cost increases and has reduced the tile pro-
duction; it will soon lead to the company ceas-
ing production.

Atlas Concrete is virtually out of cement and
has stopped substantial slab pouring which it is
contracted to do. On each night since the com-
mencement of the picket line, all locks to all the
plants have had matchsticks forced in them,
requiring daily replacement of locks. Sprinklers
on the verges of Atlas Tiles, Precision Alu-
minium Windows, and Perth- Builders Supplies
have all been wilfully damaged. The forced il-
legal entry anto the sites has resulted in damage
to the fences. The company has been forced to
provide night flood lighting and several
methods of night surveillance. The pickets are
camped illegally on the verge with a caravan
and tent and portable toilet. These pickets
make threats to all people entering and leaving
the site.

Let me tell members about this illegal cara-
van, this illegal tent, the illegal toilet, and the
illegal fire. They were reported to the local
authority which did not want to know about it.
They said, "Oh no. We don't want to do any-
thing about it because the moment we move on

that our own workers will go out on strike".
That is a clear breach of the by-laws.

The municipality of the City of Canning by-
laws relating to the care, control, and manage-
ment of roads and ways state-

No person shall, without the approval of
the Council-

Light a fire or burn rubbish or other
material in a street, way, footpath or
public place;

Except during the hours of daylight,
park a caravan or allow it to be
stationery on any street corner, foot-
path or public place.

The law is not being upheld. The law is not
being enforced because of industrial action. Is
the Government concerned about that?

Mr Crane: That would be the responsibility
of the Minister for Local Government, would it
not?

Mr HASSELL: That is true, but he is not
interested.

For how long does the Government think we
would last as individuals if we treated the law
with such contempt? We would be arrested and
so should these people be arrested. The docu-
ment reads-

There is evidence of illegal entry into
Precision Aluminium Window's yard
where a large amount of specialised equip-
ment is stored. If this equipment is
interfered with there could be substantial
delays in the commissioning of the cement
plant. Atlas' yard has a large quantity of
volatile liquids in the form of diesel,
toliolol, and sealing materials, all of which,
if ignited could cause disasterous results.

Mr Brian Burke: Could I be excused and
could you talk to the Minister for Minerals and
Energy?

Mr HASSELL That is as much concern as
the Premier has.

Mr Parker: It is more than enough.

Mr HASSELL: What does the Minister
mean, "it is more than enough"?

Mr Parker: I will be here.

Mr HASSELL: Why did the Minister say, "it
is more than enough"?

Mr Parker: Listening to you for more than an
hour is enough for anybody.
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Mr HASSELL: I see. If I go on long enough
there may be a spark of decency from the
Government that it is prepared, at least by in-
terjection, to condemn these actions.

Mr Parker: We have no reason to believe
these allegations are true. You are relying on
Len Buckeridge.

Mr HASSELL: I am not relying on Len
Buckeridge at all. I have been to the site and
have spoken to the working people.

Mr Parker: You did not get all this infor-
mation from your trip to the site. Don't talk
nonsense. You were not there long enough.

Mr HASSELL: I had a meeting with 17
people on Monday. I went to the site on
Tuesday. I went through this document with
those 17 people and, at the end of it, I said to
them, "is everything in that document correct?
Does anyone want to tell me that anything is
wrong?" The Minister cannot tell me that I
have not got the facts. I have been through the
facts with the people who know them person-
ally. I have been through the facts with the
people who have had their faces spat on.

Mr Parker: Give us some proof and we will
have a look at it.

Mr HASSELL: Does the Minister understand
the Industrial Relations Act? Industial inspec-
tors can, at the direction of the Minister or at
the direction of the Industrial Relations Com-
mission, find out the facts, not relying on me or
Len Buckeridge, but by using extensive powers
under the Act. Not only does the Minister not
send them to find out the facts, but also the
Industrial Commission does not send them.

Mr Parker: They are not under the control of
the Industrial Relations Commission. Has any-
one asked them to go out?

Mr Crane: We are asking you now, please.
flat is a polite request.

Mr HIASSELL: Section 98 of the industrial
Relations Act states-

(1) Industrial Inspectors for the purposes
of securing the observance of the pro-
visions of this Act and of awards and or-
ders in force thereunder may be appointed
under and subject to the Public Service Act
1978.

(2) Subject to this Act, an Industrial In-
spector shall perform such duties and shall
make such investigations and reports in
relation to the observance and provisions
of this Act, the regulations and of any
award or order, as the Minister directs.

I remind the Minister that his colleague, the
Minister for Industrial Relations, is on record
in the upper House as saying that he will not
enforce the Act. Therefore do not talk about
evidence or about what I do not know.

Mr Parker: You were wrong with the indus-
trial Relations Commission, were you not?

Mr HASSELL: Maybe it is in another sec-
lion. It is my understanding that the Industrial
Relations Commission can take action.

Mr Parker: You were wrong about it. That
section does not change it.

Mr HASSELL: If it is not the industrial Re-
lations Commission, perhaps it is the Minister;
it does not make any difference because the
Government will not uphold the law. Each
Minister has sworn to uphold the law. That is
his oath of office. Yet, one of their colleagues,
then in the upper House, announced as a mat-
ter of policy that he would not enforce the law
and the Government is reaping the benefit of
that. The Government has given its Ministers
licence to carry out the diabolical schemes they
are carrying out today.

I go back to where I was in the document
before I was interrupted by the Minister. It
continues-

Humes who have a contract to fence the
cement plant and install gates have had
their contractor threatened that if he con-
tinues to work on the site, the Unions will
break both his arms.

All sub-contractors working on the
cement plant site have substantially loaded
their prices because of the Union
harassment costing the company huge
expenses.

Three motor cars at Atlas Roof Tiles
have had their keys rernoved. The Man-
ager of the plant also has his front door key
on his car keys and his young wife is terri-
fled and he is obliged to change all his
house door locks as well as get new keys for
his car.

The Yard Manager's car keys have been
stolen.

My own car was stolen and had its
windscreen and back window bashed out
and the body work is substantially
damaged.

Preliminary estimates of costs for ad-
ditional expenses of security on the
Kingsley site have cost $60 000 and legal
costs of$ 12 501.1S were incurred.
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The evidence is clear and unequivocal. There is
a conspiracy to destroy this man's business op-
eration and that of associated companies.
There is clear evidence of violence, intimi-
dation, standover tactics, and abuse of the law.
These matters have been placed before the
Government time and again and it will not act.
It will not accept the responsibility for it and it
is not interested in facing up to the realities.

The Minister has asked me for evidence of a
conspiracy. I have the evidence authorised by
the Building Trades Association of Unions. It
states that a building union's picket line is on
the job and that the TLC executive endorsed
the union's stance. Members should remember
that the Premier doubted whether the TLC was
involved. He questioned, also whether Clive
Brown was involved. The document states that
the TLC disputes committee has called on the
Government to take action against the
company. A ban was placed on all work
associated with the developers, the builders,
and any supplier or contractor associated with
the job. There is the evidence. The Ministers
have sworn to uphold the law. When will they
do that? I have another document which states
that Leonard Buckeridge is a union buster. It
states also that the pamphlet was produced by
concerned workers.

Mr Carr: Pitiful!

Mr Bridge: You are tired;, you should go
home to bed.

Mr HASSELL: The former Minister for
Police and Emergency Services and present
Minister for Local Government said, "Pitiful",
after the evidence has been presented to this
House.

Mr Carr Do you expect us to accept it?

Mr Bridge: I said you are tired and you
should go home.

Mr HASSELL: The Minister assisting the
Minister for Water Resources, The North
West, and Aboriginal Affairs has said that we
should go home to bed.

Mr Bridge: Not "we"; I said "you".

Mr HASSELL: I will read this letter to the
Minister. This letter is from Jackson
McDonald, Banisters and Solicitors, and is
dated 15 May 1986. It is addressed to the Sec-
retary of Springdale Comfort Homes Pty Ltd.
The letter opens by saying that the solicitors act
for Cockburn Hire Service. They then specify

equipment hired to the company for use at
Kingsley. The letter continues-

Our client hereby demands the return of
the equipment by 4.00 p.m. on the 19th
day of May 1986. Please let us or
Cockburn know before then where and
when the equipment can be collected. We
are uinder strict instructions to issue pro-
ceedings against you for the return of the
equipment unless it is returned to
Cockburn by 4.00 p.m. on the 19th May
1986.

1 request you, Mr Acting Speaker, to listen to
the last paragraph. Which was your union-the
BLF or the BWIU?

The ACTING SPEAKER (Mr Thomas): It
would be more appropriate if the Leader of the
Opposition asked rue those questions when I
am not sitting in the Chair.

Mr HASSELL: I take your point, Mr Acting
Speaker. The last paragraph of the letter
reads-

We are further instructed by Cockburn
to advise you that it has been advised by
the Building Workers Industrial Union
that if the equipment is not removed from
your aforementioned site forthwith, our
client may be the subject of industrial ac-
tion by the Building Workers Industrial
Union.

A copy of the solicitors' letter was sent to Mark
Binstead of the Building Workers Industrial
Union at 102 Beaufort Street, Perth. What was
that letter all about? It was about a company
which hires out industrial equipment
demanding it back because the OWIC told it to
do so, not for any commercial reason but be-
cause of the standover tactic. Does the Minister
want any more proof? Which of these Ministers
is prepared to stand in his place when I sit
down and condemn these activities and under-
take to uphold the law?

This Government is an absolute disgrace.
The Government has condoned, encouraged
and supported criminal activities and illegal in-
dustrial activities. The Government is
undermining the rule of law and when you
plant evil you will reap a very nasty harvest.
The Government should think about what I
have said tonight because it has been said be-
fore but does not appear to have got through to
the Government. What is happening on the
waterfront is a disgrace. What is happening in
the building industry is a disgrace. The Minis-
ter can come in here and mouth platitudes
about the code of conduct containing mother-
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hood statements. When will the Government
do something about this? When will it stand up
for the rights of ordinary working people? Why
does the Government not get on side with the
decent unions? They do not condone this sort
of activity. They do not like it. Why does the
Government not work with the decent unions
to get rid of this type of activity? it is the
Government's duty to do something about it.

DR WATSON (Canning) [10.25 p.m.]: I
want to speak about a problem affecting over a
quarter of a million people in nine local
authorities. I refer to aircraft noise. Noise pol-
lution has increased since the Second World
War as travel has increased. It can be predicted
that it will increase in line with the increase in
tourism. Over 9 500 homes are affected by
noise levels of 75 dB (A), sometimes up to 96
dB (A). There are no statutory controls over
this kind of noise pollution, but it is
acknowledged in other spheres that for residen-
tial areas on Monday to Friday from 7-00 a-m.
to 7.00 p.m. the maximum noise emission
should be 50 dBi (A) and at night 40 d8i (A). A
noisy airconditioner, for instance, emits about
65 dBi (A),

Environmental noise has a significant impact
on the health and welfare of individuals and
communities. It is difficult to measure the
impact, but many complaints have come from
Queens Park, Beckenham, Kenwick. and other
suburbs. Few of the people living in those sub-
urbs travel by air, but they bear the burden.
They say that Governments are not effective in
controlling noise pollution and they have quite
spontaneously expressed negative attitudes
about the airports and the airlines. There is a
general sensitivity, which is quite non-specific,
to noise. In Queens Park conversations stop as
part of a cultural mode. The other day I was at
a Parents and Citizens Association meeting at
lunchtime. There was a conversation with five
people talking. Those five people stopped when
the noise was at its peak and resumned their
conversations when the noise lessened. Tele-
vision viewing and radio listening is also dis-
rupted. There is loss of sleep at night, and in
the daytime for shift workers who must sleep
then. Some of those people work at the airport.
The type of sleep is also affected.

Studies done in Australia and overseas
suggest a relationship between aircraft noise
and various stress related illnesses such as
increased blood pressure and mental health
illnesses and neuroses. We certainly need to
determine the relationship between health and
aircraft noise, and the effects on mortaity and

physical and mental health. What can we do to
minimise the existing problem? A Select Comn-
mittee of the House of Representatives last
year published a report on aircraft noise.
Whilst noise is primarily a Commonwealth and
local government responsibility, it seems to me
that we need some State intervention. Pre-
ferred flight paths have been devised by the
Department of Aviation to avoid noise sen si-
tive areas, but we need compliance to reduce
the impacts on communities living near air-
ports.

The Commonwealth Select Committee
recommended that arrival and departure routes
on all runways at Perth be reviewed to try to
ensure that noise is reduced to an operationally
acceptable level. While technology improve-
ments have meant that engine designs can now
reduce noise, airframe noise is a significant
component of landing noise. We can institute
administrative procedures such as curfews and
restrictions on training. We can institute
operational restrictions such as use of runways
and flight paths, and the methods of flying air-
craft. With respect to Perth Airport the Select
Committee report stated-

There appears to be a general acceptance
within the community and local and State
Government that Perth needs to operate
on a curfew-free basis. This acceptance of
curfew-free operations is conditional on
the acceptance of a parallel runway which
would redistribute aircraft noise.

From 1970 onwards there has been an
expectation of a parallel runway at Perth Air-
port. I do not want to raise any expectations,
but I want to offer my support for the construc-
tion of that runway. The Select Committee
recommended capital works programmes in
Adelaide, Sydney and Perth as part of a
national airports development programme,
which would include State and Commonwealth
consultation and participation.

The construction of a wide-spaced parallel
runway at Perth Airport two kilometres east of
the existing 02/20 runway would reduce air-
craft traffic over residential areas and reduce
noise impacts on surrounding communities.

Predictions and evaluations made by the
Select Committee show that Sydney and
Adelaide have the highest priority for runway
upgrading-higher than Perth. There are other
issues related to the runway. These include the
development of adjacent land for commercial
and industrial reasons, and also safety. While
we have an excellent record in Australia, we
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need to develop and refine a contingency plan
in the event of a crash on take-off or landing
over residential areas.

The problems for Canning particularly have
been recognised by the Federal member for
Canning, George Gear, who is a member of the
Select Committee, and the Mayor, Mr Tacoma,
who was secretary of the Australian Mayoral
Aviation Council.

In raising these issues in this place I want to
argue that they are as much State issues as
Commonwealth or local government ones. We
need a wide-spaced parallel runway and con-
trolled flight paths. The pay-off for not having
a curfew should and must be a wide-spaced
parallel runway, and we need to take that case
to the Commonwealth Government.

MR MacKINNON (Murdoch-Deputy
Leader of the Opposition) [ 10.31 p.m.]: Yester-
day during question time, the Minister for
Police and Emergency Services talked about a
vacuum in the Police Force due to actions
taken by the previous Government. He referred
to the fact that the current Government has in
fact recruited quite heavily over the last 3 /
years, hence the force is in much better shape
than was previously the case.

It is surprising, therefore, to find, as I have
over the last 12 or 18 months, that a large
vacuum in police presence exists in Western
Australia. I am talking about the lack of a
police presence to service the southern suburbs,
and in particular the electorate of Murdoch and
the surrounding districts.

To illustrate my point I refer to the Minis-
ter's own statistics, statistics that he and his
predecessor have supplied in answer to ques-
tions I have raised in this Parliament. I refer
particularly to question 933 of 8 October 1985,
and to question 814 of 15 July.

Those statistics are illuminating. They show,
for example, that at Brentwood for the year
ended 30 June 1984-the first year of the
Burke Labor Government-the total number
of offences reported was 2 950. For the year
ended 30 June 1985, the number was 2750.
For the year ended June 1986, the number was
3 424. So from 1984 to 1985 the increase was
13 per cent. From 1985 to 1986 the increase
was 25 per cent.

Mr Gordon Hill: You must admit there has
been some population growth, so it is not dis-
proportionate.

Mr MacKINNON: Obviously. I thank the
Minister for making that point because it adds
to the argument I am about to put. The Minis-

ter says that crime statistics are not out of kilter
because the population of that area has grown.
I know that only too well, having the largest
electorate in the Parliament.

The point I make is that in Brentwood we
have had an increase in the number of offences
reported of something like 38 per cent in two
years. At Cannington-the other police station
servicing the area-in 1984 reportable offences
numbered 3 335. In 1986 the number was
3 937, an increase of 24 per cent.

One would have thought, with the blow-cut
-in crime statistics to almost crime wave pro-
-portions in the area, the Government would
take some action to relieve that problem. The
interesting fact-

Mr Gordon Kill: Did you say we should take
some action?

Mr MacKINNON: I certainly did.
Mr Gordon Hill: The Government should?

You are criticising the action of the com-
missioner.

Mr MacKINNON: No, I am not. The com-
missioner Can act only with the resources given
to him by the Government, and the Govern-
ment, through the Minister for Police and
Emergency Services, made some very gratu-
itous promises prior to the election about what
would happen to the Police Force in our area.
If what the Minister says is tre, his
predecessor was not telling the truth. He was
misleading the people of Murdoch.

Mr Gordon Kill: Did you hear the statistics I
referred to the other night?

Mr MacKINNON: Yes, I did, and that is
exactly what I am referring to. The Minister
referred to the fact that the Western Australian
Police Force has never been in' a better position
as far as staffing is concerned, yet the people of
Murdoch and the southern suburbs are being
ignored by this Governemrnt. They are not be-
ing given proper police facilities.

The three years of this Government have
seen a crime blow-out in my electorate at one
police station of nearly 40 per cent and at
another of 24 per cent. But what has happened
to the staffing at these stations? Do members
think that as a result the Government has pro-
vided extra resources in this area?

No. The staff at Brentwood was 16 in 1 984.
It is still 16 in 1986. We have had a massive
increase in the crime level in the area. At
Cannington the position is exactly the same.
The staff level is 18. Yet what do we see? We
see a 24 per cent increase in the level of of-
fences reported in two years.
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The Minister seems to be very proud of his
Government's record in this regard. May I tell
members when the Brentwood Police Station
was built? It was built in 1964-22 years ago.
Cannington Police Station was built in, I think,
1966, Does the Minister consider that the
Government, through the Police Force, is pro-
viding an adequate service to the southern sub-
urbs?

I reject any such suggestion, and I believe the
Government's actions-or lack of action-in
providing facilities to the southern suburbs
should be and is condemned by both me and
my electors.

Mr Gordon Hill: Did you know that the ratio
of police to population is higher in Western
Australia than in most other States?

Mr Lewis: He is not saying that.
Mr MacJCINNON: I thank the member for

East Melville. As 1 am about to show in relation
to another Minister in this Parliament, the
southern suburbs are being totally ignored by
this Government because of politics. The
Government knows where the votes are. The
Government believes the marginal seats are in
the northern suburbs, and that is where the
resources go-to Warwick and areas up there.

What happens in the southern suburbs? The
southern suburbs are ignored, as I shall show in
due course.

Mr Camn You seem not to appreciate the fact
that it is the Commissioner for Police who
makes the decisions.

Mr Gordon Hill: You are criticising the com-
missioner.

Mr MacKINNON: 1 am not. I am criticising
the Government, because the Commissioner
for Police can only act with the resources
provided to him. He puts up his budget to the
Minister every year, and the Minister-or his
predecessor-every year determines exactly
where the line is drawn. The priorities are de-
terrmined as to where the capital works will go.

Several members interjected.
Mr MacKINNON: Who determines the

priorities? The Minister determines them. The
member for Geraldson prior to the election
came to the electorate with grandiose promises
of a new police station. Six m onths later what
do we have? Not even a site has been selected! J
have the biggest electorate in Western Australia
and not even a site for a police station has been
selected.

It is as bad as this: They have gone to the
City of Melville and said, "LWould you please
find us a site?"

Mr Deputy Speaker, let me show you the
contempt with which this Government treats
the people of my electorate. Question 927 was
addressed to the Honorary Minister assisting
the Minister for Police and Emergency Services
by my colleague, the member for Mt Lawley.
He asked about some correspondence from the
Bullcreek-Lteening Progress Association seek-
ing advice on the proposed police facility to be
located in the City of Melville to supplement
the existing Brentwood Police Station. That let-
ter from the association followed up the prom-
ise made by the former Minister for Police and
Emergency Services prior to the election. It is
interesting to read the answer, which was as
follows-

(1) and (2) The Bullereek-Leerning
Progress Association has written to the
Government on two separate occasions.
On the first occasion the association was
responded to in writing ...

saying yes, we are doing something about it,we
are going to identify a site and will provide a
supplementary facility. The Minister's answer
continued-

... and on the second occasion the re-
sponse was by way of a telephone attend-
ance on an association representative by
the commissioned ornecer-in-charge of the
relevant police unit.

Mr Gordon Hill: Aren't you happy with that?

Mr MacKINNON: No, I am not. I believe
that when the people of my electorate write to
the Minister they should be given the courtesy
of a proper response in writing. The Minister
should have the gumption to say, "Yes, you
will get that facility" and when, or, "No, you
won't." The Minister should stand up and be a
man and not a wimp.

it is clear that the southern suburbs of Perth
are being given second-class treatment by this
Government. The northern suburbs are being
pork-barrelled to an extent never before seen in
this State, for purely political reasons; and my
colleagues and friends on this side of the House
from the National Party and the Liberal Party,
when debating the Acts Amendment (Electoral
Reform) Bill last night, reminded the House
exactly why we believe there should be some
vote weighting in favour of country people.
This Government puts the money where the
votes are. The money goes directly where the
votes are, as never before. In the Govern ment's
view the votes are not in the southern suburbs;
they are in places such as Mandurab, Bunbury,
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Geraldton now-they never were before-and ing. Indeed, the Minister for Transport has
the northern suburbs. acknowledged that.

So what happens to the electorate of
Murdoch? We are neglected and overlooked
and there is now a situation where people's
property and persons are at risk because they
are not being properly protected by this
Government.

Mr Gordon Hill: That is a criticism of the
Commissioner of Police.

Mr MacKINNON: It is a criticism of the
Honorary Minister, who has the responsibility
to this Parliament for the administration of the
Police Force in this State.

Mr Gordon Hill: The commissioner is re-
sponsible for the allocation of resources.

Mr MacKINNON: The Honorary Minister
says it is the commissioner's responsibility but
my electors know whose responsibility it is.
The Honorary Minister is the person they
criticise, not the commissioner. I challenge the
Honorary Minister to speak to my electors and
find out who they think is responsible. He will
find out exactly who they know is respon-
sible-the Honorary Minister and his Govern-
menit.

The people of the southern suburbs and of
Murdoch deserve better treatment, and I will
continue to pursue the Government on this
matter until such time as some sensible de-
cisions are made; that is, a site is immediately
identified, some commitment is given to the
people of Murdoch as to where that next police
station will go and when, and in the immediate
future some additional staff resources are made
available to the existing police stations. The
same staffing level has existed for three years
while crime statistics have blown out by 40 per
cent. Mr Deputy Speaker, would you put up
with that in your electorate?.

Mr Gordon Kill: I think you lack under-
standing of policing in this State; that is clear.

Mr MacKINNON: It is clear I do not, and it
is clear also that the people in Murdoch de-
mand better treatment. I can guarantee to them
that as soon as this Government is replaced,
they will get it.

I will give another example of how the
southern suburbs of Perth are being ignored,
this time in the area of transport. I draw the
attention of the House to the Kwinana Free-
way, which is an important part of the road
system of Perth. As most members who live in
the southern suburbs would be aware, traffic
congestion on the Kwinana Freeway is increas-

The member for Gascoyne asked the Minis-
ter question 337 on Wednesday, 18 June, and
in response the Minister said-

(1) 1 am aware that there is congestion
on the freeway system during the morning
peak period.

That is fantastic! I am pleased to know the
Minister is aware, because he does not seem to
be taking too much action as a consequence.
The member for Gascoyne went on to ask what
steps were being taken to alleviate this prob-

-1cm. Surprise, surprise! Here comes the
answer-

(2) The Main Roads Department moni-
tors the road system and investigates poss-
ible methods of relieving congestion ...

That is really action! The people of the
southern suburbs are becoming a little sick of
the lack of attention by this Government.

Mr Bryce: That is not right. I represent some
southern suburbs, and they think we are going
okay.

Mr Cash: Where do you live? You live in a
big flash house overlooking the river. What do
you know about the southern suburbs?

Mr Bryce: It is a southern suburb.
Mr MacKINNON: The Deputy Premier lives

in an eastern surburb and does not know where
the southern suburbs are.

Mr Bryce: It is south of the river, you goose! I
know it is south of the river.

Mr MacKINNON:, I have been here all night
talking about the electorate of Murdoch and
the new southern suburbs, and the Deputy
Premier-who lives near the airport, on the
river-

Mr Clarko: Do you know the name of the
street? It is Fauntleroy Avenue!

Mr MacKINNON: Very appropriately
named!

Mr Bryce: Nothing is too good for the
workers!

Mr MacKINNON: I will indicate some stat-
istics that clearly illustrate what I said earlier
about the manner in which this Government
plays politics to the nth degree with the tax-
payer's money and ignores the people in the
southern suburbs.

Recently I wrote to the Minister for
Transport because I was interested to find out
how much money has been spent in recent
-times on the Kwinana Freeway from the
Australian bicentennial road development pro-

2582



(Thursday, 24 July 1986]158

gramme. I asked how much money the Main
Roads Department received in each of four
years from 1982-83 to 1985-86. The following
answer came back from the Minister for
Transport-

To date the Main Roads Department
has received $162 464 474 as follows-

And that was split up between the years. I
asked in my letter to the Minister how much of
that was spent on the Mitchell Freeway, which
members would know is the northern suburbs
arterial road, and how much on the Kwinana
Freeway servicing the southern suburbs. Here
is the answer-

1 17 944 395 of these giants have been
expended on the Mitchell Freeway ...

Nearly $18 million was spent on the northern
freeway out of the $ 162 million received for the
State. The $64 question is: How much has been
spent on the Kwinana Freeway in all that time?
Not one single dollar!

Mr Troy. What is the difference between
traffic densities, and what contribution to that
expenditure was made by local authorities?

Mr MacKINNON: That is a very interesting
question, and I am sure the member for East
Melville would be interested to provide sup-
port to my comment. The extension of the free-
way from Leach Highway southwards was only
made possible by the contribution of the City
of Melville. There was a tremendous contri-
bution by that local authority to the extension
south of the Kwinana Freeway. But import-
antly, a major road programme is being cardied
out by the Federal Government and not one
dollar has been expended on the Kwinana Free-
way which services the southern suburbs. Not
one dollar has been spent on improving the
existing facility-a facility that needs improv-
ing, as the Minister well knows.

Perhaps we would not be too wordied about
it if the Government had some plans to do
some work in this area in the future, but recent
statements made by the department and the
Government to the media indicate that there
are no immediate plans whatsoever to extend
the southern freeway.

The Minister for Transport, well knows that
it is just not me as the member representing the
area who is interested in and concerned about
this matter; all of the local authorities in the
southern suburbs are interested and concerned
also. The latest issue of the Cockburn and Dis-
tricts Eagle--a very capitalist newspaper rn
by Bob Maumill, that very right wing person
with a great interest in expressing the Liberal

Party's point of view!-contained an article
which began in the following terms-

"Unite for freeway".
A UJNITED local government front is

needed to speed construction of the
Kwinana Freeway extensions says
Cockburn Deputy Mayor Cr Denis de
Young.

It goes on-
A meeting with representatives from

Cockburn, Melville, lKwinana,
Rockingham, Mandurah and Sempen-
tine/Jarrahdale was arranged with
Transport Minister Gavan Tray for June
24 to discuss the extensions.

This was postponed ...
Mr Parker: One of the reasons is that when

we came into Government we found that the
alignment of the southern freeway-unlike the
Mitchell Freeway, which was fully aligned with
all the land acquired-had not been deter-
mined. I was the Minister who finalised that
alignment.

Mr MacKINNON: As I have said before, I
am getting rather sick and tired of coming in
here and raising issues only to hear members
opposite blame the previous Government for
any problems. The other night the member for
Gascoyne related a story to the Minister for
Health about the Minister who opened three
envelopes left for him, one blaming the pre-
vious Government and one the previous Minis-
ter, and one tendering his resignation. It is a
story I have related myself in the past. Mem-
bers opposite have been in Government for 3 /
years. There is no doubt about the realignment
of the southern freeway now. However, the
Government and the department have no
immediate plans whatsoever of extending that
freeway, certainly not until after 1990. I com-
mend the Minister for Minerals and Energy for
having attended to the realignment, but his
Government currently has no plans whatsoever
for the immediate future to continue the exten-
sion of that southern freeway. Not one dollar
has been spent out of the Commonwealth's
Australian Bicentennial Roads Programme to
even try to fix up the existing freeway, which
we all know has problems, particularly at peak
times in the morning and evening.

I come now to a suggestion I have made
before to the Government but which has been
totally ignored and rejected by it. I have
indicated that in the short term. a working party
should be established of members of the Main
Roads Department and community representa-
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lives-the users of the freeway. These people
could sit down and examine ways of improving
the freeway flow of traffic.

Transperth has a very good system of area
committees, and as the Minister probably
knows, we have one in our area. We meet
roughly every eight weeks with officers of
Transperth to try to work out ways of improv-
ing bus schedules in the area. The programme
has been highly successful.

I do not believe Transperth has a mortgage
on good ideas when it comes to the routing of
buses through an area. This has been proven by
the changes made as a consequence of ideas
submitted by community members at these
meetings with Transperth officers. Transperth
welcomes this local input and the local people
welcome the feedback from Transperth. I am
quite confident that freeway users, those people
who sit in their cars in that traffic for hours on
end every day, may well have some excellent
ideas to improve the traffic flow on the
southern freeway.

Anyone who says that the Main Roads De-
partment or any other department has a mort-
gage on good ideas is simply burying his head
in the sand. Such a working party as I propose
could well produce some positive and not ex-
pensive suggestions to improve the traffic flow.
As a result of meetings of such a working party
the department could well be able to convince
the Government that there needs to be more
urgent attention given to the further extension
of the southern extension of the Kwinana Free-
way. Without doubt the development of the
Kwinana-Rockingham areas that you rep-
resent, Mr Speaker, is being held up as a conse-
quence of the fact that the southern extension
has not been made. I will continue to make the
suggestion until such time as the Government
starts to put some money where the pmoblems
are, not where the votes are.

Finally, I address a broader issue rather than
an electorate issue. Over the last week I have

.received three phone calls from people ex-
pressing concern about the Government's atti-
tude to important economic issues; they have
been expressing a concern because they are
unsure about the Government's attitude to
these matters and about where the Government
is heading. I too am a bit perplexed about the
Government's attitude and direction. I am con-
cerned to know exactly what the Government's
attitude is to key economic issues. I am con-
cerned about the sort of direction the Govern-
ment is providing to the people of our State

and to our national leaders to try to show them
the way out of our economic problems.

Without doubt Australia has economic prob-
lems. One has only had to look at the television
news tonight or at the evening newspaper to see
that the dollar has plummeted even further and
is hovering just above the US 60c level. If I am
any judge, it will drop below that level in the
next day or so.

Mr Speaker, if you have any doubts about
our economic problems, the fact that both the
Prime Minister and the Premier have thought
it necessary to make economic statements,
either on television or in Parliament, should
have made it clear. Both have taken these un-
precedented steps.

The people of WA are looking to the Govern-
ment for some direction. To say they are con-
fused is an understatement, especially if they
read this morning's Press, which had a headline
"Burke: Rethink perks tax". Most Western
Australians, including me, recall the tax sum-
mit; we recall that this Premier went to
Canberra and was one of the very few people in
Australia who actually supported option C; he
was one of the very few people who actually
supported the introduction of a capital gains
tax; he was one of the very few people who
actually supported the abolition of the negative
gearing on property tax deductions; he was one
of the few people who actually supported the
introduction of the fringe benefits tax. People
who read the headline "Burke: Rethink perks
tax" must have asked themselves, "is this the
same person?" To have continued on to read
the article by Janet Wainwright would have
caused more confusion, particularly because of
two statements made by the Premier. The first
was-

Mr Burke was quick to declare that he
did not disagree with the principle behind
the tax.

That is a pretty clear statement indicating that
he does not disagree with the principle of the
fringe benefits tax. But further on we read the
following-

"Fringe benefits tax just does not make
sense; it is clearly a discriminatory impost
on the private sector," he said.

This is the same bloke! First he says he does
not disagree with the principle of the tax and
then he says it does not make sense and is
discriminatory.

Mr Cash: Is that what is called having two
bob each way?
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Mr MacKINNON: They are the wards I have
written down on my notes a little further on
after I dealt with the Premier's approach to
other key issues.

Mr Lewis: Statements of convenience.

Mr MacKINNON: Very well put. The people
of WA are looking to the Premier for some
direction, but to say they are confused is an
understatement.

Our attitude to the fringe benefits tax is
clear, we have said consistently that there was
no need to introduce it and that the existing tax
legislation, if administered properly, could pick
up what the fringe benefits tax provided in any
sort of programme provided by employers to
employees. This could be done if the Com-
missioner of Taxation wanted to get off his butt
and do some work.

He was not prepared to do so, and neither
was the Commonwealth Government. The
Premier supported the introduction of the tax,
and now it is starting to bite and people are
coming up to him and saying, "What did you
do that for?" The Premier tries to weasel his
way out of it and have two bob each-way. He
cannot have it both ways, and the people know
that applies increasingly to the key issues facing
Western Australia.

The second point where he is having two bob
each-way or, as the member for East Melville
said, making statements of convenience, is in
relation to the 17.5 per cent leave loading. On
24 June the Premier made a statement that he
did not believe the 17.5 per cent loading made
good sense. The article by Ted Barker states-

He asked who "honestly believed" that
the 171/ per cent loading made any sense.

Further on it states-

Sure as eggs someone has to sit down
one day and say that people who are get-
ting six or seven weeks holiday a year and
a 17%/ per cent loading on four of those
weeks are getting something which they
were never meant to get and which the
economy can't afford," Mr Burke said.

The key pant in that statement is the words,
"As sure as eggs someone has to sit down one
day". That is the Premier trying to make a
statement of convenience, bearing in mind the
general community is aware. as are Govern-
ments, that something is wrong in the econ-
omic garden and some action needs to be

taken. What happened six days later? The
Australian newspaper reported as follows-

If his Government removed the loading,
it would create anomalies and increase
workplace tensions, Mr Burke said.

Later on he said-
"As far as I am concerned, there is a lack

of logic in paying the 17.5 per cent holiday
leave loading to many of the people who
receive it," he said.

Again there is a contradiction in the same
article. I cannot understand what is going on.
On one day the Premier said he did not
honestly believe the 17.5 per cent loading made
sense. In the next breath, within a week, he said
he and his Government were not prepared to
do anything about it and claimed that leader-
ship was needed from elsewhere-other people
.have to do it; the leadership has to come from
above, the other States, the Commonwealth, or
from somewhere, but not from him.

The people of Western Australia want some
leadership to show them the way out of the
economic mire. As a State we should be
endeavouring to show Australia, as we did in
the 1960s and 1970s, the way out of our econ-
omic problems. We are not getting that leader-
ship from a Premier who has two bob each-way
on almost every issue. That was never more
classically illustrated than in his statement
about the disallowance of entertainment expen-
diture as a tax deduction.

Members will know that the Federal Govern-
ment has now moved successfully in the Feder-
al Parliament to disallow totally entertainment
expenses, legitimate and illegitimate. What did
the Premier do about it? What was his attitude
to such a ludicrous approach by the Common-
wealth? Again it was the lazy way out of the
issue because the Commonwealth Com-
missioner of Taxation and the Government
were not prepared to take the appropriate steps
to make sure that people justified legitimate
expenditure. They threw the baby out with the
bath water.

What did the Premier do? As soon as the
heat in the kitchen started to rise he said that
50 per cent of entertainment expenses-not
all-should be allowed. A legitimate business
expense is either just that or it is not. It is not
half an expense; it is a full expense which
should be totally allowable. We do not want
people swinging the lead on the taxpayers; they
should justify their expenses, and if they can
they should be entitled to a 100 per cent deduc-
tion, not 50 per cent, and not two bob each-way
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in a statement of convenience. People want
direction, not the malaise we are in with this
Government at present.

Then we come to the issue which caps them
all-the three per cent superannuation pro-
ductivity case. What lunacy do we have in this
country with a dollar which will go below 6cM
in the next few days and the Commonwealth
and State Governments supporting the three
per cent productivity case?

Mr Bryce: Are you trying to talk it down?

Mr MacKINNON: I am absolutely sure that
the international players in the marketplace
who determine the level of the Australian dol-
lar do not have the slightest interest in what I
say about it. I am sure my speech tonight will
not make an iota of difference to the level of
the Australian dollar. However, I will bet a lot
of money that it goes below 60c in the next few
days. Even if it does recover tomorrow to 65c
that will not destroy the logic of the argument.
Our country is in economic difficulties. The
people want direction, but what does this Gov-
ernment give them? It sent officers of the Gov-
ernment to Melbourne to argue in the

*Australian Conciliation and Arbitration Com-
mission in favour of the three per cent superan-
nuation productivity case that will cost this
State Government alone $75 million.

How crazy is that? There is now a realisation
that there is a bit of concern in the community,
particularly the business community, about
*.this case. What happens? We find an article in
the paper in which the Minister for Industrial
Relations says the Government will reassess its
attitude, and perhaps we should phase in this
proposal over a couple of years. Our nation
cannot afford that increase at the moment, and
neither can the State Government. After all,
the Premier went to the Commonwealth asking
it to reimburse himn for the $6 million or $7
million impost of the fringe benefits tax on the
State Government. How the heck can we afford
$75 million?

What is the Government's current attitude to
the three per cent superannuation productivity
case? Where does it stand right now on the
issue? It seems it stands squarely behind where
it was before, or is it reassessing its attitude?
Again it is a case of two bob each-way and the
statement of convenience, The people of West-
ern Australia do not know where the Govern-
ment is going. They want some leadership; they
want to know where the Government stands on
this issue.

To top it off, the front page of the Daily News
tonight was headlined, "Cost of Living: New
Blow". The first line says that cigarettes, beer,
spirits, and petrol are set for a price hike. Our
inflation rate outstrips all other countries by a
fair margin. Who has the highest tax in
Australia on cigarettes, beer, spirits, and pet-
rol? Which State has the highest level of tax on
each of those commodities? It is Western
Australia; it is setting the pace and showing
Australia how we can keep our prices right
above not only the rest of Australia, but the rest
of the world.

The Premier comes here saying that the
Government is doing its best and that the in-
creases are only in line with the inflation rate,
as just the Minister for Transport tonight tried
to say our port is going well because it is doing
better than those in the other States of
Australia. We are competing in an inter-
national marketplace; we are in the real World.
We are trying to get this country off its knees
and give some direction to show Australians
the way ahead.

Mr Parker: We are doing pretty weDl in this
State.

Mr MacKfNNON: We are doing "fantasti-
cally well"-so well that the Australian dollar
is about to go through the floor. We are doing
so well that Australia's inflation rate is double
that of our nearest major competitor, Canada.
Even West Germany has a negative inflation
rate.

Mr Brian Burke: Western Australia is doing
reasonably well compared with the other
States.

Mr MacKINNON: I point out to the Parlia-
ment that that argument does not wash with
me. Western Australia should be doing better
than the rest of Australia. We provide some-
thing like over 20 per cent of the nation's cx-
ports; we have tremendous resources in this
State; and the people in this State are more
innovative than other people in Australia. We
have everything going for us. Why is Australia
in so much difficulty? Why is this Government
failing to give the people of Australia and, more
particularly, Western Australia some direction
on these crucial issues of the day?

Mr Brian Burke: No-one is perfect except the
Opposition.

Mr MacKINNON: The Premier is the least
perfect of all. He cannot make up his mind
where he stands on the fringe benefits tax or
the 17.5 per cent leave loading; he is not pre-
pared to bite the bullet. The Premier does not
know where he stands on the entertainment tax
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and he takes two bob each way. As far as the
three per cent superannuation productivity in-
crease is concerned, he thinks he supports it,
but he sent some people to Canberra and is
reassessing his position at the moment. The
only thing the Premier does know is how to
raise taxes and charges in Western Australia to
hit the people of this State as hard as possible
in the first year after the election. That is an
area where the Premier knows where he is
going and he does not have any equivocation
whatsoever. There is not two bob each way on
taxes and charges as far as he is concerned, and
they just go up; they do not go down.

For the Premier to say, "We are doing better
than the rest of Australia and that is pretty
good for us"-

Mr Brian Burke: I didn't say it like that.
Mr MacKINNON: We should be doing bet-

ter than the rest of Australia, but Australia is
falling behind the rest of the world. As a nation,
we are going backwards; and we are pant of that
nation.

The Premier has the gall to sit in his seat and
say that we are doing better than the rest of
Australia, and then go back to reading The
West Australian. I can assure the Premier that
the people of Western Australia are getting fed
up with his approach to these major issues.

Mr Hodge: That is not what the opinion polls
or the election results show. They showed the
Premier in very high standing.

Mr MacKINNON: They may well do. They
show the level of his popularity, but they do not
show what people want from their leaders and
they do not show the level of respect for the
leaders. The people want someone they can re-
spect and someone who knows where he is go-
ing.

If I am any judge, the Premier's popularity is
a little like the Prime Minister's popularity-it
is a hangover from the earlier times when he
was popular, but that popularity is fast running
out. Of course, it is running out the fastest in
the country areas where the people have woken
up to what is happening in this Government-
and if my conversations with people in the
community are any indication it is fast spilling
over to the metropolitan area.

Mr Brian Burke: Do you think there has been
a big shift recently?

Mr MacKINNON: What does the Premier
mean by "recently"?

Mr Brian Burke: Obviously at the last elec-
tion the feeling was not as it is now.

Mr MacKINNON: I acknowledge that, and
the Labor Party beat us fair and square. How-
ever, since the election things have changed.
Before the election -the Premier did not make
an economic statement to the Parliament tell-
ing it that things were so bad that the Govern-
ment needed to increase taxes and charges to
add $90 million to the State's income. It is
remarkable that within three or four months of
the last election things have taken such a turn
for the worse.

If everything is so good and Western
Australia is doing so well, why is our fuel tax
the highest in Australia, our liquor tax equal
highest in Australia, and our cigarette tax in-
creasing?

Mr Brian Burke: I have a theory that one of
the main reasons we were successful is that you
people did not do the work on policies and
things like that.

Mr MacKINNON: The Premier has his
opinion and I have mine. The Minister for
Health, the Minister for Minerals and Energy,
and the Premier can say what they like about
the last election. It has been and gone and we
lost it. The by-elections provided us with an
interesting result, and as far as we are con-
cerned it was very good.

The situation in Western Australia has fun-
damentally changed in the last three months
and the people are concerned about the direc-
tion this Government is failing to give. If mem-
bers opposite want to say, "Look at the last
election results and the results of the by-elec-
tions and we are going along all right and doing
better than the rest of Australia", then I sin-
cerely hope that that is the attitude they con-
tinue to take.

The people of Western Australia are con-
cerned-I know that and I am pretty sure that
most members know it. If the Government fails
to recognise that and to give us some real direc-
tion in terms of making tough decisions, we
will not see this Government in office for very
much longer. I would be very happy about that
because it will see that when we are returned to
Government in coalition, we will give some
real direction to this State and will make tough
decisions and give the leadership that Western
Australia and Australia deserve.

MRS HENDERSON (Gosnells)
11I. 16 p.m.]: I would like to mention a couple

of matters which I think might be of interest to
the House. One concerns the innovative
scheme of community justice which has been
piloted in Gosnells and which I think will
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prove to be a model for community justice
schemes elsewhere in the State.

Most members of Parliament would admit
that the worst kind of problem that can be
brought to them as the local member concerns
disputes between neighbours. It is a problem in
which one cannot win. No matter which neigh-
bour one helps, one ends up losing a vote.

Very early in my career I discovered a fairly
unusual way to solve a problem of that kind. A
person came to me complaining about the
smoke from an incinerator belonging to his
neighbour and while I was contemplating what
to do about the problem I wrote to the person
who had visited me and said, "Thank you for
coming to see me. I am pursuing the problem
and I will be in touch with you." By chance I
sent the letter to the wrong address-I sent it to
the house next door which belonged to the per-
son about whom the complaint had been made.
That resolved the problem because the two
people concerned had not talked to one another
and when the person who received my letter
about the complaint rang me he said, "it is
okay, we will not burn our rubbish in the incin-
erator any more."

I have not used that solution since then, but
it certainly has brought home to me during the
time I have been dealing with constituents'
problems that it is one of the most difficult
areas; and some of the sorts of problems
encountered between neighbours range from
disputes over back fences, who pays for the
dividing fence, overhanging trees, and particu-
larly noise-stereos, transistors. One could also
include family pets; and I had someone who
rang me at 3.00 a.m. to complain about the
rooster next door to him. When [ said to him,
"Don't you think this is an unreasonable hour
to ring and to complain to me that the rooster
next door is crowing?, he said, "Listen, lady, I
have been putting up with this for three weeks
and I thought I would ring you and show you
what it is like to be woken up at 3.00 a.m."

Mr Bryce: Why don't you ring him when you
get home tonight and ask him how the rooster
is getting on?

Mrs HENDERSON: I managed to solve that
particular case because the next week I visited a
fellow who was complaining that the man next
door was starting his truck at 6.00 anm. every
day and he told me that it was a real problem.
We started talking and he invited me for coffee
and told me that his brother had a farm and I
said. "How would Your brother like a rooster?"

He said, "Yes, my brother would like a
rooster." I went back to the other fellow and
suggested that he give the rooster away, and
that is how I solved the problem.

Some of the problems I have not been so
successful in solving relate to other noise
problems including the noise which emanates
from lawn mowers and transistor radios.
People have complained to me about their
neighbours' guests cavorting in the pool in their
backyard, and that causes them distress be-
cause it is so noisy and they may want to sleep
in the afternoon.

It has been to my advantage as a local mem-
ber that a group of people in my electorate
decided to set up a community mediation
centre, which is modelled on community jus-
tice system centres in New South Wales. This
has had great benefits for me as a member of
Parliament and I have offered the centre great
assistance. I wrote to the Attorney General
praising the scheme very highly and seeking
some assistance in terms of funding because I
could see the benefits that would flow not only
to me, but also to the community. I have keenly
watched that project as it has developed over
the last 12 months. The centre has trained
some 40 volunteer mediators and the people
who are accepted to train as mediators must be
patient, fair, non-judgmental in their attitude,
and be prepared to listen to both sides of the
story.

This service brings together people in the
area who have disputes. For example, neigh-
bours with quarrels meet at this centre; they
deliberate around a table and sit with a me-
diator Who listens to both sides of the quarrel
and seeks to get each side to clarify its position.
Eventually both sides reach agreement and
come up with a proposal for solving the prob-
lem. It sounds incredibly simple, but it never
ceases to amaze me how many complaints I
receive from people about their neighbours,
and when I ask them whether they have chatted
to the people concerned they say that they
would rather not raise the issue with them for
fear of upsetting them. They prefer to talk to
me about the problem.

This community justice scheme gives the
people involved a much more powerful role in
controlling their own lives; and if they come up
with a successful solution they gain some
pleasure from solving their problem.

The kinds of problems dealt with by the
neighbourhood mediation centre at Gosnells
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range from disputes over fences, dogs, and
roosters right through to the beginning of fam-
ily law type problems such as disputes between
spouses, custody, and access to children. Of
course, problems also arise with regard to
teenage children when they reach the stage of
rebelling against their parents; and major dis-
putes arise between parents and children as to
what time they should come home at night,
who they are with, and where they go.

This service has been an outstanding success.
Large numbers of people have used it and have
come together. They have not aways reached
agreement, but on the whole agreement has
been reached and the people involved have
gone away in good faith to try to put the con-
tracts into action and to work out a solution. It
is my view that this system has great potential
and I would like to see it carried through and
used to form a network of community justice
centres in Western Australia, similar to the
system which exists in New South Wales and
Victoria.

There are several advantages to this com-
munity-based justice system. For example,
when the only way of resolving a dispute with a
neighbour is through legal action, that very fre-
quently escalates the problem far beyond the
level at which it started. The two pantics be-
come locked into the escalated way of solving
the problem and they cannot escape it because
there is no other way of dealing with the prob-
lem; they either take legal action or do nothing.
This system provides an alternative at a lower
level which has been very effective.

The other disadvantage of having only a legal
avenue to pursue is that, of course, it is costly
and most people faced with a choice between
going to see a lawyer and doing nothing about
the dispute, take no action. The dispute may
poison relationships between families for many
years because neither party is prepared to take
action. Also, when a legal approach is taken it
is often a formal and rigid procedure; there are
certain avenues and procedures to follow and if
the panies are genuine in their desire to seek a
solution they must follow those procedures. Be-
cause they are so rigid and controlled the per-
son following those procedures often feels that
he has lost control of the problem. He is no
longer the one seeking to solve the problem;
rather his lawyer or the lawyer acting on behalf
of the neighbour takes control of the problem.
Therefore, that removes from the parties
involved the responsibility to come up with a
solution; often the lawyer produces the
proposed solution and at the end of the process

the person involved is no better off or better
able to resolve disputes with his neighbour than
he was at the beginning.

Those are some of the reasons why this
neighbourhood disputes centre has been so suc-
cessful. People emerge from the whole Process
with more skill; they are better able to sit down
and look at a problem from their own
perspective and from another person's
perspective, and to look for some way in which
common ground can form the basis for agree-
ment.

I commend the Gosnells mediation centre
and the people who set it up. I cannot take any
credit for that but I can take credit for support-
ing the scheme in its efforts to secure some
funding. It has received some funding and is
seeking more. I hope it will provide a model,
and that mediation centres or community jus-
tice centres will spread throughout Western
Australia.

In mentioning the problems that arise be-
tween neighbours, the one of greatest concern
to me is noise. Noise arises from a variety of
sources and although legislation covers noise
abatement it seems there is a lack of clear
understanding on the pant of police and local
authorities as to which is the responsible body
for measuring levels of noise. It has been my
experience that constituents who complain
about excessive noise, whether from taverns,
hotels, lawnmnowers, or domestic appliances,
are very unlikely to resolve their problems
quickly. The avenues they must go through to
get someone to measure the level of noise are
complicated, and very often the people are
frustrated along the way. If they do manage to
fill out the correct form and persuade the shire
health officer or some other person to measure
the level of noise, they often find that they have
no control over which night that officer will be
available to measure the noise. If the noise
problem emanates from a local tavern which
has a live band performing on Wednesday and
Friday nights, almost inevitably the health
surveryor will arrive on Thursday night to
monitor the decibel level in their loungeroom.
Many people complain that a real problem is
the technique by which noise can be measured.
Although technically the police are also able to
perform the role of measuring noise levels on
the spot, they are reluctant to do so, probably
because they have other things to do, and they
do not wish to become involved in that area. It
is a major problem for many people at a local
level, and it is extraordinarily difficult to
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resolve. People have to be particularly persist-
cut to resolve problems of high noise levels.

I turn briefly to one other issue on the
positive side to demonstrate the great benefits
of a scheme the Government has taken up in
the last three years. I can see the benefits of
that scheme in my electorate. The Government
has embarked on a programme of resuming
land along waterways. In my electorate there
are two main rivers, the Canning River and the
Southern River. The Government has gradu-
ally been resuming and purchasing land along
the banks of those rivers as the land is
subdivided. As the land is resumed for rec-
reational purposes, very attractive walking
trails, cycleways, and bridle paths have been
developed which are useful for families to use
at the weekends, It has opened up access to the
river for the public in a way that was previously
not possible.

I hope that this policy of providing access for
the public to the rivers and waterways in this
State will be followed by a programme to clear
those rivers of introduced weeds such as lilies
and so on, and to clear the banks of introduced
grass such as pampas, couch, buffalo, and bam-
boo. Once those weeds are removed the area
will be much more attractive. One of the ben-
efits of our State and city is that we have so
many waterways and that so many people can
live relatively close to the river or ocean. They
should have the opportunity to appreciate the
beauty of those spots and be able to walk along
them and enjoy the available public resources.

The enormous value of CE? projects is
very evident from the opening up of the water-
ways in the metropolitan area. These projects
have been used to build cycleways alongside
the rivers. They usually weave between the
trees and provide very attractive routes for
people who want to cycle during the weekend,
for commuters who wish to cycle to Perth, and
for people who wish to cycle for exercise. I
hope that the Government will continue this
programme, although there has been some re-
sistance by land holders to resuming land as
public open space along waterways and
convening it to trails and cycleways so that
people can enjoy the beauty of our waterways.

MR HOUSE (Katanning-Roe) [11.30 pi.m.]:
I wish to make a few brief comments to this
House on a subject I do not think has been
addressed properly by this Parliament. It cer-
tainly has not been addressed by this Govern-
ment. Perhaps it is not the right time to make a
45-minute speech in only 15 minutes.

I refer to small business in the rural com-
munity in Western Australia. Small business
has not received any particular assistance from
this Government. In my electorate of
Katanning-Ree seven rural businesses have
gone to the wall in the last three or four
months, and one or two others are on the brink
of closure and financial collapse.

Mr Grill: We have extended drought relief.
Mr HOUSE: Drought relief does not apply to

the areas I am referring to. It only applies to the
drought-affected areas. There is a vast area of
rural Western Australia which was not drought-
affected but which is suffering the effects of
Government policy and high interest rates.

Mr Grill: These people have wanted drought-
relief extended to them for years. It was this
Government that extended it but we do not get
any credit.

Mr HOUSE: I am not criticising the Govern-
ment's extension of drought relief subsidies to
these people. I think it was very good. There
are many people who do not fall into that
category, though. These small businesses are a
great part of country society, not only from the
business point of view for the services they
provide to country people and farmers, but also
from a social point of view. I acknowledge
there are a number of things that have helped
to create this problem. Probably the greatest
factor is the Federal Government's policy
which has resulted in this country having high
interest rates. Those interest rates are particu-
larly severe on rural business, not only because
those rural businesses have had to pay high
interest rates themselves but because the
people who sell machinery, motor cars, and
other services cannot afford to operate because
of those high interest rates. They are very
tough.

I believe the State Government has to carry
the argument to Canberra and has to get the
Federal Government to acknowledge there is a
problem and something should be done about
it. I do not think the State Government can
carry the whole burden on its own. I am not
asking it to. I do not believe sufficient represen-
tation has been made to Canberra by this
Government to get its help. We desperately
need help.

At the end of April 1 led a deputation of six
businessmen from my electorate to the Minis-
ter for Small Business. It is now nearing the end
of July and two of those businessmen are now
in financial liquidation and have closed their
doors. Two more are very near to doing so. It is
not good enough that this problem has gone on
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for so long. Those people cannot pass on costs
in their business at the moment because the
people whom they pass them on to cannot
afford to pay them. No-one is acknowledging
that those businesses are going to the wall. It
does not just affect the people going broke; it
affects their families, their children, and the
towns they live in. It affects the apprentices
who are not being employed in country areas.
That is very sad, because these young people
are leaving the country areas and going to the
coastal and city areas to get jobs.

When a country business goes to the wall it is
not just the owner of the business who suffers.
In most cases, these people have up to a dozen
employees who own houses in those small
country towns and who, in many cases, have
been born and bred in those towns and do not
want to shift. They want to live, work, and
bring up their children in those areas. If one
loses one's job in Perth there is a good chance
of getting another job within the same industry.
If one is a mechanic, for example,in a small
country town and the firm one works for goes
broke, it is very difficult to get a job because
the other firms that employ mechanics are in
the same position.

Another area I believe the Government
could look at is the machinery manufacturers
in this country. Those machinery manufac-
turers have the country dealers tied to a plan
whereby they have to take onto their lots a
certain amount of machinery each year. They
force them to pay a high interest rate on that
machinery. The manufacturers know full well
that the dealers cannot afford to pay that
interest rate. They know equally as well that
there is little chance that the machines will sell
in the current climate in rural Australia. Yet,
those same big manufacturers are prepared to
force small country dealers into liquidation. I
believe it is an area that the State and Federal
Governments should look at and bring some
pressure to bear.

The same sont of comment applies to the
finance companies of this land, which were pre-
pared to take the fat from the agricultural areas
when we could afford to pay exorbitant interest
rates, and when many of us were silly enough to
sign up. Now that they have taken the fat, like
Shylock, they are returning for the flesh. They
are giving very little consideration to the
people who owe the money. They are
repossessing the machines from farmers and
forcing the smaller country businesses into
liquidation.

I believe that some of the problems were
created because of the slow action of the Rural
Adjustment and Finance Corporation in get-
ting money out to country people. Many of the
problems stem from the fact that the Rural
Adjustment and Finance Corporation took
crop liens. That is all right and I acknowledged
the Minister's reply in question time today
when he said that they had to have some secur-
ity. These people took the money from the
crops in December; and in a number of cases I
could state that money was still in the hands of
the Rural Adjustment and Finance Corpor-
ation as late as the middle of May. Somehow,
that process must be reorganised and
rearranged so that the money can get out to the
farmers more quickly

The problem is that the farmers do not have
the money to pay the rural businesses, the ma-
chinery companies, and the like because the
Rural Adjustment and Finance Corporation is
holding their money. I believe that the $40
million that was promised by this Government
through the Rural Adjustment and Finance
Corporation to the agricultural areas is nothing
but a farce. That is proved by the fact that only
three loans have been made under this scheme.
I suggest to the Government that it should be
redirecting some of that money at subsidised
interest rates to rural business. Hopefully, that
might shore up some of this rural business.

We have seen what the Government has
called regionalism. I prefer to call it coastalism
because that is what it seems to me to be. It is
all about coastal areas. It is taking the people in
business from small country towns the size of
Gnowangerup, Lake Grace, Hyden,
Dumbleyung, and many more, and sending
them to areas like Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton,
and Esperance. What we need to do is increase
the size of those country towns by shifting
some of the city-based industry out into the
country areas.

We need to think very carefully about these
people and their families. In my home town
there is a business which employs 12 people
and it has gone to the wall. Of those 12 em-
ployees, at least eight own their own homes in
the town. They do not want to sell their houses
and, indeed, they have no real chance to do so.
They want to remain in the town so that they
can live and work there. Some assistance
should be given to that company in order that
it may remain viable and continue to employ
those people. It is a machinery dealership.

We as farmers in country areas, need the
services of those people. We need them during
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the peak times of seeding and harvesting and
we would like to think that they will remain in
our towns so that they are better places in
which to live.

I urge the Government to give recognition to
what I have said and to extend some help to
these people.

MR TRENORDEN (Avon) [ 11.41 p~m.]: We
have the situation in my electorate in which the
Government is in direct competition with pri-
vate enterprise. There are two quarries in my
electorate. One, Canter Quarries, was started in
198 1, and the other, Avon Quarries, has been
in operation for many years. They are in direct
competition with Western Quarries which is a
mixture of Westrail and a private enterprise
firm.

The stated reasons for the need for this
combined organisation was that ballast was
required for Westrail's use and that the estab-
lishment of the quarry would increase freight
usage by some six per cent, thereby increasing
income to Westrail.

I refer to the monthly notice of July 1986
issued by Westrail which says that the Com-
missioner for Railways is also the chairman of
the venture, Western Quarries. That brings an
interesting question to my mind. Let us take an
example: If a brickworks in Western Australia
had a say in the administration of a couple of
other brickworks, we would have a cartel. That
is what has happened here. Westrail has
formed its own little cartel.

The question arises as to whether Westrail
gets its ballast at a lower price. I quote from the
publication to which I referred earlier-

It has also contracted to supply half of
Westrail's 80 000 tonne ballast require-
ment for 1986-87-at a price significantly
below that of existing supplies from com-
mercial quarries.

That is a tremendous statement, but nobody
can find out what that price is.

Mr Troy: They tender for it.

Mr TRENORDEN: Where did it tender? No-
body could find out what Western Quarries'
tender price was. We have simply been told
that it was cheaper than everyone else's price.

Mr Troy: It is a straight commercial pricing
arrangement.

Mr TRENORDEN: Why can we not be told
what the price is?

Mr Troy: Because it is a commercial oper-
at ion. Why don't you ask the member for
Moore whether he supports your view? He has
the benefit of employment in the electorate
alongside yours, In fact the town you represent
is benefiting from this as well.

Mr TRENORDEN: I am getting the benefit
of the unemployment at the quarry at
Northam.

Mr Troy: Come on! Don't be so narrowly.
based in your view.

Mr TRENORDEN: Why can't the general
public know whether Western Quarries has
purchased the ballast at a competitive price'?
Why is it such a trade secret? Why is it locked
up in a vault somewhere?

Mr Cash: Because they have something to
hide.

Mr Troy: Do you believe every commercial
operation should reveal its price totally to the
public on the floor of the Parliament?

Mr TRENORDEN: I believe itI should, if itI is
50 per cent owned by the Western Australian
Government. We are told the aims and
objectives of Government. A total of $7.5
million is invested in the enterprise; therefore
do we not have some interest in it?

Mr Bertram: Why shouldn't the other
company disclose its price?

Mr TRENORDEN: This is a 50 per cent
Government enterprise. I am not arguing about
that.

Mr Troy: Do you support the concept of
Westrail going on to a commercial rooting?

Mr TRENORDEN: Not totally, no.
Mr Troy: I am sure many people in your

electorate will be interested in that comment.
Mr TRENORDEN: I am sure they will, and

many of the workers and Westrail employees
around Northam would be interested in it. I do
not totally support Westrail going onto a com-
mercial footing. I have said that in the party
room and I may be defeated there, but the
Minister has asked me for my opinion and I
have given it to him. Westrail has also said
that, with the small operators around the place,
they must sink or swim in the competition.
However, they did not seek renders from the
Northam operators. In fact, one of the
Northam operators was telephoned and asked
to tender for a tonne of ballast. He gave a fig-
ure. They were never asked to tender for any
great quantity of ballast; they were asked to
tender for one tonne. They tendered at $8, but
they were prepared to go down as low as $5 on

2592



[Thursday, 24 July 1 986) 59

sufficient tonnage. However, they were never
given that opportunity. I am very concerned
about that.

What was happened about decentralisation?
What about the screams and cries about getting
business out into the country? We have a
couple of small operators in Northam who
have invested a substantial amount of blood,
sweat, and tears and a few dollars as well, and
they are being forced down the gurgler by the
State Government.

Mr Troy: They are being forced down the
gurgier, as you put it, by a joint venture. Really,
you are saying that you do not like compe-
tition. That is an amazing statement.

Mr Court: We don't mind fair competition,
but it is unfair competition, because the person
who owns half the quarry also lets the tender.
That is unfair. Don't be stupid.

Mr Troy: It is fair competition.

Mr TRENORDEN: If the Minister gives me
the information, I shall concede that, but we
cannot get hold of the information. I have
asked Westrail the price at which it Purchases
ballast from every private enterprise company
in Western Australia. I have the answers to that
in my room.

Mr Troy: If it is a commercial operation, all
the constraints must be applied in the other
way. What a strange way to operate. In a
' Month's time you will want your moad freights
to be cheaper again.

Mr TRENORDEN: We shall return to that
in a little while.

Mr Troy: You should go back to your party
room and sort out your position.

Mr TRENORDEN: Why should I do that?

Mr Troy: Because I think that a lot of your
people certainly welcome Westrail's effort in
relation to cheaper freight, and that is one as-
pect of it.

Mr TRENORDEN: But what about the
people who work for Westrail and other
Government organisations in country towns?
They are a little concerned about the activities
of Government, and who will support them
when it starts operating in competition with
private enterprise.

Mr Troy: If you increase the freight that
Westrail carries, its employees must benefit. I
thought a man of your capabilities would be
able to understand that.

(821

Mr TRENORDEN: Just a little way down
the road there is a quarry with a railway line
beside it. They can drop ballast into-

Mr Troy: Why don't they go to Westrail and
offer it the deal that Quarry Industries offered?

Mr TRENOR DEN: They did.
Mr Troy: And their deal was not good

enough.
The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I would

prefer to hear the voice of the member for
Avon who is representing the people who
elected him to this House.

Mr TRENORDEN: Thank you, Mr Deputy
Speaker. At the end of the year Westrail will
come up with another loss. If we are to have a
quarry in the area, why did a South Australian
company have to be a party in it? Why could
not one of the Northam people have been a
partner? They were not asked.

Mr Troy: They had the same opportunity as
the South Australian company to go into the
joint venture.

Mr TRENORDEN: Did the South
Australian people come in to break the cartel of
Pioneer Concrete (WA) Pty Ltd, Bell, and
Readymix Group (WA)?

Mr Troy: Are you aware of the ownership of
Quarry Industries? Pioneer owns 20 per cent of
it.

Mr TRENORDEN: Yes, but it still faces di-
rect competition. What about Bell and
Readymix? They are still out in the field, are
they not?

The Government advocates an increasing
tonnage being transported by Westrail to re-
duce its losses. However, that does not appear
to be the case, as metal is being transported 216
kilometres from the quarry by rail and then
delivered eight kilometres by road at the same
price for which it is sold ex-quarries in the
metropolitan area. If that can be done, where is
the profit? I can tell the Minister the tender
number in respect of that.

According to an advertisement in The West
Australian of 8 February 1986, Westrail
transports and unloads superphosphate at a
price of $12.12 a tonne over a distance of 200
kilometres to Merredin. Therefore, the joint
venture can supply and rail blue metal over the
same distance at a price of $14.65 a tonne-
this is also in the same tender which I will
mention in a minute-which gives a variance
of $2.53 a tonne. Surely no-one will tell me that
that is the price at which the joint venturer can
knock out blue metal.
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When will the Minister tell me that amount?
Westrail is ripping off the farmers for the cost
of the superphosphate freight. Something is
happening. Some action must be applied;
subsidised freight rates must be involved, or
perhaps they are selling material below cast.
No other conclusion can be arrived at. How
can the Government justify either? The
Government appears to want to monopolise
the market and it is certainly putting a lot of
pressure on quarries. I mention the Main
Roads Department tender No. 318SA of 1986.
Canter Quarries, a Nontham quarry won a con-
tract of 350 tonnes at Northam. The remaining
mine dumps was won by Western Quarries
with the assistance of Westrail. Some 6 420
tonnes were involved. That did not happen by
accident. If we consider the prices metropolitan
quarries are charging for their aggregate and
compare them to the Northam quarry, we see
that they are within cooce of each other. How-
ever, we are told that this organisation, by
magic, can produce the aggregate at a much
lower price. If that is the case, how do they
manage it?

Mr Troy: What is the difference in the age of
the quarry plant and its efficiency? The mem-
ber has inspected the plant. Did he notice any
waste thrown aside at the plant? Does he realise
they use every element of the quarry and there
is no wastage? The quarry is 1984-86 vintage
plant. How old are the others? They can
produce faster than Readymix, Pioneer, and
Bell.

Mr TRENORDEN: They have a more mod-
emn plant than any one of those.

Mr Troy: Sec if they can halve their rates.
Mr Court: It certainly is a more modemn

plant, which cost a lot of money. It cost about
three times what Westrail initially was pre-
pared to put into that operation.

Mr Troy: Around 50 per cent?
Mr Court: With the amount of money they

spent on it, it should be.
Mr TRENORDEN: Canter Quarries, a

Northam quarry, won a contract in the Lake
Grace district. It put up the contract at cost.
Western Quarries' tender was only three per
cent higher. That price includes transport, so
some funny business is going on and 1 cannot
see any reason why the information we seek
cannot be given to us to demonstrate that no
subsidies are involved. I cannot see how we are
being unreasonable. Western Quarries is
pushing local government bodies throughout
my area to deal with it at the expense of my
local quarries. Government departments are

under pressure to deal with Western Quarries
and the word is out that that pressure will in'-
crease. This is similar to the SGIO Bill in the
other place.

Mr Brian Burke: You wouldn't know. You
want to sit and start thinking. The way you
carry on you will have farmers' freight rates go
through the ceiling. It is time for you to stand
on your hind legs. You will be happy when
Westrail collapses.

Mr TRENORDEN: Why would I be happy
when Westrail collapses?

Mr Brian Burke: Then your mates with the
private quarries can charge what they like.

Mr TRENORDEN: My mates happen to be
Westrail workers within the town of Northam.
The Premier may not realise it, but the town of
Northam for most of this century was a very
important rail centre. Northam values its
Westrail commitments. Most of the soldiers
have left Western Australia via the Northam
station at one time or another. We are very
proud of our association with Westrail. If
members look around they will soon discover
that in a few months' time it will be the 100th
anniversary of the old Northam railway
station. The whole town will celebrate because
the town is very proud of our association with
Westrail. I do not know who the Premier thinks
my mates are. Some of my mates used to be the
Premier's mates a few months ago.

Mr Brian Burke: I will post every single one
of those Westrail users a copy of your speech.

Mr TRENORDEN: Fine. 1 hope the Premier
does that. I could live with that.

Mr Brian Burke: You won't have any choice.
I will post them for you.

Mr TRENORDEN: Mr Speaker, I would like
to finish my speech. I know conversations
across the Chamber happen most of the day
and we all get pretty tired of it.

In some cases a 10 per cent concession
applies in country towns. Our local quarries
staff made inquiries and found out that the 10
per cent concession is not allowed on quarrying
industries. They were told they were not manu-
factu rers and were not entitled to a 10 per cent
tender concession, but the customs and excise
people class them as aids to the manufacturing
industry, so there is a quandary there.

The quarries, are competing against the
Westrail Western Quarries cartel. I feel for
these people and point out that this type of
operation is very objectionable to small
businesses. They must pay transport fees to
subsidise West rail and share the load to help
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Westrail compete against themselves. What ab-
solute hypocrisy. A freight rate increase of six
per cent is the other reason that Western
Quarries had to be in existence.

Mr Troy: If they can put the farm-on rating
they will get the same rate.

Mr TRENORDEN: The same amount of
business is out there.

Mr Troy: Come up with an offer and I am
sure Westrail will look at it with interest.

Mr TRENORDEN: I am disappointed be-
cause the one thing I had really hoped was that
we would find out the rate Westrail is operating
on. This is absolutely in the interests of the
Western Australian public and I cannot see any
reason that they should not know where their
money goes. This publication states, "Existing
supplies for commercial quarries significantly
below the supply price".

Mr Troy: Has Pioneer put out for public
knowledge its aggregate Costs for its batching
plant? That is the parallel you are asking for.

Mr TRENORDEN: I have the Pioneer price
for ballast.

Mr Troy:, No, I am talking about the price for
which they deliver to their concrete batching
plant. That is what you are talking about.

Mr TRENORDEN: Pioneer is not 50 per
cent owned by the Western Australian Govern-
ment.

Mr Brian Burke: Eighteen hundred workers
have lost their jobs within Westrail in two years
and most have families.

Mr TRENORDEN: Is the Premier saying I
am not concerned about that? Things are not
going too well in my electorate, either.

Anyway, I am not here to tip buckets on the
Government- I asked a reasonable question.
Why cannot people be told about the freight
costs of Westrail? I believe it is a reasonable
question because I am a member of Parliament
and this State owns 50 per cent of that
company. If I cannot find out anything I will
keep banging on the door until I do.

MR CASH (Mt Lawley) [12.03 a.m.J: I want
to comment about the articles appearing in the
newspaper relating to industrial lawlessness at
Canning Vale. With the Leader of the Oppo-
sition1 I attended a meeting on Monday in
West Perth with between 17 and 20 suppliers-
they were suppliers to the general building in-
dustry. They expressed extreme concern at the
way certain union officials operate in the Can-
ning Vale area. Earlier this evening the Leader
of the Opposition outlined very clearly some of

the specific cases that had been drawn to our
attention last Monday. As a result of that infor-
mation, on Tuesday he and I went to Canning
Vale fairly early in the morning to have a look
for ourselves and see whether we could lend
some support to the people who were obviously
under attack.

Before going to the on-site meeting, I want to
relate very quickly some of the matters that
were brought to our attention on the Monday.
Many of the suppliers were suppliers to the
following companies, Atlas Tiles, Precison Alu-
minium Windows, Atlas Transport, Perth
Building Supplies, and Atlas Concrete. Most of
those companies have some connection with
the very well-known architect and builder in
Perth, Mr Len Buckeridge.

It seems, from the evidence that was
presented on Monday, that there has been a
plan of concerted action organised by the
Trades and Labor Council to try to prevent
supplies entering certain building sites in the
Canning Vale area. We were given the names of
members of some sort of a committee which
was organising the industrial action at Canning
Vale. They were: Clive Brown of the TLC, J. J.
O'Connor of the Transport Workers Union,
Bill Ethell of the Building Workers Industrial
Union, Mark Binstead of the Builders
Labourers Federation, and Frank O'Grady of
the Building Workers industrial Union.

The suppliers related various situations with
which they were faced in trying to make deliv-
cries to various sites in Canning Vale. It seems
there is plenty of provision in the existing In-
dustrial Relations Act that could be used to
support the suppliers who want to deliver
goods and provide services to the various sites
in the industrial area at Canning Vale. Section
98(2) states-

Subject to this Act, an Industrial inspec-
tor shall perform such duties and shall
make such investigations and reports in
relation to the observance and provisions
of this Act, the regulations and of any
award or order, as the Minister directs.

It seems that the Minister will not direct the
industrial inspectors to take action in respect of
the problems at Canning Vale or, if he has
instructed them, they are not doing a very good
job because, on Tuesday morning, when I went
to the site with the Leader of the Opposition,
we noticed that the pickets had set up a camp
comprising a garage with an awning which was
placed on the verge of Cook Street, Canning
Vale, and a portable toilet had been placed
alongside it. They had organised themselves to
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man a picket line in respect of the building site
directly opposite. Each time a supplier's vehicle
approached the building site, a couple of union
people would leave the caravan area, run across
the road, and start waving their fists at the
drivers of those vehicles who were
endeavouring to enter the site. Obviously the
drivers had to slow down and some had to stop.
When they did that, the pickets went over to
those drivers and, while I could not hear what
was said, it appeared that they were threatening
the drivers with trouble if they entered those
sites.

It seems that this Government is either not
aware of what is going on in Canning Vale and,
if that is the case, that is an indictment of the
Minister for Industrial Relations, or, if it is
aware of what is going on in Canning Vale, it is
not doing much about it.

That in itself is an indictment not only of the
Minister for Industrial Relations, but also the
Government. I am calling on the Government
to recognise the problems occurring on those
building sites at the moment and to take some
positive action to prevent what could become a
very violent situation. There is no doubt in my
mind that if the suppliers to these sites are
continually harassed by these union thugs,
there will be violence. I want to qualify what I
am saying because I do not want it thought for
one moment that I am not a supporter of the
union movement or union members. I have
made that point before in this House.

Mr Brian Burke: The temperance union.
Several Government members interjected.
Mr CASH: When the clowns on the other

side finish performing, I will continue to speak.
Is the Premier feeling a little better now? Obvi-
ously he is suffering from a sickness.

The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! If the
member does not want interjections, he should
not encourage them. He should direct his
remarks through the Chair.

Mr CASH: Thank you, Mr Deputy Speaker.
Mr Bertram: A very good decision.
Mr Bradshaw: Have you lost your track?
Mr CASH: No, I have not lost my train of

thought. I am just waiting for the clown over
there to stop performing.

I make the point that the time has come for
this Government to recognise the problems
that are occurring at the industrial estate at
Canning Vale. Before I was so rudely interrup-
ted by the Premier, I was making the point that
I do not want it thought that I am not a sup-
porter of the union movement or union mem-

bers. About 20 years ago I was a member of the
Australian Workers Union, and a very proud
member of that organisation. Thus!I have some
experience in the operations of the union
movement. The Australian Workers Union 20
years ago would certainly not have carried on
in the way the very militant union officials are
carrying on at those sites in Canning Vale.

When we were at the site last Tuesday morn-
ing, we were approached by a number of em-
ployees who made it very clear to us that they
were terrified of the possible violence that
would erupt on that site if some sort of action
were not taken by the Government to remedy
the situation. The reason that I draw it to the
attention of the Government is that I believe
that unless something positive is done in the
next few days there will be bloodshed and viol-
ence on that site. I say that because as we heard
earlier tonight, when one of the suppliers tried
to deliver some materials on Monday, one of
the union officials produced a fairly large knife
and slit a couple of the cement bags that were
resting on the back of the truck that was being
driven into the site. Both the Leader of the
Opposition and I were shown those bags on the
Tuesday, and the facts surrounding the slashing
of those bags were related to us by the em-
ployees on that site. They asked us the ques-
tion: "if they are going to slit the bags today,
what are they going to do with those knives
tomorrow?" Obviously we were unable to
answer that question. All we could say was that
we could draw to the notice of the Government
and the Commissioner for Police the obvious
problems in that area in order that both parties
might act to try to sort out the situation.

On the way back from that site-we left the
site at about half-past-seven-we started to
proceed down Cook Street. Mr Deputy
Speaker, you would be fairly amused at the
events that took place from then on. We
proceeded down Cook Street towards Bannister
Road when all of a sudden we observed two of
the union officials race over to a red Commo-
dore sedan, jump in it and start tearing down
the street after our vehicle. I do not know what
types of games they were trying to play, but
obviously they decided they were going to have
a bit of fun. They were going to try to photo-
graph the Leader of the Opposition and myself
in the car or were perhaps aiming to run us off
the road. I really do not know, but it was an
interesting situation.

As we turned into Bannister Road and
proceeded towards South Street, the red
Commodore sedan pulled alongside on the
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wrong side of the road-thai is on the left-hand
side-and proceeded to try to drive up the
verge to get alongside us. The driver of the car,
as far as I could observe, was waving his fists or
making some sort of signi for us to stop. Obvi-
ously, at that stage we were not particularly
interested in their actions and we proceeded.
When we came to the end of Bannister Road
we entered a fairly long traffic queue. We were
stationary and the red car was sitting alongside
us on the wrong side of the road alongside the
left-band verge. It proceeded to move along in
line with our vehicle. On a number of occasions
the passenger in the sedan tried to take a photo
or photos of the Leader of the Opposition and
myself. I do not know the reason for their doing
that; neither do I know what little game they
were trying to play. The point as that carrying
on like that is an offence against the Criminal
Code.

I just want to draw that matter to the atten-
tion of the House because we made it very clear
to the employees on the site that day that, if
they were being harassed by these union.
officials, they had a duty to go to the police and
make a formal complaint in order that the
police could take the necessary action. Far too
often, every time the Opposition makes a point
in respect of an industrial dispute, this Govern-
ment has turned around and asked whether the
matter has been reported to the police. Not
everyone is aware of police procedures and the
manner in which reports have to be made. Just
ringing up a police station is obviously not
good enough. As a result of our finding out that
the employees did not know the way to go
about making a formal complaint, the Leader
of the Opposition and I gave them a number of
copies of section 550 of the Criminal Code
which clearly sets out that the action of the
people in following the Leader of tbe Oppo-
sition and myself in a car was illegal. Certainly
the act of union officials in trying to prevent
supplies from entering building sites is also il-
legal.

I want to refer to section 550 of the Criminal
Code because it is important that it be incor-
porated in Mansard so that building workers or
building employees or construction people who
read Mansard will have some understanding of
just what they can do should they be
confronted, intimidated or annoyed by militant
union officials. Section 550 reads as follows-

550. Any person who, with a view to
compel any other person to abstain from
doing or to do, any act which such other
person has a legal right to do or abstain

from doing, wrongfully and without legal
authority:-
(1) Uses violence to, or threatens with vi-

olence, such other person, or his wife
or children, or injures his property,
real or personal; or

(2) Persistently follows such other person
from place to place; or

(3) Hides any tools, clothes, or other
property owned or used by such other
person, or deprives him of or hinders
him in the use thereof; or

(4) Watches or besets the house or other
place where such person resides, or
works, or carries on his business, or
happens to be, or the approach to such
house or place; or

(5) Follows such other person with two or
more other persons in a disorderly
manner in or through any street or
road;

is guilty of an offence, and is liable on
summary conviction, or on indictment as
hereinafter mentioned, to imprisonment
with hard labour for three months' or to a
fine of forty dollars.

It is important that those people who are being
harassed, intimidated or annoyed by others
and are prevented from getting on with their
jobs should be aware that there is an action
they can take, and if they want it to stop there
is a need to make a formal complaint, because
once that formal complaint is made there is an
obligation on the police to act.

We have recently heard comments by some
of the employees and the building contractors
in that area that they believe the police have
not acted as fast as they could in respect of
some of these matters. I am a very strong
supporter of the Police Force in this State. I
would go out of my way to do anything to see
that it operates in an efficient manner.

I have taken it upon myself to advise those
people that, if they expect the police to act,
they must make a formal complaint. It is no
good complaining about iraction on the part of
the Police Force unless they have made a com-
plaint. I hope that as a result we will see more
formal complaints registered from people in
that area.

When out at the site the other day we were
shown a Volvo truck which had been placed on
approval by a trucking company. I understand
the truck was worth something in the order of
$120 000. It was a new unit. The owner of the
building site told us that the night before the
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vehicle had been tampered with. At that stage
they did not know whether any damage had
been caused to the vehicle. As far as they knew
when they spoke to us the other day, only the
clips fastening the bonnet had been removed,
the bonnet had been lifted and a few wires
played with. The bonnet had then been
lowered.

That truck was used today. I received a
phone call this afternoon to say that the Volvo
agents in Perth has assessed the damage caused
to that truck, and the damage bill will come to
$15000.

The reason for that is that the owners of the
building site were not aware that someone had
tampered with the vehicle and placed sand in
the oil filters and generally in the engine corn-
partment. When the vehicle was taken out
today, obviously that sand circulated, and it
has done $15 000-worth of damage to the ve-
hicle. That is the sort of action which this
Government seems to want to condone by its
inaction; by not getting out there and doing
something.

Mr Spriggs: It condones it and supports it.
Mr CASH: As the member for Darling Range

so rightly says, not only does the Government
condone it, but also it supports that sort of
action by militant union organisers.

Several members interjected.
Mr CASH: I think I heard a Government

member say that was a load of rubbish. Madam
Acting Speaker, there is no way that the com-
ments I make are rubbish. They were reported
to me today and I believe them to be true. I saw
the vehicle the other day. I understand that as a
result of someone's actions, $15 000-worth of
damage has been done to that truck. If that is
the sort of action which this Premier supports,
it is important that the people of this State are
made aware of it.

Mr Brian Burke: Who says the Premier sup-
ports that sort of action?

Mr Spriggs: You said it was rubbish.
Mr Brian Burke: I was not even here. Judas

was carrying on making things up as usual.
Mr CASH: When the Premier finishes

carrying on whatever it is he is carrying on-I
told you before, Madam Acting Speaker, that I
thought the Premier had an illness. Each time
he speaks he confirms even more that he has an
illness. I am prepared to stop if he wants to go
outside and take some water and medication.
He can come back here then and be more
reasonable in his comments. I will pause while
he does that. But if he is going to sit there aiad

make stupid remarks which appear to me to
indicate that he supports that sort of action
which I have just outlined to this House-

Mr Brian Burke: I certainly do not support
that Judas-like performance. The member was
laughing while his leader was crying. That was
enough for me.

Several members interjected.
Mr CASH: Madam Acting Speaker, I do not

think that sort of comment is appropriate. I
seek your support. I am not going to answer the
interjection. I do not expect the Premier to
have that sort of ridiculous comment recorded
in Mansard because it is untrue and he knows
it.

Mr Brian Burke: It is true.
Mr CASH: Madam Acting Speaker, I am call-

ing on you at this stage to take some action in
respect of the Premier's comments.

Mr Brian Burke: You cannot take it. You can
dish it out, but you cannot take it when some-
one comes back at you.

Mr CASH: If you, Madam Acting Speaker,
do not want to take some action, that suits me
fine. I trust that when I make a comment in
respect of this person you will not take any
action against me, because it is most dishonest.

The ACTING SPEAKER (Dr Lawrence):
Order! I think the debate should proceed.

Mr CASH: I think it is most dishonest and
dishonourable for the Premier to make those
comments. He knows they are not true. I want
it placed on record that I have for a very long
time considered him to be a most dishonest
person, and his statements tonight confirm that
what I have thought is absolutely true. The fact
that I think he is dishonest is one thing, but his
dishonesty is recognised by many others
throughout the community. If he thinks that he
is smart by making mileage out of the incidents
which happened today, let it rest on his head,
because one day he will be in a similar position.

Madam Acting Speaker, because I am not
that sort of person I will not seek to make
mileage out of this misery. It is a reflection on
the Premier as a person that we should hear
him make those statements in respect of an
Opposition member today. That says some-
thing about the person who tries to make him-
self out to be a man of the world.

Mr Brian Burke: You cannot take it.
Mr CASH: I can take anything the Premier

can dish out. One of his problems is that he
cannot take the sort of thing that the Oppo-
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sition dishes out. He does not like people to
acknowledge the fact that he is dishonest.

There is no question that there are many
people in this town who believe that to be an
absolute fact-that the Premier's actions in a
number of cases clearly indicate that he has
been less than honest.

Mr Brian Burke: Judas!
Mr CASH: The Premier can say what he

likes. The fact is that I am making a statement
that clearly indicates he is a dishonest person,
and he knows that.

Mr Brian Burke: You say I am.
Mr CASH: Not only 1, but many other people

in Perth believe the Premier to be a very dis-
honest person. They are people who I would
have thought would be his friends, and I assure
the House that those people are not all mem-
bers of my party. Many of those who have
made the claim to me that the Premier is a
dishonest person are in fact members of the
Labor Party. I just make that point.

I am quite happy to speak about the
Premier's dishonesty for another 19 minutes,
but I do not think that will achieve much. I
would like to be able to get back to the Hill.

The ACTING SPEAKER (Dr Lawrence): I
think it is appropriate that you return to the
subject of the debate.

Mr CASH: Thank you, Madam Acting
Speaker. I will certainly adhere to the industrial
relations matters to which I wish to refer in my
speech, so tong as I get some understanding
that the Premier will not make those silly little
remarks that cause me to have to answer inter-
jections.

Mr Brian Burke: Tell us why you laughed at
your leader.

Mr CASH: I was about to go back to indus-
trial relations, but if the Premier wants me to
continue to talk about the fact that people
come to me and relate stories to me of his
dishonesty, I will. However, I would have
thought there is more value in my talking about
the problems at Canning Vale.

Having been to the site the other day, the
Leader of the Opposition and I were very con-
cerned at the obvious unrest in that area. On
the way back we discussed the matter and
agreed that unless the Commissioner of Police
was made aware of the situation, there was
every likelihood that violence would break out
and someone would get hurt in that area. We
therefore wrote a letter to the Commissioner of
Police, and I want to read that letter into the
Mansard record so that people are aware of the

concern we felt in respect of the scenes we saw
at Canning Vale.

The letter is addressed to the Commissioner
of Police, Police Headquarters, 2 Adelaide Ter-
race, East Perth, and reads-

Dear Commissioner,
I would be grateful if you would consider

the situation at the premises of Atlas Tiles
in Canning Vale.

Atlas Tiles and associated businesses, in
which Mr Len Buckeridge has some
interest, are being subject to a concerted
campaign of obstruction and harassment,
including threats and wilful damage.

The fact that it is a concerted campaign
is an inference which must necessarily be
drawn from the surrounding facts.

A group of people, believed to be trade
union organisers from the BLF and the
BWIU under the co-ordinated direction of
the Trades and Labor Council, has camped
outside the premises of Atlas Tiles, where
a caravan is maintained, with a burning
fire, and portable toilet erected on the
verge of the road.

The employees of Atlas Tiles have been
subjected to intimidation and harassment
in moving to and from the premises.

Atlas Tiles and its associated businesses
have been subjected to break-ins and wilful
damage to property.

Various suppliers of this group of
businesses have been subject to threats of
industrial action in the event of their con-
tinuing to provide goods and services to
Atlas Tiles and its associated businesses.

Work on a nearby site has been brought
to a virtual standstill.

Individual employees, including work-
ing people, truck drivers and sub-contrac-
tors, have been individually subject to per-
sonal threats.

We have urged all of them to lodge for-
mal complaints with the police.

One formal complaint has been lodged
with the Cannington Police Station last
Friday evening, concerning an incident in
which an employee of Atlas Tiles, whilst
temporarily out of his vehicle to open the
gate to gain access to his premises, had the
keys of that vehicle stolen.

I enclose with this letter a formal letter
of complaint from Mr George Cash,
M.L.A. and myself, concerning the mnci-
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dent which occurred during our own visit
to the premises this morning.

We have individually discussed this
matter with a number of the employees.
suppliers and sub-contractors.

We regard the whole situation as ex-
trenmely serious. We are aware of the un-
willingness of the police to become
involved in what the police regard as in-
dustrial disputation. However, the activi-
ties of a number of people engaged in this
conflict amount to breaches of the criminal
law. Furthermore, it is our belief that the
police would feel obligated to provide ad-
equate protection to property and individ-
uals at this and other sites.

The situation is so serious that the at-
tempts of Mr Len Buckeridge to obtain
security protection for his premises have
been thwarted by threats made against the
very companies which provide security
protection.

It is indeed a fundamental danger to our
society when people are put in the position
that they cannot work because of industrial
intimidation and stand-over, which is of a
criminal nature, when they cannot obtain
adequate protection, when the industrial
law is not enforced by the Government,
and when all apparent remedies appear to
be too slow or inadequate in the circum-
stances.

This letter is a request for you to review
the whole situation at the highest level and
to seek to uphold the lawful rights of Mr
Buckeridge, his staff, suppliers, contractors
and sub-contractors.

Our own reaction on visiting the prem-
ises today was one of intense dismay and
frustration. Frankly, we are amazed that
there has not been a serious incident of
violence at that site. It seems to us that the
normal reaction of ordinary people to the
harassment and intimidation to which
these people have been subjected would be
to retaliate. It seems to us that eventually
that will occur and there will then be a
serious incident in which some people are
likely to be injured.

It also seemed to us, as outside ob-
servers, that where the due lawful
processes appear to be inadequate, that
amounts, in effect, to an invitation to
people to take action to protect them-
selves, and that action in itself could lead
to situations of violence.

I have also been advised that there is a
large amount of highly volatile material on
this site, in the form of tile sealer, tolulene
and dieseline, which could present a
danger to surrounding premises should it
be subject to an act of sabotage.

It is simply essential that the established
processes of law and order step in to give
proper protection to these various people.

The letter is signed by the Leader of the Oppo-
sition on behalf of both myself and the Leader
of the Opposition.

Mr Parker: You mean the Leader of the Op-
position and you signed the same piece of
paper?

Mr CASH: The Minister for Minerals and
Energy may find this funny, but I do not. Per-
haps his mirth is founded in the fact that some
years ago he was an industrial officer with the
Building Workers Industrial Union and was re-
sponsible for many concrete pours in this city
being stopped.

Mr Parker: That is not true.
Mr CASH: The record is clear and one only

has to go back to the newspapers of recent years
to see that the current Minister for Minerals
and Energy was once an industrial officer with
the BWIU and was involved in the stopping of
concrete pours. Not only did he condone that
action but also he recommended it to the
BWIU men on the sites. It is not much good for
him now to try to deny the very things he did
some years ago. If we like to go back a bit
further we need only go back to the days when
the Minister for Minerals and Energy was at
university.

Mr Parker: Was that the time when you were
dishonestly dealing in university land?

Mr CASH: I am trying to make the point that
when the Minister was a member of the Guild
of Undergraduates of the UWA or of WAIT he
carried on in such a way that he disgraced both
his guild and the State by the actions he took
against diplomats who were visiting this city.

Mrs Beggs: What did he do?
Mr CASH: I am not going to have time

tonight to relate the various acts carried out by
the Minister when he was a member of the
guild at UWA, but there is no question that
those acts are on the public record. If members
of the Government want to learn for them-
selves what this Minister did, I suggest they go
to the public record; it is all there to be seen.
Obviously we see today by the Minister's mirth
that even now as a Minister of the Crown he
still believes that those actions by him a few
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years ago were to his credit. I do not believe
they were to his credit and I am sure that the
people in the electorate of Fremantle also
would not see them as being anything of credit
to him.

In the few minutes remaining to me I will
deal with comments made earlier this eveni .ng
as to whether anyone had made any official
complaint about the actions out at Canning
Vale. Yes, a number of formal complaints have
been made, and I will read to members the
complaint that both the Leader of the Oppo-
sition and I made to the Commissioner of
Police in respect of certain actions that were
taken against us when we were in the area the
other day. I quote as follows-

Commissioner of Police,
Police Headquarters,
2 Adelaide Terrace,
East Perth. W.A. 6000

Dear Commissioner,
Please accept this letter as a formal com-

plaint from the writer, and Mr George
Cash, M.L.A., whose signature appears be-
low in confirmation, concerning the con-
duct of two persons at Canning Vale this
morning.

Mr. Cash and I visited the premises of
Atlas Tiles in Cook Street, Canning Vale,
at approximately 7 a.m. this morning, and
subsequently visited adjacent premises
nearby.

We observed outside the premises of At-
las Tiles, on the other side of the road, a
caravan, with awning attached, a burning
wood fire, several men, and two parked
cars, one a red holden Commodore.

PointIs of Order
Mr BRIAN BURKE: I think this is perhaps

the fifth time that this letter has been read out.
Mr Cash: You fool, it is not.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: I will be-
Mr Cash: You fool, you are out Of Order.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: The member knows

how to hurt someone. He just called me a fool.
Of course it is a sophisticated barb.

To the best of my knowledge, and I have
been sitting here assiduously, so the member
can call me fat, sick, a fool or anything else-

Mr Cash: Just dishonest.
A member: You can't call him fat now.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: Not now, because I am

fit.

Mr Burkett: They wouldn't, call you fat if
they saw you working out at the gym.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I believe in all honesty
that this is the same letter which has been read
out four or five times. At this time of the even-
ing, that amounts to tedious repetition.

Mr CASH: On the same point of order, the
Premier is wrong in saying that this letter has
been read out four or five times.

Mr Brian Burke: It is very similar.
Mr CASH: The Premier is wrong in saying

that it has been read out four or five times.
That is quite clearly not true.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: On the same point of
order, I ask the member to table the five letters
so that we can check them.

The ACTING SPEAKER (Dr Lawrence):
Under the circumstances, and in view of the
hour, I suggest that the member for Mt Lawley
should deal with the matter speedily. I also
indicate to him that I have taken some note of
the imputations he made against the Premier. I
will not take any action today but I will in the
future.

Debate Resumed
Mr CASH: I have only three paragraphs left

to read, and if there are no further inteijections
I will continue and finish the letter so that it is
recorded in Hansard. I am surprised that the
Premier does not want incorporated in
Hansard my official complaint to the Com-
missioner of Police in respect of the conduct of
people out at Canning Vale the other day. To
continue-

When we left the premises of Atlas Tiles
at approximately 7.25 a.m., we observed
two persons from the caravan come out
fmom under the canvas awning, get into the
red Commodore and follow us as we
turned into Bannister Road leading back
towards Perth.

As we approached the intersection of
Bannister Road and South Street, we were
held up waiting to make a right-hand turn,
at which time the red Commodore sedan,
the number of which we recorded as
7DC.361, pulled up alongside us on the
left hand side of the road, partly on the
road and partly on the verge. At that point
in the road it was not a two-lane road but a
single lane.

The two men inside the car kept in line
with our vehicle, moving each time we
moved, and the passenger was trying to
photograph us from inside the vehicle.
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When it became apparent to them that
we were recording their vehicle number
and description, they drew back, and did a
u-turn and moved off.

We believe that an offence may have
been committed and we would be grateful
if you would arrange appropriate investi-
gations.
Yours sincerely.
W. R. B. HASSELL, M.L.A.,
LEADER OF THE OPPOSITION.
I confirm this complaint.
GEORGE CASH, M.L.A.,
MEMBER FOR MT. LAWLEY

Time will preclude my dealing any further with
the problems at Canning Vale. In the few min-
utes remaining to me, all I can say is that I am
very concerned and disappointed at the obvi-
ous lack of interest the Premier has in the in-
dustrial disputation currently occurring on that
site in Canning Vale.

If there is an injury or violence on that site I
will take it upon myself to let people in this
State know very quickly that the Premier was
advised of the situation prior to that violence
occurring, and that he neglected to take any
action whatever to prevent it.

MR COURT (Nedlands) [ 12.51 a.m.]: A few
weeks ago the Premier went to great lengths to
get one of his PR statements out in relation to
the performance of some members in this
House and the way members tended to abuse
each other. He said they had to lift their act.
Tonight we have watched the Premier, who de-
cided to come into the House and obviously
thought there would be fun and games for an
hour or so if he started throwing a bit of abuse
around. He cannot have it bath ways.

Mr Brian Burke: I do not think I threw any
abuse.

Mr COURT: The Premier thought it was
clever to call the member for Mt Lawley,
"Judas".

Mr Parker: That is not abuse; it is a descrip-
tion.

Mr COURT: The Minister can play silly
games, but I do not think the Government can
expect to have it both ways. If the Premier
wants a front-page story on the fact that mem-
bers should perform better and lift their stan-
dards, he has not set a good example.

The Leader of the Opposition and the mem-
ber for Mt Lawley outlined in some detail some
of the events which have occurred on building

sites in this State. Without getting too emotion-
al about the whole exercise, I know the futility
they must feel in trying to highlight the situ-
ation. I can recall only too well that the same
thing happened in this Parliament a couple of
years ago when we were trying to assist some
small operators in Geraldton who were having
problems with the union movement. No-one
wanted to help them or know them. As far as
the Government was concerned, if a union was
carrying on the activities to which we referred,
it was okay.

When the police took action and charges
were laid, we know what happened-in the end
the charges were withdrawn. The situation my
two colleagues have referred to is very real. I
have been to some of these sites in recent
weeks, and I spoke this morning to some of the
people involved, and it is frightening.

Mr Parker: Were you the person taking the
photograph of the Leader of the Opposition?

Mr COURT: The Minister should not play
games. It is all very well for Ministers to laugh
and joke about it, but these matters are serious.
The incident referred to by my leader and the
member for Mt Lawley is far more serious than
what happened in the Geraldton exercise. As
the member for Mt Lawley said, if this situ-
ation gets any worse people will be hurt.

More than a week ago-on Wednesday
week-I raised some very serious matters in
this House in relation to the activities of the
Exim Corporation. If the Premier has the time
to listen, he may be able to answer some
queries.

Mr Brian Burke: I will be back shortly. I am
going to get a cup of tea. I wanted to listen to
the member for Mt Lawley; he made a very
good contribution.

Mr COURT: One of the queries I raised re-
lated to the funny business going on with the
pastoral leases in the north, and I asked a ques-
tion about why a liability of $1 million was not
included in the 1985 accounts for Exim. That
was the liability associated with the $6 million
it was given. That was a very serious allegation.
As of today I have still to get an answer, and
the session is finishing. The Premier has
answered saying he will reply in writing in due
course. I would have thought that action would
be taken the next day after an allegation of that
nature was made to check the situation to see
whether some changes needed to be made. I get
the distinct impression the Government thinks
it is smart to hold back the answers until after
the House has risen.

2602



[Thursday, 24 July 1986]160

The other matter of concern which I raised
related to the activities of a company called
Goidrock Investments in which Exim had an
investment. There were quite bizarre dealings
in that company. I also expressed concern
about Eim's involvement in the selling of
Acremaster tractors through Acremaster Mar-
keting. My questions on all those matters have
conveniently been left unanswered. So what is
new?

Tonight I will answer some of those ques-
tions myself because the Government is not
going to come clean on what is taking place,
and the public should know about some of the
things that are happening because their funds
are being used. The Government knows the
criticism we have of Exim-that it is not ac-
countable to this Parliament. I am sure the
Honorary Minister assisting the Minister for
Aboriginal Affairs would like to see Exim more
accountable so that some of its activities came
under closer scrutiny following the disgraceful
report that was prepared about what would
happen with the* pastoral leases in the
Kimberley.

We warned the Government when it estab-
lished this company that it would lose control
of it and what went on in it because it is not
accountable. It has a lot of money, and it has
the ability to go into a wide range of ventures,
and all sorts of funny things can happen.
Unfortunately for the State, that is happening.
Members opposite may say, "Give us the
examples; put up or shut up." We do; I will run
through what has happened with Goldrock In-
vestments.

Recently we saw the Government, through
the Minister for Industry and Technology, sack
one of its departmental heads because he
bought airline tickets for overseas travel from a
private source and not a Government source,
and saved the taxpayers' money. It was not a
drain on the taxpayers' funds; it was a saving.
At the time the Government applied that set of
standards for departmental heads, it had an
operation like Exim investing a lot of money in
very funny ways. It would appear that it is
prepared to allow those practices to continue
and not be made public, and keep a veil of
secrecy over the company.

I wanted to detail what has happened to
Goldrock because it is a very good example of
the deceit of the Premier and the Government
in trying to cover up this particular operation.
Last week I said that Exim had sold its invest-
ment in this business to friends and relatives of
senior management of Exim, and at the same

time had lent them money. That was a very
serious allegation. It was made more than a
week ago. I placed a series of questions on the
Notice Paper, but it appears I will not get the
answers before we finish this sitting. I would
have thought the Premier would explain pub-
licly the next day what had taken place and
what was taking place.

Let us look at some of the questions I have
asked in this House and answers I have
received, On 19 June I asked the Premier
whether WA Eim Corporation had sold its
investment in Goldrock Investments and if the
answer was "Yes", for what price and to whom.
The answer was that it has sold its invest-
ment-S I par shares for $1I each to Auscorp
Holdings Ltd.

In question 765 1 asked whether Exim Cor-
poration had been paid for the shares in
Goldrock Investments which it sold to Auscorp
Holdings and if the answer was "No", when
would they be paid for. The answer was that
the shares had been paid for.

I then asked what equity position Exim held
in Goldrock Investments and the answer was
"None". We have a situation where Exim sold
its interests, has no equity in Goidrock and it is
paid for. It is simple, and I am sure the Premier
thought it would keep the member for
Nedlands quiet. The business is sold and it is
paid for.

After I raised the subject in this House last
Wednesday week I put some further questions
on notice. I asked whether Exim Corporation
had sold its units in the Goldrock unit trust and
if it had, for what price, who was the purchaser,
and was the sale funded by Exim or a subsidi-
ary. The reply was, "No. A proposed sale was
not consummated for commercial reasons."

In question 874 1 asked what date Eim Cor-
poration paid for the shares in Goldrock In-
vestments which it sold to Auscorp. I also
asked whether Exim Corporation provided any
terms or funding of this sale and did it lend the
purchasers the additional funds prior to, or
after, the sale. The answers were-

(1) 18 March 1986. Subsequently, the
sale did not proceed.

(2) No.
(3) A proposed arrangement with

Auscorp did not come to fruition.
We now have a situation where one week I am
told it was sold and paid for and the next week
I am told it has not been sold. What am I
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meant to believe? The Premier answered the
same questions.

I then asked a series of questions which in-
cluded whether Exim guaranteed Auscorp, a
bank loan this year, and how much was the
guarantee and when was it agreed to. I did not
receive a reply.

In question 963 1 asked whether Exim lent
Auscorp limited funds additional to those
required to purchase the company, and when
was the money made available and on what
terms, how much was lent, and who guaranteed
the loan. Again I did not receive a reply.

I then asked for how much Exim sold its
interest in Goldrock Investments to Auscorp,
what was the original cost of this investment by
Exim, was the sale funded by a loan from
Exim, and who guaranteed the loan. The
replies I have received referred to me the
answer to question 961 and the answer to that
question was, "I have referred the matter
raised in the member's question to the Exim
Corporation, and he will be advised in writing
in due course."

Mr Parker: That is a reply.
Mr COURT: I raised this matter more than a

week ago, and I will leave this Parliament not
having received the answers.

It is very interesting and there is more to
come and the same applies to Acremaster Trac-
tors. I asked what funds had Exim Corporation
provided that company in the way of equity
capital loan guarantees, and had the WADC
been asked to assist in the funding of that
company and, had they agreed to participate.
Again the answer that I was given was to see
question 96 1.

The questions are being left unanswered.
This afternoon the Government put out a Press
release on Goldrock. The Government thought
it had better come clean-it is not a come
clean, it is a cover up. I remind members that it
has been sold and paid for, but the next week
the Premier says it is back in the fold again.

Mr Cash: Would you also tell us if there are
any family connections?

Mr COURT: I suppose I could be flattered in
a way because I have had the Premier's PR
machine working on this matter for some time
and it has come up with this sort of statement
which is quite bizarre. Among other things, it
says that the operations of the jewellery manu-
facture side of Goldrock will be revamped
under a shareholding arrangement and man-
agement structure. It stated that the initiative

follows the failure of the proposed sale of a
majority interest in Goldrock to Auscorp.

The Premier went to great lengths the other
night in this House to tell me that Exim owned
only 46 per cent of Goidrock. The Government
has got caught in its web of trying to cover up
this matter. The Premier says 46 per cent, and
now it is selling a majority interest in the oper-
ation.

Mr Parker: Listening to what you have read
you cannot say those two thing are different.
They are talking about Auscorp purchasing an
interest.

Mr COURT: It states that the initiative fol-
lows the failure of the proposed sale of a ma-
jority interest in Goldrock to Auscorp.

Mr Parker: It is talking about a majority. It is
not necessarily Exim. They may be looking at
two or three parcels of shares.

Mr COURT: I am talking about Exim.
The Premier went to great lengths to say that

it owned 46 per cent and tried to keep it at
arm's length. The chief executive of Exim is the
managing director of the operation, and that is
not exactly at arm's length. Exim was running
the operation. However, it is now saying that
the shares involved in the proposed sale have
reverted to the WA Exim Corporation, giving it
a majority shareholding in the company.

The fact of the matter is that it has been
caught up in its own running around and I will
explain the details shortly. The Government is
now saying it is an excellent product and has
great potential, and that Exim will provide the
jewellery operation with financial management
on the world-wide marketing network. It has
already done that once and it will do it again.

Exim has now decided to retain its interest in
Goldrock until the business becomes a viable
operation. It is stated that the directors of
Goldrock knew at all times of former links be-
tween Auscorp and Exim executives, and the
interest did not conflict and they were non-
beneficial in the circumstances.

The statement released by Exim is very
interesting. What happened in the Exim oper-
ation with Goldrock is that Exim bought a 46
per cent interest in the business. The company
had about $500 000 in capital which was spent
very quickly on a number of different things.
The company found itself in a situation where
it had not really traded and had used up all its
capital. This is one of Exim's investments, and
there might be 100 more like it: I do not know.
The Premier will not disclose the investments
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in which it is involved. When it found itself
with problems it called up its friends-in fact,
they were friends and relatives of senior man-
agement-and said, "Are you interested in
buying this business?"

They looked at the business, decided they
would need some funds for this project, and
that they could not go into it without financing.
The Premier will not answer questions and the
Exim people appear to be running around try-
ing to hide the fact that they loaned money
along the lines of $105 000 to buy the shares-
not only those shares but also those of another
director.

The Premier implies in his answer that
shares with a nominal value of $1 were sold for
$ 1. That sounds like a reasonable deal. The
c ompany was running out of money and it was
able to buy $I shares for $ 1. The 46 per cent
investment was sold for $105 000, about 30c in
the dollar. That money was provided as a soft
loan. The 46 per cent plus the other person's
100 000 shares made a total of 64 per cent. The
company was given $ 105 000 to help buy the
shares; and another component in the deal was
the $ tOO 000 working capital, again in the form
of a soft loan. I do not know the exact details of
the loan, but it was probably at minimal
interest rates or possibly interest free. The
Government also agreed to guarantee the bank
loan of $100000. It was mentioned a short
time ago that Exim had a charge over Auscorp
of $350 000. 1 do not know whether those
funds were drawn down, or what. The senior
management wanted to sell the business and,
according to the Premier, it was sold. I do not
understand how it could have been sold
although it apparently has been because the
people in Auscorp were trying to sell their
interest.

The company then went to Auscorp, a
company with the same directors as Eastmark.
Last week we raised the former connection be-
tween Easimark and the management, a
company which itself ran into trouble, and ran
out of funds. Thus, Exim was in double trouble.
Not only did it sell shares to friends and rela-
tives and fund the sale, but also the business
ran into difficulties.

The member for Nedlands then started caus-
ing problems and as a result we saw some
pretty fancy footwork in the last week. Those
shares have now moved from Auscorp back to
Exim. Another statement has been made that it
has 64 per cent of the company, and whoever
sold the 100 000 shares has the best deal be-
cause he has been paid for it. Exim has now

apparently taken all its shares back and the
whole process has been reversed.

The sale went through on 1 8 March 1 986,
and now four months later, because the Oppo-
sit ion raised the matter in this House, the
Government decided to do something about
reversing the sale. Why? Because it was a great
embarrassment to the Premier. He holds up the
Exim Corporation as a company which will
help local industry and the like. What is it
doing? The one investment it entered into-we
spoke about the pastoral leases-went bad
within minutes of its trying to sell the invest-
ment to friends and relatives and funding that
sale. It must be remembered that we are talking
about taxpayers' money.

To try to keep the record clean the Govern-
ment has brought it back to Exim and today
made this most embarrassing statement which
shows that its share was originally 46 per cent
but is now 64 per cent. It now has a majority
shareholding. In trying to cover up the dealings
the Government has picked up a greater
interest in the business. It is not only amateur-
ish, but also very serious.

If members opposite condone this type of
activity and operations such as this they will
find themselves running into a number of prob-
lems. I am sure that even the Minister for Min-
erals and Energy would not support that sont of
action. We have seen some pretty swift foot-
work recently. We are talking about hundreds
of thousands of dollars, not an overseas airline
ticket purchased by someone who wanted to
save money; and we are told that it is the tip of
the iceberg.

We have been trying to get answers to ques-
tions about Acremaster Marketing of which
Exim owns 50 per cent. All sorts of problems
are arising in that area. I believe it is now time
for the Premier to realise that the Opposition is
sick of the secrecy and the deceitful answers. It
has reached the stage at which it is almost a
game;, we ask a question and get an answer; and
we now work on the assumption that the
answer is not correct. We dig a little more and
eventually find the true story of these oper-
ations.

The Premier is responsible for these matters
and he cannot continue avoiding responsibility
by saying that it is not the Government but
consultants who are engaged in the operations.
That is not the case; the Government is directly
involved. In fact, the chief executive of Exim is
now a senior member of the Public Service
Board.
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Mr MacKinnon: In any event, who owns all
the shares of Exim?

Mr COURT: They are all owned by the
Premier, who holds them for the taxpayers of
this State.

Mr MacKinnon: Who appoints the directors?
Mr COURT: The Premier. We now have a

situation in which a senior member of the Pub-
lic Service Board was directly involved in this
particular transaction. The time has come for
the Government to come clean on these deals;
and if it does not do so people will express their
concern to the Opposition and tell us of those
things going on which appall them.

It might be said that the Government is
leaking. In this case I know how the Govern-
ment works and how vindictive it can be. It
thinks that a certain person is giving me infor-
mation about this exercise.

I have been in that person's office when
Exim has telephoned and told that person, "Do
not give Court any information on Goidrock",
and I have been talking to that person about
something completely different from Goidrock.
That is the extent to which they are going to try
to hide the activities of something which they
say is their flagship.

I have had one or two senior Government
public relations officers working on this case
this week, and they have finally come up with
what can only be described as a very amateur-
ish cover-up. The Premier should now spell out
all the details, exactly as they are, so that the
public know what that operation is. The same
should be done immediately for the Acremaster
marketing operations. In fact, the Premier
should give us a list of all the businesses in
which the Government has an equity interest,
and those businesses to which they have made
major loans, and the same for guarantees. The
joke around town is that Exim will guarantee
anything; but it is no joke because taxpayers'
funds are being used in that exercise.

I probably will not have much success in get-
ting the answers I want to the questions I have
posed, but because of its concern about the
accountability of these operations the Oppo-
sition will certainly continue to put pressure on
the Government to come clean. It is not right
on subjects such as this that I have to accept
answers from the Premier which are nothing
short of deceitful.

MR LEWIS (East Melville) [ 1.22 anm.]: I will
direct my comments to the situation of tertiary
education as it currently exists in this State. In
recent weeks I have been approached by

people, within my awn electorate and from
other electorates, who are very concerned
about the direction tertiary education is taking
under the current Minister. They have a great
feeting of uncertainty and disappointment, and
have a great inclination towards disloyalty. In
the main they are highly professional,
hardworking educators who find themselves in
an untenable situation so far as their futures
are concerned. They do not know and do not
understand what is happening.

Today their bewilderment was perhaps
further manifested by a publication entitled
Tertiary Education 198 7-Information for Pro-
spective Overseas Students which was published
by the Tertiary Institutions Set-vice Centre on
behalf of-and it lists at the top--Curtin Uni-
versity of Technology. That is an institution
that does not exist! This publication is for the
information of overseas students, and I would
like the Minister to explain to this Parliament,
and to the public and, more importantly, to our
tertiary educators, under what authority the
Tertiary Institutions Service Centre uses the
title of Curtin University of Technology.

Mr Pearce: Do you understand that the ser-
vice centre does not come under the Minister
for Education?

Mr LEWIS: No such institution exists! The
educators also want to know when the Minister
will stop firing from the hip and introduce
legislation to change the Western Australian In-
stitute of Technology to the Curtin University
of Technology. The public want to know and
the educators want to know.

Mr Pearce: In the next session of Parlia-
ment-that is the answer.

Mr LEWIS: These are legitimate questions
that require answering.

Mr Pearce: I think you are a bit late with that
sentence.

Mr LEWIS: Why?
Mr MacKinnon: You are going to legislate to

do what?
Mr Pearce: In the next session of Parliament

the legislation to change the status of WAIT
will be before the House.

Mr LEWIS: That is a very good answer and I
am pleased the Minister has furnished that in-
formation.

Mr Pearce: You really flushed me out there!
Mr LEWIS: The Minister should let me con-

tinue. I thank the Minister for telling us that, at
this late hour.
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Mr Pearce: Had you asked me a week or a
month ago, I would have told you.

Mr LEWIS: Tell the public and the edu-
cators; they did not know.

Mr Pearce: Who does not know?
Mr LEWIS: Just to illustrate the

scatterbrained approach of this Minister, he
floats two or three proposals whenever it comes
into his mind and bewilders his educators-the
people at Murdoch University, at the Western
Australian Institute of Technology, and at the
Western Australian College of Advanced Edu-
cation. They do not know what is going on. To
illustrate this a little further, and why this inde-
cision is so manifest, in a publication entitled
College Contact, put out by the WACAE and
dated June/July, an article appeared in which it
was stated that on 22 May at Churchlands the
Minister made some proposals. I quote from
the publication-

Mr Pearce opened his address with a dis-
claimer of the importance of the role of a
State minister in tertiary education saying
that "the two big players in the game are
the Commonwealth Government (through
funding) and the institutions themselves."

That is very germane to the point. The insti-
tutions themselves are the players. That is very
important. The article continues-

However, Mr Pearce added that he did
not see the interest of the State being best
served by each of the four major insti-
tutions (WACAE, UWA, Murdoch, WAIT)
pursuing their own interests entirely.

That is the point. The article continues-
Mr Pearce said that "in broad brush

terms" UWA will continue in much the
same sort of role that it has; and he saw
Murdoch, in a larger Western Australia
fulfilling a similar role but with expansion
coming through a wider faculty base.

The Minister made those statements on 22
May. He said the institutions could took after
themselves. He saw the role of the University
of Western Australia as the senior academic
institution and that Murdoch would fit into a
situation with a wider base in its faculty, and
would continue in the same way. That is very
important.

Mr Pearce: What is the next bit, about the
Curtin University of Technology? Did you read
that bit out?

Mr LEWIS: The Minister should let me fin-
ish. I am developing, and he is helping.
Unfortunately the future of tertiary education

has become so confused that the national union
of university academics was quoted in The
West Australian on Monday, 21 July as
strongly criticising plans by the Burke Govern-
ment to create a State University. As well, an
article appeared in The West Australian on 5
July headed "Pearce wants big varsity for
WA". I quote from that article-

The Minister for Education, Mr Pearce,
wants to revolutionise tertiary education
in WA by establishing a State university.

This is matter of six weeks after he said they
could do their own thing and look after them-
selves, yet in this publication he is saying they
will play a global role. But the punchline is-

"At the moment the WAIT
administration has the best record and is
well organised and its staff are loyal," Mr
Pearce said.

That impugnes the staff at Murdoch University
and the WA College of Advanced Education by
suggesting they are disloyal. The Minister
should talk to the educators and the academics.
This is a statement made recently by the Minis-
ter-

The WACAE has a leadership dearth ...
What does the Minister think that sort of
statement does for our tertiary education
system? Does he think it gives it a real fillip?
The Minister says that none of them is any
good.

Mr Pearce: I have a lot of time for Dr Jecks
but he has been ill and has not been able to give
the leadership to the college that he is capable
of, and underneath him there are not the
people who can give that leadership.

Mr LEWIS: At last the Minister is seeing the
error of his way. Too often he lets his mouth
run away from his brain and he says that sort of
thing. The Minister has said, "Murdoch is the
weakest and smallest institution". Six weeks
before that he was quoted as follows-

... he saw Murdoch, in a larger Western
Australia, fulfilling a similar role but with
expansion coming through a wider faculty
base.

Yet six weeks after making that statement he
contradicted himself when he said that he
would put WAIT's administration above the
administration of Murdoch and the WA Col-
lege of Advanced Education because he felt
that WAIT's administration was more com-
petent, loyal, and expert. Then in the next
breath he tries to tell us that there is no con-
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fusion among people in our tertiary education
system.

Just to highlight the point I am making that
the Minister fires from the hip using a scatter
gun, making statements one week which he
contradicts later, members should understand
that the national Union of University Aca-
demics has strongly criticised the Burke
Government for wanting to create a State uni-
versity. [ quote as follows-

The Federation of Australian University
Staff Association will mount a vigorous
campaign against what it calls the "decide
now, think later" approach of the Minister
for Education, Mr Pearce.

How true-decide now and think later. To con-
tinue quoting-

Association president, Neil H-arpley said
after a national executive meeting inMelbourne that the group's main objective
was to preserve the rational Australia-wide
planning of the limited resources for ter-
tiary education.

The State university plan could cause a
drop in federal education funds to WA if
the Commonwealth demanded economies
of scale from the conglomerate institution.

Mr Pearce's proposal is for the amalga-
mation of the WA Institute of Technology,
Murdoch University and the WA College
of Advanced Education under the control
of WAIT.

What a contradiction. He says they can do their
own thing, that they are going along fine, but
six weeks later he says they must come under
WAIT. WAIT is the junior institution.

Mr Pearce: Some of your constituents go
theme.

Mr LEWIS: I am not knocking that. There is
a proper place here for WAIT. Even the Dr
Strangelove from Victoria Park had to ask the
Minister a dorothy dix question. I will quote
from Hansard to get the Minister out of the
mess he has got himself in. On 10 July, Dr
Gallop asked the Minister the following ques-
tiozi-

Is the Government committed to the
proposal to amalgamate Murdoch Univer-
sity, the WA Institute of Technology, and
the WA College of Advanced Education to
create a new State university, as reported
in The West Australian last Saturday?

The Minister said, "No, we are not really com-
mitted to that". So on that occasion he said
they could do their own thing. One week he

says there will be a global State university and
then later in Hansard he indicates that he is not
committed to that idea and says he really does
not know what he is going to do. Does the
Minister think the academics at the colleges of
advanced education have any confidence in
him? Does he think they know where they are
going or where their jobs are going now? They
do not and they are very concerned. This is a
serious matter,

Unfortunately the Minister has made yet
another mistake. lHe seems to stumble along
week after week making mistake after mistake.
Even in the morning edition for Friday, 25
July, we find that The West Australian has a
headline "Pearce misled the House". I can re-
member four weeks back when in this Chamber
I suggested to the Minister that he had misled
the House. I suggested to him that a senior
officer in the State Planning Commission had
not been completely truthful. The Minister de-
nied that vehemently; he argued the point to
the last degree. I was even threatened by the
Minister-a veiled threat that my period in the
Parliament would be very short.

That was a misuse of the privilege of this
House. But the truth prevailed. In a statutory
declaration the Chairman of the Planning
Commission vindicated what I had said; that
was not denied. On that occasion the Minister
misled the House. He has misled the House in
an answer to a question on notice from Hon.
Norman Moore, who asked the Minister
whether a green paper had been commissioned,
to be prepared by the WA Post-Secondary Edu-
cation Commission. The Minister replied,
"No". What happened? Off the back of a
truck-

The SPEAKER: Order! I inform those mem-
bers who are making a noise that I am very
keen to hear the erudite and enormously
interesting comments from the member on his
feet.

Mr Grill: My God, you are droll.

The SPEAKER: Order! I am having some
difficulty hearing him, as is the Hansard re-
porter. I call for members' cooperation.

Mr Cowan: We were hoping you would re-
mind him that the day after tomorrow is
Sunday.

Mr LEWIS: Thank you, Mr Speaker. Maybe
I have a little more vigour than members op-
posite who have been lazing around most of the
night. I will resume my remarks on how the
Minister misled Parliament.
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He denied a green paper had been requested
and then one fell off the back of a truck and
was provided to The West Australian news-
paper. It contained another radical plan on
how he was going to do all sorts of things with
TAPE and technical education. He was caught
out again; the Minister trips and stumbles.

Mr Pearce: That report points out that I
specifically rejected that draft because it did
not match Government policy in that area. The
report was also a year old-your trucks are a
bit slow.

Mr LEWIS: I think there were two drafts.
The point I was making is that the Minister
fires from the hip. He has a penchant for run-
nling off at the mouth before his brain is in gear.
He has put the education system completely in
a shambles, and our educators, the parents of
students, children, and young people who are
trying to educate themselves at our teritory in-
stitutions do not know what is going on be-
cause every week the Minister has a new plan.

It is indeed unfortunate that he is now
reorganising the whole of the Education De-
partment. Maybe he does it because he was a
schoolteacher and at that time he had a great
frustration with the Education Department and
saw himself one day as the Director General of
Education. He is now a megalomaniac Minister
who sees that he has complete power over edu-
cation. He has the education system in such
confusion that no-one knows what is going on.
His impetuosity is such that he never listens; he
fires first and waits for the reaction. He sets up
a stalking-horse to see which of his proposals
might get through.

People within the education system have
expressed concern to me that, notwithstanding
the sound recommendations in the McGaw re-
port and elsewhere, the changes have been
introduced with a great deal of haste. As yet the
Education Department has not worked out
what sort of certificate will be granted to
students passing out of year 12. There is con-
fusion within the system on what form of
accreditation year 12 students will receive to
set out what they have achieved- I ask the Min-
ister to interject and deny that.

Mr Pearce: When are these year 12 children
going to graduate from school?

Mr LEWIS: These young people will be
coming out of senior school in about eight to 12
weeks.

Mr Pearce: They will get their certificates
within a few weeks-

Mr LEWIS: Have decisions been made on
how they will be accredited?

Mr Pearce: Yes, of course.
Mr LEWIS: Why do not any of the educators

know?
Mr Pearce: I find it hard to understand why

every educator in the State is coming to you of
all people and saying, "I do not know what is
going on." If a constituent of yours is confused,
ask him to ring me and I will explain. The
Secondary Education Authority makes this de-
cision, and although you are trying to reflect on
me, you are reflecting on the people in the
authority. The decisions have been made and
are in the process of being communicated to
the schools. The students will not graduate un-
til the end of the year; it is now July so there is
plenty of time.

Mr LEWIS: I am making the point that I and
many other people believe that the people in
the education system do not know where they
are going at the moment. The Minister should
sit down and listen to the people he has
appointed to advise him, and make rational
decisions and let people know about them in an
orderly way. People in the education system
feel their jobs are on the line, and they do not
know where they arc going; nor do some
students, because their educators are confused.

I would like to reflect on an election prom-
ise-a from-the-hip-election promise-in
which the Government said it would provide
computers in all schools. Many of the head-
masters within my electorate, many constitu-
eats, and parents and citizens' groups have told
me that they are greatly disappointed that this
election promise has not been honoured. They
see their children on the threshold of a techno-
logical age in which they need to understand
and be competent in technology such as com-
puters. The Government has turned its back on
the educators, the public, and the students to
whom it promised to provide computers.

The bigger shame is no long-term thinking
has been done about how computers will be
introduced into our education system. The
shoot-from-the-hip attitude prevails, because I
have been informed that even if the computers
had been provided no-one could have taught
the children how to use them. It would
probably have been a case of the children
teaching the educators. Perhaps it is appropri-
ate that the computers are not introduced now
because they cannot be used. What the Govern-
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ment should be doing is ensuring that the edu-
cators and the people who will be teaching
computer skills to students know how to use
the computers and pass on the skills.

That should be happening now because there
is not a five-minute or a six-week lead time.
Most of our teachers have never been
associated with computer technology, and it is
foreign to them. It is not something they can
pick up in five minutes; there must be a tran-
sition period. The Government should recog-
nise that fact and set things in train to ensure
that the teachers, who I hope will get com-
puters, are educated in how to teach our chil-
dren about them.

I draw to the attention of the Parliament a
situation which I believe should not have oc-
curred; and I do not want my comments to in
any way reflect on the Police Force,

A constituent of mine is the deputy principal
of a school and some time ago she went into the
staff room and had a feeling that there was
someone else in that room.

This is a serious matter and members op-
posite may smile, but I suggest to them that
they listen to what I am saying.

The lady to whom I am referring turned
around and found someone going through her
handbag- She was shocked, surprised, and
frightened; and she attempted to grab the per-
son, but he pushed her over and ran out of the
building. She went immediately to the tele-
phone and dialed the emergency number 000
and what did she get on the other end?

Mr Brian Burke: The time?
Several members interjected.
The SPEAKER: Order! The member for East

Melville is trying desperately to get a word in
and members are interjecting and stopping that
from happening. I do not want that to con-
tinue.

Mr Brian Burke: If one dials 000D one usually
tells the person who answers the telephone
what service one wants.

Mr LEWIS: It is difficult to relate a situation
when members opposite are so stupid.

The lady dialed 000 and was put on a
recording queue. Eventually she put the tele-
phone down and picked it up about three min-
utes later to find that she was put on the
recording queue again. This occurred on two or
three occasions, and finally she was put
through to a policeman and was told that assist-
ance would be forthcoming as soon as possible.

At 6 o'clock that evening-three hours later-a
police constable arrived at the school.

The point [ am trying to make is that another
set of circumstances could have prevailed
whereby a person may have suffered a heart
attack and be in a critical condition. To be

' placed on a recording queue is not good
enough.

I wrote to the Commissioner of Police and he
explained in his reply to me that unfortunately
it is not feasible to designate staff exclusively
for 000 telephone calls because, like other in-
quiries, they vary in frequency. I believe that if
an emergency number is available it should be
manned at all times by a person who is com-
petent and ensures that the distresses of the
caller are relieved.

Mr Taylor: Is the 000 number answered by
Telecom or by the police?

Mr Carr: It is answered by Telecom, and the
caller is asked what service he requires; and
that is where the problem arises. The member
said that no-one answered the telephone on
that occasion, but someone must have been
there.

Mr LEWIS: She was put onto a recording
queue.

Mr Carr: The phones should be manned all
the time.

Mr LEWIS: I thank the Minister for Local
Government for his explanation, but the point
I am trying to make is that if the circumstances
had been different serious problems could have
arisen.

Mr Brian Burke: I agree with the point you
are making. It is unacceptable that you do not
receive an immediate answer when dialling
000. Once the call has been answered there may
be a case to say that that person's circum-
stances does not warrant immediate attention.

Mr LEWIS: I agree with that.

Mr Brian Burke: I agree with you.

Mr LEWIS: I am glad someone agrees with

Mr Brian Burke: We all do.
Mr LEWIS: Five minutes ago members op-

posite thought what I was saying was a joke. I
am pleased the Government has taken that
point.

Mr Brian Burke: I will instruct the Minister
to prepare a report on what happened and how
it can be overcome.
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Mr LEWIS: It took me three months to re-
ceive a reply from the Commissioner of Police,
and that was after I had written three letters to
him.

Mr Brian Burke: I will not have that about
the police.

Mr LEWIS: I am sorry, but I can show the
Premier the letters.

Mr Brian Burke: The police are very good
and they do an excellent job.

Mr LEWIS: I accept that there can be bugs in
the system and that errors are made. I accept
that the Government has taken notice of my
point and that the Premier will take care of the
matter.

MR CRANE (Moore) (1.57 a.m.]: It is very
important that I make a few comments in this
debate. While I apologise that the hour is late,
it is not my fault that I had to wait so long to
make my comments.

I am very concerned about many matters
pertaining to Western Australia. I will run
through them quickly and will start with the
one that is dearest to my heart. It has already
been mentioned this evening and concerns the
rural area of this State. I refer to the rural crisis
and the crisis of country towns and businesses;
and I am sorry that the Minister for Agriculture
is not in the House at the moment. I guess that
he is otherwise indisposed. I would have liked
him to have heard what I have to say in this
regard.

Mr Parker: I will draw his attention to your
remarks in Mansard.

Mr Brian Burke: The Minister has come
back.

Mr CRANE: I am very happy that the Minis-
ter for Agriculture has returned because I want
to make some pertinent remarks relating to the
rural industry. I knew that the Minister would
not be far away and would be interested to hear
the learned remarks I have to make.

The continuing crisis that is facing the rural
industry has been brought to the attention of
the House for many years, and it was brought
to the attention of the House again this even-
ing. I do not refer to farmers in particular,
although they are part of the tcene, but I refer
to the rural industry as a whole.

The country towns and country businesses
are suffering as a result of the decline in the
economy, which in most cases has not been
brought about by any action this Government
has taken, but is the result of the policies which
have been implemented by the Federal

Government. I have said on many occasions
that I do not put the blame on this Govern-
ment.

It is important that we face up to this situ-
ation. Therefore, as a governing body it is in-
cumbent upon this Government to do what it
can for the farmers in this State.

One of the greatest contributions the
Government could make in this regard is to
impress upon its Federal counterpart the errors
of its ways particularly in regard to policies
pertaining to high interest rates which continue
to escalate and are causing a great problem.
The problems facing the rural industry cannot
be helped much regarding commodity prices in
cases where commodities are sold overseas.

However, it can certainly make a contri-
bution on interest rates, tariffs, and costs gener-
ally. The costs of herbicides and weedicides are
very high and they are adding to the concern of
the rural industry, particularly farmers. Ma-
chinery dealers are suffering as a result of this
situation. Earlier tonight one of my colleagues
mentioned that the requirement for a crop lien
before RAFCOR can Rend money to farmers is
having a bad effect in many instances. For
example, if a farmer is in a desperate state and
needs $4 000, he is required to take a crop lien
on that amount and as soon as the money is
received from the sale of his produce, that
money goes to pay off the lien. The farmer is
then in exactly the same position that he was in
before being accommodated. That is not the
Government's fault; it is part of RAFCOR's
requirements, or perhaps the previous rural ad-
justment authority's formula which was made
up a number of years before this Government
took office. I am not condemning the Govern-
ment for this but I am pointing out the
anomaly which has been brought about by the
previous Government. In saying this I believe I
am being very fair and factual. It does not mat-
ter who introduced the policy, it is hurting the
farmer very much and we need to alleviate that
problem for him immediately.

Many years ago, just after the last war, a
scheme was available throughout Australia; it
was referred to as the war service land settle-
ment scheme. This scheme enabled many
farms to be purchased and farmers to be estab-
lished on those properties on a perpetual
lease-I believe the term was 99 years-on a
low interest rate, possibly two per cent. It has
been suggested to me that because of the
seriousness of the rural situation and the de-
cline in the number of not only farmers but also
rural towns and communities, perhaps we
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should consider setting up a similar scheme. In
that way the farmers who cannot carry on in
the industry for financial reasons could have
their properties purchased by the Common-
wealth Government in conjunction with the
State Government and the properties could
then be leased back to the farmers, as occurred
under the war service land settlement scheme.
Therefore, the population in rural areas would
not decline.

We have a very serious problem and we must
face it; I refer to the decline of population in
rural areas. Some people will condemn me for
what I have just said and suggest that perhaps
my scheme is a socialist scheme. I do not be-
lieve it is, but if it is, I do not understand the
word properly. The scheme was introduced
most effectively at the end of the Second World
War. I have been farming all my life until re-
cently in Hindi Dindi and I remember when I
was young that we had a one-teacher school in
the area, adjacent to which was a large property
of 54 000 acres called Tootra. The property was
owned by the Australia and New Zealand land
company and was purchased by the Govern-
ment under the war service land settlement
scheme. It was divided into 26 farms and that
brought about a transformation in Bindi Bindi.
The school immediately became a three-
teacher school, additional families moved into
the area and it gave the district, not only Bindi
Bindi but also Miling, a shot in the arm. It was
a living example of what happened as a result
of the war service land settlement scheme. I
suggest that some similar scheme could be
adopted under which the Commonwealth
Government or the Rural and Industries Bank,
or RAFCOR in conjunction with the R & I
Bank, could purchase properties, mortgagee
auction properties in particular, and lease them
to the present owners. If that happened there
would not he the exodus of people from rural
areas and the populations would remain
reasonably static. That would solve some of the
associated problems in rural areas in respect of
schools and school buses and would possibly
alleviate those problems in one fell swoop.

I do not offer this to the Government as
some airy-fairy scheme; I offer it quite genu-
inely as an idea worth consideration. The
superannuation funds of the State Govern-
ment, for example, seem to be always invested
in the metropolitan area. There is a case for
those funds being invested in the country areas.
After all, we pain our wealth from the country
and without the support of the country and its
communities we who live in the metropolitan

area would not be able to enjoy the standard of
living to which we have become accustomed.

I hope that the Minister for Agriculture will
take note of the comments I have made; I hope
they are constructive. I am not trying to be
destructive at all. I appreciate the problems
which RAFCOR has. I believe that under the
circumstances the officers of RAFCOR have
done a very good job. They have been faced
with a formidable task.

Of course, the bubble has not yet burst.
Many farmers have put in their crops this year
regardless of the fact that they have not yet
received funds. When the bubble bursts before
the next harvest we shall find ourselves faced
with a much more serious problem than we
have at the moment. I am not trying to be a
scaremonger, nor am I promoting doom and
gloom, but I believe this could be a factual
situation.

I was recently in an area in which it was
suggested that whether or not we have a good
season 10 per cent of farmers will be faced with
an impossible situation. I believe the sugges-
tion I have made for a scheme whereby those
farmers in an invidious position, who will have
to move off their properties because of mort-
gagee auctions or whatever, could be picked up
and retained on the property on a 99-year lease.
If things improved the farmers could buy back
those properties from the Government. I do
not make this suggestion because I feel we
should save those people particularly, but be-
cause of my concern for the part played by
rural communities and the need to give those
people some consideration.

I hope that what I have said will be accepted,
because it could work. It has worked in the past
and it could work again.

I know the hour is late and I do not want to
take too much more time of the House, but I
was very concerned tonight to hear the remarks
of the Leader of the Opposition and the mem-
ber for Mt Lawley concerning the lawlessness
which has become so prevalent for business,
both small and large, and for the private
enterprise operators, particularly in the build-
ing industry. I am so concerned that I believe I
could be excused if I were to offer some criti-
cism of the Government at this time. I do not
make this criticism lightly because it is easy to
criticise other people when one is not in a
position where one has to do anything oneself.

However, it was pointed out, fairly I believe,
that the Government has been lax in some
areas, particularly in the area of protecting
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these people from industrial blackmail or anar-
chy, or whatever one likes to call it. The
examples given tonight were, I believe, a blat
on our society, all that we have learnt to believe
society should be and the manner in which it
should conduct itself. These people, without
any regard for the law, perpetrated the actions
which were referred to tonight by the Leader of
the Opposition and the member for Mt Lawley
regarding the building industry, where they are
causing so much disruption. It was mentioned
that the State Energy Commission was unable
to supply electricity to buildings which had
already been built. That is an indictment of this
Government. I believe that it does not really
matter what the political colour of a Govern-
ment is, because no-one is above the law.

Therefore, the Government has failed in
some areas. I believe it is time that it accepted
its responsibility and faced up to these unions
and the irresponsible people who are causing so
much disruption. It has been suggested that
there is a way in which this could be done. I
understand that this is to take out a writ of
mandamus against these operators and this is
the demand that the Government does what it
is required to do. Nobody seems to have taken
up this option but it is a very real option and it
may not cost as much money as people may
think. If the Government is not carrying out its
responsibilities, I think it is incumbent upon
those who are being discriminated against to
resort to this action of taking out a writ of
mandamus; which, as I said, is the demand that
the Government does what it is entitled to do.

Only recently I sold my farm, but I feel so
vexed and angry about this I believe that if
necessary, I would be prepared to finance
somebody to take this action against the
Government. I do not want to do this but I
believe it is time this action was taken. A ve-
hicle has already been set up by our courts and
by our laws through which this can be done. I
am prepared to stand in this place, among my
colleagues, and say to the Government, "You
haven't done the job but if necessary 1, for one,
will make sure that you do". I would expect
that if we were in the position of Government
members, we would take likewise action be-
cause it is only the honest, Christian and de-
cent thing that could be done.

Recently the fact was brought to the atten-
tion of members that such a civil action was
successful in the case against the Australasian
Meat Industry Employees Union which
picketted the Mudginberri abattoir. The head-
lines of The West Australian of 27 July read,

"Picketing union must pay $1.7 million". I
think this is the first breakthrough we have
ever had in this respect, and it was brought
about by the determination and the decency of
an organisation which is facing very difficult
times. I refer to the primary producers of
Australia.

I would like to draw to the House's attention
the leader in The Farmers Weekly of 23 July. It
reads as follows-

Australia's last Liberal Prime Minister,
Mr Fraser, armed himself with unpre-
cedented legislation to combat it, the
country's present Prime Minister, Mr
Hawke, sought to reduce it by consensus,
countless employers sought to buy their
way out of it by paying ransoms, but it
took Australian primary producers to beat
industrial lawlessness.

That is a credit to them.
Dr Gallop: This is a bit like being mauled by

a dead sheep.
Mr CRANE: Listen baby-face, your fly is un-

done.
It took the primary producers of this country

to bring this about and they contributed $10
million. I am very proud to be able to stand up
here and say that my cheque was among that
$10 million.

Mr Bryce: Beat the unions!
Mr CRANE: It is not a case of beating the

unions because I support unions but I do not
support the lawlessness of some unions.

The primary Producers put $10 million
together, and if necessary we will put together
another $I0 million. The primary producers
have paved the way and if there is a course of
action which can be taken, it must be taken. I
refer again to the editorial in The Farmers
Weekly. It reads in part as follows-

There is a plaintive note about ALP Sec-
retary, Mr Bob McMullan's complaint that
it was worrying that any organisation
should be sitting on $ 10 million.

Well, he can worry his heart out because the
unions have gone far enough. A number of
years ago we had the same trouble in this State
when the waterside workers, in conjunction
with AMIEU, decided that live sheep would
not be loaded here. Fortunately we had a
Government with the courage to back the pri-
mary producers, who said they would load the
sheep themselves. They did this, and not only
did they load them but also they loaded them
in half the time that it normally took the water-
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side workers. For the first time in this State an
industry stood on its own feet to defend-

Mr Bryce: Have you ever discovered any
other section of the community that has any-
thing wrong with it apart from the unions?
Why don't you give them an honourable men-
lion in one of your speeches?

Mr CRANE: Well, I will. The Australian
Labor Party is one; it has a Jot wrong with it. It
will not stand up for what it purports to stand
for. If it did, we would not be having this
trouble, as has been pointed out tonight by the
Leader of the Opposition, caused by a union
which has been blackmailing the building in-
dustry. However, the ALP will not defend the
building industry. That is another area of real
concern.

As I was saying before I was interrupted by
the Deputy Premier, who probably wishes he
had not done so, because of the remarks I have
made-

Dr Gallop: The sheep is getting deader.
Mr CRANE: Take it easy baby-face, and zip

it up.
The National Farmers Federation is heading

this industry. It is prepared to put its money
where its mouth is and to use the laws of the
land, which were provided by Governments
such as this, to its advantage. It has only just
started, but this trend must continue; therefore,
I see some light at the end of the tunnel.

We in this country cannot compete with our
overseas competitors because of our internal
costs, and the demands which are made by
people who want so much and who in return
are prepared to give so little.

Dr Gallop: Who are they?
Mr CRANE: The member knows who they

are.
Dr Gallop: Tell us.
Mr CRANE: I have already told the House.
Mr Brian Burke: They are members of the

Liberal Party.
Mr CRANE: They include many of the

workers organised by the militant union bosses
who made excessive demands on our economy
to such an extent that our country today is in a
very sick state.

Mr Bryce: What about the managers?
Mr CRANE: The way has been shown in

which we can at last shake off the shackles
which have been holding back this country for
so long. [ do not doubt that will be done, be-
cause the way has been shown. We only need

other industrialists and employers to appreci-
ate the fadt that the way has been shown and
they, in turn, will take the necessary court ac-
lion just as the Mudginberri abattoirs took
court action. Then there will be some hope that
this country will return to its former prosperity
and that commonsense will reign where it
ought to have been reigning for many years.

Mr Parker Do you think that the National
Party is letting the side down?

Mr CRANE: I am not talking about the
National Party. It is not important in this situ-
ation, nor are the Labor or Liberal Parties.
What is important is that at last the man in the
street, the man on the farm, the ordinary per-
son realises that he has the necessary strength
in his own hands. For too long has he relied on
Governments, parliamentarians, and all the
other instrumentalities which were so full of
words but so lacking in action. They have taken
this action themselves and it is incumbent on
the rest of Australia to follow suit, and I am
sure that it will.

The race is run for the ALP. Members op-
posite might as well face up to that. The race is
run for the ALP, because Australia is prepared
to lift itself out of the great hole which has been
dug not only by the unions, but also as a result
of the fact that the ALP was not prepared to
take a stand against them.

Mr Bryce: All you do is preach hatred.
Mr CRANE: I am not preaching hatred.
Mr Bryce: You pick on one section of the

community and lay all the blame for the econ-
omy at its feet. Why don't you broaden your
outlook and admit there are problems and
faults right across the board?

Mr CRANE: All those problems come back
to the fact that people want so much for so
little. That is what it is all about. [ gave mem-
bers an example of that tonight. I am not
preaching hatred. As a matter of fact, I do not
know what it is to hate, but I have a tremen-
dous amount of love and regard for this
country.

Mr Brian Burke: You have shown no signs of
being very fond of me. I would not say that you
hate me, but you almost do.

Mr CRANE: I do not- Thai is quite unfair.
Mr Brian Burke: I did not say that you did. I

said that you almost did.
Mr CRANE: As a matter of fact there are

times when I think that the Premier is quite
cute. I do not hate the Premier at all. I must
admit that at times I agree with him strongly
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when he says some of the things he has said
recently. I hope that the reasons the Premier
has said them are the same as those for which I
would have said them.

Mr Bridge: How about giving him some
praise for the next 17 minutes?

Mr CRANE: The Premier has said some very
sensible things, and I give him full credit for
that. There is only one hope for this country
and that is for the people to take command of
it. They have been fooled for so long by those
in whom they placed their trust. Not only have
the people been fooled by Labor Governments,
but also by conservative Governments. At long
last they have woken up to the fact that if they
are going to get out of this mess, they will have
to do something themselves. Tonight I referred
to the fact that the primary producers of
Australia have shown the way.

Dr Gallop interjected.
Mr CRANE: The member has not buttoned

it up yet. How long has he been here? The
member for Victoria Park has been here for 10
minutes-we can still see the water dripping
from behind his ears-and yet he presents him-
self as an authority on God only knows what.

Mr Bryce: We need his generation to look
after you and yours when you are in your dot-
age.

Mr CRANE: I am convinced that he and
many of the academics with him would be
about as effective in reproducing the theories
that they espouse as would be a vasectomised
ram of producing progeny.

Mr Bryce: We don't see any of this love for
your fellow men coming out.

Mr CRANE: I do not believe those aca-
demics would have any possibility of
propagating the theories they espouse. if we
took the member for Victoria Park 10 miles
north of Midland Junction, turned him around
three times, and let him go he would not know
where he was; and yet he-sits there and inter-
jects.

Mr Parker: He was brought up in Geraldton.
Mr CRANE: I say to the member far

Victoria Park, "Take it easy, greasy, because
you have a long way to slide".

I did not intend to speak for as long as I
have, but a number of inteiections have been
made and I have been drawn to answer them.

The lesson has been given and it is very clear.
Collectively the Government has shown that it
is not prepared to take the action which needs
to be taken to protect the people who have a

right to be protected. I refer to those persons in
business who were mentioned tonight, and the
cases in which the building industr has run
amuck and has been disrupted to the extent
that some of those involved may be forced out
of business.

If members of the Government do not have
the courage or determination to stand up for
what needs to be done, they should resign their
seals of office. They should go down to the
Governor at a very early date and tell him that
they are not prepared to carry out the
responsibilities which have been placed upon
them and they should ask him to accept their
resignations. I say that, because the people to
whom we refer are entitled to have afforded to
them the protection which the Government
could give them. In this instance, the Minister
can make the necessary inquiries and ensure
that protection is afforded, but he has not done
that because the masters have not allowed him
to do so.

Mr Bryce: Who are the masters?
Mr CRANE: The Deputy Premier knows

who the masters are, they are the people from
whom he expected to get support.

Mr Bryce: They are the people you hate?
Mir CRANE: Not all, only the militancy

within those unions. [ do not hate them and I
never have. Okay, Mr Premier, I agree I have
spoken long enough and I will make a deal that
if Government members agree to be quiet for
the next 10 seconds I will sit down.

Mr Parker: Done!
Mr CRANE: If the Government will accept

its responsibility Australia might proceed as it
ought to proceed and, unless it does so, there is
not much hope for us.

Mr Tonkin: Am I allowed to say "Hear,
hear"?

Mr CRANE: Yes, the member can certainly
say that. I conclude by repeating the example of
the $10 million which the farmers have
donated will be only the beginning of what will
happen in this country, and if unions do not
take this opportunity of listening to this very
loud and clear message, it will be to their peril.

MR RUSHTON (Dale) [2.32 a.rn.J: I regret
that this session is coming to an end and that
we will have a 10-week break at a time when
this State and Australia is under grave econ-
omic threat. Of course, attention needs to be
given to this matter not only from a national
point of view but also fromn a State point of
view. I regret that the action that has been
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taken lately has been to the detriment of our
export commodities and therefore will not help
us in regaining our position. We will not be
able to address that action for about 10 weeks,
and that is a retrograde step.

Tonight I want to address myself to a num-
ber of important subjects: firstly, I refer to what
is happening regarding the siting of the maxi-
mum security prison. Like other speakers
tonight, I have not been getting answers to
questions i have asked. The member for ME
L.awley and myself have experience regarding
the present situation. I remember well that
Canning Vale was selected and decided upon to
be the site for the maximum security prison.

Mr Brian Burke: It caused a lot of fuss when
it was decided on too, remember?

Mr RUSHTON: That is true. There is room
for the next addition. The Government has a
responsibility to quite clearly indicate, apart
from the little we have heard to date, what is
the position. It has said a maximum security
prison cannot be built there because too much
of the prison complex will be located in one
place. The reasons for the selection of the
present site are that it is handy to the courts,
and it will be easier for the staff at Fremantle to
transfer, and staff would not need to move
house. Of course, there is another side to this
issue, the selection of Casuarina which is a
System 6 reserve.

Mr Hodge: No, it is not a System 6 reserve.
Mr RUSHTON: The Government is

resisting the development of a tourist-type
complex known as Marri Park which is situated
next to this land. I think it abuts on the
southern end of Marri Park. I have been told
that the development of Marri Park may not
proceed because it would be destructive
environmentally, yet here the Government is
making a decision to site a prison on this re-
serve. This is against the wishes of the people
of Kwinana and Serpenuine-iarrahdale. Many
people have a keen interest in the environment
and object to this proposal.

I was interested to hear the other day the
suggestion that this is just one reserve together
with Bold Park Reserve that has contravened
the recommendations of the System 6 report. It
is my firm belief that the Sorrento marina
transgressed the System 6 recommendations. In
fact, the major marine reserves recommended
by the System 6 report were not adequately
considered by this Government, in regard to
the material development that is taking place
there.

I want to refer to questions I have asked in
relation to the prison complex in an endeavour
to have the position clarified. I add that the
reply to my eight questions was, "The honour-
able member will be advised in writing". That
has become a very prevalent answer from this
Government. We do not receive a reply until
the H ouse ri ses o r when the subject i s current.

The first question I asked in an endeavour to
understand why the Government has made this
decision relating to other questions on which
we did not get a clear answer was-

Will the Minister please advise the ad-
vantages of locating the maximum security
prison at Casuarina as against the alterna-
live sites?

We have not been told what are the alternative
sites. As the Premier mentioned earlier, great
concern was expressed about locating the
present prison complex at Canning Vale. As I
said, the reasons given at that time seemed to
be logical. The commitment was that the maxi-
mum security prison would be located there
and for good reason. The community at that
time was resistant to the proposal, but became
accustomed to it. Now we have the situation
where nobody is satisfied about the change.
The Shire of Kwinana has resisted it; I under-
stand there will shortly be a public meeting,
and I hope the Government will take some no-
tice of the opinions expressed there.

My second question was-
Will the Minister also please let me

know what planning procedures are still to
be taken before the construction of the new
prison?

I have asked this question a number of times
and have received no reply. if, for example, the
zoning is not satisfactory, it would have to be
accommodated and the public would have the
opportunity to react to that process.

Mr Parker: You were Minister for Urban De-
velopment and Town Planning for some years.
You know that is not the case.

Mr RUJSHTON: In my time it was the case
that there would need to be a zoning for this
location, and that is why I asked the question.
It is a System 6 reserve.

The third question I asked was-

Will the Government reconsider the
siting of the prison at Casuarina if it can be
shown the residents of the Town of
Kwinana are strongly against the proposed
siting of the prison?
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Surely a Government that talks about consen-
sus and having the public agree with its de-
cisions should have some consultation about
the planning process to allow opinions to be
cast and decisions made. The Government has
had no reference to public opinion.

My next question was--
Will the Minister please indicate the

estimated cost of locating the new prison
at-
(a) Casuarina;
(b) Canning Vale?

Surely we should have had an answer. None of
my questions has been answered.

The Shire of Serpentine-Jarrahdale was not
given the courtesy of even being notified of the
locating of this maximum security prison on its
boundary. The people in that shire will be af-
fected by its siting in that area and have drawn
up a petition to present to this Parliament.
However, the way this Government goes about
its business, the petition will have little mean-
ing. We know already that nothing will be
done.

My next question asked how many people
were expected to work at the new gaol. The
employment opportunities for people near the
area was given as a reason for locating the gaol
on that site. A staff is already employed at the
Fremantle Prison. This new prison would have
more modem technology and would therefore
probably employ fewer people.

Mr Parker: Our experience is that more mod-
em technology produces more staff

Mr RUSHTON: More staff to serve the tech-
nology, not to carry out the task. That staff
would not be located near the prison. I asked
where the gaol employees were expected to re-
side. Experience is that they will not live adjac-
ent to the prison and they will locate them-
selves throughout the metropolitan area. I
would expect the staff located at the Canning
Vale gaol would come from a number of lo-
cations in the metropolitan area. I think the
Minister should understand where those people
will reside.

My last question asked the Minister how
many of the present employees at the
Fremantle Prison were expected to work at the
proposed gaol site? That is a pretty important
question in assessing the impact of those
people on a local area's employment
possibilities. The overwhelming local opinion
from Kwinana is that they object strongly to
the prison being located in their area.

In the days of the Tonkin Government, ap-
proval was given for the development of a tour-
ist complex next door to this proposed gaol.
That development,, though, has been bogged
down recently because the Government has
been unwilling to see the people involved in the
project.

Mr Parker: Are you talking about the Marri
Park project?

Mr RUSHTON: Yes.

Mr Parker That group would have seen
everyone in the Government at one time or
another. There have been many phone calls
from the group.

Mr RUSHTON: It is not a matter of how
many phone calls the Government receives. It
is a matter of handling the situation properly.
As I said, the matter has been bogged down
since the days of the Tonkin Government when
I think the late Herb Graham was the Minister.
That group is entitled to some consideration
and to receive a decision. The reason for the
Government's delaying consideration of this
matter is that it is an environmental issue, and
yet, next door, the Government proposes to
build a maximum security prison which, as I
understand it, interferes with the underground
water supply. That is the reason the Govern-
ment will not consider the Mani Park project.

It is sad that we are not receiving answers to
our questions relating to the Government's
proposed locating of the maximum security
prison at Casuarina. It is an odd decision, to
say the least. It contradicts decisions made in
good faith in the past.

The next matter I wish to raise is not a con-
troversial one, politically. In fact, I think it
should be supported by all members. There are
some misconceptions about the Araluen botan-
ical gardens. A message was conveyed to the
Premier which assisted him in gaining a bad
appreciation of those gardens. It was not any
fault of his that that occurred.

There is a very pleasant botanical garden at
Kings Park promoting Australian wildflowers.
Most people will agree that the soil types and
the envi ronm ent a re not the best for a botan ical
garden. However, it has been made into a joy
for those who visit it. The good people of the
Kings Park Board have sought to obtain a piece
of land at Wungong to extend the botanical
gardens. That should not be discouraged. How-
ever, the opportunity exists for establishing a
world class botanical gardens at Araluca.
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The Young Australia League held that
area for a considerable time. It includes a
memorial for young men who died in the first
World War. Over the years there has been less
opportunity for young people to maintain those
grounds. In recent times the YAL sold its prop-
erty to developers who attempted to subdivide
it but failed. It is now in the hands of the
Australian Natives Association. The suggestion
is that it should be developed on a commercial
basis as exists at Cohunu. The area has special
features, environmental conditions, soil types,
and a southerly aspect. It would make a first-
class botanical gardens for exotic plants.

Mr Parker: It would be a good place for a
quarry. Some of your mates wanted to put a
quarry in at the Bickley Reservoir.

Mr RUSHTQN: This is a serious matter.
Mr Brian Burke: Are you going to go your

full time?
Mr RUSHTQN: I hope not. I have only two

more subjects to discuss. The Premier should
get behind this proposal, and we would have a
world-class botanical gardens for exotic plants.
The cherry trees we received from Japan could
have been planted there. I think they would die
if they were planted in Kings Park.

Mr Parker: The Japanese placed conditions
on where they could go.

Mr RUSHTON: If the Government planted
1 000 of them at Araluen, they would be
beautiful. It could have planted trees fromKorea and other places. Other reserves located
near Araluen could be added to it to increase it
to 450 acres. The Minister could assist by ar-
ranging a swap of other reserved land through
the State Planning Commission.

Mr Gordon Hill: Are you vying for the lead-
ership?

Mr Court: He is speaking to the Supply Bill.
Let him make his speech even though it is 2.45
am.

Mr RUSHTON: I am not interested in
reacting to the Minister who interjected.

The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I would
imagine that with the skills and maturity of the
member for Dale, he would not need to react.

Mr RUSHTON: It is a serious subject and
one which is not a party political issue. It is
something we should all get behind to ensure
that this State has a magnificent heritage in a
world class botanical garden.

I refer now to the Oakford Primary School. I
have asked many questions of the Minister for
Education, and I am finding out various facts

and information about it. The proposed site for
the new school is very low-lying and water ac-
cumulates during the wet weather. Prior to the
election, firm commitments and promises were
made by the Government that the new school
would be ready at the commencement of the
1987 school year and everybody accepted that.
In fact the propaganda that was distributed by
my opposition during the election was very
strong.

The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! There is
far too much background conversation.

Mr RUSH-TON: One would think this is a
charade. It is a very serious place and it dis-
gusts me that this sort of conduct continues.

The DEPUTY SPEAKER: It does not please
me either.

Mr Brian Burke: I thought your point about
Araluen was sensible. The planting of the
cherry trees to which you referred has caused
us concern. We share your view, but the expert
advice we have been given is that if those trees
were planted in certain areas they would die
within 12 months.

Mr RUSHTON: Araluen has everything go-
ing for it. The interest in the future of Araluen
is not only local, but it is also on a State basis.
It could become a botanical garden of world
standard. Some members of the Kings Park
Board who are well travelled have told me that
it is worth pursuing this matter. I will do that
and I will contact the Minister for Planning,
the Minister for Conservation and Land Man-
agement, and the Premier as time permits.

I will return to the Oakford school. A firm
commitment was made to build a new school
on this site. When this House resumed after the
election I asked the Minister for Education
what progress had been made regarding the
construction of the proposed new school. The
Minister reacted strongly.

During the election campaign the local P&C
association inserted a notice in the local paper
thanking the shire and me for the assistance we
had given it. I advise the House that the associ-
ation is not sophisticated as far as politics is
concerned. The advertisement was not
published properly and the headmaster
received a telephone call from the Minister
who, next morning requested an explanation.
The headmaster did not know anything about
it because the P&C association had taken it
upon itself to express appreciation of the
Government's action.
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Mr Pearce: They did not include the Govern-
ment in the advertisement. It was when the
election campaign started and it was very soph-
isticated to me.

Mr RUSKTQN: At the time the Minister
threatened the association by saying that it was
not entitled to a new school-no area could be
more entitled to it.

I read in the local newspaper that the
proposed building would not proceed because
it would cost $1 million. I have investigated
this matter and I have come to the conclusion
that the building would cost nothing like $1
million. A deputation is to meet with the Min-
ister shortly, and I ask him to consider bringing
forward the building of the school as soon as
possible.

The area is in great need of school accommo-
dation. The young students are not
accommodated in a satisfactory way. I ask the
Minister, in his busy schedule in the next few
days to give consideration to this project in
order that a decision can be made when a depu-
tation meets with him.

The Minister is faced with two alternatives:
One is to carry on with the existing site and
ascertain if the building can be erected for less
than $1 million; and the other is to do some-
thing with the present site, which would be
costly and difficult.

I come now to the last subject I want to
present to the House. It is an important matter
which concerns all members in this House and,
of course, the members on the Government
side of the House will have the greatest say in
it. I hope I can convince them about what is
happening in order that the development can
be changed.

I have spoken to a number of members re-
garding this issue and most of them realise that
they do not know what is happening. I do not
think the Minister concerned thought it would
have such an impact on the community. I refer
to the location of a carpark over railway land
near Boans Ltd and adjacent to the railway
station and Barrack Street. The Minister gave
me a copy of the proposed plan for this area
and I am grateful to him. I hope members can
take this matter seriously because I1 am sure
they would be as appalled as I was when [ first
saw the plan.

I have the plan with me this evening in this
House, and I will show it to members so that
they will know what I am referring to. A car-
park sufficient to cater for 450 cars will be

situated in the area which is bounded by the
railway station and Barrack Street.

Mr Pearce: I hope Hansard is drawing this.

Mr RUSHTON: I am serious about this mat-
ter.

Mr Brian Burke: There was a firm cornmit-
ment made about this when you were Minister.

Mr RUSH-TON: I was the Minister who, in
the preliminary discussions negotiated the pur-
chase of the land, but resisted this proposal. it
was my successor who made the commitment.

The carpark will cover most of the railway
land; and people are concerned about the fu-
ture of the public transport system in that area.
The Government has given the impression that
it is careful about public transport, but this
proposal will do away with many of the options
that would be available for public transport in
the future. For example, if this proposal goes
ahead provision could not be made for a
monorail to be erected in the vicinity of the
railway station. The carpark will consist of six
storeys and will be 2 / times higher than the
Perth Central Railway Station.

Those members who appear to have a fit of
the giggles obviously do not take this matter
seriously, but I will not worry about them.

The DEPUTY SPEAKER: Order! I suggest
to members that they stop this nonsense and
laughing because we do have a senious matter
before the House.

Mr RUSH TON: Perth Central Railway
Station should be the location for the long-term
planned-for interchange transport service
which would look after the northern and
southern regions. In fact, we could take off
from there and go along the Kwinana Freeway
by monorail. That possibility should be con-
sidered for the long term. However, there is
only one location for a central transport ser-
vice, and that is in the vicinity of the Perth
Central Railway Station. I was very keen that
something like this be done. Sadly, I find that
limitations are being placed on future develop-
ment by this car park which is planned to ac-
commodate, for example, the Boans develop-
ment and the like. The area between Beaufort
Street, James Street, Stirling Street, and the
railway is in great need of redevelopment. it
was my dream that that area should have been
redeveloped. The casino, for example, would
have been better placed there than in its
present situation. That development could then
have been responsible for the upgrading of the
Perth central transport station. That would
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have been a magnificent development in con-
junction with the Forrest Place redevelopment.

When the car park is built, the visual impact
will be extreme. Will it set a precedent? Will we
then take other sites along the railway and con-
struct similar buildings? It will be a barrier to a
vista of any kind. I am not sure that all mem-
bers would be aware of the likely impact. in the
early days of the development, I resisted this
proposal, but obviously it has gone through. I
regret that, because with the building of a car
park more cars will come to the centre of the
city, thus having an impact on traffic problems.
These problems need to be addressed. Many
good people should give this problem consider-
ation. However, such a car park development
will turn our city into something we would not
desire.

Anybody keen about aesthetics and the en-
vironment would want to consider this pro-
posal very carefully. I will put the car park plan
on the Table of the House when I have finished
with it. I encourage all members to look at it
and judge whether they agree with me that if it
goes ahead it will have a huge impact and will
be a retrograde step for our city.

Mr Taylor: Is the Perth City Council paying
for it?

Mr RUSH-TON: The Perth City Council is
contributing approximately 60 per cent of the
money. The Government will contribute 33 per
cent, the railways six per cent, and so on. I do
not think that is very relevant, because it is
more important that the right thing be done.

Another car park is planned for Mounts Bay
Road, purely to service the commercial build-
ings for the technical school and the old Foy &
Gibson site. I do not believe the construction of
such car parks is in the best interests of
transport.

Mr Taylor: You wonder whether the Perth
City Council Bets more money in parking fees
than it knows what to do with.

Mir RUSHTON: That is another aspect. I am
saying that we should surely locate buildings in
the right place and be careful of what our de-
cisions do to our city. I hope that members will
look at the plan and may be able to influence
the Government with respect to a change at
this late hour. I wanted to record my opinion
because I think that when the citizens of this
city see the proposed car park they will be ap-
palled.

I was one of the very few in the Cabinet in
which I served who worked hard for the
retention of the present Perth railway station. I

saw in it something attractive and historical,
and I worked very hard to retain the building.
However, the car park, which will be 2 / times
as high as the station, will reduce the effective-
ness of it.

Something needs to be done to accommodate
railways, buses, monorails, and electrification
in the long termn. I do not agree that electrifi-
cation should be introduced now; perhaps it
should not be introduced until after the year
2000. All these transport systemns should flow
through this central area and took after all the
metropolitan area. Perhaps a monorail could
go down the Kwinana Freeway, and the central
interchange could be its base. It would thus
look after the needs of public transport in the
long term.

I thank the House for paying some regard to
the points I have made. I hope that members
take up the opportunity to look at the plan.

I conclude my remarks for this part of the
session by congratulating new members on
their contributions. Those of us who have been
here a while would have appreciated the qual-
ity of presentations from new members. Obvi-
ously, new Government members do not have
the same opportunity to get involved as new
members on this side.

Mr Court: I think they are getting a bit rest-
less.

Mr RUSHTON: Obviously, that would be
so. I got restless when 1 was on that side as a
new member. New members on this side, both
in the offlicial Opposition and in the National
Party, have acquitted themselves most
creditably. I congratulate them and trust that
they will have a bright future. They certainly
have the qualities to do so. That future will be
dependent upon their efforts, their conviction,
and their dedication which will convince the
people of Western Australia that they are
worthy of forming the next Government. I am
most heartened by the quality of the new mem-
bers. I think people on this side could make a
very good Cabinet. I encourage members to do
everything possible to achieve that end.

MR BRADSHAW (Murray-Wellington)
[3.07 a.m.): I refer to the announcement that
was made yesterday regarding SCM Chemicals
Pty Ltd. I am pleased that the Government has
come to an agreement with SCM Chemicals
and that SCM will change from a sulphate pro-
cess to a chloride process, subject to an en-
vironmental impact study in the area. Effluent
from SCM Chemicals has been dumped on the
Leschenault Peninsula, something that has con-
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cerned me for many years. The first advantage
arising from the change to a chloride process
will be that the pipeline across the estuary will
be removed. The second advantage is that the
effluent will no longer be dumped on the penin-
sula.

There will also be some relief to the tax-
payers of Western Australia as a result of the
changed process. The State will no longer be
responsible for disposal of the effluent. The
company will be responsible for any effluent.
Over the years the residents of Australind have
been concerned about the sulphuric acid fumes
emitted from SCM Chemicals. On certain days,
depending upon the wind direction, when there
was an atmospheric inversion people in the
area suffered from the choking fumes they had
to inhale. Thus, it is good that the Government
has come to an agreement with the company.
Obviously, at this stage it is not a fait accompli.
If the environmental impact study is favour-
able, it will be of benefit to the people of
Australind.

SCM Chemicals has been a great business for
the south-west, It employs more than 300
people in the area and is a company that can-
not be ignored.

The company not only employs 300 people
but also, taking into effect the multiplier factor,
benefits 1 000 people in the south-west and the
Australind area. I certainly support this project
and the fact that the operation will be changed
from the sulphate to the chloride process,
provided it lives up to expectations and the
environmental impact study supports the con-
cept.

There were problems 25 years ago in the in-
itial stages when the Government agreed to
look after the effluent from SCM and Laporte.
For some reason or another the Government
was led to believe'that disposal of the effluent
was a minor problem and, therefore, it dumped
it into the ocean. That proved to be a disaster
and it not only stained the beaches from
Bunbury, past Binningup and Myalup, but also
killed the vegetation in the ocean where the
pipe dumped the effluent in the Bunbury area.
Once the Government became aware of this
problem it had to take other steps and the next
best solution was to develop ponds on the pen-insula and drop the effluent into them. That
has been quite successful, but other problems
have arisen. It has destroyed the vegetation on
the peninsula and many people are upset about
the policy, although revegetation programmes
have been carried out quite successfully in the
region.

Mr Parker: They are increasingly expensive.
Mr BRADSHAW: It is very expensive and

that is why it is good that the Government has
come to this agreement. It will cost the Govern-
menit $8.5 million and in the long term that will
certainly be a cheaper alternative. It suits SCM
to convert to the chloride process because it
will get lower grade ilmenite and it will be
easier to convert the ilmnenite with the chloride
process than with the sulphate process. It is of
benefit to SCM Chemicals as well as the
Government and it is good to see the cooper-
at ion that has resulted in this agreement.

However, each advantage always brings a
disadvantage and in this case it relates to the
storage of chlorine in the area. The residents
are perturbed about that because they have not
forgotten about the incident at Bhopal. I do not
think we shall have the same situation and in
my opinion these people are over-reacting.
There is always a risk and people worry about
such things but I do not think the situations are
the same. It is up to the Government and SCM
to convince the people in the area that they will
not be at risk by having chlorine stored in the
Australind area. That is the main disadvantage
of the agreement between the Government and
SCM.

I point out that 25 years ago the Government
did not envisage that the disposal of the efflu-
ent would create any major problems. We are
led to believe that this conversion to chloride
processing also will not Create major problems.
However, I hope that secondary problems, of
which we are not aware, do not arise from the
proposed disposal of effluent into the Collie
River. The effluent will go into the Collie River
below the Wellington Dam, close to the
Lesehenault peninsula.

Mr Parker: It will be disposing of brine.
Mr BRADSH-AW: I realise that but similar

comments were made 25 years ago; it was said
at that time that only a dilute acid would be
disposed of, which would not upset anybody.
However, the Government eventually had to
do something about the situation. We are much
more sophisticated today and many more
people will be investigating this aspect when
the ERP is carried out. Hopefully they will ar-
rive at the conclusion that disposal will not be
difficult or harmful to the environment.

I suppor the project and congratulate the
Government on reaching this agreement with
SCM. Subject to the environmental reports
proving satisfactory, I hope the scheme will
prove to be a success.
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Question put and passed.
Bill read a second time.

In Committee, no.
Bill passed throughi Committee without de-

bate, reported without amendment, and the re-
port adopted.

Third Reading
Bill read a third time, on motion by Mr Brian

Burke (Treasurer), and transmitted to the
Council.

BILLS (7): RETURNED
I . Fremantle Port Authority Amendment

Bill.
2. Goldfields Tattersalls Club (Inc.) Bill.
3. Strata Titles Amendment Bill.
4. Transport Co-ordination Amendment

Bill (No. 2).
5. Iron Ore {McCamey's Monster) Agree-

ment Authorization Amendment Bill.
Bills returned from the Council without

amendment.
6. State Government Insurance Com-

mission Bill.
7. Reserves and Land Revestment Bill.

Bills returned from the Council with
amendments.

FUTURES INDUSTRY (APPLICATION OF
LAWS) BILL

Council's Message
Message from the Council received and read

notifying that it had agreed to the amendments
made by the Assembly.

LIQUOR AMENDMENT BILL
Council's Amendment

Amendment made by the Council now con-
sidered.

In Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)

in the Chair; Mrs Beggs (Minister for Racing
and Gaming) in charge of the Bill.

The amendment made by the Council was as
follows-

Clause 6
To delete the clause and substitute

the following clause
Section 159 amended

6. Section 159 of the principal Act is
amended-

(a) by repealing subsection (1) and
substituting the following
subsection-

(1) The annual fee payable in
respect of a licence for any year-

(a) shall, except as provided in
subsection (4), in the case of
a licence other than a whole-
sale licence, a brewer's li-
cence or a vigneron's licence
be the sum of-

(i) the amount equal to 11%
of the gross amount paid
or payable by the li-
censee in respect of all
liquor, other than
prescribed liquor, pur-
chased for the premises
to which the licence re-
lates during the period of
12 months immediately
preceding the comn-
mencement of that year,
and

(ii) the amount equal to 7%
of the gross amount paid
or payable by the li-
censee in respect of all
prescribed liquor pur-
chased for the premises
to which the licence re-
lates during the period of
12 months immediately
preceding the com-
mencement of that year,

(b) shall, in the case of a whole-
sale licence and a brewer's li-
cence, be the sum of-

(i) the amount equal to 11%
of the gross amount paid
or payable in each case
by persons who are not
holders of a licence, for
liquor, other than
prescribed liquor, sold to
them by the holder of a
wholesale licence or a
brewer's licence, during
the period of 12 months

I mmediately preceding
the commencement of
that year,
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(ii) the amount equal to 7%
of the gross amount paid
or payable in each case
by persons who are not
holders of a licence, for
prescribed liquor sold to
them by the holder of a
wholesale licence or a
brewer's licence, during
the period of 12 months
immediately preceding
the commencement of
that year; and

(iii) a fee of $250;
(c) shall, in the case of a

vigneron's licence, be a fee of
$ 100.;

(b) by repealing subsection (2) and
substituting the following
subsection-

(2) In subsection (1) "prescribed
liquor" means-
(a) any undiluted and unadulterated

liquor with an alcoholic content
of not more than 3.8% by volume
at a temperature of 20 degrees
celsius;

(b) any undiluted and unadulterated
wine with an alcoholic content of
not more than 6. 1% by volume at
a temperature of 20 degrees
celsius. ; and

(c) in subsection (4)-
(i) by deleting ", pursuant to

paragraph (a) of subsection
(1) of this section, at a per-
centage of the gross amount
paid or payable in respect of
all liquor purchased for the
premises to which a licence
relates" and substituting the
following-
under subsection (1)(a); and

(ii) in paragraph (a) by deleting
".So purchased" and
substituting the following-
purchased for the premises to
which a licence relates.

Mrs BEGGS: I move-
That the amendment made by the Coun-

cil be agreed to.
Mr MacKINNON: This amendment honours

a commitment given by the Minister to the
Leader of the National Party and to me during

the Committee stage of the debate when con-
cern was raised about the fact that the Govern-
ment was moving to change the procedure
whereby licensing fees were increased. The ori-
ginal proposal was to permit change by regu-
lation rather than by amendment to the Act, as
has traditionally been the case. The Minister
has now agreed to that point of view, which she
indicated at that stage she would consider. This
amendment is to bring the clause into line with
tradition. We thank the Minister for the
amendment and we are happy to support it.

I indicate that the Government has been
doing very well out of the tax in recent years. It
will do even better as a result of this substantial
increase. On 22 July 1 asked question 850 as to
how much the Government received from the
liquor licensing fees for the year ending 30 June
19 86. The answer was $2 8.5 million.

An answer to a previous question indicated
that liquor licensing fees for the year ended 30
June 1983 amounted to roughly $20 million. In
other words, in the three years of the Burke
Labor Government, with no increase in the
licensing fee, but simply due to increased activ-
ity, inflation, Federal Government activities
and the like, the liquor licensing fee has
increased by 41 per cent.

On top of that we now see the rate going up
to I I per cent in most instances-the highest in
Australia. This reinforces the points I made
earlier this evening. The Government may be
indecisive in many areas, but it knows exactly
where it is going with taxation.

Question put and passe4 the Council's
amendment agreed to.

Report
Resolution reported, the report adopted, and

a message accordingly returned to the Council.

ACTS AMENDMENT (ACTIONS FOR
DAMAGES) DILL

Council's Amiendments
Amendments made by the Council now con-

sidered.

In Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)

in the Chair; Mr Brian Burke (Premier) in
charge of the Bill.
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The amendments made by the Council were
as follows-

No. 1.

Clause 4, page 2, lines I8 to 21-To
delete subclause (2) and substitute the fol-
lowing subclause-

(2) The section inserted by
subsection (1) has no operation in re-
lation to a cause of action in respect of
which legal proceedings have been
instituted before the commencement
of this section but otherwise applies to
and in respect of acts and omissions
occurring before that commencement
in the same way as it applies to acts
and omissions occurring after that
commencement.

No. 2.
Clause 5, page 3, line 3-To delete

.,qualified" and substitute the following-

quantified.
No. 3.

Clause 5, page 3, lines 8 to II-To de-
lete "in order to make appropriate allow-
ance for inflation, for future changes in
rates of wages generally or of prices, and
for tax (either actual or notional) upon in-
come from investment of the sum
awarded"-
No. 4.

Clause 6, page 3, line 28-To insert after
"damages" the following-

in respect of pain and suffering or
the loss of the enjoyment or of the
amenities of life.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I move-
That the amendments made by the

Council be agreed to.
Question put and passed, the Council's

amendments agreed to.

Report
Resolution reported, the report adopted, and

a message accordingly returned to the Council.

STATE GOVERNMENT INSURANCE
COMMISSION BILL
Council's Amendments

Amendments made by the Council now con-
sidered.

In Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)

in the Chair Mr Brian Burke (Treasurer) in
charge of the Bill.

The amendments made by the Council were
as follows-

No. 1.
Clause 6, page 5, line 1 -To insert be-

fore "to" the following-
subject to section 7(5),

No. 2.
Clause 7, page 6, after line 26-To insent

the following subclauses-
(5) Without limiting the generality.

of subsection (6), the Commission
shall ensure that the re-insurance of
risks arising from its function under
section 6(c) is open to competitive
bids within the insurance industry and
is not directed preferentially to the
Corporation.

(6) In the performance of its func-
tions the Commission shall not do any
act or thing so as to confer an unfair
commercial advantage on the Corpor-
ation.

No. 3.
Clause 29, page 17, line 15-To delete

"his case" and substitute the following-
the case of that director

No. 4.
Clause 3 1, page 19, after line I I-To

insert the following subclause-
(5) Where a department, authority

or instrumentality of the Government
proposes to arrange or renew in-
surance in lieu of or in addition to self
insurance arrangements-

(a) that insurance business shall
be open to competitive bids
within the insurance industry
without being preferentially
directed to the Corporation;
and

(b) where that insurance busi-
ness is placed with the Cor-
porat ion brokerage shall be
payable by the Corporation
on a normal commercial
basis.

No. 5.
Clause 33, page 19, line 19-To delete

"Except as otherwise determined by the
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Minister the" and substituting the follow-
ing-

(I) The
No. 6.

Clause 33, page 19, after line 30-To
insert the following subclauses-

(2) As soon as practicable after each
financial year the Commission shall
furnish the Minister with a certificate
stating whether the Corporation has
complied with subsection (1)(b) in re-
spect of that financial year.

(3) Subject to subsection (4), the
Minister shall cause-

(a) the accounts and statements
supplied under subsection
(1)(a); and

(b) the certificate furnished
under subsection (2),

in respect of a financial year, to be laid
before each House of Parliament
within 14 sitting days of such House
after the Minister has received both
those accounts and statements and
that certificate.

(4) Paragraph (a) of subsection (3)
shall be deemed to have been com-
plied with if the accounts and
statements referred to therein are laid
before each House of Parliament
within the time specified in that
subsection to the extent and in the
form that comparable information is
customarily published in the annual
reports of the Insurance Com-
missioner appointed under the In-
surance Act 1973 of the Common-
wealth and the Life Insurance Com-
missioner appointed under the Life
Insurance Act 1945 of the Common-
wealth, respectively.

(5) This section shall have effect
notwithstanding the Financial
Administration andAudit Act 1985.

(6) Subject to subsection (7), the di-
rectors shall, in addition to causing
the Corporation to comply with the
requirements imposed mentioned in
subsection (1), cause the Corporation
to comply with all other requirements
on insurers carrying on business in the
State by or under Acts of the Com-
monwealth relating to insurance.

(7) Regulations may exempt the
Corporation from complying with any
of the requirements imposed on in-

surers by the laws of the Common-
wealth relating to insurance.

(8) Subsection (7) does not
authorize the making of a regulation
that would confer an unfair commer-
cial advantage on the Corporation.

No. 7.
Clause 46, page 26, lines 7 and 8-To

delete "General Insurance Brokers and
Agents Act 1981" and insert the follow-
ins-

Fire Brigades Act 1942

No. 8.
New Clause 48,

48 (1) The Public Accounts Com-
mittee, for the time being, of the
Legislative Assembly shall oversee the
conduct and management of the af-
fairs of the Commission and the Cor-
poration to the extent necessary to de-
termine and report whether the Com '-
mission and the Corporation receive
any improper or unfair advantage or
preference over their competitors in
the insurance industry.

(2) The Terms of Reference of the
Public Accounts Committee in re-
lation to its function under Subsection
(1) shall be as arced to by both
Houses of Parliament.

No. 9.
Schedule 3, page 32-To delete item 3

and substitute the following item-

3. Fire Brigades Act 1942

Provision amended Amendment

Section 4 (1) In definition of
"Insurance
company" delete
"The State Govern-
ment Insurance
Office established
under the State
Government in-
surance Office Act
1938", substitute
"the State Govern-
ment Insurance
Corporation estab-
lished by the State
Government In-
surance Com-
mission Act 1986

(83)
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Mr BRIAN BURKE: I move-
That the amendments made by the

Council be arced to.
Mr MacKINNON: It is pleasing to see in this

case that the Government has accepted, by and
large, a large number of amendments which faill
into line with the points the Opposition made
when this matter was debated in the Legislative
Assembly. I know, too, that the member for
Avon and the other National Party members
made reference to the same points and I am
sure they also would be pleased to see the
changes made.

The changes include the opening up of
Government insurance and reinsurance busi-
ness to competition from the private sector as
well as being available to the State Government
Insurance Commission or Corporation, and
further action to ensure the competitive neu-
trality of the corporation, especially as it affects
clause 33 of the Bill. Clause 33 was debated
quite extensively in this House with the
Treasurer rejecting our requests for some
improvements to that clause to ensure there
was no possibility of the corporation pining
some unfair advantage over its private sector
competitors. Indeed, despite the Treasurer
indicating at that time that it was not possible
to amend that section because of income tax
provisions and the like, it has been amended
and in fact the amending clause was, by and
large, provided by the Government.

Mr Brian Burke: I gave that undertaking and
I instructed that the amendment be drawn up.

Mr MacKINNON: However it happened, it
is there and we appreciate it.

Mr Crane: Is that the same undertaking the
Treasurer offered last year?

Mr MacKINNON: In that respect we are
pleased that the procedure now to be followed
will certainly give us some indication as to
what is happening and enable us to keep a
reasonably close eye on the activities of the
corporation.

The member for Moore raised an important
question as to whether the Treasurer honouredl
his commitment in allowing us to insert in the
legislation clauses that would have seen the for-
mation of a committee of the Parliament com-
prising a representative of the Labor Party in
Government, and of the Liberal Party and the
National Party in Opposition, to supervise the
activities of the corporation to ensure that it
was in all respects maintaining a fair competi-
tive position in the marketplace. That commit-

ment has not been agreed to by the Govern-
ment, much to our disappointment.

A second-best clause has been inserted in the
Bill. It is amendment No. 8 which states-

The Public Accounts Committee, for the
time being, of the Legislative Assembly
shall oversee the conduct and management
of the affairs of the Commission and the
Corporation to the extent necessary to de-
termine and report whether the Com-
mission and the Corporation receive any
improper or unfair advantage or
preference over their competitors in the
insurance industry.

The amendment goes on to indicate that the
terms of reference of the Public Accounts Com-
mittee in that regard will be agreed to by both
Houses of the Parliament.

However, I am concerned that the Public Ac-
counts Committee, as members are well aware,
is a committee comprising members of this
Chamber-and properly so in my view-with
a maj ority of Government members thereon. I
say "Properly" in relation to the composition
of a Select Committee, so to speak, of this
Chamber. I believe it should have a majority of
Government members; that is traditional and
something I support. But in this regard, the
committee is supposed to supervise the com-
petitive neutrality of the State Government In-
surance Corporation, and the key words in this
clause which come immediately to mind are
"to the extent necessary". Obviously, with a
Government-dominated committee, it could
easily resolve that "to the extent necessary"
means not necessary at all.

Mr Brian Burke: Do you want to reject that
amendment?

Mr MacKINNON: No, I am saying it is sec-
ond-best. We are pleased it is there. It is better
than nothing, but I hope the Government will
honour the spirit of the legislation and the in-
formation it provided to the Insurance Council
of Australia Ltd when it was discussing the
reasons that the initial commitment by the
Treasurer could not be honoured; and will en-
sure that the terms of reference of that com-
mittee are put in place quickly.

I sincerely hope the Public Accounts Com-
mittee subsequently operates, not as a party
partisan committee, but as a single unit which
addresses those tasks as set under the terms of
reference by both Houses of Parliament.
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We are disappointed, but not surprised, that
the Treasurer has not kept his word and we
accept and appreciate the other amendments
that have been added to the Bill.

Mr CRANE: It is obvious that some mem-
bers on the other side of the Chamber do not
appreciate the seriousness of the matter which
is before the Chair. As I said when we were
discussing the Bill in this Chamber earlier, I
crossed the floor on this Bill. That is something
which many members of this Chamber would
not have the courage to do. I was encouraged to
do that, because we had an undertaking from
this Treasurer who said that he would ensure
that a committee of inquiry would be estab-
lished to monitor the activities of the SGlO. He
has not established that committee and I would
like it recorded in Hansard that he did not fulfil
his undertaking to this Chamber.

Now we have an opportunity for the Public
Accounts Committee to investigate these mat-
ters. While the Public Accounts Committee
operates very effectively, it is a committee of
the Government, with a majority of the
Government. I would not like to insult the
committee by saying it will not fulfil its obli-
gations in an honourable manner, but I am
concerned, and I want it recorded, that we have
before us a Treasurer who gave an undertaking
and was not prepared to fulfil it.

The Treasurer cannot be trusted. Therefore,
while we will not oppose this amendment, I
would like it- recorded that this Chamber and
this State will know that the Treasurer gave an
undertaking he was not prepared to fulfil.

As a member of the Public Accounts Com-
mittee, if it is asked to investigate this matter, I
am sure it will do so to the best of its ability.
However, it should be well and truly recorded
that wie have here a Treasurer who was not
prepared to put his money where his mouth
was and that is one of the things that is so
important to our parliamentary institution.

I am very concerned, because it meant so
much to me and only those people who are able
to or have the courage to cross the floor of this
Chamber would understand what I aim talking
about.

I am very disappointed-I want my disap-
pointment to be well and truly recorded-by
the Treasurer who was not as good as his word.

Mr TRENORDEN: I will be very brief. l am
very disappointed at the outcome of this Bill.
When the unfunded debts of the corporation
hit the millions, at least I will be able to sleep

easily in my bed in the knowledge that I did my
best to stop it.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: For the benefit of the
member for Moore; I shall try to explain that
the committee refer red to in a previous debate
related to a piece of legislation that ceases to
have any meaning with the passage of this legis-
lation; so the committee that the member for
Moore clings to so closely relates to a piece of
legislation that has a lifetime of approximately
24 days. The member for Moore does not ap-
pear to understand that fact.

Mr Crane: He understands the undertaking
yout gave.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: The whole point is that
it is not the same legislation. This new legis-
lation incorporates five or six major changes
which would have been the prime preoccu-
pation of the committee had it been estab-
lished. As I tried to explain to people who did
not want to understand Previously, the com-
mittee related to a piece of legislation that
ceases to exist with the passage of this Bill and
ceases to be necessary except for the desires of
people like the member for Avon who, by the
way, would have had his committee if his own
party had supported him-

Mr Trenorden: I am aware of that.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: The member might be

aware of it, but he did not say it, did he? There-
fore, he should not blame me for the fact that
he did not know which way his own members
vote.

Mr Trenorden: I am not blaming anyone. it
is 3.45 a.m. and I have had enough!

Mr BRIAN BURKE: Pardon me for wanting
to answer the three members who have spoken.

Mr Cash interjected.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: By this time the mem-

ber's predecessor had hanged himself from a
tree and the 30 pieces of silver had fallen to the
ground.

Several members interjected.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: The member was rub-

bi ng his hands and grinning and slipping down
into the Chair behind his leader today.

I was explaining that the committee referred
to previously loses its relevance with the pass-
age of this piece of legislation. We will never
reach agreement about the role of the SGlO. I
am surprised that this Bill passed the Legislat-
ive Council, but I am sure that most members
on the other side of the Parliament would love
to see the activities of the SG10 cease to exist.
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Mr Crane: I would not.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: The member for Moore

is an exception. He is an unusual man.
Mr Crane: I am very unusual, but I am not

queer.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: He is not queer, but he

is a strange mixture of agrarian socialism and
successful capitalism, born with nothing-

Dr Gallop: lHe is also a Marxist-Leninist, as
we found out tonight.

The CHAIRMAN: Order! We will go back to
the Treasurer after we have finished dissecting
the member for Moore.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I am stunned by the
comments that the member made that I have
not honoured my word, but the truth is that the
committee is not relevant to the new com-
mission and even the Insurance Council of
Australia recognised that and, as far as I am
aware, indicated that the Public Accounts
Committee could do the job. In an effort to cr
to keep the Opposition happy it was my sugges-
tion that we propose the Public Accounts Com-
mittee.

Mr MacKinnon: But your word was not
given to the Insurance Council of Australia; it
was given to the Parliament.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: Yes, but it was in re-
spect of a piece of legislation that is not this
piece of legislation.

Mr MacKinnon: It has the same effect.
Mr BRIAN BURKE: No, it does not.
Mr MacKinnon: I will not argue any more.

You have broken your word and we know you
have, and so does the insurance industry.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I do not think I have.
In a week or two the Deputy Leader of the
Opposition might be a little more upset than he
is now, when the Public Accounts Committee
begins to do the things it has been empowered
to do. However, these are his silly amendments
and the matter will take its course.

I am sure that the SGIO will go from strength
to strength. I look forward to it being a vital
and successful competitor in the marketplace. I
hope it will be able to expand its operations on
a fair basis and that those in the private in-
surance industry who want it all their own
way-they want every advantage they can get
without giving anything at all-

Mr Trenorden: What about the SGlO-
doesn't it want the same thing?

Mr BRIAN BURKE: The SGlO has operated
with its hands tied behind its back since its

I nception and we have not reached the stage in
this State where insurance companies invest
here as much as they take out in premiums.
That is the disgrace of the situation, and the
SGIO is keeping them honest.

That is the truth. I hope the member is not
going to start now. The Minister for Minerals
and Energy sorted him right out, but the mem-
ber's cabal is unfashionable these days. He can
sink down in his seat if he likes. It is absolutely
unfashionable to white-ant one's leader, par-
ticularly on this side of the House.

Several members interjected.
Mr Cash: Your recent comments about the

three contenders-
Mr BRIAN BURKE: Do not run off at the

mouth. If the member starts on about the red
Commodore and the people taking photo-
graphs on the left hand side of a one-way street,
I will scream.

This is the scare. We have done our best with
this committee. We have tried to accommodate
everyone. The amendments are here. We are
accepting them, as is the Opposition. I do not
know what we are arguing about, except that it
is on the basis that the Opposition wants once
again to be nasty to me.

Question put and passed; the Council's
amendments agreed to.

Report
Resolution reported, the report adopted, and

a message accordingly returned to the Council.

RESERVES AND LAND REVESTMENT
BILL

Council's Amendment
Amendment made by the Council now con-

sidered.

In Committee
The Chairman of Committees (Mr Burkett)

in the Chair; Mr Taylor (Minister for Lands) in
charge of the Bill.

The amendment made by the Council was as
follows-

Clause 14, page 4, lines 14 to 22-To
delete the Clause

Mr TAYLOR: I move-
That the Council's amendment be

agreed to.
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Briefly, the amendment deletes certain matters
relating to Reserve No. 36996 near Northcliffe.
This vacant Crown land was to be included in
the D'Entrecasteaux National Park.

Mr MacKINNON: This amendment was
moved by the member for Lower Central in the
other House. 1 have consulted that member,
who indicated to me that he moved the amend-
ment primarily because there was no consul-
tation in any way with the local authority about
the proposal included in this legislation. Hence,
he moved the amendment to ensure that that
proper consultation could take place. The Op-
position in supporting the Council's amend-
ment will allow that consultation to proceed.

Question put and passed; the Council's
amendment agreed to.

Report

Resolution reported, the report adopted, and
a message accordingly returned to the Council.

MISS CYNTHIA PICK
Retirement

THE SPEAKER (Mr Bamnett): Before calling
on the Leader of the House to adjourn the
House or to do whatever he is about to do, I
wish to advise members that Miss Cynthia Pick
who has been employed by Parliament H-ouse
for 23 years will retire on Monday. She has
been a very loyal and hardworking secretary
and administrative assistant to a number of
Speakers and I hope that as many members as
possible could see their way clear to attending
her farewell function to be held in my corridor
at 3.30 p.m. on Monday.

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE:
SPECIAL

MR PEARCE (Armadale-Leader of the
House) [3.56 a.m.]: I move-

That the House at its rising adjourn until
a date to be fixed by the Speaker.

Question put and passed.
House adjourned at 3.5 7 a. m. (Friday).
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE

PRISON
Coasuarina: Advantages

867. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister
representing the Minister for Prisons:
(1) Adverting to questions 752 and 857 of

1986, will the Minister please advise
the advantages of locating the maxi-
mum security prison at Casuarina as
against the alternative sites?

(2) Will the Minister also please let me
know what planning procedures are
still to be taken before the construc-
tion of the new prison?

(3) Will the Government reconsider the
siting of the prison at Casuarina if it
can be shown the residents of the
Town of Kwinana are strongly against
the proposed siting of the prison?

(4) Will the Minister please indicate the
estimated cost of locating the new
pnson at-
(a) Casuarina;
(b) Canning Vale?

(5) Why does the Minister refuse to con-
sider the opinions of the Shire of Scr-
pentine-iarrahdale and its residents
whose community is close to the new
gaol?

(6) How many people are expected to
work at the new gaol?

(7) Where are the gaol employees
expected to reside?

(8) How many of the present employees
at Fremantle gaoll are expected to
work at the new proposed Casuarina
gaol?

Mr PETER DOWDING replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

STATE ENERGY COMMISSION
Customers per Employee

878. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Minerals and Energy:
(1) Within the State Energy Commission,

what was the number of customers per
employee as at 30 June 1986?

(2) What number of man hours were
worked on operations in the State En-
ergy Commission per gigawatt hour
sold in 1985-86?

Mr PARKER replied:
(1) 91 customer accounts per employee.
(2) 351 man hours worked on operations

per gigawatt hour sold.
Comparative figures for the past seven years

Man hours
Customer worked on

accounts per operations
employee per gigawatt

hour sold
1978-79 80 1 574
1979-80 86 1464
1980-I 83 1447
1981-82 84 1 325
1982-83 84 1 282
1983-84 84 1 117
1984-85 88 509

TRANSPORT
Taxi Licences

893. Mr LAURANCE, to the
Transport:

Minister for

(1) How many private taxis are licensed
in Western Australia in-
(a) the metropolitan area;
(b) country areas?

(2) What has been the increase in the
number of private taxis in each year
since 1983?

(3) What has been the Taxi Control
Board's justification for these in-
creases?

(4) Is it a fact that private taxis are cur-
rently experiencing very difficult
trading conditions?

(5) Has the Taxi Control Board received
complaints regarding unlicensed ve-
hicles operating as "chauffeur drive
services"?

(6) If "Yes" to (5), how many complaints
have been made and do the com-
plaints include wedding cars?

(7) What action has the Taxi Control
Board taken on these complaints?

(8) (a) Have any unlicensed operators
been prosecuted;

(b) if so, with what result?
(9) Does the Taxi Control Board or the

Transport Commission have any
plans to licence or control wedding
hire car services?

(10) Is there to be any investigation into
illegal operations of unlicensed ve-
hicles openly advertising and
operating in Perth?
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(11) If "Yes" to (10), will he provide de-
tails?

Mr TROY replied:
The member will be advised in writing
in due course.

TAXES AND CHARGES
Land Tax: Review

931. Mr MENSAROS, to the Treasurer:
(1) Have the Government or agents on its

behalf concluded the promised review
of land tax?

(2) If so, when will he publish the results
and/or recommendations of the re-
view?

(3) Will there be action based on the re-
view amending land tax legislation in-
cluded in the 1986-87 Budget?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

HEALTH
A ntibiotics: Milk

934. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:

Have any significant traces of anti-
biotics been detected in milk samples
in Western Australia?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
The member has directed his question
to the wrong Minister. This question
has been referred to the Minister for
Agriculture for a reply to the member.

AGRICULTURE
Pesticides: Foodstuffs

935. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:
(1) What pesticides are tested for in beef,

pork, poultry carcases, and egg?
(2) Have any quantities of pesticides of

significance been detected in any of
the above products?

(3) If "Yes" to (2), which pesticides and
which products?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
There are two major surveys which
examine pesticide residues in food:
the National Health & Medical Re-
search Council Market basket survey

and the national residue survey. The
national residue survey is coordinated
by Commonwealth and State Depart-
ments of Agriculture, and the Minister
for Agriculture should be contacted to
answer those questions in relation to
that national residue survey.
The following response therefore
applies to the market basket survey-
(1) Beef, pork, poultry, and eggs are

all examined for residues of
organochlorine and organo-
phosphorus pesticides in the mar-
ket basket survey.

(2) No.
(3) Not applicable.

HEALTH
Hospitals: Carpet Tiles

937. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:
(1) (a) Are carpet tiles from South Africa

to be used at Osborne Park and
Graylands hospitals instead of the
Australian-made Heuga carpet
tiles;

(b) if so, why?
(2) If "Yes", is he aware if this is within

the Prime Minister's appeal to use
Australian-made products?

(3) Is it fact Heuga could produce the
colour required by the colour consult-
ant on the project?

(4) Has a comparison been carried out for
the difference in durability between
the two carpet tiles?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
(1) (a) Yes, at Osborne Park; Graylands

Hospital has not yet gone to ten-
der;

(b) it has been accepted as a floor tile
approved for use in hospitals; it
was the lowest tender submitted.

(2) 1 am aware of the appeal to use
Australian-made products and the
preference agreement signed by all
States with the Federal Government.
However, conditions of the agreement
honour tenders called prior to im-
plementation date of agreement, being
I July 1986.

(3) Yes.
(4) Yes.
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HEALTH
Cancer Support Association: Funding

939. Mr HASSELL, to the Treasurer
Is funding for the Cancer Support As-
sociation being considered in the
Budget for 1986-87?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

BUSINESSES: CORPORATE AFFAIRS
OFFICE

Investigation: Society Finance Ltd
940. Mr CASH, to the Minister representing

the Attorney General:
(1) Has the Corporate Affairs Office

investigated the business known as So-
ciety Finance Limited (in liqui-
dation)?

(2) Have any charges been preferred
against any officer or director of So-
ciety Finance Limited (in liqui-
dation)?

(3) Will the Attorney General advise of
those charged and nominate the par-
ticular charges against each individ-
ual?

(4) When are charges against the officers
and/or directors to be heard?

(5) Has the Attorney General received
complaints from the public seeking
reasons for the time taken by the Cor-
porate Affairs Office in dealing with
this case?

(6) Will the Attorney General advise on
the reasons for the delays to date in
the case?

Mr PETER DOWDING replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

BUSINESSES: CORPORATE AFFAIRS
OFFICE

Investigation: Society Finance Ltd
941. Mr CASH, to the Minister representing

the Attorney General:
(1) Did the Corporate Affairs Office make

application to a court for the surren-
der of the passports of any of the di-
rectors or officers of the company, So-
ciety Finance Limited (in liqui-
dation)?

(2) If "Yes"', will the Attorney General
advise of the individuals to whom the
application referred and further ad-
vise if such application was successful
and any conditions which attached to
any surrender order?

Mr PETER DOWDING replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
Employment: Extension

942. Mr CASH, to the Premier:
(1) How many temporary employees have

had their period of employment ex-
tended since his economic statement
which he delivered to the House on
Tuesday, 24 June 1986?

(2) Referring to his answer to question
736 on Wednesday, 9 July 1986, con-
cerning the number of temporary em-
ployees who have had their services
terminated since Tuesday, 24 June
1986, why have the other temporary
employees been extended?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) and (2) The information the member

seeks is being collated and he will be
advised in writing in due course.

TECHNOLOGY
Biotechnology: Regulation

945. Mr CASH, to the Minister for Industry
and Technology:

What regulatory policies does the
Government intend to introduce to
control the use and testing of
biotechnology products which may be
developed in Western Australia?

Mr BRYCE replied:
The regulation of biotechnology
products is the responsibility of the
Federal Government.

HEALTH
Baby Foods Products: imports

950. Mr CASH, to the Minister for Health:
(1) Is he aware of reports which indicate

the importation of cereal and soya-
based foods into Western Australia for

- use as food for infants could contrib-
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ute to a nutrient deficiency state and
the poor growth of infants?

(2) If "Yes", can he identify the products
of concern?

(3) Have parents and others involved in
the feeding of infants been advised of
the possible deficiencies in these
products?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
(1) No.
(2) Not applicable.
(3) No, but expert advice on infant feed-

iog is given to mothers at the depart-
ment's infant health centres and is
also available from PMH or she
Health Department itself. Dieticians
generally do not recommend cereal or
soya-based foods for children under
12 months old as the main source of
nourishment or as a milk substitute.

POULTRY
Golden Egg Farms: Nontham Depot

951. Mr CRANE, to the Minister for
Agriculture:
(1) (a) Is it a fact that the Golden Egg

Farm depot in Northam is to be
closed on 25 July;

(b) if "Yes", what are all the reasons
for the closure?

(2) is he aware that this depot handles
4 000 dozen eggs per week, delivered
to more than 70 customers as far as
Southern Cross, and receives an aver-
age of 850 dozen eggs per week from
local producers?

(3) Is the Government aware of the incon-
venience this closure will place on
prowers, retailers, and the general pub -
lic presently served by this depot who
will then have to deal directly with
Golden Egg Farms in Palmyra?

(4) (a) Is this closure contrary to the
Government's claims of support
for decentralisation and rural
people;

(b) if "Yes", why is the Government
making such a decision?

(5) Will he delay the decision to close this
depot at Northam pending a full in-
quiry into the matter, particularly the
disadvantages it will have as pre-
viously stated?

Mr GRILL replied:
(1) (a) Yes;

(b) the decision to close the Northam
depot was made on economic
grounds after ensuring that cus-
tomers will not he disadvantaged.

(2) Over the past three years the depot
has handled 2 365, 2 306, and 2 222
dozen eggs per week, not 4 000 dozen
as stated in the question.

(3) No inconvenience will be caused by
the closure of the depot, which has
been operated by one person acting as
agent.
Eggs from local producers are cur-
rently sent to Palmyra for grading. Ar-
rangements have been made for a
transport contractor to pick up eggs
directly from farms. Smaller pro-
ducers have been offiered permits to
sell direct to the public. The contrac-
ted transport company will deliver
eggs to country centres other than
Northam at the same freight cost. Cus-
tomers in Northam may have to pay
slightly higher freight costs.
The general public deals with retailers
and has not been serviced by the
depot.

(4) No.
(5) As there are no serious disadvantages

associated with the closure of the
depot, I am not prepared to delay clos-
ure or initiate an inquiry into the mat-
ter.
I refer the member to my answer to
question 1005.

STOCK: GOATS
Export:. Grant

953. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Industry and Technology:
(1) Did the Department of Industrial De-

velopment provide a grant for Mr Jim
Quinlan to examine export markets
for live goats and associated products?

(2) If "Yes", what follow-up and further
assistance did the department provide
in helping this project become estab-
lished?

Mr BRYCE replied:
(1) No.
(2) Not applicable.
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STOCK: GOATS

Exports: Grant

954. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Agriculture:
(1) Has the Western Australian Meat

Commission assisted Mr Jim Quinlan
in the preparation of plans to export
live goats from the Kimberleys?

(2) If"Yes", what assistance was given?

Mr GRILL replied:

(1) and (2) 1 am advised by the Western
Australian Meat Commission that
during 1985 discussions were held be-
tween the commission and Mr Jim
Quinlan. At that time Mr Quinlan was
examining the feasibility of purchas-
ing feral goats. it was intended that
some goats would be used for live ex-
Dont, some for domestication within
Western Australia, and some for
slaughter at Robb Jetty.

The commission's involvement was
confined to discussions aimed at
obtaining goats from the Murchison
area for slaughxter at Robb Jetty. This
proposal did not proceed.

TECHNOLOGY: COMPUTERS

Purchases: Offsets

956. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Industry and Technology:

(1) When the Department of Industrial
Development purchased new com-
puters, was the final decision made on
price and performance or on the
associated offset packages offered?

(2) Which Government department as-
sisted in this purchasing decision?

Mr BRYCE replied:

(1) The final decision was made in favour
of the supplier whose tendered sol-
ution best met the requirements of the
department as expressed in the tender
documentation-

Performnance, price, and associated
benefits were part of the selection cri-
teria.

(2) The Department of Computing and
information Technology.

INDUSTRY SUPPLIES OFFICE

Feasibility

958. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Industry and Technology:

(1) Has the Government received the re-
suits of the study commissioned to
examine the feasibility of establishing
an Industry Supplies Office?

(2) If "Yes", will they be made public?

Mr BRYCE replied:

(1) No.

(2) Not applicable.

WA EXIM CORPORATION: PASTORAL
LEASES

Purchases: Government Grant

961. Mr COURT, to the Premier:

(1) Has he had the Auditor General or
another senior Government officer
examine whether or not there is a liab-
ility attached to the $6 million
Government grant given to Western
Australian Exim Corporation Ltd to
assist with the purchase of pastoral
leases?

(2) If "Yes", what advice has been given
re the 1984-85 Western Australian
Exim Corporation Ltd annual ac-
counts?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) and (2) I have referred the matter
raised in the member's question to the
Exim Corporation, and he will be ad-
vised in writing in due course.

WA EXIM CORPORATION

Loan Guara ntee:-A uscorp Ltd
962. Mr COURT, to the Premier

(1) Did the Western Australian Exim Cor-
poration Ltd guarantee an Auscorp
Ltd bank loan this year?

(2) If "Yes", for how much was the
guarantee?

(3) When was this guarantee agreed to?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) to (3) See reply to question 96 1.
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WA EXIM CORPORATION
Loan:Auscorp Ltd

963. Mr COURT, to the Premier
(1) Did the Western Australian Exim Cor-

poration Ltd lend Auscorp Ltd funds
additional to those required to pur-
chase the company?

(2) If "Yes", when was this money made
available and on what termis?

(3) How much was lent?
(4) Who guaranteed this loan?
Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) to (4) See reply to question 96 1.

WA EXIM CORPORATION
Goidrock In vestments:- Sale

964. Mr COURT, to the Premier:
(I) For how much did the Western

Australian Exim Corporation Ltd sell
its interests in Goldrock Investments
to Auscorp Ltd?

(2) What was the original cost of this in-
vestment by the Western Australian
Exim Corporation Ltd?

(3) Was this sale funded by a loan from
the Western Australian Exim Corpor-
ation Ltd?

(4) Who guaranteed the loan?
Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) to (4) See reply to question 96 1.

COMMUNITY SERVICES
Adoptions:- Overseas

966. Mr TRENORDEN, to the Minister
representing the Minister for Community
Services:
(1) How long before the Department of

Community Services restructuring
will allow assessment for overseas
adoptions to be processed?

(2) Is there a limit to the number Of
Korean children allowed into the
State?

(3) Is the Minister aware that people have
been waiting for up to two years to
receive a child?

(4) If so, what actions are being taken to
expedite these adoptions?

Mr WILSON replied:
(1) Two to three months.

(2) Yes. The current "quota" allocated to
Western Australia by Korea is 80 chil-
dren.

(3) There will continue 10 be a waiting
period for adoption applicants. How-
ever, no couple applying to adopt has
been waiting longer than 20 months.

(4) Applicants will continue to be
assessed according to the current
agreements in relation to overseas
quotas and taking into account the
current priority for the Government
in working towards the implemen-
tation of the amendments to the
Adoption of Children Act.

TRAFFIC LIGHTS

Fitzgerald Street-Peel Terrace. Northami

968. Mr TRENORDEN, to the Minister for
Transport:

(1) Has the moad fatality on 20 July 1986,
which occurred at the intersection of
Fitzgerald Street and Peel Terrace,
Northam, raised that intersection's
priority in receiving traffic lights?

(2) How many accidents occurred at each
of the following intersections on Great
Eastern Highway, Northam-

(a) Peel Terrace and Fitzgerald
Street;

(b) Grey and Fitzgerald Streets;

(c) Gordon and Fitzgerald Streets;

(d) Gairdner and Fitzgerald Streets,

over the past 12 months?

(3) Has the number of accidents increased
in volume over the last five years?

(4) (a) Does the holding of the America's
Cup increase the Main Roads De-
partment's estimation of traffic
on Great Eastern Highway;

(b) if so, by how much?

(5) What plans are in progress to improve
the safety factor of Fitzgerald Street,
Northam, as pan of the Great Eastern
Highway?

Mr TROY replied:

The member will be advised in writing
in due course.
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
LEGISLATION

Introduction
971. Mr MacKINNON, to the Premier:

(1) Has the Government received any
approaches from organisations within
the community to legislate to provide
a freedom of information Act for
Western Australia?

(2) If so, is the Government giving con-
sideration to legislating along these
lines?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

LANDS AND SURVEYS DEPARTMENT
Contract Survey Work

973. Mr LAURANCE, to the Minister for
Lands:
(1) Is he aware that the Department of

Lands and Surveys is withholding an
amount of contract survey work to the
value of approximately $500 000?

(2) Why is this the case?
(3) As this position appears to be in con-

flict with the Government's recently-
stated policy that in future more sur-
veying work will be contracted out
rather than being done "in house",
can he explain to the industry exactly
what is happening?

(4) As some of the work involved may be
necessary to guarantee the transfer of
land to the Crown for upgrading roads
to a higher standard of safety, is it
possible that lives may be at stake if
this surveying work is not carried out
urgently?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
I will advise the member in writing in
due course.

TAXES AND CHARGES: MOTOR
VEHICLES

Deductions: Department of Consumer
Affairs Advice

976. Mr SCHELL, to the Minister for
Consumer Affairs:

Are people involved in private busi-
ness, who have a problem with a ve-
hicle that may at some time be used in
that business and claimed as a tax de-

duction, entitled to advice and help
from the Consumer Affairs Bureau?

Mr WILSON replied:
A person who acquires goods in the
course of or for the purpose of the
carrying on of a trade or business is
not a consumer for the purpose of the
Consumer Affairs Act and would not
normally be able to obtain assistance
from the Department-not bureau-
of Consumer Affairs. However, if the
matter relates to the enforcement of a
warranty imposed by the Motor Ve-
hicle Dealers Act, this restriction is
not enforced.

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
Pederick Engineering: Assistance

977. Mr NALDER, to the Minister
Industry and Technology:
(1)

for

Does he remember recently presenting
an award to Mr Harley Pederick, man-
aging director of the Wagin engineer-
ing firm of Pederick Engineering?

(2) Is he aware that this company is re-
ceiving seemingly unfair competition
from similar products manufactured
in New Zealand?

(3) Is he also aware that these imports are
free of import duty and are heavily
subsidised by the New Zealand
Government?

(4) Can this Government do anything to
overcome this apparent disadvantage?

(5) What level of assistance can this
company expect from the State
Government?

Mr BRYCE replied:
The member will be advised in writing
in due course.

PRISON
Canning Vale: Area

978. Mr CASH, to the Minister representing
the Minister for Prisons:
(1) What is the area of the present Can-

ning Vale prison site?
(2) What is the estimated capital expendi-

ture at Canning Vale to date?
Mr PETER DOWDING replied:

The member will be advised in
writing.
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PRISON
Casuarina: Infrastructure Costs

979. Mr CASH, to the Minister representing
the Minister for Prisons:

How much are the estimated capital
costs for the following items of infra-
structure which will be required at the
proposed maximum security pri.son at
Casuarina-
(a) internal and external roads;
(b) water;
(c) sewerage?

Mr PETER DOWDING replied:
The member will be advised
writing.

in

STATE FINANCE
Revenue: "Treasury Other'

980. Mr HASSELL, to the Treasurer:
(1) Referring to the media statement of

20 July 1986, P86/179, and to the fi-
nal figures for the Consolidated Rev-
enue Fund for the 1985-86 financial
year, under the heading "Treasury
Other" in the Consolidated Revenue
Fund Estimates, listed as total
estimated revenue of $165 662
million, what was the final revenue
under-
(a) interest earnings from short-term

investments;
(b) State Development Fund;
(c) Burswood Island Casino;,
(d) general revenue assistance-Bar-

row Island;
(e) total under heading "Treasury

Other"?
(2) What was the total amount earned as

"interest earnings from short-term in-
vestments" in the 1985-86 financial
year?

(3) What was the total saving within the
Consolidated Revenue Fund
compared with the estimates of wage
and salary costs due to the lateness of
the national wage case decision?

(4) Although not included in the media
release, a newspaper account referred
to $52 million in earnings from the
short-term investment of the
Treasury's cash balances, which would
be used in the coming Budget. In

which year or years, apportioned if ap-
plicable, was this amount earned?

(5) Referring to page 2, paragraph 17, of
the media release, would he explain
the specific nature of changes "due to
the treatment of the earnings from the
investment of 'Treasury cash bal-
ances' "?

(6) When did the Western Australian De-
velopment Corporation pay the
Government for the Perth Technical
College site?

(7) When was the Western Australian De-
velopment Corporation paid for the
Perth Technical College site by the
State Superannuation Board and by
the Laurie Connell-Alan Bond part-
nership?

(8) If (7) was before (6), what interest was
paid by the Western Australian Devel-
opment Corporation to the Govern-
ment on the moneys held?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) (a) Nil;

(b) $41 782 367;
(c) $ 13 045 000;
(d) nil;
(e) $108 395 000.

(2) $84 million, not all of which is avail-
able to the Consolidated Revenue
Fund.

(3) An estimated $16 million, which was
largely offset by other higher salary
and wage costs.

(4) 1983-84 and 1984-85-$23 586 869
and $32 943 127 respectively.

(5) The major factors are outlined in my
Press release.

(6) 27 June.
(7) and (8) The Government is not aware

of the details of the transactions be-
tween WADC and third parties. It is
recommended that the member seek
the answer from the panics involved.

PRISON
Casuarina: Site Inspection

981. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister
representing the Minister for Prisons:
(1) On what dates did the Government or

its representatives inspect the site
chosen for the new maximum security
prison?
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(2) What is the area of the land reserved
at Canning Vale for prison purposes?

(3) What is the area used of the Canning
Vale prison reserve for the present
prison facilities?

Mr PETER DOWDING replied:
The member will be advised in
writing.

PRISON
Canning Vale: Land Development

982. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister for
Planning:
(1) Has a proposal been submitted to the

Western Australian Planning Com-
mission for the development of land
within one kilometre of the boundary
of the Canning Vale prison reserve for
a shopping centre and housing?

(2) If "Yes", will he advise me the lo-
cation and lot numbers of the land on
which the development is proposed?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) and (2) No.

TRANSPORT
Bus Staion: Mounts Bay Road

983. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister for
Planning:
(1) Will he table the report or review

which recommended the building of a
bus station on the Mounts Bay Road
car park?

(2)
(3)

When is the bus station to be built?
What is the source of funds to build
this bus station?

(4) Is the proposal to build a bus station
on Roe Street now scrapped?

(5) What are the reasons influencing the
Government for siting this bus station
on Mounts Bay Road?

(6) Will the location of this bus station in
any way limit the flow of normal and
clipper buses through and around
Perth city, which bus services
presently advantage the bus patrons
being picked up and put down close to
their destination or work place?

Mr PEARCE replied:
This question is wrongly addressed to
the Minister for Planning. It has been
referred to the Minister for Transport,

and he will answer the question in
writing.

WILDLIFE
T/,ylacine: Protection

984. Mr NALDER, to the Minister for
Conservation and Land Management:
(1) Since the supposedly extinct thylacine

was photographed in Western
Australia in 1985, what has the
Government done to protect the ani-
mals?

(2) Has the Government shown
interest in the discovery?

any

(3) Has the Government interviewed the
gentleman who made the discovery?

(4) Has it offered any assistance to him to
further add credibility to this amazing
discovery?

(5) (a) Is there any strength to the ru-
mour that the Agriculture Protec-
tion Board has poisoned in the
immediate area of discovery;

(b) if "Yes", why?
Mr HODGE replied:
(1) All fauna is protected under the

Wildlife Conservation Act. Further-
more, the Government indicated in
1984 that if the animal proved to be a
thylacine it would be declared rare,
thereby giving it added protection.

(2) to (4) Yes.
(5) The location where the photographs

were taken has not been revealed to
the Government so I am unable to
answer this question.

EDUCATION
Students:- intelligence Evaluations

985. Mr WATT, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) Is it Education Department policy for

Government schools to use the
Australian Council for Educational
Research intermediate list D as the
sole basis of an evaluation of any
student's IQ?

(2) (a) Are "verbal" tests such as the
Australian Council for Edu-
cational Research intermediate
test D recommended by the Edu-
cation Department for use with

2638



(Thursday, 24 July 1986]163

children who are known to have
reading difficulties;

(b) if "No", who authorised the use
of the superseded Australian
Council for Educational Research
intermediate test D to evaluate
the IQ of year 6 students with
reading difficulties at Mt Barker
primary school in November
1984?

(3) Who supplied the intermediate test D
papers used by the Mt Barker primary
school in November 1984?

(4) Is the Australian Counbil for Edu-
cational Research intermediate test D
still used by any Government schools?

(5) Does the Education Department en-
donse and condone the contents of the
Mt Barker primary school newsletter
of 25 March 1985, concerning an ab-
normally large group of pupils with a
below average IQ?

(6) Does his
issuing of
schools to

department condone the
misleading information by

parents?
(7) (a) Has evidence been produced to

show that misleading information
has been issued to parents by
schools in writing;

(b) if so, what action would be con-
sidered to be appropriate?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) No.
(2) (a) No;

(b) no authorisation is required.
(3) These tests are not supplied by the

Education Department.
(4) This decision is at the direction of the

school principal.
(5) No.
(6) No.
(7) (a) and (b) Parents have been invited

to use the formal resource available to
them to have this issue resolved.

PLANNING COMMISSION.
offices: Refurbishment

986. Mr CLARKO, to the Minister for
Planning:
(1) (a) Is it fact that the architectural

firm, Barrett, Koivisto and
Scatena, has been awarded a con-
tract by the State Planning Corn-

mission for architectural work for
the refurbishment of the State
Planning Commission offices;

(b) if "Yes", what are the details of
such a brief and contracted price?

(2) Was the contract open for public ten-
der?

(3) Is the abovenamed Barrett the
Kenneth Barrett who is a
missioner of the State Planning
mission?

same
comn-

Comn-

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) No.
(2) No.
(3) Yes.

PORTS AND HARBOURS
Maylands Slipyard:- Architectural Work

987. Mr CLARKO, to the Minister for
Planning:
(1) (a) Is it fact that the architectural

firm, Barrett, Koivisto and
Scatena, has been awarded a con-
tract by the Stale Planning Com-
mission for architectural Work to
do with the Maylands Slipyard;

(b) if "Yes", what are the details of
such a brief and contracted price?

(2) Was the contract open for public ten-
der?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) No.
(2) No.

PORT KENNEDY
Architectural Work

988. Mr CLARKO, to the Minister for
Planning:
(1) (a) Is it fact that the architectural

firm, Barrett, Koivisto and
Scatena, has been awarded a con-
tract by the State Planning Com-
mission for architectural work to
do with the Port Kennedy plans
at Long Point;

(b) if' "Yes", what are the details of
such a brief and contracted price?

(2) Was the contract open for public ten-
der?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) No.
(2) No.
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LAND: RESERVE
Whitemans Park: Architectural Work

989. Mr CLARKO, to the Minister for
Planning:

(1) (a) Is it fact that the architectural
firm, Barrett, Koivisto and
Scatena, has been awarded a con-
tract by the State Planning Com-
mission for architectural work to
do with Whitemans Park regional
open space;

(b) if "Yes", what are the details of
such a brief and contracted price?

(2) Was the contract open for public ten-
der?

Mr PEARCE replied:

(1) (a) The former Metropolitan Region
Planning Authority, by resolution
on 12 September 1985, awarded a
commission to the firm;

(b) the agreement entered into was in
three parts-

(i) to prepare a development
programme to enable stage I
of Whiteman Park to be
completed, and the park to
function as a public rec-
reational facility;

this work was payable on an
hourly rate;

(ii) to design and document a
major car park and comfort
station at Youle Dean Road,
as the main entrance to
Whiteman Park;

an approved percentage fee
in accordance with guide
scale of charges prepared by
the RAIA was applied;

(iii) to coordinate the preparation
of a series of topographical
maps showing existing devel-
opment of the park;

this work was part of the
overall coordination agree-
ment.

(2) The contracts arising from I (b) (ii)
and (iii) were the subject of selected
tenders.

TRANSPORT
Taxis: Kimberley Bush Taxis

990. Mr LAURANCE, to the Minister for
Transport:
(1) Is he aware of any applications before

the Taxi Control Board for permits for
Kimberley Bush Taxis at Broome and
Derby?

(2) What is the current status of any such
application?

(3) Has the board or the Transport Com-
mission had complaints from the pro-
prietor of Kimnberley Bush Taxis?

(4) What has been the outcome of these
complaints?

(5) Has the board or the commission sent
officers to Broome or Derby to inves-
tigate complaints, and if so, which
officers and when?

Mr TROY replied:
(1) 1 am aware an application has been

received by the Department of
Transport from a Mr J. C. Kernot,
trading as Kimberley Bush Taxis, for a
licence to carry passengers and freight
to the Dampier Peninsula.

(2) 1 understand Mr Kemnot has been ad-
vised by the department that an
omnibus licence enabling him to carry
passengers in conjunction with the
mail contract between Broome and
the Damipier Peninsula will be issued
on receipt of actual vehicle details.

(3) Yes.
(4) The complaints have been

investigated, and where necessary the
appropriate disciplinary action has
been taken.

(5) The department undertakes regular
patrols of both Broome and Derby at
which time complaints received are
investigated. I do not intend to name
officers of the department who are
merely going about their normal du-
ties.

RANFORD ROAD
Upgrading

991. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister for
Transport:
(1) Is it a fact Ranford Road, Armadale

and Gosnells, is to be upgraded this
financial year?
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(2) What funds have been provided for
these works?

(3) What is the extent of the construction
and maintenance to be carried out on
Ranford Road this year?

Mr TROY replied:
(1) and (2) Consideration is being given

to an allocation of $290 000 for recon-
struction works within the City of
Gonells.

(3) The proposed reconstruction is be-
tween Nicholson Road and Warton
Road. Both the Cities of Gosnells and
Armadale wI carry out normal main-
tenance over the whole of the road.

ROADS
Local Government Grants

992. Mr COWAN, to the Minister for
Transport:
(1) How many different grants are made

available to local authorities for road
maintenance or construction?

(2) (a) Of these grants, have local
authorities been advised of their
allocation from each specific
grant;

(b) if not, why not?
(3) In each of the last five years, when

were the local authorities advised of
the amounts of money they were to
receive for road prants from each of
the sources available?

Mr TROY replied:
(1) Statutory, ABRD, routine mainten-

ance, and specific grants including
prants for roads in national parks and
woads used predominantly by tourists.

(2) (a) No, except for ABRD prants;
most councils that have submit-
ted ABRD proprammes for 1986-
87 have been advised of the ap-
proved projects that may be car-
died out during the 1986-87
financial year,

(b) because the sectjon of the Main
Roads Department programme
which makes provision for grants
to local government authorities
has just been finalised; statutory
prants have been approved and I
expect to approve the specific and
routine maintenance prants early
next week; advice on all grants

will be despatched to councils by
4 August 1986.

(3) Dates Letters Sent to Councils

Roads in
National
Parks and

specific Rads
and Rou- used

line Main- pridomnin-
tenalt Siitr tnly by

Year Genm.Gam Tourists
1985-86 26/7/85 1513/3 28/10/85
1984-85 2116434 4/7/34 17/9/84
1 983-34 11/7/33 12/7/83 28/W/33
1982-83 29/6/32 917/82 19/t0/32
1991-12 3/7/li 3)7/SI Not avail-

able

NOTE: Advice on ABRD grants is
sent to councils after their
programmes are approved by
the Federal Minister. The
dates depend on when the
projects are submitted by
councils and this occurs
throughout the year.

PRISONS DEPARTMENT
Computer Contract

993. Mr HASSELL, to the Minister
Industry and Technology:

for

(I) In regard to a recent tender 858A-
1985 for computer facilities for the
Prisons Department, awarded to
Sigma Data, if "associated benefits"
packages are so important in
determining successful tenders, on
what basis did Sigma Data win the
contract when there are only two or
three employees located in the State?

(2) What have been Sigma Data's
".associated benefits" past and future?

(3) What guarantees did the department
receive that Sigma Data would go
ahead with their promised "associated
benefits"?

Mr BRYCE replied:
The member will be advised in due
course in writing.

INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
DEPARTMENT

Computer Contract
994. Mr HASSELL, to the Minister for

Industry and Technology:
(1) In regard to the recent tender for

supply of computer base office auto-
mation system reference number
889A-1985, contracted to Olivetti,
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how does the Department of Indus-
trial Development justify an overrun
in budget of $140 800 for the tender in
the present climate of economic
restraint?

(2) Has there been other expenditure over
and above the $350 000 paid for the
Olivetti contract?

(3) How can the department award a ten-
der if "associated benefits" nego-
tiations have not been finalised?

Mr BRYCE replied:
The member will be advised in due
course in writing.

ARGENTINE ANTS
Technical Advisory Group: Report

995. Mr CRANE, to the Minister for
Agriculture:
(I) (a) Will he advise if the report from

the technical advisory group on
Argentine ant control is now
available;

(b) if "Yes", is the report favourable
to Argentine ant control at Herds-
man Lake;

(c) if "No", when will the report be
available?

(2) If no report has been issued, will he
advise the reason for extensive
spraying in recent months in the
Herdsman Lake area?

Mr GRILL replied:
(1) The technical advisory group, formed

in 1984 to consider the control of Ar-
gentine Ants at Herdsman Lake,
recommended that the ants should be
controlled as part of the lake develop-
ment plan.

(2) Development work at the lake in 1985
created a reclaimed area on the per-
iphery of the lake in the north-east
sector, ideal for ant control. The De-
partment of Agriculture proposed that
this area be treated. The proposal was
considered and agreed to at a meeting
of senior officers from the various de-
partments concerned, subject to the
presentation of a satisfactory oper-
ations plan and residue studies. A rep-
resentative of the Conservation Coun-
cil attended the meeting.

WATER RESOURCES
Reticulation: Asbestos Pipes

996. Mr MENSAROS, to the Honorary
Minister assisting the Minister for Water
Resources:
(1) What is the present total amount of

asbestos cement oipes being used
yearly by the Water Authority of
Western Australia?

(2) (a) Does the Water Authority have
any plan to reduce the quantity of
asbestos cement pipe it is
presently using;

(b) if so, what is the intended rate of
reduction?

(3) (a) Has the Australian manufacturer
of asbestos cement pipe advised
of its intention to cease manufac-
ture and supply of asbestos
cement pipes;

(b) if so, when is that cessation
planned to happen?

Mr BRIDGE replied:
(1) Not readily available.
(2) (a) Yes;

(b) answered by 3(b).
(3) (a) Yes;

(b) March 1987.

HEALTH
Pathology:- Private Laboratories

997. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:
(1) As from January 1987, are private

pathology laboratories in Western
Australia required to have a qualified
pathologist in attendance at each
premises?

(2) (a) Does the State Government have
pathology laboratories or
collecting points in Western
Australia;

(b) if "Yes-, where?
(3) If "Yes" to (2), will all State Govern-

ment pathology laboratories or prem-
ises used for collecting purposes be
required to have a qualified pathol-
ogist in attendance at each premises?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
(1) No, not insofar as any State legislation

is concerned.
(2) (a) Yes;
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(b) at the following hospitals-
QEII MC Geraldton
Osborne Park Meekatharra
Wanneroo Kalgoorlie
Swan District Esperance
Kalamnunda Merredin
Bentley Northam
Armadale- Narrogin

Kelmscott Katanning
Wyndham Albany
Kununurra Manjimup
Broome Busselton
Derby Bunbury
Port Hedland Collie
Nickel Bay Pinjarra
Tom Price Rockcingham
Mt Newman Graylarids
Carnarvon

(3) Not a requirement of the Health De-
partmnent of WA.

INSURANCE
No-fault Accident Compensation: ALP Policy

998. Mr MENSAROS, to the Premier:
(1) Has be received a letter from the

Prime Minister on the lines of the
Australian Labor Party's commitment
to no-fault accident compensation
generally and suggesting that before
achieving the ultimate objective of an
integrated nationwide compensation
scheme, as a start the State should
examine the establishment of a no-
fault transport accident compensation
scheme?

(2) If "Yes, would he table a copy of this
letter and following related correspon-
dence?

(3) (a) Is it his Government's policy to
introduce such no-fault transport
accident scheme in Western
Australia with or without the as-
sistance of the Commonwealth;

(b) if so, will the scheme exclude
common law schemes related to
transport accidents and covered
by the scheme?

(4) Will the Government establish a
single insurer for the purpose of the
scheme?

(5) Are the compensation payments
envisaged to be governed by the
amount and extent of the accident as
opposed to the losses related to an in-
dividual claimant?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) The State was approached on 3 March
1976 by Malcolm Fraser in a letter to
the then Premier, Sir Charles Court,
proposing a meeting of Ministers as a
First step towards consideration of
further developments in this area. At
that time, Senator Guilfoyle indicated
in a Press statement that she was
developing options in the field of
national compensation. Senator
Guilfoyle was concerned with national
compensation in regard to workers'
compensation, motor vehicle claims,
and accidents generally.

More recently the Government has
received a letter- 18 July 198 4-from
the Commonwealth suggesting that
the State give consideration to the in-
troduction of no-fault accident com-
pensation. The Government has not
received any letter from the Common-
wealth suggesting that the State estab-
lish such a scheme.

The Government has expressed to the
Commonwealth a desire to be given
the opportunity to be involved in any
consideration by the Commonwealth
on this matter.

(2) Not appropriate.

(3) to (5) The Government has yet to
formulate its policy on these matters
and will not do so without seeking the
views of the insurance industry and
the wider community.

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES

Unattached:, Temporary Placements

999. Mr MacKINNON, to the Premier:

(1) What is the justification for employees
who are unattached officers-as
indicated in answer to question 880 of
22 July 1986-being temporarily
allocated to the Department of Indus-
trial Development as have the two
officers indicated in that answer who
have been with the department since
23 January 1985 and 5 July 1985 re-
spectively?

(2) When will these officers be perma-
nently placed?

(3) Why have the officers not been so
placed to date?
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Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) Every endeavour is made by the
Office of Redeployment and
Retraining to place redeployces in
suitable alternative permanent
positions as quickly as possible.
All vacancies in the public sector are
referred to the office before normal
advertising occurs. Wherever possible,
vacant positions are filled by
redeployees.

However, due to factors such as the
limited availability of certain types of
work opportunities, employees
undergoing retraining opportunities,
and employees on leave without pay
or extended illness, it may not be poss
ible to make suitable placements in
the short term.

(2) Immediately a suitable vacancy oc-
curs. Updating of the Office of Re-
deployment and Retraining records
show that one of the six is now
substantively placed and permanent
placements are very likely for two
others.

(3) Suitable vacancies have not arisen.

ROITNEST ISLAND
Cottages: Bookings

1000. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Tourism:

How many applications were received
and accepted for bookings of cottages
on Rottnest Island for the 1986-87
Christmas holiday period prior to 28
June 1986?

Mrs BEGGS replied:

None was accepted prior to 28 June
1986. All applicants were requested to
re-submit in writing on or after that
date in line with the new accommo-
dation booking system. See answer to
question 909.

MINERALS
Royalties: Income

1001. Mr MacKINNON, to the Treasurer

(1) What is the estimated royalty income
to be received by the Government
during the 1986-87 financial year?

(2) What was the total royalty income
received by the Government during
the years ended-
(a) 30 June 1983;
(b) 30 June 1984;
(c) 3O June 1985; and
(d) 30 June 1986?

(3) What is the estimated royalty income
during the year ending 30 June 1987
fromn-
(a) iron ore;
(b) alumina;
(c) diamonds;
(d) mineral sands?

(4) Why has the royalty income from dia-
monds declined from $3.802 million
received in 1983-84 to $2.865 million
received in 1985-86?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) The estimate of mining royalty rev-

enue is currently being reviewed as
part of the fornulation of the State
Budget. It will be published in the
Budget papers when they are
presented to Parliament.

(2) (a) $102 454 067;
(b) $118 126 260;
(c) $130977455;
(d) $ 162 981659.

(3)
(4)

Covered by (1).
The decline was largely attributable to
exhaustion of the alluvial deposits
worked over this period. The com-
mencement late last year of mining of
the kimberlite pipe is expected to re-
verse this trend.

GAMBLING
Casino Tax

1002. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister
representing the Minister for Budget
Management:
(1) What is the rate of tax being charged

by the State Government on the
Burswood Island Casino?

(2) How much has been received to date
from the casino tax?

(3) (a) Does he know what level of tax is
charged on casino operators in
other States;

(b) if so, what is the level of tax?
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Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

The member will be advised in
writing.

WA EXIM CORPORATION

Kimcal: Interest

1003. Mr MacKINNON, to the Premier

(1) (a) Does Exim Corporation Ltd have

a n interest in a company trading

s Kimcal;
(b) if so, what is the main activity of

the company?

(2) What interest does Exim Corporation
Ltd have in the company?

(3) (a) Is the company in direct compe-
tition with any other Western
Australian-based company;

(b) if so, what are the names of those
competitors?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) to (3) See reply to question 96 1.

HEALTH: NOISE
Heavy Transport: Nort ham

1004. Mr TRENORDEN, to the Minister for
Transport:

(1) Is he aware of the noise level caused
by heavy transport in Forrest Street,
Northam?

(2) If so, how bad is this noise level
compared with a problem street in the
metropolitan area, e.g. Servetus
Street?

(3) If the level is excessive, what action is
being considered by the Main Roads
Department to relieve the residents
who live in Forrest Street, Northam?

Mr TROY replied:

(I) to (3) Forrest Street, Northam is a
road under the care, control, and man-
agement of the Town of Northam. I
understand that council com-
missioned a noise level survey several
years ago on Gordon and Forrest
Streets, Northam. I will see what in-
formation is available which could be
provided to the member and arrange
for a written reply.

POULTRY

Golden Egg Farms: Northam Depot

1005. Mr TRENORDEN, to the Minister for
Agriculture:

(1) As the reasons given for the closure of
the Egg Marketing Board's Northam
depot have been economic as it is
heavily subsidised, what are those
subsidies?

(2) As operations will now be from Perth,
what are the total estimated costs in-
clusive of and in what number and
transport to service the area covered
by the Northam depot?

(3) Is there an increased chance of
dockage of 1 0 cents per dozen on pro-
ducers' eggs occurring because of new
arrangements?

(4) What arrangements have been made
to ensure backyard producers do not
feel some of the vacuum caused by the
closure of the Northam depot?

Mr GRILL replied:

(1) The direct cost of the Northam depot
to the Western Australian Egg Market-
ing Board amounts to $25 000 annu-
ally. The board will gain additional in-
come of $36 000 from sale of the
property.

(2) Transport costs other than Northam
will continue to be $ 1.70 per 20 dozen
eggs.

(3) Under the new arrangements, pro-
ducers supplying the board will con-
tinue to receive the same net return.
Those producers who opt for a permit
to sell eggs to the public will be
required to pay the standard charge of
10 cents per dozen to the board. As
they will receive at least the wholesale
price for eggs sold from the farm,
these producers will gain by a mini-
mum of 29 cents per dozen.

(4) Backyard producers are not entitled to
sell eggs unless they obtain a grading
certificate. It is not expected that the
closure of the Northam depot will in-
fluence backyard egg production.
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POLICE RECORDS
Acquitted Persons

1006. Mr LEWIS, to the Honorary Ministerassisting the Minister for Police and
Emergency Services:
(1) Is it fact that the police records of per-

sons charged and initially found guilty
by a Magistrate's Court but later ac-
quitted by a superior court are
retained by the police records branch
notwithstanding acquittal?

(2) If "Yes", will he take the necessary
action to ensure that the records of all
persons acquitted of a specific charge
will be automatically struck off with-
out the need for the acquitted person
to request the removal of those
records?

Mr GORDON HILL replied:
The member will be advised in writing
in due course.

WATER AUTHORITY
Apprentices: Training

1007. Mr LEWIS, to the Honorary Minister
assisting the Minister for Water Resoures:

Further to his answer to pant (2) of
question 904 of Tuesday, 22 July
1986, concerning apprenticeship
training, what is the reason for the
Water Authority's not adhering to the
stated Government policy requiring
the employment of apprentices con-
ditional on the letting of construction
tenders?

Mr BRIDGE replied:
The authority constructs very few
buildings of the magnitude to require
the employment of apprentices under
the Building Management Authority
and Homeswest guidelines.
Where major buildings have been
constructed-e.g. Canning Vale work-
shop this year-the contractor has
been required to employ apprentices
as per the preferential tendering
scheme for building contractors as
managed by the Building Management
Authority.
The majority of the authority's con-
struction contracts relate to the laying
of sewers and pipelines and the con-
struction of service reservoirs. Very
few tradesmen are employed by the

contractors specialising in these works
and it would thus be inappropriate to
insist on the employment of appren-
tices on these works.

WA EXIM CORPORATION
Funding: Acremaster Marketing Pty Ltd

1008. Mr COURT, to the Premier.
(1) What funds have Exim Corporation

Ltd provided Acremaster Marketing
Pty Ltd in the way of-
(a) equity capital;
(b) loans;
(c) guarantees?

(2) (a) Has the Western Australian De-
velopment Corporation been
asked to assist in the funding of
Acremaster Marketing Pty Ltd;

(b) if "Yes", has it agreed to partici-
pate?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(I) and (2) See reply to qutestion 9 61.

FORESTS
Softwood Share Farming Scheme

1009. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Conservation and Land Management:
(1) Since the softwood share farming

scheme was introduced, how many ap-
plications for inspection and appraisal
have been received from-
(a) owners of existing softwood plan-

tations;
(b) landowners wishing to establish

new softwood plantations?
(2) How many landowners of existing

softwood plantations and how many
landowners wishing to establish new
plantations have accepted a Govern-
ment offer and joined the scheme?

(3) How many hectares of existing soft-
wood plantations have been taken
over by the Government and how
many hectares of new softwood plan-
tation have been established under the
scheme?

(4) When the Government establishes a
new softwood plantation under the
scheme, what are the agreed percent-
ages of net estimated returns to go to
the Government and landowner re-
spectively?
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(5) What basis is the agreed percentage of
nett estimated returns apportioned be-
tween Government and landowner of
an existing softwood plantation?

Mr HODGE replied:

(1) (a) 2;

(b) 63.

(2) No owners of existing plantations
have joined the scheme and one land-
owner wishing to establish new plan-
tations has accepted a Government
offer and joined the scheme.

(3) No area of existing softwood plan-
tations has been taken over and no
new softwood plantations have yet
been established under the scheme.

(4) The revenue distribution depends
upon the site attributes of each prop-
erty.

(5) The apportionment of revenue de-
pends upon the attributes of the plan-
tation, such as age and productivity.

FORESTS

Soft wood. Share Farming Scheme

1010. Mr COURT, to the Minister for
Conservation and Land Management:

(1) To how many people did the Govern-
ment send its brochure, -Softwood
Share Farming", between November
1985 and January 1986?

(2) What main interest groups was it
directed to?

Mr IHODGE replied:

(1) In early November 1985 all rural rate-
payers in the Manjimup, Bridgetown,
and Nannup Shires were sent bro-
chures. The number involved was
approximately 1 800.

Individual requests for brochures
from interested landowners outside
these shires numbered approximately
80.

(2) Landowners in the high rainfall zone
of the south-west of Western
Australia.

EDUCATION
Gladys Newton School. Therapists

1011. Mr BRADSH-AW, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) H-as the Government's current staff pol-

icy affected the physiotherapist and
speech therapist positions at the
Gladys Newton school at Balga?

(2) If so, in what way?
(3) If so, does he intend to bring the staff

levels back to a satisfactory level?
Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) to (3) The member should refer to the

answer to his question 1012.

EDUCATION
Gladys Newton School: Therapists

1012. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:
(1) Has the Government's current staff pol-

icy affected the physiotherapist and
speech therapist positions at the
Gladys Newton school at Balga?

(2) If so, in what way?

(3) If so, does he intend to bring the staff
levels back to a satisfactory level?

Mr TAYLOR replied:
(1) to (3) A submission requesting the f ill-

ing of the speech therapist and physio-
therapist positions at the Gladys
Newton school at Balga has been
lodged with the Minister for Budget
Management for his consideration.

EDUCATION
Primary School Sites: Leetning A rea

10 13. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) Has the Government identified any

sites in the Leeming area for the devel-
opment of future primary schools?

(2) If so, what are the locations of these
school sites?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) Yes.
(2) School site reserve No. 37916

bounded by Beasley Road, Hicks
Street, Gracechurch Crescent, and
McGuiness Drive, Laeming.
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EDUCATION: PRIMARY SCHOOLS
Murdoch Electorate:- Enrolment

1014. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) What is the current enrolment of the

Yale and South Thornlie primary
schools respectively?

(2) Where is the next primary school for
the area to be built?

(3) When will that school be constructed?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) Yale Primary School, 794 students in-

cluding 104 pre-primary; South
Thornie Primary School, 782
students including 101 pre-primary.

(2) On Forest Crescent, in the south-west-
ern pant of Thornlie.

(3) For the 1987 school year, subject to
the availability of funding.

TRAVEL AGENTS ACT
Regulations: Gazeital

1015. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Consumer Affairs:
(1) Have the regulations to be gazetted

under the Travel Agents' Act yet been
completed?

(2) If so, when will the regulations be
tabled in the Parliament?

(3) If not, when is it expected that the
regulations will be completed?

Mr WILSON replied:

(1) No.
(2) No.
(3) As soon as possible, after the tmust

deed is completed.

ENVIRONMENT
Benger Swamp: Ownership

1016. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Conservation and Land Management:
(1) Does the Crown own the area known

as the Benger Swamp?
(2) When was this area acquired by the

Government?
(3) For what purpose was the land pur-

chased?
(4) What is the current status of this land?

Mr HODGE replied:
(1) 86 per cent of the area is owned by the

Crown.
(2) Between 1974 and 1986.
(3) For the conservation of flora and

fauna.
(4) 13 per cent is freehold land privately

owned;
19 per cent is "C"-class reserve vested
in the National Parks and Nature
Conservation Authority for conser-
vation of flora and fauna;
25 per cent is freehold land owned by
the Crown;
43 per cent is vacant Crown land.

EDUCATION: PRIMARY SCHOOL
South Lake: Enrolment

1017. Mr MacICINNON, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) V/hat is the current enrolment at the

South Lake primary school?
(2) What is the anticipated enrolment for

that school for the 1987 school year?
(3) What facilities are to be included in

the next stage of the school building
programme?

(4) When will this building programme
commence?

Mr PEARCE replied:
(1) 198 students, including 52 pre-pri-

mary.
(2) Approximately 260 students, includ-

ing 52 pre-primar.
(3) 6 classrooms, library, and dental ther-

apy unit.
(4) A starting date is subject to budgetary

considerations.

SPORT AND RECREATION
WA Football League: Assistance

1018. Mr MacKJNNON, to the Premier:
(1) Has the Government given any

financial commitment to the Western
Australian Football League in support
of its aim to establish a Western
Australian team in the Victorian Foot-
ball League competition?

(2) If so, what is the nature of that com-
mitment?
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Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:

(1) and (2) A copy of my Press release
dealing with this matter is tabled for
the information of the member.

(See paper No. 305.)

EDUCAT[ON
Primary Schools: Closure

1019. Mr RUSKTON, to the Minister for
Education:
(1) What restriction does the Education

Department have in closing a primary
school?

(2) Is there a minimum number of
students at a school below which the
department can close a school?

(3) What rights do parents have against
the closure of Oakford primary
school?

Mr PEARCE replied:

(1) to (3) There are no restrictions on the
Education Department closing a
school when alternative provisions are
available. No decision to close
Oakford Primary School has been
taken; but the view of parents would
be considered in any such decision.

TRANSPORT

Bus Station: Mounts Bay Road

1020. Mr RUSHTON, to the Minister for
Planning:

(1) Will he please show how the future
major central integrated transport
transfer station can be accommodated
now that the new car park is to be
built in Wellington Street over the
railway reserve between Perth Central
Station and Barrack Street, i.e-

(a) future trains;,

(b) future buses;

(c) electrification;

(d) monorail railways;

(e) new technology?

(2) How is it proposed to treat the new car
park aesthetically from all sides now
that the vista from Wellington Street
to Roe Street is to be totally blocked
with a 25-metre high, six-storey car

park building which will be 21/ times
the height of Perth central station?

(23) What financial return does the-

(a) State Government;

(b) Westrail,

expect to obtain from investment in
the car park?

(4) (a) Is Westrail to be credited with the
value of the large block of land
being used for the car park;

(b) if not, why not?
(5) Why is Westrail only being credited

with six per cent source of funds for
the building of the car park?

Mr PEARCE replied:

(1) The deck, or lowest level of the air
rights development over railway land
at the city station has been located at a
level at Westrail requirements, to suit
rail electricification.

A transport corridor, to allow for fu-
ture transit systems, has been retained
on the north side of the development.

The ground level is entirely free except
for structural columns and Westrail
tracks, platforms, and other facilities.

(2) The development has been designed
with extensive planter boxes at the
edges to the parking floors, together
with extensive glazing and buff
coloured concrete block to the lower
levels.

(3) The State Government will receive no
direct financial return. The invest-
ment is in public facilities in the cen-
tral city which will benefit the com-
munity by connections to the cultural
centre from Forrest Place through to
the city station development.

Westrail will receive improved facili-
ties for rail passengers.

(4) (a) Yes the enabling agreement at-
tached to the Forrest Place and
City Station Development Act
198 5 specifies this payment;

(b) see (a).

(5) The six per cent contribution by
Westrail to the cost of the develop-
ment represents the value of Westrail
facilities incorporated in it.
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QUESTIONS WITHOUT~ NOTICE

STATE FINANCE
1 98S-86 Outcome

216. Mr HASSELL. to the Treasurer:
(1) Is it correct that in announcing the

financial outcome for the year ended
30 June 1986 for the State of Western
Australia, included in the current ac-
count were the proceeds of the sale to
WADC of the Perth Technical College
site?

(2) If that is correct, does the Treasurer
acknowledge that this is an unusual
treatment of a capital item?

(3) Also, if it is correct, in reality the re-
suit for 30 June 1986 on the current
account excluding that capital item
was a deficit, was it not?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
(1) to (3) 1 am not sure of the answer

immediately, but I will ask the Leader
of the Opposition to speak to the
Under Treasurer to ascertain the in-
formation for himself. I do not know
the answer. I can say that the Treasury
dealt with the accounts in the normal
and orthodox manner.

Mr MacKinnon: I find it surprising that
you do not know.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I am not surprised
that the Deputy Leader of the Oppo-
sition finds it surprising. It was my
impression that the dividend from the
WADC was included in the current
account. Whether that dividend was
partly as a result of the sale of the
Perth Technical College site, I am not
sure.

Mr Hassell: That was a separate
transaction. I am talking about the
sale from the Government to the
WADC, not the sale to other parties
which produced a profit and
contributed to the dividend.

Mr BRIAN BURKE: I do not immediately
know the answer to the first part of the
question. I thought that the Leader of
the Opposition might have mistaken
the second part for the first pan. In
any case I am sure that the Under
Treasurer will be only too pleased to
discuss the matter with the Leader of
the Opposition. If the Leader of the
Opposition drops me a note I will pro-

vide him with the information he
seeks. I do not want to guess at the
answer without having the correct in-
formation.

ENERGY: OIL
Resource Rent Royalty

217. Mrs BUCHANAN, to the Minister for
Minerals and Energy:
(2) Js the Minister in a position to say

what has been the effect on State roy-
alty revenue of the replacement from
1 July 1985 of the former wellhead
royalty on the Barrow Island oilfield
by a resource rent royalty?

(2) Can he also comment on the relative
impact on production of the former
wellhead royalty and the new RRR?

Mr PARKER replied:
(1) It is estimated by the Mines Depart-

ment, in consultation with the
Treasury, that at today's oil prices, in
the 1986487 fiscal year the State will
retain $ 10.483 million as its share of
the Barrow Island RRR revenue. This
compares with an estimated $6.036
million that it would have received
under the former wellhead system.
Both these figures are obviously
substantially lower than estimates
made before the major fall in world
and Australian oil prices which oc-
curred early this year, and thus the
absolute size of the expected revenue
gain is less.

(2) Because it is based on economic profit
rather than simply on output, unlike a
wellhead royalty, the RRR does not
lead to the shutting-in of production
which is becoming marginal through
rising costs, but is still viable. This
profit sensitivity means that Barrow
Island has avoided the permanent loss
of production which, under the old
wellhead royalty-excise regime, would
have resulted from the recent dra-
matic faUl in oil prices. It has been
estimated, in fact, that around 25 per
cent of Barrow Island's production
would have by now been shut in but
for the RRR.
Thus, the Government's decision to
take the initiative in negotiating with
the Commonwealth and the producer
the replacement of the conventional
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royalty-excise regime with a more
sophisticated royalty instrument has
prevented both an unnecessary decline
in the State's oil production and a sav-
age blow to the financial position of
the producer at a very difficult time.

I would suggest that these facts sup-
port the argument that there are many
areas-not only in the area of natural
resources taxation-where by
coordinating and refining their poli-
cies, State and Commonwealth
Governments can improve the
operating environment of industry at
little or no overall cost to themselves.

ENERGY

Gas Pipeline: Bennett Brook

218. Mr MacKINNON, to the Minister for
Minerals and Energy:

(1) Has the Bennett Brook dispute be-
tween the SEC and the Swan Valley
Fringedwellers been resolved?

(2) if not, when is it anticipated that it
will be?

(3) What is the estimated cost per day of
the dispute to the SEC as a result of
its inability to connect the gas pipeline
across the creek?

Mr PARKER replied:

(1) No.

(2) At a time when the trial before the
Supreme Court can be heard and de-
termined, which time is outside my or
the SEC's control.

Mr MacKinnon: Can you estimate when
that will be?

Mr PARKER: We have sought an
expedited trial. We are doing our best,
through our legal advisers, to have the
trial heard as quickly as possible.
There is nothing more we can do
about the matter. We have sworn affi-
davits as to the reasons for an
expedited trial, and our lawyers are
working on it at the moment. We are
doing everything we can but it is in
the hands of the Supreme Court.

(3) I am not aware of the cost per day to
the SEC, but if the member places the
question on the Notice Paper I will
provide an answer.

SCM CHEMICALS LTD
Chloride Process

219. Mr P. J. SMITH, to the Minister for
Minerals and Energy:

It was announced yesterday that the
Government would assist SCM
Chemicals Ltd at Australind to con-
vert its plant to a chloride process.
Would the Minister please comment
on the effect this changeover will have
on the level of the work force?

Mr PARKER replied:
I understand that comments were
made on the radio this afternoon,
emanating from the work force at the
current SCM plant, to the effect that
they have heard that the work force
may be reduced by 80 per cent as a
result of the changeover. It was stated
that as a result of that they may decide
to take some action against the
proposed changeover. In fact, that fig-
ure is absolutely incorrect. There are
approximately 306 employees in the
current operation at SCM, and it is
estimated that the new operation will
be undertaken with a total of 35
people fewer than that figure.
However, two things have happened:
Firstly, the Government has agreed
that the SCM arganisation can con-
tinue to produce its sulphate product
after the bringing into commission of
the chloride plant for a short period to
ensure an appropriate transition with-
out the need for retrenchments.
The second point is that SCM Chemni-
cals Ltd has a major asset in the plant
which is there, and while it may not be
used for mineral sands processing
there may well be a number of other
options available to SCM. SCM is a
very entrepreneurial and aggressive
corporation which has bought into
Australind on the basis that that will
be its centre of operations for South-
East Asia. The corporation is very
confident indeed that it will find other
processes which it will be able to
undertake on that site, and it is
anxious to do that and to utilise that
investment to increase the total level
of employment in the plant.
Even if the worst happened, it is
estimated that 35 people would be
lost, and that such reductions would
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not be achieved by any redundancies
or retrenchments,.

AGRICULTURE

Rural Adjustment and Finance

Corporation: Crop Liens

220. Mr HOUSE, to the Minister for
Agriculture:

The practice of the Rural Adjustment
and Finance Corporation of' taking
crop liens forces farmers to completely
renegotiate their financial require-
ments every year, jeopardising their
long-term financial stability. Can the
Minister assure the House that he will
ask the corporation to investigate this
matter with a view to overcoming the
problem?

Mr GRILL replied:

I will certainly look at any situation
that might improve the Position of
farmers; but in applying for
concessional finance loans farmers
have to abide by the conditions which
have been set down for those loans.
Generally speaking, the conditions as
set out in the Commonwealth-State
agreement relating to concessional
loans indicate that some security
needs to be given for the loans. In
many cases, because the farmers ap-
plying for loans are heavily mort-
gaged, the only security they are able
to give is in fact the crap lien.

The crop lien is not always the best
security, as the member will probably
appreciate. For a number of reasons it
is an inferior security and there is a
considerable risk attached to it; SO
although I think the Rural Adjustment
and Finance Corporation would like
to rely on a more secure security, it
does have to resort to crop liens, as do
a number of other rural financiers.

Apart from endeavouring to stream-
line the securing of those crop liens,
which has been a Source of delay in
the past, I do not see any immediate
way of overcoming the problem- We
have approached the Crown Law De-
partment on this subject and it does
appear there are considerable prob-
lems in streamlining the system.

Mr Cowan: All you have to do is tell the
Valuer General to be a little more re-
alistic when it comes to the matter of
assessing the value of rural land.

Mr GRILL: The Valuer General is a public
servant doing a very hard job. He en-
deavours to place a realistic value
upon land. Indications from research
done in the Department of Agriculture
and by financial institutions are that
in many areas, especially in some of
the more marginal country, the value
placed on land is coming down to the
normal value. There have been aber-
rations over the last few years which
really have placed too high a value on
some of that marginal land, and many
of the problems occur in the marginal
Country.

Mr Cowan: I cannot clear it for the price
he puts on it.

Mr GRILL: That is probably the case at
the present time, but nonetheless that
is the value of the land and the Valuer
General has to be realistic about it.

MULTICULTURAL AND ETHNIC
AFFAIRS

Non Anglo-Saxon People
22 1. Dr GALLOP, to the Honorary Minister

assist ing the Minister for Multicultural
and Ethnic Affairs:

Does he agree with the statement
made by the member for Murchison-
Eyre during his second reading speech
on the Acts Amendment (Electoral
Reform) Bill wherein he referred to
non Anglo-Saxon people?

The SPEAKER: I apologise for having to
do this, especially this evening, but
that question is out of order.

MINERAL: NICKEL
Agnew: Meeting

222. Mr LIGHITFOOT, to the Minister for
Minerals and Energy:
(1) Is the Minister aware that a mass

meeting of miners was held at Leinster
last night?

(2) Is he aware that the major concern of
workers expressed at that meeting was
that no redundancy package had yet
been offered to the work force?

2652



[Thursday, 24 July 19861 25

(3) Is he aware of reports that families in
the company houses at Leinster will be
asked to vacate their homes in 12
weeks' lime?

(4) What steps does the Minister propose
to take with respect to questions (1) to
(3)?

(5) In view of the seriousness of the cur-
rent situation at Leinster, would the
Minister consider changing his travel
plans to ensure that his proposed trip
to the United Kingdom to see the
management of BP about this matter
is brought forward to a date not later
than 1 August?

Mr Peter Dowding: Do you like what is
happening at Leinster?

Mr LIGHTPOOT: Should I answer that
interjection, Mr Speaker?

Mr Taylor Tell us about South Africa-
tell us about your trip to South Africa.

Several members interjected.
Mr LIGHTFOOT: In answer to that inter-

jection, I and two colleagues of mine
in this House propose to travel to
South Africa and then to the front-line
States of Zimbabwe and Botswana.
We propose to visit various mining
enterprises in Namibia, and also
mining ventures in the front-line
States I have mentioned, together with
South Africa.

Several members interjected.
Mr LIGHTFOOT: Mr Speaker, could I

now finish my question?

The SPEAKER: Order!

Mr LIGHTFQOT: Mr Speaker, could I
please indulge the Chair and finish my
question?

(6) If not, why not?

The SPEAKER: The Minister for Minerals
and Energy should disregard the bit
about South Africa.

Mr Parker: Thank you, Mr Speaker, I had
intended to.

Mr PARKER replied:

(1) to (3) No-

(4) My understanding from my dis-
cussions not only with the senior man-
agement of both BP and MIM in
Australia but also my extensive tele-

phone discussions with the Managing
Director of BP in the United King-
dom, who is in charge of both mining
worldwide and also of Australia gener-
ally, is that BP has indicated it wilt be
making what he described as a very
generous redundancy offer to its work
force. I am not in a position to assess
the accuracy of that description. I do
not know whether it has yet been
offered or not, but I understand it is
intended that the company do so and
there may just be a procedural reason
for it not being operative, if that is the
case.

As to the position of housing, I under-
stand that the owners of Agnew nickel
have said quite the opposite of that-
that is, that they would adopt a very
flexible approach to the time at which
people would be required to vacate
their homes. In that area, at least, I
understand the companies that own
the project are anxious to try to mini-
mise to the extent possible the disrup-
tion that would be caused to those
families by the action they have taken.

I indicated last night or the night be-
fore that the State Government has
also taken action-I, in conjunction
with my colleagues-to put in place a
task force in Leinster to ensure that all
the other needs of Leinster residents
can be adequately dealt with, in the
same way as my colleague, the Minis-
ter for Agriculture, did in the case of
the mine closures at Kambalda.

(5) and (6) 1 am visiting the United King-
dom and speaking with Mr Gilham
and, I hope, Sir Peter Walker. I have
already spoken extensively with Mr
Gilham, who is the managing director.
Sir Peter Walker is an leave and will
not return until about the time I have
arranged the meeting. It is my desire
to meet with both gentlemen, and
there is not much point in my going
earlier.

I am in regular contact with the joint
venturers, both here and in the United
Kingdom, and I do not see any necess-
ity to change my arrangements.
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GNOWANGERUP HOSPITAL BOARD
Fees Payment

223. Mr BRADSHAW, to the Minister for
Health:
(I) Did the Minister stop Or direct to be

stopped the payment for legal fees
paid by the former Onowangerup
Hospital Board, as reported in this
morning's edition of The West
Australian?

(2) Did these fees relate to legal advice
given to the Gnowangerup Hospital
Board before or after the Minister
abolished the board?

(3) If he did stop the payment of the
cheque, why did he do so?

(4) If he did not stop the payment, who
did, and will he authorise the pay-
ment?

(5) If the answer to (4) is "No", why not?
Mr TAYLOR replied:
(1) to (5) Certainly the cheque was

stopped by the Commissioner of
Health. The reason was that, with the
Health Department taking over the re-
sponsibility for the hospital, the com-
missioner, as the accountable auth-
ority, had to convince himself, and is
in the process of convincing himself,
that the cheque was related to the pay-
ment of an account issued in response
to fees charged for the preparation of
legal advice to the hospital board. I
have no doubt that should the com-
missioner be able to convince himself
in these matters, the cheque in fact
will not be paid-

GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES
44-hour Week

224. Mr TRENORDEN, to the Premier:
Taking into account the statements
the Premier has made in respect of
holiday loading and the fringe benefits
tax, would he, in the best interests of
the economy of the State, now con-
sider allowing State Government em-
ployees to voluntarily work a 44-hour
week before claiming overtime and
other penalty payments?

Mr BRIAN BURKE replied:
The member for Avon showed me his
somewhat novel question a couple of
hours ago.

Many people within the Public Service
work overtime without claiming any
overtime payment, and no attempt is
made to stop them doing that. We do
not encourage people voluntarily to
work oventime, voluntarily to give up
pant of their pay, or in some other way
step over or outside the established
conditions. We do not seek to cause
the work force to be discriminatory
within its own ranks in that way.
However, what we have tried to do
generally is to stress the need for the
development of a productivity ethic;
and that productivity ethic does not
just involve Government workers, but
also it involves employees and em-
ployers in the private sector, as well as
Government employers, and the com-
munity generally. We try constantly to
state our view that, if we develop a
productivity ethic within which we en-
deavour to improve our productivity,
we will overcome many of the prob-
lems which confront us presently.
That is the sort of general attitude that
needs to be developed, rather than a
concentration on one part of one sec-
tion of the total community. We will
not solve the problems of the econ-
omy, whatever they may be, by think-
ing that somehow or other we will
have some Government workers
volunteering to work a few more hours
overtime before claiming overtime
payments, or some members of the
private sector doing the same. It in-
volves everyone being committed to
the productivity ethic-and that in-
cludes employers, employees, public
and private sector people, the com-
munity generally, and Government
and business in general-and, in a co-
hesive fashion, attacking the problem.
Many people now work many hours of
overt ime without claiming overtime
pay. We do not encourage them to do
that. We are very grateful for the
amount of work they do, but we do
not see it as wise to officially encour-
age people to work overtime or some-
how or other to discriminate them-
selves from their workmates. We do
not think that is an answer to the
problem anyway. it just sounds at-
tractive to some people, and it really
does not work.
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MIDLAND ABATTOIR SALE
Legal Opinion

225. Mr MARLBOROUGH, to the Minister
for Agriculture:

Has the Leader of the Opposition
produced to the Minister fo r
Agriculture a copy of the legal opinion
on the Midland abattoir land as
promised by him yesterday evening?

Mr GRILL replied:
It grieves me to say that the Leader of
the Opposition has not given me a
copy of that opinion. Yesterday even-
ing he made a very specific commit-
ment-a very specific undertaking-
to the House that he would give me a
copy of that opinion. He undertook to
give me the opinion at the conclusion
of question time.
At the conclusion of question time,
very casually outside the House, the
Leader of the Opposition told me that
he was not prepared to abide by that
promise that he made, not just to me,
but also to the House.
I know that the Leader of the Oppo-
sition has had a rather stressful day
today, and it appears that he is not
present, but I feel nonetheless that it
was important that he should abide by
that undertaking. It certainly casts in
doubt the assertion that he made yes-
terday at the commencement of his
question that he had in fact made that
opinion public. At the time I disputed
that with him. I disputed the fact that
the opinion had been made public
and, as a result of that disputation, I
requested, that he give me a copy of
the opinion. The Leader of the Oppo-
sition then said specifically, naming a
time, that he would give me that
opinion. He has not done so and ap-
parently he does not intend to do so.

Mr Cash: He probably doesn't trust you.
Mr GRILL: He doesn't trust himself

either.
Mr Brian Burke: To be absolutely frank, I

think the Leader of the Opposition
would trust the Minister more than he
would trust you.

Mr GRILL: The undertaking was given.
The breach of that undertaking has
not been explained to me, and I be-

lieve that the undertaking should be
honoured.

REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT
Great Southern Development Authority-

Establishment
226. Mr COURT, to the Deputy Premier

(1) Does the Deputy Premier recall his
pre-election commitment made in
Albany on 14 January that the Great
Southern Development Authority
would be set up as soon as possible
after the election on 8 February?

(2) Does he also recall at the same time
giving a commitment that the Govern-
ment's programme would create 1 000
new jobs in the town?

(3) If so, why has the Great Southern De-
velopment Authority not been
appointed, and what steps have been
taken to honour his commitment to
create 1 000 new jobs?

Mr BRYCE replied:
(1) to (3) I suggest that the member for

Nedlands direct his question to the
Minister who is responsible for the
implementation of the Government's
programme in respect of Albany.

ELECTORAL
Voting Rights: Non Anglo-Saxon People

227. Dr GALLOP, to the Honorary Minister
assisting the Minister for Multicultural
and Ethnic Affairs:

Is there any move to change the
Government's policies in regard to the
availability of voting rights to non
Anglo-Saxon people?

Mr GORDON HILL replied:
I appreciate the question asked by the
member for Victoria Park. I under-
stand that in no way would this matter
be considered by the Government.
Although I am not the Minister re-
sponsible for parliamentary and elec-
toral reform, I am certain I can speak
on behalf of the Government and say
that such a suggestion is absolutely ab-
horr ent.
A member of this House has suggested
recently that the Government is
spending too much on and is taking
too much notice of people with non-
English speaking backgrounds. Of
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course, that refers to the ethnic com-
munity and also to the Aboriginal
community.

Personally I take offence at that and I
speak on behalf of other members of
the Government when I say that. I am
sure I also speak on behalf of the
member for Moore.

Point of Order

Mr LIG HTFOOT: The question-

Several members interjected.

The SPEAKER: Order! I remind members
of the comments I made earlier today.

Mr LIGHTFQOT: The question seems to
have been answered already, and the
statement the Honorary Minister was
making was completely irrelevant to
the question.

The SPEAKER: Order! I think an opinion
has been given rather than a point of
order made.

Questions without Notice Resumed
Mr GORDON KILL: In no way would the

Government consider the sorts of
suggestions which have been made.
I will draw the various comments that
have been made to the attention of
members of the ethnic community in
the member's electorate particularly.
The ethnic community in Western
Australia makes a great contribution
to our State, and I will not entertain
any suggestion that their franchise
should be removed. They also make a
great contribution to the Murchison.
Lyre region.
Members would be aware that the
1981 Census revealed approximately
1 000 people of ethnic background
lived in the Murchison-Eyre elector-
ate. On today's figures there are
approximately 3 700 voters, in the
electorate of Murchison-Eyre and they
will be particularly interested in the
comments that have been made in this
House over the last 24 hours. I wI
make certain that they are drawn to
their attention.
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